# Fermentative Production of Value-Added Products from Lignocellulosic Biomass

Guest Editors: Silvio S. da Silva, Anuj K. Chandel, S. Ranil Wickramsinghe, and José M. D. González



# Fermentative Production of Value-Added Products from Lignocellulosic Biomass

# Fermentative Production of Value-Added Products from Lignocellulosic Biomass

Guest Editors: Silvio S. da Silva, Anuj K. Chandel, S. Ranil Wickramsinghe, and José M. G. Domínguez

Copyright © 2012 Hindawi Publishing Corporation. All rights reserved.

This is a special issue published in "Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology." All articles are open access articles distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# **Editorial Board**

The editorial board of the journal is organized into sections that correspond to the subject areas covered by the journal.

## **Agricultural Biotechnology**

Ahmad Z. Abdullah, Malaysia Guihua H. Bai, USA Christopher P. Chanway, Canada Ravindra N. Chibbar, Canada Adriana S. Franca, Brazil

Ian Godwin, Australia Hari B. Krishnan, USA Carol A. Mallory-Smith, USA Dennis P. Murr, Canada Rodomiro Ortiz, Sweden

## **Animal Biotechnology**

E. S. Chang, USA Bhanu P. Chowdhary, USA Noelle E. Cockett, USA Peter Dovc, Slovenia Scott C. Fahrenkrug, USA Dorian J. Garrick, USA Thomas A. Hoagland, USA

# **Biochemistry**

David Ronald Brown, UK Saulius Butenas, USA Vittorio Calabrese, Italy Miguel Castanho, Portugal Francis J. Castellino, USA Roberta Chiaraluce, Italy D. M. Clarke, Canada Francesca Cutruzzolà, Italy Paul W. Doetsch, USA

### **Bioinformatics**

T. Akutsu, Japan Miguel A. Andrade, Germany Mark Y. Borodovsky, USA Rita Casadio, Italy Artem Cherkasov, Canada David Corne, UK Sorin Draghici, USA

Tosso Leeb, Switzerland James D. Murray, USA Anita M. Oberbauer, USA Jorge A. Piedrahita, USA Daniel Pomp, USA Kent M. Reed, USA Lawrence Reynolds, USA

B. C. Saha, USA Mariam B. Sticklen, USA Chiu-Chung Young, Taiwan

Lawrence B. Schook, USA Mari A. Smits, The Netherlands Leon Spicer, USA J. Verstegen, USA Matthew B. Wheeler, USA Kenneth L. White, USA

Hicham Fenniri, Canada Nick V. Grishin, USA J. Guy Guillemette, Canada Paul W. Huber, USA Chen-Hsiung Hung, Taiwan Maria Jerzykiewicz, Poland Michael Kalafatis, USA B. E. Kemp, Australia Phillip E. Klebba, USA

Wen-Hwa Lee, USA George Makhatadze, USA Leonid Medved, USA Susan A. Rotenberg, USA Jason Shearer, USA Andrei Surguchov, USA John B. Vincent, USA Y. George Zheng, USA

Stavros J. Hamodrakas, Greece Paul Harrison, USA George Karypis, USA Jack A. Leunissen, The Netherlands Guohui Lin, Canada Satoru Miyano, Japan Zoran Obradovic, USA

Florencio Pazos, Spain Zhirong Sun, China Ying Xu, USA Alexander Zelikovsky, USA Albert Zomaya, Australia

## **Biophysics**

Miguel Castanho, Portugal P. Bryant Chase, USA Kuo-Chen Chou, USA Rizwan Khan, India

# **Cell Biology**

Omar Benzakour, France Sanford I. Bernstein, USA Phillip I. Bird, Australia Eric Bouhassira, USA Mohamed Boutjdir, USA Chung-Liang Chien, Taiwan Richard Gomer, USA Paul J. Higgins, USA Pavel Hozak, Czech Republic

### Genetics

Adewale Adeyinka, USA Claude Bagnis, France J. Birchler, USA Susan Blanton, USA Barry J. Byrne, USA R. Chakraborty, USA Domenico Coviello, Italy Sarah H. Elsea, USA Celina Janion, Poland

# Genomics

Vladimir Bajic, Saudi Arabia Margit Burmeister, USA Settara Chandrasekharappa, USA Yataro Daigo, Japan J. Spencer Johnston, USA Ali A. Khraibi, Saudi Arabia Rumiana Koynova, USA Serdar Kuyucak, Australia Jianjie Ma, USA S. B. Petersen, Denmark Peter Schuck, USA Claudio M. Soares, Portugal

Xudong Huang, USA Anton M. Jetten, USA Seamus J. Martin, Ireland Manuela Martins-Green, USA Shoichiro Ono, USA George Perry, USA M. Piacentini, Italy George E. Plopper, USA Lawrence Rothblum, USA Michael Sheetz, USA James L. Sherley, USA G. S. Stein, USA Richard Tucker, USA Thomas van Groen, USA Andre Van Wijnen, USA Steve Winder, UK Chuanyue Wu, USA Bin-Xian Zhang, USA

J. Spencer Johnston, USA M. Ilyas Kamboh, USA Feige Kaplan, Canada Manfred Kayser, The Netherlands Brynn Levy, USA Xiao Jiang Li, USA Thomas Liehr, Germany James M. Mason, USA Mohammed Rachidi, France Raj S. Ramesar, South Africa Elliot D. Rosen, USA Dharambir K. Sanghera, USA Michael Schmid, Germany Markus Schuelke, Germany Wolfgang Arthur Schulz, Germany Jorge Sequeiros, Portugal Mouldy Sioud, Norway Rongjia Zhou, China

Vladimir Larionov, USA Thomas Lufkin, Singapore John L. McGregor, France John V. Moran, USA Yasushi Okazaki, Japan Gopi K. Podila, USA Momiao Xiong, USA

# **Editorial Board**

The editorial board of the journal is organized into sections that correspond to the subject areas covered by the journal.

### Immunology

Hassan Alizadeh, USA Peter Bretscher, Canada Robert E. Cone, USA Terry L. Delovitch, Canada Anthony L. DeVico, USA Nick Di Girolamo, Australia Don Mark Estes, USA Soldano Ferrone, USA Jeffrey A. Frelinger, USA John Robert Gordon, Canada James D. Gorham, USA Silvia Gregori, Italy Thomas Griffith, USA Young S. Hahn, USA Dorothy E. Lewis, USA Bradley W. McIntyre, USA R. Lee Mosley, USA Marija Mostarica-Stojković, Serbia Hans Konrad Muller, Australia Ali Ouaissi, France Kanury V. S. Rao, India Yair Reisner, Israel Harry W. Schroeder, USA Wilhelm Schwaeble, UK Nilabh Shastri, USA Yufang Shi, China Piet Stinissen, Belgium Hannes Stockinger, Austria J. W. Tervaert, The Netherlands Graham R. Wallace, UK

# **Microbial Biotechnology**

Suraini Abd-Aziz, Malaysia Jozef Anné, Belgium Nuri Azbar, Turkey Yoav Bashan, Mexico Marco Bazzicalupo, Italy Hakan Bermek, Turkey Nico Boon, Belgium José Luis Campos, Spain Yinguang Chen, China Luca Simone Cocolin, Italy

# Microbiology

D. Beighton, UK Steven R. Blanke, USA Stanley Brul, The Netherlands Isaac K. O. Cann, USA Stephen K. Farrand, USA Alain Filloux, UK

# **Molecular Biology**

Rudi Beyaert, Belgium Michael Bustin, USA Douglas Cyr, USA K. Iatrou, Greece Lokesh Joshi, Ireland David W. Litchfield, Canada Peter Coloe, Australia Daniele Daffonchio, Italy Han de Winde, The Netherlands Raf Dewil, Belgium José Domingos Fontana, Brazil Petros Gikas, Greece Tom Granstrom, Finland Ismail Kiran, Turkey Hongjuan Liu, China Yanhe Ma, China Paula Loureiro Paulo, Brazil Bernd H A Rehm, New Zealand Alberto Reis, Portugal Muthuswamy Sathishkumar, Singapore Ramkrishna Sen, India Angela Sessitsch, Austria Ya-Jie Tang, China Orhan Yenigun, Turkey Eileen Hao Yu, United Kingdom

Gad Frankel, UK Roy Gross, Germany Hans-Peter Klenk, Germany Tanya Parish, UK Gopi K. Podila, USA Frederick D. Quinn, USA

Wuyuan Lu, USA Patrick Matthias, Switzerland John L. McGregor, France S. L. Mowbray, Sweden Elena Orlova, UK Yeon-Kyun Shin, USA Didier A. Raoult, France Isabel Sá-Correia, Portugal P. L. C. Small, USA Michael Thomm, Germany H. C. van der Mei, The Netherlands Schwan William, USA

William S. Trimble, Canada Lisa Wiesmuller, Germany Masamitsu Yamaguchi, Japan

### Oncology

Colin Cooper, UK F. M. J. Debruyne, The Netherlands Daehee Kang, Republic of Korea Nathan Ames Ellis, USA Dominic Fan, USA Gary E. Gallick, USA Daila S. Gridley, USA Xin-yuan Guan, Hong Kong Anne Hamburger, USA Manoor Prakash Hande, Singapore Orhan Nalcioglu, USA Beric Henderson, Australia

## Pharmacology

Abdel A. Abdel-Rahman, USA M. Badr, USA Stelvio M. Bandiera, Canada Ronald E. Baynes, USA R. Keith Campbell, USA Hak-Kim Chan, Australia Michael D. Coleman, UK J. Descotes, France Dobromir Dobrev, Germany

# **Plant Biotechnology**

Prem L. Bhalla, Australia J. R. Botella, Australia Elvira Gonzalez De Mejia, USA Shi-You Ding, USA

## Toxicology

Michael Aschner, USA Juergen Buenger, Germany Michael L. Cunningham, USA Laurence D. Fechter, USA

Steve B. Jiang, USA Abdul R. Khokhar, USA Rakesh Kumar, USA Macus Tien Kuo, USA Eric W. Lam, UK Sue-Hwa Lin, USA Kapil Mehta, USA P. J. Oefner, Germany

Allal Ouhtit, Oman Frank Pajonk, USA Waldemar Priebe, USA F. C. Schmitt, Portugal Sonshin Takao, Japan Ana Maria Tari, USA Henk G. Van Der Poel, The Netherlands Haodong Xu, USA David J. Yang, USA

Ayman El-Kadi, Canada Jeffrey Hughes, USA Kazim Husain, USA Farhad Kamali, UK Michael Kassiou, Australia Joseph J. McArdle, USA Mark J. McKeage, New Zealand Daniel T. Monaghan, USA T. Narahashi, USA

Kennerly S. Patrick, USA Vickram Ramkumar, USA Michael J. Spinella, USA Quadiri Timour, France Todd W. Vanderah, USA Val J. Watts, USA David J. Waxman, USA

Metin Guru, Turkey Yong Pyo Lim, Republic of Korea H. M. Häggman, Finland Gopi K. Podila, USA Liwen Jiang, Hong Kong Ralf Reski, Germany Pulugurtha Bharadwaja Kirti, India Sudhir Kumar Sopory, India

Hartmut Jaeschke, USA Youmin James Kang, USA M. Firoze Khan, USA Pascal Kintz, France

Qaisar Mahmood, Pakistan R. S. Tjeerdema, USA Kenneth Turteltaub, USA Brad Upham, USA

## **Editorial Board**

The editorial board of the journal is organized into sections that correspond to the subject areas covered by the journal.

# Virology

Nafees Ahmad, USA Edouard Cantin, USA Ellen Collisson, USA Kevin M. Coombs, Canada Norbert K. Herzog, USA Tom Hobman, Canada Shahid Jameel, India Fred Kibenge, Canada Fenyong Liu, USA Éric Rassart, Canada Gerald G. Schumann, Germany Y.-C. Sung, Republic of Korea Gregory Tannock, Australia Ralf Wagner, Germany Jianguo Wu, China Decheng Yang, Canada Jiing-Kuan Yee, USA Xueping Zhou, China Wen-Quan Zou, USA

### Contents

**Fermentative Production of Value-Added Products from Lignocellulosic Biomass**, Silvio S. da Silva, Anuj K. Chandel, S. Ranil Wickramsinghe, and José M. G. Domínguez Volume 2012, Article ID 826162, 2 pages

**Bioconversion of Sugarcane Biomass into Ethanol: An Overview about Composition, Pretreatment Methods, Detoxification of Hydrolysates, Enzymatic Saccharification, and Ethanol Fermentation**, Larissa Canilha, Anuj Kumar Chandel, Thais Suzane dos Santos Milessi, Felipe Antônio Fernandes Antunes, Wagner Luiz da Costa Freitas, Maria das Graças Almeida Felipe, and Silvio Silvério da Silva Volume 2012, Article ID 989572, 15 pages

**Production of Ethanol from Sugars and Lignocellulosic Biomass by** *Thermoanaerobacter* **J1 Isolated from a Hot Spring in Iceland**, Jan Eric Jessen and Johann Orlygsson Volume 2012, Article ID 186982, 7 pages

**The Potential of Cellulosic Ethanol Production from Grasses in Thailand**, Jinaporn Wongwatanapaiboon, Kunn Kangvansaichol, Vorakan Burapatana, Ratanavalee Inochanon, Pakorn Winayanuwattikun, Tikamporn Yongvanich, and Warawut Chulalaksananukul Volume 2012, Article ID 303748, 10 pages

**Changes in the Material Characteristics of Maize Straw during the Pretreatment Process of Methanation**, Yongzhong Feng, Xiaoling Zhao, Yan Guo, Gaihe Yang, Jianchao Xi, and Guangxin Ren Volume 2012, Article ID 325426, 7 pages

PHA Productivity and Yield of *Ralstonia eutropha* When Intermittently or Continuously Fed a Mixture of Short Chain Fatty Acids, Panchali Chakraborty, Kasiviswanathan Muthukumarappan, and William R. Gibbons Volume 2012, Article ID 506153, 8 pages

Analysis of Casein Biopolymers Adsorption to Lignocellulosic Biomass as a Potential Cellulase Stabilizer, Anahita Dehkhoda Eckard, Kasiviswanathan Muthukumarappan, and William Gibbons Volume 2012, Article ID 745181, 11 pages

**Factors Affecting Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) Production from Oil Palm Frond Juice by** *Cupriavidus necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>), Mior Ahmad Khushairi Mohd Zahari, Hidayah Ariffin, Mohd Noriznan Mokhtar, Jailani Salihon, Yoshihito Shirai, and Mohd Ali Hassan Volume 2012, Article ID 125865, 8 pages

Lovastatin Production by *Aspergillus terreus* Using Agro-Biomass as Substrate in Solid State Fermentation, Mohammad Faseleh Jahromi, Juan Boo Liang, Yin Wan Ho, Rosfarizan Mohamad, Yong Meng Goh, and Parisa Shokryazdan Volume 2012, Article ID 196264, 11 pages

A Novel Partially Biobased PAN-Lignin Blend as a Potential Carbon Fiber Precursor, M. Özgür Seydibeyoğlu Volume 2012, Article ID 598324, 8 pages **Enzymatic Saccharification and Ethanol Fermentation of Reed Pretreated with Liquid Hot Water**, Jie Lu, XueZhi Li, Jian Zhao, and Yinbo Qu Volume 2012, Article ID 276278, 9 pages

### Editorial

# Fermentative Production of Value-Added Products from Lignocellulosic Biomass

#### Silvio S. da Silva,<sup>1</sup> Anuj K. Chandel,<sup>1</sup> S. Ranil Wickramasinghe,<sup>2</sup> and José M. G. Domínguez<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biotechnology, Engineering School of Lorena, University of São Paulo, Estrada Municipal do Campinho, Caixa Postal 116, 12602-810 Lorena, SP, Brazil

<sup>2</sup> Ralph E. Martin Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville,

AR 72701, USA

<sup>3</sup> Chemical Engineering Department, University of Vigo, Campus Ourense, As Lagoas s/n, 32004 Ourense, Spain

Correspondence should be addressed to Silvio S. da Silva, silvio@debiq.eel.usp.br

Received 22 November 2012; Accepted 22 November 2012

Copyright © 2012 Silvio S. da Silva et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass (agro residues, grasses, wood, weed, dedicated energy crops and others) into biofuels and other value-added products offers numerous geopolitical, environmental, and strategic benefits. Lignocellulosic biomass (LB) is the most abundant renewable organic resources (~200 billion tons annually) on earth that are readily available for conversion to biofuels and other value-added products (industrial enzymes, organic acids, pharmaceuticals, commodity chemicals, and food/feed). However, they have not yet been tapped for the commercial production of these products.

The last three decades witnessed the success made in research and development for the conversion of LB into biofuels and other commercially viable products. Despite the success achieved in the laboratory, there are several challenges for the successful bioconversion of lignocellulosic substrates into value-added products at commercial scale. The future of lignocellulosics conversion is expected to lie in improvement in pretreatment technologies, cellulolytic enzymes producing microorganisms, fullest exploitation of biomass components, and process integration. Further, advancement in system-biology-based "OMICS" approaches may provide new breakthroughs for the development of biocatalysts/enzyme titers for the cost effective production of commodity chemicals and fuels from biomass.

This special issue presents a diverse range of experimental advancements on biomass pretreatment, enzymatic saccharification, production of cellulosic biofuels, polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA), polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB), and lovastatin and blends of polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and lignin. Authors here report on process variables including feedstock types (grasses and sugarcane-based agro residues), bioprocess engineering simulations, multivisual structural analysis of lignocellulosics after pretreatment, improvements in cellulase-mediated hydrolysis, and modification in fermentation strategies for the production of a range of valueadded products.

Selection of suitable lignocellulosic substrates plays a key role for the economic cellulosic ethanol production. Factors such as availability of feedstock and presence of high amount of carbohydrates and lignin amounts are critical for biofuels production at large scale under the biorefinery concept. Of particular interest in this regard is the use of sugarcane residues, corn stover, and grasses as a second-generation feedstock. L. Canilha et al. comprehensively reviewed the technologies (pretreatment methods, detoxification, hydrolysis, fermentation, and end-product distillation) for secondgeneration (2G) ethanol production from sugarcane residues (sugarcane bagasse and straw). Grasses are another excellent feedstock for 2G ethanol production in countries like Thailand. J. Wongwatanapaiboon et al. collected data on composition of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin in 18 types of grasses followed by the alkaline peroxide mediated pretreatment. The pretreated materials were evaluated for ethanol production under simultaneous saccharification and fermentation approach employing yeasts cocultures. J. Lu et al. explored the Reed as a primary source for 2G ethanol production. They presented the data on sugar

recovery after liquid hot water pretreatment followed by enzymatic hydrolysis and conversion of sugars into ethanol under separate hydrolysis and fermentation. J. E. Jessen and J. Orlygsson examined the 2G ethanol production from various feedstocks (hemp stem, grass, wheat straw, newspaper, and cellulose) employing a new thermophilic isolate, *Thermoanaerobacter* J1, from a hot spring in Iceland in addition to the exploration of a mechanism of electronscavenging systems on end-product formation. For the economization of biofuel or any value-added product formation from lignocellulosic materials, the efficient bioconversion of cellulose and hemicellulose into monomeric sugars is inevitable. In this line, A. D. Eckard et al. demonstrated the mechanism of casein (skimmed milk protein) action to improve the enzymatic saccharification of corn stover.

Pretreatment is the key technology for the direct methanation of agroresidues. Y. Feng et al. investigated the changes in the maize straw characteristics during the methanation process. M. A. K. M. Zahari et al. optimized major influential parameters for poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) production from oil palm frond (OPF) juice by Cupriavidus necator CCUG52238T and concluded that OPF juice could be a competitive carbon source for the economic production of PHB. P. Chakraborty et al. presented the data on modified feeding strategies using a mixture of volatile fatty acids and artificial rumen fluid to maximize the PHA production by Ralstonia eutropha. Towards the pharmaceuticals intermediate production, M. F. Jahromi et al. investigated the lovastatin production by Aspergillus terreus under solidstate fermentation using rice straw and oil palm frond. M. Ö. Seydibeyoğlu examined the properties of blends of polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and lignin followed by the structural analysis employing modern structural tools.

We sincerely hope readers will find these papers helpful to their research pursuits. It has been our pleasure to put together this special issue in Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank all of the contributing authors for sharing their quality research through this special issue. Editors would like to thank the reviewers for their critical comments and suggestions which helped to improve the quality of the papers.

> Silvio S. da Silva Anuj K. Chandel S. Ranil Wickramasinghe José M. G. Domínguez

### **Review** Article

# Bioconversion of Sugarcane Biomass into Ethanol: An Overview about Composition, Pretreatment Methods, Detoxification of Hydrolysates, Enzymatic Saccharification, and Ethanol Fermentation

#### Larissa Canilha, Anuj Kumar Chandel, Thais Suzane dos Santos Milessi, Felipe Antônio Fernandes Antunes, Wagner Luiz da Costa Freitas, Maria das Graças Almeida Felipe, and Silvio Silvério da Silva

Department of Biotechnology, School of Engineering of Lorena, University of São Paulo, 12-602-810 Lorena, SP, Brazil

Correspondence should be addressed to Anuj Kumar Chandel, anuj.kumar.chandel@gmail.com and Silvio Silvério da Silva, silvio@debiq.eel.usp.br

Received 10 October 2012; Accepted 19 October 2012

Academic Editor: José Manuel Domínguez González

Copyright © 2012 Larissa Canilha et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Depleted supplies of fossil fuel, regular price hikes of gasoline, and environmental damage have necessitated the search for economic and eco-benign alternative of gasoline. Ethanol is produced from food/feed-based substrates (grains, sugars, and molasses), and its application as an energy source does not seem fit for long term due to the increasing fuel, food, feed, and other needs. These concerns have enforced to explore the alternative means of cost competitive and sustainable supply of biofuel. Sugarcane residues, sugarcane bagasse (SB), and straw (SS) could be the ideal feedstock for the second-generation (2G) ethanol production. These raw materials are rich in carbohydrates and renewable and do not compete with food/feed demands. However, the efficient bioconversion of SB/SS (efficient pretreatment technology, depolymerization of cellulose, and fermentation of released sugars) remains challenging to commercialize the cellulosic ethanol. Among the technological challenges, robust pretreatment and development of efficient bioconversion process (implicating suitable ethanol producing strains converting pentose and hexose sugars) have a key role to play. This paper aims to review the compositional profile of SB and SS, pretreatment methods of cane biomass, detoxification methods for the purification of hydrolysates, enzymatic hydrolysis, and the fermentation of released sugars for ethanol production.

#### **1. Introduction**

Brazil is the biggest producer of sugarcane in the world. In the 2012/13 harvest, for example, it was estimated that more than 602 million tons of sugarcane will be processed by the Brazilian sugar-alcohol mills. The sugarcane is basically consisted of stem and straw. The sugarcane straw (or trash) is divided in three principal components, that is, fresh leaves, dry leaves, and tops. The sugarcane stem are milled to obtain the cane juice, which is subsequent used for sugar (sucrose) or alcohol (ethanol) production. The residual fraction from the sugarcane stem milling is named bagasse. Sugarcane bagasse (SB) and straw (SS) are normally burned in industries to supply all the energy required in the process. If, instead, both were used for ethanol production, much more ethanol would be produced from each hectare of sugarcane processed.

SB and SS are chemically composed of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. Cellulose, and hemicellulose fractions are composed of mixture of carbohydrates polymers. A number of different strategies have been envisioned to convert the polysaccharides into fermentable sugars. One of them, the hemicellulose fraction can be hydrolyzed with dilute acids followed by cellulose hydrolysis with enzymes. The cellulosic



FIGURE 1: Procedural flow diagram for the bioconversion of cane biomass into 2G ethanol.

fraction is solid rich in glucose, and hemicellulosic fraction is liquid rich in xylose, glucose, and arabinose, where both (solid and liquid) can be fermented to produce ethanol.

In general, the biological process from converting the lignocellulose biomass to fuel ethanol involves: (1) pretreatment either to remove lignin or hemicellulose to liberate cellulose; (2) depolymerization of carbohydrate polymers to produce free sugars by cellulase mediated action; (3) fermentation of hexose and/or pentose sugars to produce ethanol; (4) distillation of ethanol. Ethanol produced from sugarcane residues is one of the most suitable alternatives for partial replacements of fossil fuels because it provides energy that is renewable and less carbon intensive than gasoline. Bioethanol reduces air pollution and also contributes to mitigate climate change by reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

This paper reviews the important information on the structure and chemical composition of sugarcane biomass (SB and SS), pretreatment of biomass, enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose, conditioning and detoxification of hemicellulosic hydrolysate, bioconversion of sugars into ethanol, and distillation of ethanol (Figure 1).

#### 2. Sugarcane versus Other Feedstock for the Ethanol Production

Sugarcane is the main agricultural crop cultivated in Brazil followed by soybean and corn (Table 1). Among the feasible raw materials for ethanol production, sugarcane shows the most promising results because it has a high planted area in the Brazil territory and presents the higher quantity of biomass generated which could be eventually converted into ethanol. The costs of ethanol production are directly related with the costs of feedstock that represents more than onethird of the production costs. Furthermore, the costs of

TABLE 1: Different feedstock cultivated in the Brazilian territory.

Biomass	Planted area (1000 hectare)	Production of biomass (1000 t)		
Wheat	2,166.2	5,788.6		
Rice	2,427.1	11,600.3		
Sorghum	785.1	2,204.9		
Cassava	1,787.5	24,524.3		
Soybean	25,042.2	66,383.0		
Castor bean	129.6	25.8		
Corn	7,596.3	38,861.8		
Sugarcane	8,527.8	602,178.8		
Barley	88.4	305.1		

Source: Conab [3, 4] and Embrapa [5].

feedstock may vary considerably, depending of its geographic locations, availability, and price [1, 2].

According to Conab [3], the Brazilian sugar-alcohol mills will process more than 602 million tons of sugarcane in the 2012/13 harvest, leading the production of roughly 39 million tons of sugar and 24 billion liters of ethanol. Each ton of sugarcane processed by the mills generates approximately 270–280 kg of bagasse [6] and 140 kg of straw [7]; thus, it can be inferred that Brazilian mills will produce around 163–169 million tons of sugarcane bagasse and 84 million tons of straw only in the 2012/13 harvest.

Nowadays, ethanol producing units employ sugarcane efficiently (first generation). However, it is anticipated that in the coming years, SB along with SS will also be used for 2G ethanol production. The deployment of the SB and SS for ethanol production is favored in Brazil because the production process can be annexed to the sugar/ethanol units



FIGURE 2: The sugarcane plant morphology. Adapted from [9].

already in place, requiring lower investments, infrastructure, logistics, and energy supply [1]. In such a scenario, more ethanol would be produced from the same amount of sugarcane processed, without increasing the area used to sugarcane cultivation [8]. The yield of ethanol is equivalent to 6,000 L/hectare planted. It is estimated that ethanol production could reach 10,000 L/hectare if only half of the SB generated is harnessed for the production of biofuel [1].

#### 3. Sugarcane Structure

Sugarcane is any of 6 to 37 species (depending on taxonomic interpretation) of tall perennial grasses of the genus *Saccharum* (family Poaceae, tribe Andropogoneae). Sugarcane is native of warm temperate climate, common in the tropical regions as Brazil, India, Africa, and Asia pacific. The sugarcane plant morphology can be seen in Figure 2.

Sugarcane is composed by stem and straw (or trash). Sugarcane stem is the material removed before the milling of cane to obtain a juice which is subsequently used for sugar (sucrose) or alcohol (ethanol) production. SB is the residue from stems after extraction of juice. SS (or trash) is composed by fresh leaves, dry leaves, and tops available before harvesting. Fresh leaves are green and yellow in color, tops are the part of cane plant between the top end and the last stalk node, and dry leaves are normally in brownish color [10]. Potential uses of the leaves include: (1) as a fuel for direct combustion; (2) as a raw material for conversion by pyrolysis to char, oil, and/or gas; (3) as a raw material for conversion by gasification and synthesis to methanol. Potential uses for the tops include: (1) as a ruminant feed, either fresh or dried; (2) as a substrate for anaerobic fermentation to methane; (3)after reduction in water content, for the energy uses listed for cane trash [10, 11]. SB and SS are normally burnt in the open agricultural field after the harvesting of the crop, or in some cases, used as an untapped source of simple sugars that can be utilized for the alcohol production [12].

Characterizing the sugarcane stalk, SS and SB, following observations can be interpreted: the sucrose accumulation is greater at the base of the stem, and the amount of reducing sugars and cellulose contents is superior in the tops; the length of the stem depends on some factors like the variety of the plant and the cultural management given, so that an adult stem may have from less than two meters to over four in size, affecting the length and the number of internodes; the diameter of the stem also varies, oscillating in its middle part from 250 to 350 m; the color depends on the chlorophyll content and that of anthocyanins as well as on aspects of agronomy; there is a large variation in the moisture content of the sugarcane material, varying from 13.5% (in dry leaves) up to 82.3% (in the tops); the values of ash, fixed carbon, and volatile matter have little variation among the three components of the straw, with a lower amount of ash for the bagasse; all material present practically the same composition in carbon (~45%), hydrogen (~6%), nitrogen (0.5-1%), oxygen  $(\sim 43\%)$ , and sulfur  $(\sim 0.1\%)$ ; mineral composition for alkalis and phosphorus shows some variation among the three components of the SS, indicating that its content grows from the dry leaves to the tops, and is quite higher than SB [10, 11].

#### 4. Physical and Chemical Compositions of Sugarcane

Physically, sugarcane is constituted by four major fractions, whose relative magnitude depends on the sugar agroindustrial process: fiber, nonsoluble solids, soluble solids, and water (Figure 3). The fiber is composed of the whole organic solid fraction, originally found in the cane's stem, and characterized by its marked heterogeneity. The nonsoluble solids, or the fraction that cannot be dissolved in water, are constituted mainly by inorganic substances (rocks, soil, and extraneous materials), and it is greatly influenced by the conditions of the agricultural cane processing, types of cutting, and harvesting. Soluble solids fraction that can be dissolved in water are composed primarily of sucrose as well as other chemical components such as waxes, in a smaller proportion [11]. SB or SS which are the focus of 2G ethanol production are lignocellulosic materials chemically composed by cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin.

Cellulose is a linear polymer of glucose units linked by  $\beta$  (1  $\rightarrow$  4)-glycosidic bonds, forming cellobiose that is repeated several times in its chain. This cellulosic fraction can be converted into glucose by enzymatic hydrolysis, using cellulases, or by chemical way, using acids like sulfuric acid, that subsequently can be fermented to ethanol [14, 15]. Hemicellulose is a heteropolysaccharide composed by hexoses (D-glucose, D-galactose, and D-mannose), pentoses (Dxylose, L-arabinose), acetic acid, D-glucuronic acid, and 4-O-methyl-D-glucuronic acid units. The hemicelluloses are classified basically according to the sugars that are present in the main chain of polymer: xylan, glucomannan, and galactan [16]. The hemicellulose differs substantially of cellulose to be amorphous, which make it easier to be hydrolyzed than cellulose [17]. The hemicellulosic fraction can be removed from lignocellulosic materials by some type of pretreatment, like acid or hydrothermal hydrolysis, and liberating sugars, mainly xylose, that subsequently can also be fermented to ethanol [18, 19].



FIGURE 3: General composition of Sugarcane. Adapted from [13].

TABLE 2: Chemical composition (% w/w, dry basis) of Brazilian SB reported in the literature.

Component (%)	Reference					
	Pitarelo [27] <sup>1*</sup>	da Silva et al. $[28]^2$	Canilha et al. [19] <sup>3*</sup>	Rocha et al. $[15]^{4*}$	Brienzo et al. [29] <sup>5</sup>	Rabelo et al. [30] <sup>6</sup>
Cellulose	41.1	38.8	45.0	45.5	42.4	38.4
Hemicellulose	22.7	26.0	25.8	27.0	25.2	23.2
Lignin	31.4	32.4#	19.1	21.1	19.6	25.0
Ash	2.4	2.8	1.0	2.2	1.6	1.5
Extractives	6.8		9.1	4.6	—	—
Others			_			_

\* Extractives-free basis.

<sup>#</sup>Lignin and others.

Extracting solvents: <sup>1</sup>dichloromethane, ethanol: toluene (1:2), ethanol, and hot water; <sup>2</sup>none; <sup>3</sup>water and ethanol; <sup>4</sup>ethanol; <sup>5</sup>ethanol; <sup>6</sup>none.

Lignin is a complex aromatic macromolecule formed by radical polymerization of three phenyl-propane alcohols, namely p-coumarilic, coniferilic, and synapilic. In the plant cell wall, lignin and hemicelluloses involve the cellulose elementary fibrils, providing protection against chemical and/or biological degradation [20]. The content of lignin and its distribution are the responsible factors for the recalcitrance of lignocellulosic materials to enzymatic hydrolysis, limiting the accessibility of enzyme, and therefore, the process of delignification can improve the conversion rates of enzymatic hydrolysis [21]. The lignin is primarily used as a fuel, but it can be chemically modified to be used as chelating agent [22], for removal of heavy metals from wastewater [23], or as precursor material for production of add-value products as activated carbon [24], surfactants [25], and adhesives [26].

SB of the Brazilian territory is quantitatively composed by 38.4–45.5% cellulose, 22.7–27.0% hemicellulose, and 19.1–32.4% lignin (Table 2). Nonstructural components of biomass, namely, ashes (1.0–2.8%) and extractives (4.6–9.1%) are the other substances that compose the chemical compositional of bagasse.

The ash content of SB is lower than the other crop residues like rice straw and wheat straw (with approximately 17.5 and 11.0% of this compound, resp.). SB is also considered a rich solar energy reservoir due to its high yields and annual regeneration capacity (about 80 t/ha) in comparison with agricultural residues like wheat, grasses, and trees (1, 2, and 20 t/ha, resp.) [31]. The bagasse can also be used as a raw material for cultivation of microorganisms and for bioconversion process for the production of industrial enzymes, xylitol, and ethanol production. Due to these advantages the bagasse is considered not only a subproduct of sugar industry, but also a coproduct of high added value [31].

The fact that chemical composition varies for the same type of material did not cause surprise because the major fractions of lignocellulosic materials depend on many factors including plant genetics, growth environment, and

			-			
Component (%)	Reference					
	Moriya [34] <sup>1*</sup>	Pitarelo [27] <sup>2*</sup>	Saad et al. [35] <sup>3*</sup>	da Silva et al. $[28]^4$	Luz et al. [36] <sup>5</sup>	Costa et al. [37] <sup>6</sup>
Cellulose	36.1	34.4	36.1	33.6	33.3	33.5
Hemicellulose	28.3	18.4	26.9	28.9	27.4	27.1
Lignin	26.2	40.7	26.2	31.8#	26.1	25.8
Ash	2.1	11.7	2.1	5.7	2.6	2.5
Extractives	5.3	11.5	5.3	—		_
Others	—	—	—	—	10.6	

TABLE 3: Chemical composition (% w/w, dry basis) of Brazilian SS reported in the literature.

\* Extractives-free basis.

<sup>#</sup>Lignin and others.

Extracting solvents: <sup>1</sup>ethanol; <sup>2</sup>dichloromethane, ethanol: toluene (1:2), ethanol, and hot water; <sup>3</sup>water; <sup>4</sup>none; <sup>5</sup>none; <sup>6</sup>none.



FIGURE 4: SEM of natural SB (a) and cellulignin obtained after dilute sulfuric acid pretreatment (b) [40].

processing conditions as well as methods employed for the compositional analysis [32]. It is impossible to compare the composition of samples of different origins, performed by different laboratories that do not use the same methods.

The large variation in the values of chemical components also is observed for the SS. Generally it is composed of 33.3– 36.1% cellulose, 18.4–28.9% hemicellulose, and 25.8–40.7% lignin (Table 3). Ashes (2.1–11.7%) and extractives (5.3– 11.5%) are also present in SS. The amount of straw from sugarcane harvesting depends on several factors such as: harvesting system, topping, height, cane variety, age of crop (stage of cut), climate, soil, and others. For example, when mechanically harvested, and depending on the harvesting technology applied, the range of straw that is collected and transported to the mill together with the stems is from 24% to 95% of the total trash available [33].

#### 5. Ethanol Production from Sugarcane Biomass

Ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass (second generation) includes pretreatment of biomass, enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose, fermentation of hexose/pentose sugars, and recovery of ethanol. Intensive efforts have been made in recent years to develop efficient technologies for the pretreatment of SB, developments of enzymes for enhanced cellulose/hemicellulose saccharification, and suitable technologies for the fermentation of both  $C_6$  and  $C_5$  sugars [1].

5.1. Pretreatment of Sugarcane Biomass. Ideally, the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass should (1) increase the accessible surface area and decrystallize cellulose, (2) depolymerize partially cellulose, (3) solubilize hemicellulose and/or lignin, (4) modify the lignin structure, (5) maximize the enzymatic digestibility of the pretreated material, (6) minimize the loss of sugars, and (7) minimize capital and operating costs [38, 39].

Figure 4 presents scanning electronic microscopy (SEM) of SB before diluted sulfuric acid pretreatment and of cellulignin obtained after pretreatment. A rupture of cellulose-hemicellulose-lignin strong matrix occurred after the pretreatment. In the Figure 4(a), an ordered structure of matrix can be seen, while Figure 4(b) presents a disordered structure of cellulose-lignin complex. It is also possible to find empty spaces between the fibers, as consequence of removal of hemicelluloses and low-crystallinity cellulose flocks [15]. In general, hydrolysate originated after diluted acid pretreatment is rich in the hemicellulose fraction. Various pretreatment technologies (alone or in combination) have been proposed in the literature. Broadly, pretreatment technologies can be categorized into 4 types: physical (mechanical); physicochemical; chemical; biological pretreatments. Mechanical pretreatment increases the surface area by reducing the size the SB or SS [41]. A high control of operation conditions is required in the physicochemical methods because these reactions occur at high temperature and pressure [21]. Chemical methods degrade hemicellulose or remove lignin and thus, loosening the structural of ligninholocellulose network. Biological pretreatment methods are used for the delignification of lignocellulosic biomass [42]; however, the longer pretreatment times and loss of a considerable amount of carbohydrates can occur during this pretreatment [43].

Each method has its own specificity in terms of mechanistic application on cell wall components with the applied conditions [42]. Some types of pretreatments (like milling, pyrolysis, steam explosion, ammonia fiber explosion, acid or alkaline cooking, organosolv extraction, and so on) are described as follows.

#### 5.1.1. Physical Pretreatments

(1) Milling. Milling is a mechanical pretreatment that breaks down the structure of lignocellulosic materials and decrease the cellulose crystallinity [44]. Ball milling method is most commonly employed, where the contact of the biomass with balls inside a cycle machine reduces the particles size [28]. This method can be considered environment friendly because it does not required chemicals addition [45] and thus inhibitors are not generated [28]. A disadvantage of milling is the high power required by the machines and consequently high energy costs. For sugarcane bagasse pretreatment is necessary for a lot of cycles and many passes through the miller and the cycles usually have a long time of operation [46].

(2) Pyrolysis. The pyrolysis process is carried out at high temperatures (more than  $300^{\circ}$ C). This process degrades cellulose rapidly into H<sub>2</sub>, CO, and residual char [43]. After the separation of char, the recovered solution is primarily composed by glucose, which can be eventually fermented for ethanol production [47]. This process starts with the heating of the biomass. Primary pyrolysis reactions initiate at high temperatures to release volatiles, followed by condensation of hot volatiles and proceeded with autocatalytic secondary pyrolysis reactions [48].

The yield and quality of products after pyrolysis will depend on several parameters which can be categorized as process parameters (temperature, heating rate, residence time, reaction time, reactor type, type and amount of catalyst, type of sweeping gas, and flow rate) [48] and feedstock properties (particle size, porosity, cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin content [49].

(3) Microwave. Microwave pretreatment is considered as an alternative process for conventional heating. If compared

with conventional heating method that uses superficial transfer of heat, microwave pretreatment uses the direct interaction between a heated object and an applied electromagnetic, generating high heating efficiency and easy operation [50]. The main advantage of this process is the short reactions times and homogeneous heating of the reaction mixture [51]. Microwave assisted pretreatment of SB/SS could be a useful process to save time and energy and minimum generation of inhibitors [52].

It can be considered as one of the most promising pretreatment method to change the native structure of cellulose [53], with the occurrence of the lignin and hemicellulose degradation and thus increasing the enzymatic susceptibility [54]. Microwave can be combined with the chemicals further to improve the sugar yield from the substrate [51].

#### 5.1.2. Physicochemical Pretreatments

(1) Steam Explosion or Hydrothermal. Steam explosion (or hydrothermal) is one of the most common pretreatment methods. This method can be described as a thermochemical process, where lignocellulosic material is exposed with steam [55]. This pretreatment requires minimum, or in some cases, no chemical addition, then it can be seen as a good technology when it is regarding environment concerns [56]. In this process, a mix of biomass and steam is maintained in high temperature in a reactor, promoting the hemicellulose hydrolysis followed by a quickly decompression ending the reaction [57].

Steam explosion treatment yields high solubility of the hemicellulose (producing mainly oligosaccharides) with low lignin solubility [14]. Usually, temperatures between 160 and 240°C and pressure between 0.7 and 4.8 MPa are employed [57]. Steam explosion process followed by enzymatic saccharification is a promising approach to enhance the amount of fermentable sugars.

(2) Ammonia Fiber Explosion (AFEX). AFEX process consists of liquid ammonia and steam explosion. It is a alkaline thermal treatment that exposes the lignocellulosic material to high temperature and pressure followed by fast pressure release. This pretreatment can significantly improve the fermentation rate of various herbaceous crops and grasses [43], and it can be used for the pretreatment of many lignocellulosic materials including alfalfa, wheat straw, wheat chaff, barley straw, corn stover, rice straw, and bagasse [44]. The main advantages of AFEX are the efficient lignin removal and less generation of inhibitors, retaining appreciable amount of carbohydrates in the substrates. Furthermore, it is a simple with short-time process [47]. During the AFEX, structure of the material is changed, resulting in a increase of water holding capacity and of digestibility of substrates (hemicellulose and cellulose) by enzymes, obtaining thus, high sugars recovery [43, 47].

The cost of AFEX process could be minimized if the ammonia is recovered from the lignin-rich solution [43, 47]. The parameters that influence the AFEX process are ammonia loading, temperature, high pressure, moisture content of biomass, and residence time [47, 58].

(3)  $CO_2$  Explosion. The  $CO_2$  explosion occurs similarly to ammonia explosion and is based on the hypothesis that  $CO_2$ would form carbonic acid, increasing the hydrolysis rate of the pretreated material [44]. Carbon dioxide molecules are comparable in size to water, penetrating into the bagasse or straw surfaces, improving the hydrolysis of hemicellulose and cellulose fractions. The increase of the pressure during the explosion helps the penetration of  $CO_2$  molecules into the crystalline structure of lignocellulosics [43].

CO<sub>2</sub> explosion presents conversion yields higher than the steam explosion method, more cost effective than ammonia explosion and does not cause the formation of inhibitors because mild temperature is used during the process, preventing any appreciable decomposition of monosaccharides [43, 59]. This method is nontoxic, noninflammable, and environmental friendly. However, it is a method with hard operation and process complexities [60].

(4) Hot Water. This method employs hot water under high pressure in the biomass hydrating the cellulose and removes a considerable part of hemicellulose fraction. One of the main advantage of this process is the no use of chemicals and consequently not necessary to use corrosion-resistant materials in the hydrolysis reactor. In addition, reduction the size of the raw material is also not required [61].

Usually, in this process the hot water is maintained in contact of the biomass for about 15 minutes at a temperature of 200–230°C. During this process, about 40–60% of the total biomass is dissolved, and all hemicellulose is removed. This process is generally used for pretreatment of corn fibers and herbaceous crops [62].

#### 5.1.3. Chemical Pretreatments

(1) Acid Pretreatment. Among all types of chemical pretreatments of biomass, dilute acid hydrolysis is reported as one of the most used and oldest method. The solubilization of hemicellulose occurs at high temperatures, or at high concentrated acid, releasing pentose sugars [14, 63] and facilitating the enzymatic hydrolysis of remaining substrate (cellulignin) [61]. The most commonly used acid is  $H_2SO_4$ , where its contact with biomass promotes hemicellulose breakdown in xylose and other sugars [14]. However, other acids such as HCl [64], phosphoric acid [65], nitric acid [66], and oxalic acid [67] have also shown promising results. The conditions of the process usually can be performed at temperatures among 120–180°C and residence times ranging 15–60 min [63].

One advantage of the acid pretreatment process is the operation at low and medium temperatures and consequently decreasing of energy costs [68]. However, in high concentration of acid problems can occur with equipment corrosion and expensive costs of maintenance [63], and also after this pretreatment, it is necessary to neutralize the hydrolysate before fermentations [14]. Another disadvantage of this process is the possibility of formation of other byproducts that are considered inhibitory to microbial fermentation, like furans, furfural, carboxylic acids, formic levulinic and acetic acids, and phenolic compounds. Therefore, a detoxification step is required to remove these inhibitory compounds to increase the fermentability of hydrolysates [69].

To calculate the efficiency of acid hydrolysis, factors like temperature, reaction time and acid concentration must be considered [70]. Overend and Chornet [71] developed an equation that involves the temperature and reaction time, indicating the severity of the pretreatment by combined severity factor (CSF):

$$CSF = t_{exp} \left[ \frac{(T - T_{ref})}{14.75} \right], \tag{1}$$

where t is the residence time (min); T is the temperature (°C), and  $T_{ref}$  is the reference temperature, usually set to 100°C.

(2) Alkaline Pretreatment. Alkaline pretreatment is a delignification process, in which a significant amount of hemicellulose is also solubilized. It employs various bases, including sodium hydroxide, calcium hydroxide (lime), potassium hydroxide, ammonia hydroxide, and sodium hydroxide in combination with hydrogen peroxide or others [72]. The action mechanism of alkaline hydrolysis is believed to be saponification of intermolecular ester bonds crosslinking xylan hemicelluloses and other components [44]. This process utilizes lower temperatures and pressures than other pretreatment technologies; however, pretreatment times are on the order of hours or days [72]. Compared with acidbased pretreatment processes, alkaline processes causes less sugar degradation, and many of the caustic salts can be recovered and/or regenerated [43].

Alkaline pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials causes swelling, leading to an increase in internal surface area, decrease in the degree of polymerization and crystallinity, separation of structural linkages between lignin and carbohydrates, and disruption of the lignin structure [72] making cellulose and hemicellulose available for the enzymatic degradation [47].

The effectiveness of alkaline pretreatment varies, depending on the substrate and treatment conditions. In general, alkaline pretreatment is more effective on hardwood, herbaceous crops, and agricultural residues with low lignin content than softwood with high lignin content [72]. The end residue (mainly cellulose) can be used to produce either paper or cellulose derivatives [47] or the sugars generation upon enzymatic hydrolysis which can eventually be used for ethanol production. Reactor costs are lower than those for acid technologies. However, the use of these more expensive salts in high concentrations is a significant disadvantage that raises environmental concerns and may lead to prohibitive recycling, wastewater treatment, and residual handling costs [59, 72].

(3) Oxidative Delignification. Oxidative delignification process causes the delignification and the chemical swelling of the cellulose improving enzymatic saccharification significantly [73]. In this process, the lignin degradation is catalyzed by the peroxidase enzyme with the presence of  $H_2O_2$  [44]. The oxidative delignification has been successfully operated in a continuous flow operation at high biomass loading (approximately 40% solids) and low  $H_2O_2$  loading; though it is still a relatively less explored method compared to other thermochemical pretreatments [74]. This pretreatment method has been applied to a large variety of biomass such as corn stover, barley straw, wheat straw, bamboo, rice straw, and sugarcane bagasse [74].

(4) Ozonolysis. Ozone can be used to degrade the lignin and hemicellulose fractions from lignocellulosic materials such as wheat straw, bagasse, peanut, pine, cotton straw, and poplar sawdust [43]. Ozone is a powerful oxidant, soluble in water and is readily available. It is highly reactive towards the compounds incorporating conjugated double bonds and functional groups with high electron densities. Therefore, the most likely biomass constituent to be oxidized is lignin due to its high content of C=C bounds [75].

Ozonolysis pretreatment has the advantages of effectively removal of lignin, it does not produce toxic residues for the downstream processes, and the reactions are carried out at ambient temperature and pressure [76]. However, a large amount of ozone is required, making the process expensive [44]. Furthermore, the fact that ozone can be easily decomposed by using a catalytic bed or increasing the temperature means that processes can be designed to minimize environmental pollution [43].

(5) Organosolv. Organosolv process seems one of the most promising methods for the pretreatment of lignocellulosics materials [77]. During this process, strong inorganic acid acts as a catalyst, promoting the breakdown of lignin-lignin and carbohydrates-lignin bonds from the biomass [38]. When the lignin is removed, the superficial area and volume of the material are also increased considerably, facilitating the enzyme accessibility and consequently improving the efficiency of the process to achieve fermentable sugars [78].

The organosolv process uses fewer amounts of chemicals to neutralize the hydrolyzate and generates few amounts of wastes compared with other similar process [61]. Chemicals such as NaOH or Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> could be used as catalyst [79]. High efficiency for lignin removal coupled with the high pressure of carbon dioxide has been observed using this process [80].

(6) Wet Oxidation. The wet oxidation process occurs in the presence of oxygen or catalyzed air, where the most used catalyst is the sodium carbonate [81]. Wet oxidation allows obtaining high yields of biomass conversion into monosaccharides with low formation of furan and phenolic aldehydes. In the wet oxidation process, the delignification is reported with the increasing of aliphatic acids. This pretreatment is considered expensive [81]. The major advantage of this pretreatment is the combination with alkalis where it is possible to achieve released sugars without generation of furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, undesirable compounds for fermentations [82]. 5.1.4. Biological Pretreatment. Biological pretreatment is the alternative to chemical pretreatment to alter the structure of lignocellulosic materials. Generally, wood degrading microorganisms like bacteria and brown rot, white rot, and soft rot fungi are employed in the biological pretreatment [72]. This method provides degradation of lignin and hemicellulose making the biomass more amenable to enzyme digestion [47].

The most effective microorganism for biological pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials is white rot fungi [47]. These microorganisms degrade lignin through the action of lignin-degrading enzymes such as peroxidases and laccase [43]. Brown rot fungi mainly attack cellulose, while white and soft rot fungi attack both cellulose and lignin [44].

This pretreatment is environmental friendly because of its low energy use and mild environmental conditions [59]. The main disadvantages, that is, low efficiency, considerable loss of carbohydrates, long residence time, requirement of careful control of growth conditions, and space restrain its applications. In addition, most ligninolytic microorganisms solubilize/consume not only lignin but also a considerable fraction of hemicellulose and cellulose [72]. To overcome these limitations, biological treatments can be used in combination with other treatments [59]. Wang et al. [83] combined fungal treatment with liquid hot water (LHW) to enhance the enzymatic hydrolysis of *Populus tomentosa*.

5.2. Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulosic Fraction. The general concept of conversion of cellulosic fraction into fermentable sugars involves the pretreatment of the raw material followed by its enzymatic hydrolysis. Enzymatic hydrolysis is an ideal approach for degrading cellulose into reducing sugars because mild reaction conditions (pH between 4.8-5.0 and temperature between 45-50°C) can be used; it does not present corrosion problems in the reactors and result in negligible by-products formation with high sugar yields. However, enzymatic hydrolysis depends on optimized conditions for maximal efficiency (hydrolysis temperature, time, pH, enzyme loading, and substrate concentration) and suffers from end-product inhibition and biomass structural restraints [84, 85]. To overcome the end-product inhibition and reducing the time, hydrolysis and fermentation can be combined, so-called simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) or simultaneous saccharification and cofermentation (SSCF).

The enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulosic fraction requires three classes of cellulolytic enzymes (cellulases): (1) endo- $\beta$ -1,4-glucanases (EG, E.C. 3.2.1.4) which attacks regions of low crystallinity in the cellulose fiber, creating free chain ends; (2) cellobiohydrolases or exoglucanase (CBH, E.C. 3.2.1.91) which degrades the molecule further by removing cellobiose units from the free chain-ends; (3)  $\beta$ -glucosidases (E.C. 3.2.1.21) which hydrolyses cellobiose to produce glucose [44]. To breakdown the hemicellulose, several enzymes such as xylanase, b-xylosidase, glucuronidase, acetylesterase, galactomannanase, and glucomannanase are required [84]. Cellulase enzymes when acting together with xylanases on delignified SB/SS exhibit a better yield due to the synergistic action of enzymes [86].

Both bacteria (*Clostridium*, *Cellulomonas*, *Bacillus*, *Thermomonospora*, *Ruminococcus*, *Bacteriodes*, *Erwinia*, *Acetovibrio*, *Microbispora*, and *Streptomyces*) and fungi (*Sclerotium rolfsii*, *Phanenerochate chrysosporium and species of Trichoderma*, *Aspergillus*, *Schizophyllum and Penicillium*) can produce cellulases for the hydrolysis of cellulosic materials [44, 84]. Amongst the cellulase producing microorganisms, *Aspergillus* and *Trichoderma* genera are the widely studied.

For ethanol production from cellulosic materials, removal of lignin improved significantly the substrate digestibility. Furthermore, due to the lower lignin content, enzyme loadings can be considerably reduced. However, extensive lignin removals by pretreatments add cost to the processes [85].

Although enzyme price has decreased due to intensive research to improve their production, enzymes loading during cellulose hydrolysis should be minimized because it also increases the cellulosic ethanol production costs. Thus, finding paths to reduce cellulase loadings would be particularly effective in lowering the process costs. The enzyme source has also a major effect on the hydrolysis efficiency. Therefore, understanding the interaction between cellulases and pretreated biomass is vital to effectively develop lowcost pretreatment and enzyme properties that can lead to competitive ethanol costs [85].

5.3. Detoxification (Treatment) of Hemicellulosic Hydrolysates. The main preoccupations in the pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials are to minimize the sugars degradation and subsequently minimize the formation of inhibitory compounds for microbial metabolism, limit the consumption of chemicals, energy and water, and the production of wastes [39]. The inhibitory compounds could be divided into four groups: (1) substances that are released by the hemicellulosic structure, such as acetic acid, which originates in the deacetylation of xylan; (2) phenolic compounds and other aromatic compounds derived from the partial degradation of lignin; (3) the furan derivatives, furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, resulting from the degradation of pentoses and hexoses, respectively; (4) metals like chromium, copper, iron, and nickel leached from the equipment [69]. These compounds individually as well as synergistically affect the physiology of fermenting microorganisms, therefore, it is essential to eliminate these inhibitory compounds or reduce their concentration to obtain the satisfactory product yields during microbial fermentation of lignocellulose hydrolysates [67].

A number of methods like evaporation; neutralization; use of membranes, ion exchange resins, and activated charcoal; enzymatic detoxification using laccases and peroxidases have been attempted to detoxify the hydrolysates aiming ethanol production. Considering that different lignocellulosic hydrolysates have different degrees of inhibition and that microorganisms have different inhibitor tolerances, the methods of detoxification change will depend on the source of the lignocellulosic hydrolysate and the microorganism being used [87]. Several detoxification methods are described in this overview and can be divided into physical, physicochemical, chemical, and biological treatments.

#### 5.3.1. Physical Treatments

(1) Evaporation (Concentration). The concentration of hydrolysates by vacuum evaporation process is a physical detoxification method which reduces the volatile compounds concentration, including acetic acid, furfural and vanillin [87]. However, this treatment has the disadvantage of increasing the nonvolatile toxic compounds, as extractives [88].

(2) Use of Membranes. The use of membranes has several advantages over conventional extraction. Membrane adsorption prevents that the aqueous phase (hydrolysate) is mixed with organic phase (solvent) which is likely to be toxic to microorganisms [89]. The membranes have surface functional groups attached to their internal pores, which may eliminate metabolic inhibitors as acetic acid, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, furfural, formic, levulinic and sulphuric acid [67].

#### 5.3.2. Physicochemical Treatments

(1) Ion Exchange Resins. The ion exchange resins process has been reported as the most efficient detoxification method. It is known that this process remove lignin-derived inhibitors, acetic acid, and furfurals of hydrolysate, improving significantly the yield fermentation [67]. The main advantage of the use of ion exchange resins is that they can be regenerated and reused without affecting the efficiency of the treatment [65, 90]. However, this method presents some disadvantages: the high pressure drop across the bed that tends to increase during operation due to media deformation; long processing time because of the slow pore diffusion; possible degradation of fragile biological product molecules, and it is difficult to scale-up [91]. The ion exchange resins process also leads to a significant loss of fermentable sugars after the process [67].

(2) Neutralization. Considering the low pH of the hydrolysates provided by acid hydrolysis, it is needed that the neutralization of the pH to be close to the fermentations conditions. In this step, phenolics and furfurals are removed due to precipitations [67]. The chemicals employed in the neutralization of hydrolysates are calcium hydroxide and sodium hydroxide. The addition of Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> generates precipitate of CaSO<sub>4</sub>; therefore, it is desirable to be removed by centrifugation, adding one more stage in the process. During the generation of precipitates it can offer problems in fermentation [92].

(3) Overliming. Among different types of detoxification, overliming is reported as the most used method [93]. This process consists in an increase of the pH of acid hydrolysate followed by reduction until a pH desirable to fermentations. The principle of this process is the precipitation of toxic components and the instability of some inhibitors at high pH [69]. This method showed high efficiency towards the removal of inhibitors and is being widely used [90, 94, 95].

This method has been considered promising and economic, revealing good efficiency for the removal of the furans compounds [67].

(4) Activated Charcoal. Activated charcoal adsorption is a widely used detoxification method which is considered a low cost and efficient for inhibitors compounds removal. This method removes mainly phenolics compounds and does not provide large changes in the fermentable sugars levels [90]. The ratio of charcoal and hydrolysates, pH, time of contact, and temperature are the important factors for the improvement of this method [88, 96].

(5) *Extraction with Organic Solvents*. Due to large availability of inhibitors such as acetic acid, furfural, vanillin, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid, and low molecular weight phenolics, the solvent extraction has been considered an efficient method of detoxification. The most common solvents used in this process are ethyl acetate, chloroform, and trichloroethylene [97].

5.3.3. Biological Treatment. Biological method uses specific enzymes or microorganisms that act on the inhibitors compounds present in the hydrolysate and change them [87]. In contrast with physical and chemical detoxifications, biological detoxification represents an improvement because little waste is generated and could be performed directly in the fermentation vessel before fermentation [98]. This method is still more feasible, environmental friendly, with fewer side reactions and less energy requirements [99]; however, it presents a long process time [100].

The use of enzymes is a very studied and promising method. Laccase and peroxidase enzymes derived from white rot fungi have been found effective for the removal of phenolics compounds from lignocellulosic hydrolysates [99]. The detoxification mechanism of these enzymes probably involves oxidative polymerization of phenolic compounds of low molecular weight [88]; they catalyze the oxidation of substituted phenols, anilines, and aromatic thiols, at the expense of molecular oxygen [101]. The disadvantages of enzyme detoxification are long incubation time and high costs of enzymes; however it has the advantage that is usually conducted at mild conditions (pH 5.0, mesophilic temperature) [102].

The use of microorganism has also been applied to remove inhibitors compounds from lignocellulosic hydrolysates [87]. There are several microorganisms which can naturally assimilate inhibitory compounds, including yeasts, fungi, and bacteria [102]. Some microorganisms during incubation are able to release cellulase and hemicellulase and degrade only lignin, resulting in a lignocellulosic substrate which can be easily hydrolyzed into fermentable sugars with mild conditions and short time [99].

These microorganisms can effectively degrade lignin while retaining cellulose and hemicellulose in the substrate. This method can also be referred *as in situ* microbial delignification (ISMD). Recently, several microorganisms have shown their preference towards inhibitors by transforming their chemical nature and can be employed for detoxification of lignocellulose hydrolysates [99, 103]. The adaptation of a microorganism to a nondetoxified hydrolysate is another interesting alternative to replace the detoxification step. This method is based on successive fermentations using the microorganism of each experiment as the inoculum of the next one [88]. The use of adapted microorganisms not only reduces the detoxification cost but also avoids loss of fermentable sugars [102].

#### 5.4. Fermentation of Sugars from Sugarcane Biomass into Ethanol

5.4.1. Bioconversion of Hexose Sugars into Ethanol. Ethanol fermentation is a biological process in which sugars are converted by microorganisms to produce ethanol and  $CO_2$ . Even though there are the existence of many methods and process to use lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production, however, it is still difficult to obtain economic ethanol from lignocellulosics [86].

The microorganism most commonly used in fermentation process is the yeasts and, among the yeasts, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is the preferred choice for ethanol fermentation [104]. This yeast can grow both on simple sugars, such as glucose, and on the disaccharide sucrose. Furthermore, the availability of a robust genetic transformation system of *S. cerevisiae* along with a long history of this microorganism in industrial fermentation processes makes it most desired microorganisms for ethanol production. *S. cerevisiae* has high resistance to ethanol, consumes significant amounts of substrate in adverse conditions, and shows high resistance to inhibitors present in the medium [105]. Unfortunately, xylose metabolism presents a unique challenge for *S. cerevisiae* to assimilate pentose sugars due to the absence of genes required for assimilation of these molecules [105].

There are three kinds of processes to produce ethanol from sugarcane bagasse (SB) and sugarcane straw (SS). The first process is called separate (or sequential) hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) where hydrolysis of lignocellulosic material and ethanol fermentation is done separately. SB/SS is pretreated, and the pretreated material is enzymatically hydrolyzed separately to recover the sugars. The recovered sugar solution (hexose sugars) is then fermented with appropriate microorganism into ethanol. SHF is a little staggered process [21]. The other two kinds of processes are called simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) and simultaneous saccharification and cofermentation (SSCF), where both enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation of released sugars into ethanol occur simultaneously making the overall process short [21, 86]. In the SSF process, the glucose (from cellulose hydrolyzed) is fermented separately of pentoses (from hydrolysate) in a separate reactor, while that in the SSCF process, the fermentation of xylose and glucose occurs together in the same reactor [21, 86].

5.4.2. Bioconversion of Pentose Sugars into Ethanol. The maximum utilization of all sugar fractions is essential to obtain an economic and viable conversion technology for bioethanol production from sugarcane bagasse (SB) and sugarcane straw (SS). To obtain the desired ethanol yields from SB/SS hydrolysates, it is essential that the hemicellulose fraction should be fermented with same conversion rates as the cellulose fraction [104].

Hemicellulose hydrolysate typically contains primarily pentose sugars (xylose and arabinose) and some amounts of hexose sugars (mannose, glucose and galactose) [106, 107]. A variety of yeast, fungi, and bacteria are capable of assimilating pentose, but only a few are promising candidates for the efficient xylose fermentation into ethanol [106]. In yeasts, the assimilation of D-xylose follows the pathway where the sugar passes through a pool enzymatic to enter in the phosphopentose pathway [108]. There are several microorganisms capable of assimilating pentose sugars, but only few species are capable of assimilating sugars to produce ethanol at industrial scale. Microorganisms, such as Scheffersomyces stipitis (Pichia stipitis) [109], Candida guilliermondii, Candida shehatae, and Pachysolen tannophilus are able to assimilate pentose sugars by a reduction/oxidation pathway bioconversion of sugarcane bagasse/sugarcane straw hydrolysates under different cultivation conditions [110].

The process to assimilate pentose sugars consists in the xylose being converted to xylitol, by the action of Dxylose reductase (E.C. 1.1.1.21) and immediately oxidized by the action of xylitol dehydrogenase (E.C. 1.1.1.9), producing D-xylose-5-phosphate. Ribolosephosphate-3-epimerase (5.1.3.1), transaldolase (E.C. 2.2.1.2), and transketolase (E.C. 2.2.1.1) sequentially convert D-xylose-5-phosphate into glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and fructose-6-phoshate by non-oxidative rearrangement resulting into the formation of ethanol by the Emden-Meyorhoff Pathway. NADPH must be regenerated through metabolic routes. The metabolic pathway of the arabinose is similar to the route shown by xylose, where aldose reductase mechanistically converts arabinose into L-arabitol. Through the action of L-arabitol dehydrogenase, L-arabitol is reduced to ethanol [99, 105]. Recently published reviews have competently presented the important progress made for pentose sugars fermentation into ethanol [99, 110].

5.5. Distillation of Ethanol. Despite the downstream process being the highest energy consuming process during the ethanol production [111], the ethanol recovery from the fermented broth is necessary. The final medium is composed by water and ethanol (5–12 wt%) [112]. The ethanol-water cannot be separated by conventional distillation processes because they form a nonideal mixture system [113]. The dehydration is sophisticated method because they form an azeotropic mixture with water (at 95.6 wt% at a temperature of 78.15°C), which makes it impossible to separate in a single distillation column [112]. This way, the ethanol purification occurs in three steps: distillation, rectification, and dehydration. A high concentrated ethanol solution is obtained in the two first steps (about 92.4 wt%), then the mixture is dehydrated in order to obtain ethanol anhydrous by a dehydration method. The dehydration can be realized by azeotropic distillation, extractive distillation, liquid-liquid

#### 6. Conclusion

Sugarcane bagasse (SB) and sugarcane straw (SS) are the attractive second-generation renewable feedstock available in several countries like Brazil. This feedstock if used judiciously may provide the sustainable supply of drop-in ethanol, industrial enzymes, organics acids, single cell proteins, and so forth. However, a significant fraction of this biomass goes to industries for steam and electricity generation. The remaining fraction represents the ideal feedstock for the generation high-value commodities. Last three decades of vigorous developments in pretreatment technologies, microbial biotechnology, and downstream processing have made it reality to harness the sugarcane residues for the production of many products of commercial significance at large scale without jeopardizing the food/feed requirements. Biomass recalcitrance is a main challenge toward the successful exploitation of these residues. To overcome the biomass recalcitrance, pretreatment is an inevitable process to ameliorate the accessibility of carbohydrate for the subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis reaction to generate fermentable sugars. There are several robust pretreatment methods available; however, the ultimate choice for the selection of pretreatment process depends upon the effective delignification or hemicellulose removal, minimum generation of inhibitors, low sugar loss, time savings, being economic and causing less environmental pollution. The released sugars after enzymatic hydrolysis and hemicellulose depolymerization are converted into ethanol by the suitable ethnologic strain. In order to get desired ethanol yields, the ethnologic strains should have ability to utilize pentose and hexose sugars, inhibitor resistance, and high osmotolerance. The following ten requirements are pivotal in order to establish a long-term sustainable second-generation ethanol production process from sugarcane residues.

- (1) Fullest utilization of SB and SS generated in the country for the better management.
- (2) Selection of right pretreatment and detoxification strategy.
- (3) In-house cellulase production and development of cellulolytic strains and ethanol producing strains from pentose and hexose sugars showing inhibitor resistance, ethanol tolerance, and faster sugar conversion rates.
- (4) Process intensification: hydrolysis and fermentation together in one place.
- (5) Cheap, fast, and effective ethanol distillation.
- (6) Integration of bioethanol producing units with sugar/distilleries for the coutilization of machinery, reactors, and other equipment.
- (7) Maximum by products utilization (lignin, furans, and yeast cell mass).
- (8) Environmental protection.

- (9) Government subsidies to promote the renewable energy.
- (10) Encouragement of private investments.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to FAPESP, CAPES, and CNPq.

#### References

- C. R. Soccol, L. P. D. S. Vandenberghe, A. B. P. Medeiros et al., "Bioethanol from lignocelluloses: status and perspectives in Brazil," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 13, pp. 4820– 4825, 2010.
- [2] B. S. Dien, M. A. Cotta, and T. W. Jeffries, "Bacteria engineered for fuel ethanol production: current status," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 258–266, 2003.
- [3] "Conab (Companhia Nacional de Abastecimento-National Supply Company), 2012. Acompanhamento da Safra Brasileira de Cana-de-açúcar. Primeiro Levantamento da Safra 2012/2013," http://www.conab.gov.br/.
- [4] "Conab (Companhia Nacional de Abastecimento-National Supply Company), 2012. Acompanhamento da Safra Brasileira de Grãos. Décimo Segundo Levantamento da Safra 2011/ 2012," http://www.conab.gov.br/.
- [5] "Embrapa (Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária— Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation), 2010. Produção Brasileira de Mandioca em 2010," http://www.embrapa .br/.
- [6] R. C. L. B. Rodrigues, M. D. G. A. Felipe, J. B. Almeida E Silva, and M. Vitolo, "Response surface methodology for xylitol production from sugarcane bagasse hemicellulosic hydrolyzate using controlled vacuum evaporation process variables," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 1231–1237, 2003.
- [7] "Cenbio (Centro Nacional em Referência de Biomassa— Brazilian Reference Center on Biomass)," 2003, http://cenbio .iee.usp.br/.
- [8] R. C. D. Cerqueira Leite, M. R. L. V. Leal, L. A. B. Cortez, W. M. Griffin, and M. I. Gaya Scandiffio, "Can Brazil replace 5% of the 2025 gasoline world demand with ethanol?" *Energy*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 655–661, 2009.
- [9] L. A. D. Paes and M. A. Oliveira, "Potential trash biomass of the sugar cane plant," in *Biomass Power Generation. Sugarcane Bagasse and Trash*, S. J. Hassuani, M. L. R. V. Leal, and I. C. Macedo, Eds., p. 19, PNUD and CTC, Piracicaba, Brazil, 1st edition, 2005.
- [10] M. A. T. Neto, "Characterization of sugarcane trash and bagasse," in *Biomass Power Generation. Sugarcane Bagasse and Trash*, S. J. Hassuani, M. L. R. V. Leal, and I. C. Macedo, Eds., p. 24, PNUD and CTC, Piracicaba, Brazil, 1st edition, 2005.
- [11] O. Triana, M. Leonard, F. Saavedra, I. C. Acan, O. L. Garcia, and A. Abril, *Atlas of Sugarcane Bagasse*, Geplacea and ICID-CA, México, 1990.
- [12] A. V. Ensinas, M. Modesto, S. A. Nebra, and L. Serra, "Reduction of irreversibility generation in sugar and ethanol production from sugarcane," *Energy*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 680–688, 2009.
- [13] M. J. R. Mutton, "Reflex of raw material quality in fermentative process," in *Proceedings of the 14th Workshop—Ethanol*

*Production: Raw Material Quality*, Engineering School of Lorena, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, 2008.

- [14] N. Mosier, C. Wyman, B. Dale et al., "Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 6, pp. 673–686, 2005.
- [15] G. J. M. Rocha, C. Martin, I. B. Soares, A. M. Souto Maior, H. M. Baudel, and C. A. M. de Abreu, "Dilute mixed-acid pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse for ethanol production," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 663–670, 2011.
- [16] D. Fengel and G. Wegener, *Wood Chemistry, Ultrastructure, Reactions*, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, Germany, 1989.
- [17] A. Singh and P. Mishra, "Microbial pentose utilization," in *Current Applications in Biotechnology*, vol. 33 of *Progress in Industrial Microbiology*, 1995.
- [18] H. Boussarsar, B. Rogé, and M. Mathlouthi, "Optimization of sugarcane bagasse conversion by hydrothermal treatment for the recovery of xylose," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 24, pp. 6537–6542, 2009.
- [19] L. Canilha, V. T. O. Santos, G. J. M. Rocha et al., "A study on the pretreatment of a sugarcane bagasse sample with dilute sulfuric acid," *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 38, pp. 1467–1475, 2011.
- [20] R. C. Kuhad, A. Singh, and K. E. Eriksson, "Microorganisms and enzymes involved in the degradation of plant fiber cell walls," *Advances in Biochemical Engineering and Biotechnol*ogy, vol. 57, pp. 45–125, 1997.
- [21] M. J. Taherzsadeh and K. Karimi, "Enzymatic-based hydrolysis processes for ethanol from lignocellulosic materials: a review," *Bioresources*, vol. 2, pp. 707–738, 2007.
- [22] A. R. Gonçalves and M. A. Soto-Oviedo, "Production of chelating agents through the enzymatic oxidation of Acetosolv sugarcane bagasse lignin," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology A*, vol. 98–100, pp. 365–371, 2002.
- [23] D. Stewart, "Lignin as a base material for materials applications: chemistry, application and economics," *Industrial Crops and Products*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 202–207, 2008.
- [24] V. Fierro, V. Torné-Fernández, D. Montané, and A. Celzard, "Adsorption of phenol onto activated carbons having different textural and surface properties," *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*, vol. 111, no. 1–3, pp. 276–284, 2008.
- [25] H. L. Chum, S. K. Parker, D. A. Feinberg et al., *The Economic Contribution of Lignin to Ethanol Production from Biomass*, Solar Energy Research Institute, Golden, Colo, USA, 1985.
- [26] P. Benar, Polpação acetosolv de bagaço de cana e madeira de eucalipto (Acetosolv pulping of bagasse and Eucaliptus wood) [M.S. thesis], Chemical Institute, Campinas University, São Paulo, Brazil, 1992.
- [27] A. P. Pitarelo, Avaliação da susceptibilidade do bagaço e da palha de cana-de-açúcar à bioconversão via pré-tratamento a vapor e hidrólise enzimática (Evaluation of susceptibility of sugarcane bagasse and straw on the bioconversion by steamexplosion and enzymatic hydrolysis) [M.S. thesis], Federal Univesity of Paraná, Paraná, Brazil, 2007.
- [28] A. S. da Silva, H. Inoue, T. Endo, S. Yano, and E. P. S. Bon, "Milling pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse and straw for enzymatic hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 19, pp. 7402–7409, 2010.
- [29] M. Brienzo, A. F. Siqueira, and A. M. F. Milagres, "Search for optimum conditions of sugarcane bagasse hemicellulose extraction," *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 199–204, 2009.

- [30] S. C. Rabelo, H. Carrere, R. Maciel Filho, and A. C. Costa, "Production of bioethanol, methane and heat from sugarcane bagasse in a biorefinery concept," *Bioresource Technol*ogy, vol. 102, no. 17, pp. 7887–7895, 2011.
- [31] A. Pandey, C. R. Soccol, P. Nigam, and V. T. Soccol, "Biotechnological potential of agro-industrial residues. I: sugarcane bagasse," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 69–80, 2000.
- [32] R. Hatfield and R. S. Fukushima, "Can lignin be accurately measured?" *Crop Science*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 832–839, 2005.
- [33] L. A. D. Paes and S. J. Hassuani, "Potential trash and biomass of the sugarcane plantation, including trash recovery factors," in *Biomass Power Generation. Sugarcane Bagasse and Trash*, S. J. Hassuani, M. L. R. V. Leal, and I. C. Macedo, Eds., p. 19, PNUD and CTC, Piracicaba, Brazil, 1st edition, 2005.
- [34] R. Y. Moriya, Uso de xilanases e lacases de microrganismos no branqueamento de polpas organosolv de palha de cana-deaçúcar e estudo dos derivados celulósicos obtidos (Use of microbial xylanases and laccases in the bleaching of organosolv pulps from sugarcane straw and study of the cellulosic derivatives obtained) [Ph.D. thesis], University of São Paulo, Engineering School of Lorena, São Paulo, Brazil, 2007.
- [35] M. B. W. Saad, L. R. M. Oliveira, R. G. Cândido, G. Quintana, G. J. M. Rocha, and A. R. Gonçalves, "Preliminary studies on fungal treatment of sugarcane straw for organosolv pulping," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 220–225, 2008.
- [36] S. M. Luz, A. R. Gonçalves, A. P. Del'Arco Jr., A. L. Leão, P. M. C. Ferrão, and G. J. M. Rocha, "Thermal properties of polypropylene composites reinforced with different vegetable fibers," *Advanced Materials Research*, vol. 123–125, pp. 1199– 1202, 2010.
- [37] S. M. Costa, P. G. Mazzola, J. C. A. R. Silva, R. Pahl, A. Pessoa Jr., and S. A. Costa, "Use of sugar cane straw as a source of cellulose for textile fiber production," *Industrial Crops and Products*, vol. 42, pp. 189–194, 2013.
- [38] M. T. Holtzapple and A. E. Humphrey, "The effect of organosolv pretreatment on the enzymatic hydrolysis of poplar," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 670–676, 1984.
- [39] A. Margeot, B. Hahn-Hagerdal, M. Edlund, R. Slade, and F. Monot, "New improvements for lignocellulosic ethanol," *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 372–380, 2009.
- [40] A. K. Chandel, G. Calvet, E. C. Giese, J. Reis, and S. S. Silva, "Statistical optimization of dual acid-base pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse improves the enzymatic hydrolysis into fermentable sugars," in *Proceedings of the Workshop on Second Generation of Bioethanol: Enzymatic Hydrolysis*, Campinas, Brazil, November 2011.
- [41] G. Y. S. Mtui, "Recent advances in pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes and production of value added products," *African Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 1398–1415, 2009.
- [42] A. K. Chandel, E. C. Chan, R. Rudravaram, M. L. Narasu, L. V. Rao, and P. Ravinda, "Economics and environmental impact of bioethanol production technologies: an appraisal," *Biotechnology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 2, pp. 14– 32, 2007.
- [43] P. Kumar, D. M. Barrett, M. J. Delwiche, and P. Stroeve, "Methods for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for efficient hydrolysis and biofuel production," *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 3713–3729, 2009.

13

- [44] Y. Sun and J. Cheng, "Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: a review," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2002.
- [45] H. Inoue, S. Yano, T. Endo, T. Sakaki, and S. Sawayama, "Combining hot-compressed water and ball milling pretreatments to improve the efficiency of the enzymatic hydrolysis of eucalyptus," *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, vol. 1, article 2, 2008.
- [46] A. Hideno, H. Inoue, K. Tsukahara et al., "Wet disk milling pretreatment without sulfuric acid for enzymatic hydrolysis of rice straw," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 10, pp. 2706–2711, 2009.
- [47] N. Sarkar, S. K. Ghosh, S. Bannerjee, and K. Aikat, "Bioethanol production from agricultural wastes: an overview," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 19–27, 2012.
- [48] K. Açikalin, F. Karaca, and E. Bolat, "Pyrolysis of pistachio shell: effects of pyrolysis conditions and analysis of products," *Fuel*, vol. 95, pp. 169–177, 2012.
- [49] F. A. Agblevor, S. Besler, and A. E. Wiselogel, "Fast pyrolysis of stored biomass feedstocks," *Energy & Fuels*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 635–640, 1995.
- [50] P. Binod, K. Satyanagalakshmi, R. Sindhu, K. U. Janu, R. K. Sukumaran, and A. Pandey, "Short duration microwave assisted pretreatment enhances the enzymatic saccharification and fermentable sugar yield from sugarcane bagasse," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 109–116, 2012.
- [51] I. Balcu, C. A. Macarie, A. E. Segneanu, and R. Oana, "Combined microwave-acid pretreatment of the biomass," in *Progress in Biomass and Bioenergy Production*, S. S. Shaukai, Ed., pp. 223–238, In Tech, Rijeka, Croatia, 2011.
- [52] D. R. Keshwani, Microwave pretreatment of switchgrass for bioethanol production [Ph.D. thesis], Philosophy Biological and Agricultural Engineering, Raleigh, NC, USA, 2009.
- [53] J. Xiong, J. Ye, W. Z. Liang, and P. M. Fan, "Influence of microwave on the ultrastructure of cellulose," *Journal of South China University Technology*, vol. 28, pp. 84–89, 2000.
- [54] X. Lu, B. Xi, Y. Zhang, and I. Angelidaki, "Microwave pretreatment of rape straw for bioethanol production: focus on energy efficiency," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 17, pp. 7937–7940, 2011.
- [55] E. Chornet and R. P. Overend, "Phenomenological kinetics and reaction engineering aspects of steam/aqueous treatments," in *Steam Explosion Techniques: Fundamentals and Industrial Applications*, B. Focher, A. Marzetti, and V. Crescenzi, Eds., pp. 21–58, Goran and Breach Science Publishers, Philadelphia, Pa, USA, 1991.
- [56] W. E. Kaar, C. V. Gutierrez, and C. M. Kinoshita, "Steam explosion of sugarcane bagasse as a pretreatment for conversion to ethanol," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 277– 287, 1998.
- [57] V. B. Agbor, N. Cicek, R. Sparling, A. Berlin, and D. B. Levin, "Biomass pretreatment: fundamentals toward application," *Biotechnology Advances*, vol. 29, pp. 675–685, 2011.
- [58] B. Bals, C. Wedding, V. Balan, E. Sendich, and B. Dale, "Evaluating the impact of ammonia fiber expansion (AFEX) pretreatment conditions on the cost of ethanol production," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 1277–1283, 2011.
- [59] C. N. Hamelinck, G. van Hooijdonk, and A. P. C. Faaij, "Ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass: techno-economic performance in short-, middle- and long-term," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 384–410, 2005.
- [60] W. S. Cardoso, F. A. Santos, A. M. Mota, F. D. Tardin, S. T. Resende, and J. H. Queiroz, "Pré-Tratamentos de Biomassa

para Produção de Etanol de Segunda Geração," *Revista Analytica*, vol. 56, pp. 64–76, 2012.

- [61] M. J. Taherzadeh and K. Karimi, "Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 1621–1651, 2008.
- [62] N. S. Mosier, R. Hendrickson, R. Dreschel et al., "Principles and economics of pretreating cellulose in water for ethanol production," in *Proceedings of the 225th American Chemical Society Meeting*, vol. 103, BIOT Division, New Orleans, La, USA, 2003.
- [63] P. Alvira, E. Tomás-Pejó, M. Ballesteros, and M. J. Negro, "Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: a review," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 13, pp. 4851–4861, 2010.
- [64] P. Laopaiboon, A. Thani, V. Leelavatcharamas, and L. Laopaiboon, "Acid hydrolysis of sugarcane bagasse for lactic acid production," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 1036–1043, 2010.
- [65] W. Carvalho, M. A. Batista, L. Canilha, J. C. Santos, A. Converti, and S. S. Silva, "Sugarcane bagasse hydrolysis with phosphoric and sulfuric acids and hydrolysate detoxification for xylitol production," *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 79, no. 11, pp. 1308–1312, 2004.
- [66] A. Rodríguez-Chong, J. A. Ramírez, G. Garrote, and M. Vázquez, "Hydrolysis of sugar cane bagasse using nitric acid: a kinetic assessment," *Journal of Food Engineering*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 143–152, 2004.
- [67] A. K. Chandel, S. S. Silva, and O. V. Singh, "Detoxification of lignocellulosic hydrolysates for improved bioethanol production," in *Biofuel Production-Recent Developments and Prospects*, M. A. S. Bernardes, Ed., pp. 225–246, In Tech, Rijeka, Croatia, 2011.
- [68] F. M. Gírio, C. Fonseca, F. Carvalheiro, L. C. Duarte, S. Marques, and R. Bogel-Łukasik, "Hemicelluloses for fuel ethanol: a review," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 13, pp. 4775– 4800, 2010.
- [69] E. Palmqvist and B. Hahn-Hägerdal, "Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. II: inhibitors and mechanisms of inhibition," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 25–33, 2000.
- [70] I. K. Kapdan, F. Kargi, and R. Oztekin, "Effects of operating parameters on acid hydrolysis of ground wheat starch: maximization of the sugar yield by statistical experiment design," *Starch-Stärke*, vol. 63, no. 5, pp. 311–318, 2011.
- [71] R. P. Overend and E. Chornet, "Fractionation of lignocellulosics by steam aqueous pretreatments," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, vol. 321, pp. 523–536, 1987.
- [72] Y. Zheng, Z. Pan, and R. Zhang, "Overview of biomass pretreatment for cellulosic production," *International Journal of Agricultural and Biological Engineering*, vol. 2, pp. 51–68, 2009.
- [73] Y. Yamashita, M. Shono, C. Sasaki, and Y. Nakamura, "Alkaline peroxide pretreatment for efficient enzymatic saccharification of bamboo," *Carbohydrate Polymers*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 914–920, 2010.
- [74] G. Banerjee, S. Car, J. S. Scott-Craig, D. B. Hodge, and J. D. Walton, "Alkaline peroxide pretreatment of corn stover: effects of biomass, peroxide, and enzyme loading and composition on yields of glucose and xylose," *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, vol. 4, article 16, 2011.
- [75] M. T. García-Cubero, G. González-Benito, I. Indacoechea, M. Coca, and S. Bolado, "Effect of ozonolysis pretreatment on

enzymatic digestibility of wheat and rye straw," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 4, pp. 1608–1613, 2009.

- [76] P. F. Vidal and J. Molinier, "Ozonolysis of lignin—improvement of in vitro digestibility of poplar sawdust," *Biomass*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 1988.
- [77] R. El Hage, N. Brosse, L. Chrusciel, C. Sanchez, P. Sannigrahi, and A. Ragauskas, "Characterization of milled wood lignin and ethanol organosolv lignin from miscanthus," *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, vol. 94, pp. 1632–1638, 2009.
- [78] B. W. Koo, H. Y. Kim, N. Park, S. M. Lee, H. Yeo, and I. G. Choi, "Organosolv pretreatment of *Liriodendron tulipifera* and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation for bioethanol production," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 1833–1840, 2011.
- [79] D. S. Ruzene, A. R. Gonçalves, J. A. Teixeira, and M. T. Pessoa De Amorim, "Carboxymethylcellulose obtained by ethanol/water organosolv process under acid conditions," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 137–140, no. 1– 12, pp. 573–582, 2007.
- [80] D. Pasquini, M. T. B. Pimenta, L. H. Ferreira, and A. A. D. S. Curvelo, "Extraction of lignin from sugar cane bagasse and *Pinus taeda* wood chips using ethanol-water mixtures and carbon dioxide at high pressures," *Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 31–39, 2005.
- [81] F. Carvalheiro, L. C. Duarte, and F. M. Gírio, "Hemicellulose biorefineries: a review on biomass pretreatments," *Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research*, vol. 67, no. 11, pp. 849–864, 2008.
- [82] A. B. Bjerre, A. B. Olesen, and T. Fernqvist, "Pretreatment of wheat straw using combined wet oxidation and alkaline hydrolysis resulting in convertible cellulose and hemicellulose," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 49, pp. 568–577, 1996.
- [83] W. Wang, T. Yuan, K. Wang, B. Cui, and Y. Dai, "Combination of biological pretreatment with liquid hot water pretreatment to enhance enzymatic hydrolysis of *Populustomentosa*," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 107, pp. 282–286, 2012.
- [84] S. J. B. Duff and W. D. Murray, "Bioconversion of forest products industry waste cellulosics to fuel ethanol: a review," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 1–33, 1996.
- [85] A. M. F. Milagres, W. Carvalho, and A. L. Ferraz, "Topochemistry, porosity and chemical composition affecting enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials," in *Routes to Cellulosic Ethanol*, M. S. Buckeridge and G. H. Goldman, Eds., p. 53, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2011.
- [86] E. C. Giese, A. K. Chandel, I. S. Oliveira, and S. S. Silva, "Prospects for the bioethanol production from sugarcane feedstock: focus on Brazil," in *Sugarcane: Production, Cultivation and Uses*, J. F. Gonçalves and K. D. Correa, Eds., Nova Science Publishers, New York, NY, USA, 2011.
- [87] R. Anish and M. Rao, "Bioethanol from lignocellulosic biomass part III hydrolysis and fermentation," in *Handbook* of *Plant-Based Biofuels*, A. Pandey, Ed., pp. 159–173, CRC Press, Portland, Ore, USA, 2009.
- [88] S. I. Mussatto and I. C. Roberto, "Alternatives for detoxification of diluted-acid lignocellulosic hydrolyzates for use in fermentative processes: a review," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2004.
- [89] D. L. Grzenia, D. J. Schell, and S. R. Wickramasighe, "Membrane extraction for detoxification of biomass hydrolysates," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 111, pp. 248–254, 2012.
- [90] L. Canilha, W. Carvalho, M. Giulietti, M. D. G. A. Felipe, and J. B. A. E. Silva, "Clarification of a wheat straw-derived medium with ion-exchange resins for xylitol crystallization,"

*Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 83, no. 5, pp. 715–721, 2008.

- [91] N. O. Nilvebrant, A. Reimann, S. Larsson, and L. J. Jönsson, "Detoxification of lignocellulose hydrolysates with ion-exchange resins," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology A*, vol. 91–93, pp. 35–49, 2001.
- [92] E. Palmqvist and B. Hahn-Hägerdal, "Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. I: inhibition and detoxification," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 17–24, 2000.
- [93] J. J. Zhu, Q. Yong, Y. Xu, and S. Y. Yu, "Comparative detoxification of vacuum evaporation/steam stripping combined with overliming on corn stover prehydrolyzate," in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Energy and Environment Technology (ICEET '09)*, vol. 3, pp. 240–243, October 2009.
- [94] W. Carvalho, L. Canilha, and S. S. Silva, "Semi-continuous xylose-to-xylitol bioconversion by Ca-alginate entrapped yeast cells in a stirred tank reactor," *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 493–498, 2008.
- [95] F. A. F. Antunes, T. S. S. Milessi, I. Oliveira, A. K. Chandel, and S. S. Silva, "Characterization of sugarcane bagasse hemicellulosic hydrolysate after detoxification with overliming and activated charcoal," in *Proceedings of the 20th European Biomass Conference and Exhibition*, Milan, Italy, 2012.
- [96] A. Converti, J. M. Domínguez, P. Perego, S. S. Da Silva, and M. Zilli, "Wood hydrolysis and hydrolysate detoxification for subsequent xylitol production," *Chemical Engineering and Technology*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 1013–1020, 2000.
- [97] M. Cantarella, L. Cantarella, A. Gallifuoco, A. Spera, and F. Alfani, "Comparison of different detoxification methods for steam-exploded poplar wood as a substrate for the bioproduction of ethanol in SHF and SSF," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1533–1542, 2004.
- [98] Z. Hou-Rui, Q. Xiang-Xiang, S. S. Silva et al., "Novel isolates for biological detoxification of lignocellulosic hydrolysate," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 152, no. 2, pp. 199–212, 2009.
- [99] A. K. Chandel, G. Chandrasekhar, K. Radhika, R. Ravinder, and P. Ravindra, "Bioconversion of pentose sugars into ethanol: a review and future directions," *Biotechnology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 6, pp. 8–20, 2011.
- [100] B. Yang and C. E. Wyman, "Pretreatment: the key to unlocking low-cost cellulosic ethanol," *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 26–40, 2008.
- [101] A. D. Moreno, D. Ibarra, J. L. Férnandez, and M. Ballesteros, "Different laccase detoxification strategies for ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass by the thermotolerant yeast *Kluyveromyces marxianus* CECT, 10875," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 106, pp. 101–109, 2012.
- [102] W. Parawira and M. Tekere, "Biotechnological strategies to overcome inhibitors in lignocellulose hydrolysates for ethanol production: review," *Critical Reviews in Biotechnol*ogy, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 20–31, 2011.
- [103] B. G. Fonseca, R. D. O. Moutta, F. D. O. Ferraz et al., "Biological detoxification of different hemicellulosic hydrolysates using *Issatchenkia occidentalis* CCTCC M 206097 yeast," *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 199–207, 2011.
- [104] Y. Lin and S. Tanaka, "Ethanol fermentation from biomass resources: current state and prospects," *Applied Microbiology* and Biotechnology, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 627–642, 2006.
- [105] R. E. Hector, J. A. Mertens, M. J. Bowman, N. N. Nichols, M. A. Cotta, and S. R. Hughes, "Saccharomyces cerevisiae engineered for xylose metabolism requires gluconeogenesis

and the oxidative branch of the pentose phosphate pathway for aerobic xylose assimilation," *Yeast*, vol. 28, pp. 645–660, 2011.

- [106] L. K. Singh, G. Chaudhary, C. B. Majumder, and S. Ghosh, "Utilization of hemicellulosic fraction of lignocellulosic material for bioethanol production," *Advances in Applied Science Research*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 508–521, 2011.
- [107] J. Shen and C. E. Wyman, "A novel mechanism and kinetic model to explain enhanced xylose yields from dilute sulfuric acid compared to hydrothermal pretreatment of corn stover," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, pp. 9111–9120, 2011.
- [108] M. Bettiga, B. Hahn-Hägerdal, and M. F. Gorwa-Grauslund, "Comparing the xylose reductase/xylitol dehydrogenase and xylose isomerase pathways in arabinose and xylose fermenting *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains," *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, vol. 1, article 16, 2008.
- [109] C. P. Kurtzman and M. Suzuki, "Phylogenetic analysis of ascomycete yeasts that form coenzyme Q-9 and the proposal of the new genera *Babjeviella*, *Meyerozyma*, *Millerozyma*, *Priceomyces*, and *Scheffersomyces*," *Mycoscience*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 2–14, 2010.
- [110] R. C. Kuhad, R. Gupta, Y. P. Khasa, A. Singh, and Y. H. P. Zhang, "Bioethanol production from pentose sugars: current status and future prospects," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 15, pp. 4950–4962, 2011.
- [111] M. R. L. V. Leal, "Ethanol production from cane resources," in *Bioenergy for Sustainable Development and International Competitiveness*, F. X. Johnson and V. Seebaluck, Eds., pp. 126–157, Routledge, Abingdon, UK, 2012.
- [112] H. J. Huang, S. Ramaswamy, U. W. Tschirner, and B. V. Ramarao, "A review of separation technologies in current and future biorefineries," *Separation and Purification Technology*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 1–21, 2008.
- [113] P. W. Madson, "Ethanol distillation: the fundamentals," in *The Alcohol Textbook*, K. A. Jacques, T. P. Lyons, and D. R. Kelsall, Eds., pp. 319–336, Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, UK, 4th edition, 1995.

### **Research** Article

# **Production of Ethanol from Sugars and Lignocellulosic Biomass** by *Thermoanaerobacter* J1 Isolated from a Hot Spring in Iceland

#### Jan Eric Jessen and Johann Orlygsson

Faculty of Natural Resource Sciences, University of Akureyri, Borgir, Nordurslod 2, 600 Akureyri, Iceland

Correspondence should be addressed to Johann Orlygsson, jorlygs@unak.is

Received 8 June 2012; Revised 16 August 2012; Accepted 4 September 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 J. E. Jessen and J. Orlygsson. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Thermophilic bacteria have gained increased attention as candidates for bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass. This study investigated ethanol production by *Thermoanaerobacter* strain J1 from hydrolysates made from lignocellulosic biomass in batch cultures. The effect of increased initial glucose concentration and the partial pressure of hydrogen on end product formation were examined. The strain showed a broad substrate spectrum, and high ethanol yields were observed on glucose (1.70 mol/mol) and xylose (1.25 mol/mol). Ethanol yields were, however, dramatically lowered by adding thiosulfate or by cocultivating strain J1 with a hydrogenotrophic methanogen with acetate becoming the major end product. Ethanol production from 4.5 g/L of lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysates (grass, hemp stem, wheat straw, newspaper, and cellulose) pretreated with acid or alkali and the enzymes Celluclast and Novozymes 188 was investigated. The highest ethanol yields were obtained on cellulose (7.5 mM·g<sup>-1</sup>) but the lowest on straw (0.8 mM·g<sup>-1</sup>). Chemical pretreatment increased ethanol yields substantially from lignocellulosic biomass but not from cellulose. The largest increase was on straw hydrolysates where ethanol production increased from 0.8 mM·g<sup>-1</sup> to 3.3 mM·g<sup>-1</sup> using alkali-pretreated biomass. The highest ethanol yields on lignocellulosic hydrolysates were observed with hemp hydrolysates pretreated with acid, 4.2 mM·g<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 1. Background

More than 95% of the ethanol produced today is from simple biomass like mono- and disaccharides and starch [1]. The use of this type of biomass has been increasingly debated due to its impact on food and feed prices as well as for environmental reasons [2]. Therefore, complex (lignocellulosic) biomass has been put forward as a feasible alternative due to its abundance in nature and the large quantities generated as waste from agricultural activities [2, 3]. Lignocellulosic biomass is primarily composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. Cellulose and hemicellulose are the main substrates used for ethanol production, but lignin is composed of aromatic lignols that need to be separated and removed before enzymatic hydrolysis. Today, expensive pretreatments are the main reason for unsuccessful implementation of complex lignocellulosic biomasses as a starting material for ethanol production [2].

The best-known microorganisms used for ethanol production today are the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae and the bacterium Zymomonas mobilis. Both organisms have very high yields of ethanol (>1.9 mol ethanol/mol hexose) but very narrow substrate spectra and thus are not suitable for ethanol production from complex substrates. Therefore, the use of thermophilic bacteria with broad substrate range and high yields may be a better option for ethanol production from complex biomasses. It has been known for some time now that many thermophilic bacteria are highly efficient ethanol producers [4]. After the oil crisis in the 1980s, there was a peak in investigations on thermophilic ethanol-producing bacteria; bacteria within the genera of Thermoanaerobacterium, Thermoanaerobacter, and Clostridium have demonstrated good ethanol yields and fast growth rates [5-8]. There are several advantages in using these thermophilic bacteria: the increased temperature deters contamination from mesophilic bacteria and fungi, possible self-distillation of ethanol avoiding the generally low ethanol tolerance problem with those bacteria, and broad substrate spectrum [9, 10]. Some of these strains produce more than 1.5 mol ethanol/mol hexose [11–16], whereas the theoretical maximum yield is 2.0 mol ethanol/mol hexose degraded. The main reasons for low yields are the formation of other end products such as acetate, butyrate, and  $CO_2$  [11–16].

The present study focuses on a recently isolated thermophilic bacterium, strain J1, which is most closely related to species within the genus *Thermoanaerobacter*. Bacteria within this genus seem to be among the most efficient ethanol producers known and show very high yields from simple sugar fermentations [12–14, 16] as well as from complex lignocellulosic biomass [10, 13, 17–19]. These bacteria are Gram-variable rods with broad substrate spectrum (mostly sugars) and produces ethanol, acetate, lactate, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide during anaerobic fermentation [20, 21]. The physiological characteristics of *Thermoanaerobacter* strain J1, isolated from Icelandic hot spring, were investigated in detail with the main aim of exploring the ethanol production capacity both from simple sugars as well as from various lignocellulosic biomass.

#### 2. Methods

2.1. Medium. The composition and preparation of the medium used has been described earlier [12]. This medium, referred to as basal medium (BM) hereafter, contains yeast extract (2 g/L) in addition to glucose or other carbon sources. All experiments were performed at 65°C at pH 7.0 without agitation with the exception of the temperature and pH optimum experiments. The inoculum volume was 2% (v/v) in all experiments which were always performed in duplicates.

2.2. Isolation of Strain J1. The strain was isolated in BM with glucose (20 mM) from a hot spring (69°C, pH 7.5) in Grensdalur in Southwest of Iceland. Samples were enriched on glucose, and positive samples (increase in growth and production of hydrogen) were reinoculated five times. From the final enrichment series, end point dilutions were performed by using BM containing agar ( $30 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ ). Colonies were picked from final positive dilution and reinoculated to liquid BM with glucose. Isolation of the hydrogenotrophic methane producing strain has been described elsewhere [22].

2.3. Optimum pH and Temperature Growth Experiments. To determine the strain's growth characteristics at various pHs and temperatures, the strain was cultivated on glucose (20 mM), and cell concentration was measured by increase in absorbance at 600 nm by a Perkin-Elmer Lambda 25 UV-Vis spectrophotometer. Maximum (specific) growth rate ( $\mu_{max}$ ) for each experiment was derived from absorbance data. For pH optimum experiments, the initial pH was set to various levels in the range from 3.0 to 9.0 with increments of 1.0 pH unit. The experimental bottles were supplemented with acid (HCl) and alkali (NaOH) to set the pH accordingly.

To determine the optimum temperature for growth, the incubation temperature varied from 35°C to 80°C. For the pH optimum experiments, the strain was cultivated at 65°C, and for the temperature optimum experiments, the pH was 7.0. Optimal pH and temperature were used in all experiments performed. Experiments were done in 117.5 mL serum bottles with 50 mL liquid medium.

2.4. Phylogenetic Analysis. Full 16S rRNA analysis of 1479nucleotide long sequence was done according to Orlygsson and Baldursson [23] and references therein. Sequences from 16S rRNA analysis were compared to sequences in the NCBI database using the nucleotide-nucleotide BLAST (BLAST-N) tool. The most similar sequences were aligned with the sequencing results in the programs BioEdit [24] and CLUSTAL\_X [25]. Finally, the trees were displayed with the program TreeView. *Caloramator viterbiensis* was used as an outgroup.

2.5. Effect of Initial Glucose Concentration on End Product Formation. The effect of initial glucose concentration on strain J1, by varying the concentration from 5 to 200 mM, was tested. Control samples contained only yeast extract. Glucose, hydrogen, acetate, and ethanol concentrations were measured at the beginning and at the end of incubation time (7 days). Experiments were done in 117.5 mL serum bottles with 60 mL liquid medium, and the pH was measured at the end of incubation time.

2.6. Substrate Utilization Spectrum. The ability of strain J1 to utilize different substrates was tested using the BM medium supplemented with various carbon substrates (xylose, arabinose, glucose, mannose, galactose, fructose, rhamnose, maltose, cellobiose, sucrose, lactose, trehalose, raffinose, starch, cellulose, CMC, avicel, xylan (from oat spelt), glycerol, pyruvate, serine, and threonine). All substrates were added from filter-sterilized ( $0.45 \,\mu$ m) substrates except for xylan, starch, CMC, cellulose, and avicel which were autoclaved with the medium. In all cases, the concentration of substrates was 20 mM except for xylan, starch, CMC, cellulose, and avicel when 2 g·L<sup>-1</sup> was used. Hydrogen, acetate, and ethanol concentrations were analysed after one week of incubation. Experiments were performed in 24.5 mL serum bottles with 10 mL liquid medium.

2.7. Pretreatment of Biomass and Hydrolysates Preparation. Hydrolysates (HLs) were made from different biomasses: Whatman no. 1 filter paper, newspaper, hemp stem (*Cannabis sativa*), barley straw (*Hordeum vulgare*), and grass (*Phleum pratense*). Hydrolysates were prepared according to Sveinsdottir et al. [12], and the final concentration of each biomass type was  $22.5 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ . Biomass was pretreated chemically by using 0.50% (v/v) of acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) or alkali (NaOH) (control was without chemical pretreatment) before heating (121°C, 60 min). Two commercial enzyme solutions, Celluclast (Novozyme, 750 U·g<sup>-1</sup>) and Novozyme 188 (Sigma C6105, 200 U·g<sup>-1</sup>), were added to each bottle after chemical pretreatment; the bottles were cooled down to



FIGURE 1: Phylogeny of strain J1 based on partial 16S rRNA sequence analysis. The phylogenetic tree was generated by using distance matrix and neighbor-joining algorithms. *Caloramator viterbensis* was selected as outgroup. The bar indicates 0.01 substitutions per nucleotide position.

room temperature and the pH adjusted to 5.0 before enzymes were added. The hydrolysates were incubated in water bath at 45°C for 68 h. After the enzyme treatment, the pH was adjusted with NaOH or HCl to pH 7.0 which is the pH optimum of the strain. The hydrolysates were then filtered (Whatman-WeiBrand;  $0.45 \mu$ m) into sterile bottles.

2.8. Fermentation during External Electron-Scavenging Systems. In one set of experiments, strain J1 was incubated on glucose (20 mM) in the presence of sodium thiosulfate (40 mM) and in coculture with a hydrogenotrophic methanogen. The methanogen was precultivated in BM medium with a gas phase consisting of 80% of H<sub>2</sub> and 20% of CO<sub>2</sub> for one week. Then the experimental culture bottles were flushed with nitrogen prior to the addition of glucose (20 mM) and strain J1. The coculture was incubated at 65°C for one week.

2.9. Fermentation of Hydrolysates. Fermentation of carbohydrates present in the hydrolysates after chemical and enzymatic pretreatment was performed in 24.5 mL serum bottles. The BM medium and inoculum (8.0 mL) were supplemented with different hydrolysates (2.0 mL, total liquid volume of 10 mL) giving a final hydrolysate concentration of 4.5 g·L<sup>-1</sup>. Control samples did not contain hydrolysate; the only carbon source was yeast extract.



FIGURE 2: End product formation from various substrates by strain J1. Data represents average of two replicate experiments. Standard deviation are shown as error bars. From left to right; ethanol, acetate and hydrogen.

2.10. Analytical Methods. Hydrogen, ethanol, and volatile fatty acids were measured by gas chromatography as previously described [23]. Glucose was determined by slight modification of the method from Laurentin and Edwards [26]; supernatant broth  $(400 \,\mu\text{L})$  was mixed with 2 mL of anthrone solution (0.2% (w/v)) of anthrone in 72% (v/v) of sulphuric acid). The sample was boiled for 11 minutes and then cooled down on ice. Absorbance was then measured at 600 nm by using Perkin-Elmer Lambda 25 UV-Vis spectrophotometer.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Phylogeny. Figure 1 shows that strain J1 belongs to the genus *Thermoanaerobacter* with its closest neighbours being *T. uzonensis* (97.7% homology) and *T. sulfurigenes* (95.5%). The genus *Thermoanaerobacter* falls into clusters V in the phylogenetic interrelationship of *Clostridium* according to Collins and coworkers [27]. All species within the genus are obligate anaerobes and ferment various carbohydrates to ethanol, acetate, lactate, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide [20], while some species can degrade amino acids [28]. Most strains can reduce thiosulfate to hydrogen sulphide [20, 28]. Today, the genus consists of 18 species according to the Euzeby list of prokaryotes.

3.2. Optimum Growth Conditions. The strain was able to grow between 55.0°C and 75.0°C with optimal temperature being 65.0°C ( $\mu_{max}$ ; 0.23 h). The pH optimum was 7.0 ( $\mu_{max}$ ; 0.19 h). No growth was observed below pH 4.0 and above pH 9.0.

3.3. End Product Production from Sugars and Other Substrates. One of the main reasons for increased interest in using thermophilic bacteria for second-generation ethanol production is because of their broad substrate spectrum. Therefore, it was decided to cultivate the strain on the most common sugars present in lignocellulosic biomass as well as pyruvate, glycerol, serine, and threonine (Figure 2). Clearly, the strain is a very powerful ethanol producer; it produces 1.70 mol ethanol/mol glucose and 1.25 mol ethanol/mol xylose (control values subtracted) or 85.0 and 75.0% of theoretical yields, respectively. The following stoichiometry from glucose and xylose was observed:

1.0 Glucose 
$$\rightarrow$$
 1.70 EtOH + 0.15 Acetate  
+ 0.30 H<sub>2</sub> + 1.85 CO<sub>2</sub> (1)  
1.0 Xylose  $\rightarrow$  1.25 EtOH + 0.20 Acetate

.0 Xylose 
$$\rightarrow$$
 1.25 EtOH + 0.20 Acetate  
+ 0.20 H<sub>2</sub> + 1.45 CO<sub>2</sub>

(2)

Lactate was not analysed in the present paper, but high carbon recoveries from analysed end products from glucose and xylose (92.5 and 87.4%, resp.) indicate that if it was produced, its significance is very little. The substrate spectrum of the strain shows a broad capacity in degrading pentoses (xylose, arabinose), hexoses (glucose, mannose, galactose, fructose, and rhamnose), disaccharides (maltose, cellobiose, lactose, trehalose, and sucrose) the trisaccharide raffinose, and starch, pyruvate, and serine. In all the cases, the major end product is ethanol except for serine and pyruvate in which acetate is the primary end product. The highest ethanol concentrations were produced from the trisaccharide raffinose (75.2 mM). As earlier mentioned, the strain is most closely related to T. uzonensis (strain JW/IW010) which also produces ethanol and acetate as the only volatile end products, but the ratio between ethanol and acetate is 1.35 in that strain [28]. However, T. uzonensis has a more narrow sugar degradation spectrum as compared to strain J1; it cannot degrade arabinose and rhamnose. Other well-known ethanol producers within the genus are T. ethanolicus, T. thermohydrosulfuricus, and T. finnii with yields between 1.5 and 1.9 mol ethanol/mol glucose [11, 13, 14, 29].

During growth on serine and pyruvate, the carbon flow was shifted away from ethanol to acetate and hydrogen. This can be explained by the oxidation state of these substrates as compared to sugars; the oxidation state of the carbon in glucose is zero, and during its oxidation to pyruvate, the electrons are transferred to NAD<sup>+</sup> leading to the formation of NADH. Reoxidation of NADH to NAD+ by the strain occurs most likely through acetaldehyde dehydrogenase and alcohol dehydrogenase rendering ethanol as the main product. However, both pyruvate and serine are more oxidized substrates as compared to sugars (glucose), and there is no need to reoxidize NADH. Instead, the strain deaminates serine directly to pyruvate which is decarboxylated to acetyl phosphate (by phosphotransacetylase) and further to acetate (by acetate kinase) resulting in ATP formation. However, since hydrogen production is less as compared to acetate, it is likely that the strain is also producing formate (not analyzed) instead of hydrogen from these substrates.

3.4. Effect of Initial Glucose Loadings on Ethanol Production. High initial substrate concentrations may inhibit substrate utilization and/or decrease end product yields [5, 10, 30]. In closed systems, such as batch cultures, the limited buffer capacity of the medium may be overloaded by the accumulation of organic acids resulting in a pH drop and the inhibition of substrate fermentation utilization



FIGURE 3: End product formation from different initial glucose concentrations. Also shown are percent of glucose degraded. Values represent means of two replicates and standard deviation are shown as error bars. Columns from left to right; ethanol, acetate, hydrogen. pH measered after fermentation ( $\blacksquare$ ).



FIGURE 4: Production of end products from hydrolysates  $(4.5 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1})$  from different biomasses. Values represent mean of two replicates (±standard deviation). From left to right: ethanol, acetate, and hydrogen.

[30]. To investigate the influence of initial substrate concentration on end product formation, changes in pH, and substrate degradation, strain J1 was cultivated with different concentration of glucose (0 to 200 mM). The strain completely degraded glucose in all experiments, except for the highest (200 mM) initial glucose loadings, and ethanol yields were between 1.2 and 1.7 mol ethanol/mol glucose (Figure 3). Acetate formation increased from 2.7 mM in control bottles (without glucose) to 9.5 mM at 100 mM glucose concentrations which was directly linked to a decrease from pH 7.0 (control) to 5.2 (100 mM glucose). At 200 mM glucose concentrations, acetate was only slightly higher as compared to 100 mM glucose concentrations, the pH dropped from 5.2 to 4.8, and only 110 mM of glucose was degraded. Thus, the limit of glucose seems to be pH related, because of the formation of acetate, rather than

	Concentration (mmol·L <sup>-1</sup> )					
	Ethanol	Acetate	Hydrogen	Methane		
Control	$3.0 \pm 0.1$	$2.9 \pm 0.1$	$2.0 \pm 0.1$	$0.0\pm0.0$		
$Control + S_2O_3$	$1.1\pm0.1$	$5.2 \pm 0.2$	$0.3\pm0.0$	$0.0\pm0.0$		
Control + methanogen	$0.9\pm0.5$	$4.9\pm0.4$	$0.0\pm0.0$	$2.4\pm0.0$		
Glucose	$29.0 \pm 1.5$	$4.2 \pm 0.3$	$7.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.0\pm0.0$		
$Glucose + S_2O_3$	$20.0\pm0.3$	$15.5 \pm 2.1$	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	$0.0\pm0.0$		
Glucose + methanogen	$4.1\pm0.2$	$29.5\pm1.2$	$0.5\pm0.0$	$7.4\pm1.2$		

TABLE 1: Utilization of glucose by strain J1 in the presence of thiosulfate or a hydrogenotrophic methanogen. Data represents average of two replicate experiments  $\pm$  standard deviation.

substrate inhibition. The strain seems to be more tolerant for initial substrate concentrations as compared to many other thermophilic bacteria where often a concentration between 20 and 30 mM is too high for a complete degradation [7, 8]. In those cases, however, more acetate was produced as compared to ethanol and may be crucial for lowering the pH at lower substrate concentrations.

3.5. Effect of Hydrogen-Scavenging Systems on End Product Formation. It is well known that Thermoanaerobacter species are highly flexible concerning end product formation depending on the culture conditions. Fardeau et al. [31] showed a dramatic shift in end product formation by Thermoanaerobacter finnii when grown on glucose in the presence and absence of thiosulfate. In that case, both ethanol and lactate decreased during thiosulfate reduction to hydrogen sulphide, whereas the acetate concentration increased. The influence of using biological hydrogen-scavenging systems has also been investigated throughout Thermoanaerobacter brockii during amino acid degradation [27]. Both thiosulfate and the presence of a hydrogen-scavenging methanogen were crucial for the oxidative deamination of the branched chain amino acids by this strain. However, degradation of a substrate that is thermodynamically easier to degrade, for example, the amino acid serine, was completely degraded in the presence and absence of thiosulfate and Methanobacterium sp. although a shift occurred between ethanol and acetate formation [27]. To investigate the influence of low partial pressure (pH<sub>2</sub>) on end product formation, strain J1 was cultivated in the presence of thiosulfate and in coculture with a hydrogenotrophic methanogen. As observed earlier, strain J1 produced ethanol as the main end product during glucose fermentation only (Table 1). The addition of thiosulfate to glucose fermentations resulted in a shift towards acetate from ethanol where the ratio between ethanol and acetate changed from 6.90 to 1.29. Cocultivating strain J1 with a hydrogenotrophic methanogen led even to more dramatic shift towards acetate (and methane), and the ratio of ethanol and acetate was 0.14. This difference in end product formation by using thiosulfate or a hydrogenotrophic methanogen is surprisingly big considering that the concentration of hydrogen is very low at the end of experimental time (0.3 to  $0.5 \text{ mmol} \cdot L^{-1}$ ) in both cases. This difference could be caused by more rapid uptake of hydrogen in the coculture experiment, but end products were only analysed at the end of the experimental time.

3.6. Fermentation of Hydrolysates from Lignocellulosic Bio*mass.* The strain is producing maximally 33.9 mM (1.56 g/L)of ethanol from 4.5 g/L of hydrolysates made from cellulose (Figure 4). The yields on cellulose pretreated only with enzymes and heat are  $7.5 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$  dry weight (dw) which is considered lower as compared to glucose degradation alone (1.70 mol ethanol/mol glucose;  $9.4 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$  glucose). No glucose was analysed in the cellulose hydrolysate after fermentation. Thus, the lower ethanol yields on cellulose as compared to glucose indicate that the cellulose was not completely degraded during enzymatic hydrolysis. Chemical pretreatment of cellulose by the addition of acid or alkali did not increase the end product formation yields on cellulose. The highest ethanol yields on the more complex biomass types (without chemical pretreatment) were observed on hemp (11.6 mM;  $2.6 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \text{ dw}$ ) but lowest on straw (3.5 mM;  $0.8 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \text{ dw}$ ). Chemical pretreatment by adding either acid or alkali increased yields substantially on most of the lignocellulosic biomasses tested. The increase was most profound on hydrolysates from straw pretreated with alkali where ethanol production was increased from 3.5 to 14.8 mM (controls subtracted). The highest ethanol yields were however observed on hemp,  $4.3 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \text{ dw}$  (19.0 mM). The highest ethanol yields by Thermoanaerobacter species have been reported by continuous cultures of Thermoanaerobacter strain BG1L1 on wheat straw [17] and corn stover [18], or  $8.5-9.2 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$ sugar consumed. Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus has been reported to produce 4.5 and 4.8 mM ethanol·g<sup>-1</sup> hexose equivalent degraded from wood hydrolysate and beet molasses, respectively [13, 32]. Thermoanaerobacter mathranii, isolated from the same geographical area in Iceland [33] as strain J1 produced  $5.3 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$  sugar from wheat straw hydrolysate [34]. Recently, a new Thermoanaerobacter strain, AK5 closely related to T. thermohydrosulfuricus and T. ethanolicus, was isolated from a hot spring in Iceland and has similar yields on cellulose  $(7.7 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1})$ , hemp  $(3.1 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1})$ , and grass  $(4.1 \text{ mM} \cdot \text{g}^{-1})$ hydrolysates [22].

#### 4. Conclusion

Ethanol production was studied by *Thermoanaerobacter* J1 isolated from hot spring in Iceland. The main aim of the study was to investigate the importance of various factors on ethanol production from both sugars and complex lignocellulosic biomass. The strain produces 1.70 mol ethanol/mol glucose and 1.25 mol ethanol/mol xylose and shows a broad substrate spectrum, degrading various sugars and starch but not cellulosic substrates. High ethanol yields were observed at initial glucose concentrations up to 100 mM. During growth under hydrogen removal, a shift from ethanol to acetate formation occurs. The strain produces up to 7.5 mM ethanol $\cdot$ g<sup>-1</sup> cellulose and 4.2 mM $\cdot$ g<sup>-1</sup> hemp hydrolysate.

#### **Authors' Contribution**

J. E. Jessen carried out all experimental procedures. J. Orlygsson planned the experimental procedure and drafted the paper. Both authors read and approved the final paper.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was sponsored by RANNÍS, Technology Development Fund, projects 081303408 (BioEthanol) and RAN091016-2376 (BioFuel), and the Research Fund of the University of Akureyri. Special thanks are due to Margret Audur Sigurbjornsdottir for aligning the 16S rRNA sequences and building the phylogenetic tree and to Sean M. Scully for proofreading the paper.

#### References

- Renewable Fuels Association, "Choose ethanol," 2011, http:// chooseethanol.com/what-is-ethanol/entry/ethanol-at-a-glance/.
- [2] Ó. J. Sánchez and C. A. Cardona, "Trends in biotechnological production of fuel ethanol from different feedstocks," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 99, no. 13, pp. 5270–5295, 2008.
- [3] J. Zaldivar, J. Nielsen, and L. Olsson, "Fuel ethanol production from lignocellulose: a challenge for metabolic engineering and process integration," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 56, no. 1-2, pp. 17–34, 2001.
- [4] J. Wiegel, "Formation of ethanol by bacteria. A pledge for the use of extreme thermophilic anaerobic bacteria in industrial ethanol fermentation processes," *Experientia*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1434–1446, 1980.
- [5] L. S. Lacis and H. G. Lawford, "Ethanol production from xylose by *Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus* in batch and continuous culture," *Archives of Microbiology*, vol. 150, no. 1, pp. 48–55, 1988.
- [6] R. Lamed and J. G. Zeikus, "Ethanol production by thermophilic bacteria: relationship between fermentation product yields of and catabolic enzyme activities in *Clostridium thermocellum and Thermoanaerobium brockii*," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 144, no. 2, pp. 569–578, 1980.

- [7] A. R. Almarsdottir, M. A. Sigurbjornsdottir, and J. Orlygsson, "Effect of various factors on ethanol yields from ligncellulosic biomass by *Thermoanaerobacterium* AK17," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 109, no. 3, pp. 686–694, 2012.
- [8] M. A. Sigurbjornsdottir and J. Orlygsson, "Combined hydrogen and ethanol production from sugars and lignocellulosic biomass by *Thermoanaerobacterium* AK54," *Applied Energy*, vol. 97, pp. 785–791, 2012.
- [9] M. P. Taylor, K. L. Eley, S. Martin, M. I. Tuffin, S. G. Burton, and D. A. Cowan, "Thermophilic ethanologenesis: future prospects for second-generation bioethanol production," *Trends in Biotechnology*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 398–405, 2009.
- [10] P. Sommer, T. Georgieva, and B. K. Ahring, "Potential for using thermophilic anaerobic bacteria for bioethanol production from hemicellulose," *Biochemical Society Transactions*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 283–289, 2004.
- [11] J. Wiegel and L. G. Ljungdahl, "Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus gen. nov., spec. nov., a new, extreme thermophilic, anaerobic bacterium," Archives of Microbiology, vol. 128, no. 4, pp. 343–348, 1981.
- [12] M. Sveinsdottir, S. R. B. Baldursson, and J. Orlygsson, "Ethanol production from monosugars and lignocellulosic biomass by thermophilic bacteria isolated from Icelandic hot springs," *Icelandic Agricultural Sciences*, vol. 22, pp. 45–58, 2009.
- [13] A. Avci and S. Dönmez, "Effect of zinc on ethanol production by two *Thermoanaerobacter* strains," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 984–989, 2006.
- [14] L. H. Carreira, J. Wiegel, and L. G. Ljungdahl, "Production of ethanol from biopolymers by anaerobic, thermophilic, and extreme thermophilic bacteria: I. Regulation of carbohydrate utilization in mutants of *Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus*," *Biotechnology Bioengineering Symposium*, vol. 13, no. 13, pp. 183–191, 1983.
- [15] P. E. P. Koskinen, S. R. Beck, J. Örlygsson, and J. A. Puhakka, "Ethanol and hydrogen production by two thermophilic, anaerobic bacteria isolated from Icelandic geothermal areas," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 101, no. 4, pp. 679–690, 2008.
- [16] R. W. Lovitt, G. J. Shen, and J. G. Zeikus, "Ethanol production by thermophilic bacteria: biochemical basis for ethanol and hydrogen tolerance in *Clostridium Thermohydrosulfuricum*," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 170, no. 6, pp. 2809–2815, 1988.
- [17] T. I. Georgieva, M. J. Mikkelsen, and B. K. Ahring, "Ethanol production from wet-exploded wheat straw hydrolysate by thermophilic anaerobic bacterium *Thermoanaerobacter* BG1L1 in a continuous immobilized reactor," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 145, no. 1–3, pp. 99–110, 2008.
- [18] T. I. Georgieva and B. K. Ahring, "Evaluation of continuous ethanol fermentation of dilute-acid corn stover hydrolysate using thermophilic anaerobic bacterium *Thermoanaerobacter* BG1L1," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 61–68, 2007.
- [19] K. S. Rani, M. V. Swamy, and G. Seenayya, "Production of ethanol from various pure and natural cellulosic biomass by *Clostridium Thermocellum* strains SS21 and SS22," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 435–440, 1998.
- [20] Y. E. Lee, M. K. Jain, C. Lee et al., "Taxonomic distinction of saccharolytic thermophilic anaerobes: description of *Thermoanaerobacterium xylanolyticum* gen. nov., sp. nov., and *Thermoanaerobacterium saccharolyticum* gen. nov., sp. nov.,

reclassification of *Thermoanaerobium brockii*, *Clostridium thermosulfurogenes*, and *Clostridium thermohydrosulfuricum* E100-69 as *Thermoanaerobacter brockii* comb. nov., *Thermoanaerobacter thermosulfurigenes* comb. nov., and *Thermoanaerobacter thermohydrosulfuricus* comb. nov., respectively, and transfer of *Clostridium Thermohydrosulfuricum* 39E to *Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus*," *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 41–51, 1993.

- [21] M. L. Fardeau, M. B. Salinas, S. L'Haridon et al., "Isolation from oil resorvoirs of novel thermophilic anaerobes phylogenetically related to *Thermoanaerobacter subterraneus*: reassignment of *T. subterraneus*, *Thermoanaerobacter yonseiensis*, *Thermoanaerobacter tengcongensis* and *Carboxydibrachium pacificum* to *Caldanaerobacter subterraneus* gen. nov., sp. nov., comb. nov. as four novel subspecies," *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 467–474, 2004.
- [22] H. Brynjarsdottir, B. Wawiernia, and J. Orlygsson, "Ethanol production from sugars and complex biomass by *Thermoanaerobacter* AK5: the effect of electron scavenging systems on end product formation," *Energy & Fuels*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 4568–4574, 2012.
- [23] J. Orlygsson and S. R. B. Baldursson, "Phylogenetic and physiological studies of four hydrogen-producing thermoanaerobes from Icelandic geothermal areas," *Icelandic Agricultural Sciences*, vol. 93, pp. 93–106, 2007.
- [24] T. A. Hall, "BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT," *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series*, vol. 41, pp. 95–98, 1999.
- [25] J. D. Thompson, T. J. Gibson, F. Plewniak, F. Jeanmougin, and D. G. Higgins, "The CLUSTAL X windows interface: flexible strategies for multiple sequence alignment aided by quality analysis tools," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 25, no. 24, pp. 4876–4882, 1997.
- [26] A. Laurentin and C. A. Edwards, "A microtiter modification of the anthrone-sulfuric acid colorimetric assay for glucosebased carbohydrates," *Analytical Biochemistry*, vol. 315, no. 1, pp. 143–145, 2003.
- [27] M. D. Collins, P. A. Lawson, A. Willems et al., "The phylogeny of the genus Clostridium: proposal of five new genera and eleven new species combinations," *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 812–826, 1994.
- [28] M. L. Fardeau, B. K. C. Patel, M. Magot, and B. Ollivier, "Utilization of serine, leucine, isoleucine, and valine by *Thermoanaerobacter brockii* in the presence of thiosulfate or *Methanobacterium* sp. as electron accepters," *Anaerobe*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 405–410, 1997.
- [29] I. D. Wagner, W. Zhao, C. L. Zhang, C. S. Romanek, M. Rohde, and J. Wiegel, "Thermoanaerobacter uzonensis sp. nov., an anaerobic thermophilic bacterium isolated from a hot spring within the Uzon Caldera, Kamchatka, Far East Russia," International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, vol. 58, no. 11, pp. 2565–2573, 2008.
- [30] S. Van Ginkel, S. Sung, and J. J. Lay, "Biohydrogen production as a function of pH and substrate concentration," *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 35, no. 24, pp. 4726–4730, 2001.
- [31] M. L. Fardeau, C. Faudon, J. L. Cayol, M. Magot, B. K. C. Patel, and B. Ollivier, "Effect of thiosulphate as electron acceptor on glucose and xylose oxidation by *Thermoanaerobacter finnii* and a *Thermoanaerobacter* sp. isolated from oil field water," *Research in Microbiology*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 159–165, 1996.

- [32] J. Wiegel, L. H. Carreira, C. P. Mothershed, and J. Puls, "Production of ethanol from biopolymers by anaerobic, thermophilic, and extreme thermophilic bacteria. II. *Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus* JW200 and its mutants in batch cultures and resting cell experiments," *Biotechnology Bioengineering Symposium*, vol. 13, no. 13, pp. 193–205, 1983.
- [33] L. Larsen, P. Nielsen, and B. K. Ahring, "Thermoanaerobacter mathranii sp. nov., an ethanol-producing, extremely thermophilic anaerobic bacterium from a hot spring in Iceland," Archives of Microbiology, vol. 168, no. 2, pp. 114–119, 1997.
- [34] B. K. Ahring, D. Licht, A. S. Schmidt, P. Sommer, and A. B. Thomsen, "Production of ethanol from wet oxidised wheat straw by *Thermoanaerobacter mathranii*," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 68, no. 1, pp. 3–9, 1999.

### **Research** Article

# The Potential of Cellulosic Ethanol Production from Grasses in Thailand

#### Jinaporn Wongwatanapaiboon,<sup>1, 2, 3</sup> Kunn Kangvansaichol,<sup>4</sup> Vorakan Burapatana,<sup>4</sup> Ratanavalee Inochanon,<sup>4</sup> Pakorn Winayanuwattikun,<sup>2, 5</sup> Tikamporn Yongvanich,<sup>2, 5</sup> and Warawut Chulalaksananukul<sup>2, 3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Program in Biotechnology, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

<sup>2</sup> Biofuels by Biocatalysts Research Unit, Chulalongkorn University, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

<sup>3</sup> Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

<sup>4</sup> PTT Research and Technology Institute, PTT Public Company Limited, Wangnoi, Ayutthaya 13170, Thailand

<sup>5</sup> Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

Correspondence should be addressed to Warawut Chulalaksananukul, warawut.c@chula.ac.th

Received 15 April 2012; Accepted 1 July 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Jinaporn Wongwatanapaiboon et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The grasses in Thailand were analyzed for the potentiality as the alternative energy crops for cellulosic ethanol production by biological process. The average percentage composition of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin in the samples of 18 types of grasses from various provinces was determined as 31.85–38.51, 31.13–42.61, and 3.10–5.64, respectively. The samples were initially pretreated with alkaline peroxide followed by enzymatic hydrolysis to investigate the enzymatic saccharification. The total reducing sugars in most grasses ranging from 500–600 mg/g grasses (70–80% yield) were obtained. Subsequently, 11 types of grasses were selected as feedstocks for the ethanol production by simultaneous saccharification and cofermentation (SSCF). The enzymes, cellulase and xylanase, were utilized for hydrolysis and the yeasts, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Pichia stipitis*, were applied for cofermentation at 35°C for 7 days. From the results, the highest yield of ethanol, 1.14 g/L or 0.14 g/g substrate equivalent to 32.72% of the theoretical values was obtained from Sri Lanka ecotype vetiver grass. When the yields of dry matter were included in the calculations, Sri Lanka ecotype vetiver grass gave the yield of ethanol at 1,091.84 L/ha/year, whereas the leaves of dwarf napier grass showed the maximum yield of 2,720.55 L/ha/year (0.98 g/L or 0.12 g/g substrate equivalent to 30.60% of the theoretical values).

#### 1. Introduction

At present, the problem of global warming has been undeniably accepted worldwide. The cause of this situation is the increase of the greenhouse gases. The most important one is carbondioxide gas resulted from the combustion of fossil fuels and deforestation. One of the means to address this problem is the application of alternative energy. Thus, it is necessary to search for the sources of the renewable energy such as solar, wind, hydraulic, geothermal, and tide energy. On the other hand, the biofuels from biomass can also represent the promising type of energy source [1]. Bioethanol is now considered interesting biofuel and has been attracting attention since it can be directly used in place of benzene or diesel. It can be applied in the form of the mixture with benzene called gasohol or blended with diesel called diesohol. Bioethanol can be produced from biomass such as starch, sugar, and lignocellulosic materials. Previous studies revealed that the cheaper and suitable one for the production of ethanol can be derived from corncobs, grasses, wooden spills, and bagasses [2]. However, the use of starch and sugar from cassava, corn, and sugarcane which are basically human-food might possibly lead to the problem of food crisis. Therefore, lignocellulosic biomass
which is abundant and low on production cost obtained from nonfood sources should be considered as an appropriate feedstock for ethanol production.

The energy crops are the types of plants expected to be cultivated as the raw materials for the production of the biofuels such as ethanol. Therefore, the plants with the fast growing rate such as grasses or shrubs should represent the appropriate energy crops for the future. These plants are perennial crops considered suitable as feedstock for lignocellulosic ethanol production because of high yields, low costs, fit for infertile land, and less environmental impacts [3]. Grasses are targeted as potential energy crops because of high productivity per hectare, abundancy, availability, and utilization of the whole plants. Fibres and storage carbohydrates within some species of grass can be used as substrates to produce ethanol whereas the species of grasses that contain high amounts of proteins can be used as nitrogenous waste for biorefineries [4].

Most of the researches in this area have been conducted on bioethanol production from either cellulose or hemicellulose hydrolysis to glucose or xylose for ethanol fermentation. In this research, both cellulose and hemicellulose from grasses were aimed to be used as the plant biomass as much as possible. The reason is from the fact that grasses contain very high percentages of total cellulose and hemicellulose. In general, the average compositions of grass biomass are 25-40% of cellulose, 25-50% of hemicellulose, and 10-30% of lignin [2, 5]. The scientific researches on ethanol production from grasses have been mostly performed in switch grass [6, 7]. Moreover, there were studies carried out in timothy grass, reed canary grass [8], Bermuda grass (*Cynodon dactylon*) [9], and silver grass (Miscanthus floridulus) [10], and so forth. These grasses are fast to grow likewise require less nutrient, thus suitable to be used as an energy crops for bioethanol production [1]. In particular, vetiver grass also has a potential for biofuel production by using a raw material in biomass power plant as well as ethanol production [11].

Ethanol production can be achieved from cellulose and hemicellulose hydrolysis to sugar by acid or enzyme catalysts. The use of acid is disadvantageous from the high temperature required, vigorous and nonspecific reactions resulting in the unwanted products. The containers have to be resistant to the acidic corrosion which is rather costly. Moreover, the process of waste elimination is needed for the remained acid contaminant. Therefore, the application of enzymes appears more interesting from the high specificity, neutral reaction without the unwanted by products, and therefore cost reduction in the waste management [12].

Obviously, the production of ethanol from agricultural wastes can only be applied for the short-term purpose since the amount of such waste won't be sufficient in the future. Therefore, in order to maintain long-term and successfully sustainable production of the alternative energy, the cultivation of energy crops together with the utilization of agricultural wastes and the search for the potential plants which can produce ethanol should be implemented. Grasses are considered one of the most suitable energy crops from their longevity, regeneration after the cutoff, and effective capability to withstand the drought. There are so many types of grasses that are popularly grown in Thailand. Hence, the objective of this research was to select the types of grasses in Thailand suitable as the feedstocks for cellulosic ethanol production by biological process. The fungus, Trichoderma reesei, has been widely accepted as the organism capable of producing the enzymes, cellulase, and hemicellulase in considerable quantities, appropriate for lignocellulosic biomass digestion [3]. Although the fermentation can be achieved from various processes, the application of simultaneous saccharification and cofermentation (SSCF) presents more advantages than the others. This method allows the raw materials to be hydrolyzed to hexose and pentose sugars for the subsequent fermentation to obtain ethanol in the single step. The obtained glucose gradually released from the hydrolysis will be continuously utilized in the fermentation. This low concentration of the glucose will result in the improved fermentation of xylose sugar [13]. Similarly, the yeasts, Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Pichia stipites, are widely known organisms that can utilize glucose and xylose for ethanol fermentation, respectively. Although, P. stipitis can ferment both glucose and xylose, but ethanol production rate from glucose is at least five times less than obtained with S. cerevisiae [14]. They were therefore applied in SSCF for higher efficient ethanol production.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sampling and Raw Materials. 18 samples of grasses were collected from Chiang Mai, Lampang, Ratchaburi, and Petchburi provinces. All samples were dried at 60°C for 3 days, ground to small particles and later filtered through 0.4 mm mesh. Biomass contents were analyzed according to the method of Ruminant Nutrition Laboratory, University of Nebraska [15]. Neutral detergent fiber (NDF), acid detergent fiber (ADF), and permanganate lignin (PML) were determined. Hemicellulose content of biomass was determined as NDF minus ADF, lignin content of biomass as ADF minus PML, and cellulose content of biomass as PML minus residue after ash.

2.2. Enzyme Production. T. reesei TISTR 3081 (T. reesei QM9414) was obtained from Thailand Institute of Scientific and Technological Research (TISTR), Thailand and was later cultured in potato dextrose agar at 30°C for 8 days. A cork borer (7 mm diameter) was used to cut agar plugs from a culture on PDA. Five agar plugs with the filaments of fungi were inoculated into 250 mL flask containing 100 mL of Mandels medium [16] for cellulase production in the presence of  $10 \text{ g/L} \alpha$ -cellulose as a carbon source. The induction of xylanase production was carried out in xylan medium containing 10 g/L birchwood xylan as a carbon source, 5 g/L corn steep liquor, 5 g/L polypeptone, 1 g/L yeast extract,  $4 \text{ g/L K}_2\text{HPO}_4$ , 0.2 g/L KCl,  $1 \text{ g/L Mg}_2\text{SO}_4 \cdot 7\text{H}_2\text{O}$ , and  $0.02 \text{ g/L FeSO}_4 \cdot 7\text{H}_2\text{O}$ . The media were sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min. After incubation at 30°C and shaken at 150 rpm for 7 days, the mycelia were removed by filtration through Whatman no.1 filter paper. Crude enzyme was collected and determined for the activities of cellulase and xylanase using Whatman no.1 filter paper and 1% birchwood xylan as the substrates, respectively, according to Ghose [17].

One unit of enzyme was referred as the amount of enzyme which could convert substrates to  $1 \mu$ mole of reducing sugar in 1 minute. Protein was determined by micro Lowry's assay [18] to obtain the specific activity of enzyme (U/mg protein).

2.3. Pretreatment. Alkaline peroxide pretreatment was performed. The milled grasses were suspended in 7.5% (v/v)  $H_2O_2$  and NaOH was then added to adjust the pH to 11.5. The pretreated samples were then incubated at 35°C, shaken at 250 rpm for 24 hours. Finally, conc. HCl was added to adjust the pH to 4.8 before enzymatic hydrolysis [19]. The filtration was not required after the pretreatment. The liquid phase with solubilized hemicellulose and the solid phase with cellulose of the samples were subsequently hydrolyzed by the enzymes.

2.4. Enzymatic Hydrolysis. Cellulase (60 U/g substrate), xylanase (1200 U/g substrate), and 5 mL of 0.05 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.8) were added to each substrate (0.6 g of milled grass) and positive control (0.3 g of  $\alpha$ -cellulose mixed with 0.3 g of xylan). After the addition of the enzymes, the samples were incubated at 50°C and shaken at 150 rpm for 72 hours. Total reducing sugar was analyzed by DNS method [20] and subsequently calculated for the percentages of conversion to cellulose and hemicellulose according to the equations below.

% conversion of cellulose and hemicellulose to sugars

$$= \frac{B}{A} \times 100.$$
(1)

Total reducing sugar after the hydrolysis (ton/ha/year) was considered for selection of suitable grasses as the substrates for ethanol production by SSCF process.

Fotal reducing sugar after hydrolysis = 
$$\frac{B \times C}{1000}$$
, (2)

where A is total cellulose and hemicellulose before hydrolysis (mg/g dry weight of substrate). B is total reducing sugar after hydrolysis (mg/g dry weight of substrate). C is dry matter yield of grass (ton/ha/year).

2.5. Fermentation. S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 was obtained from TISTR, Thailand. P. stipitis CBS 5773 was obtained from The Centraalbureau voor Schimmelcultures (CBS), The Netherlands. Yeast strains were maintained at 4°C on YM agar containing 3 g/L yeast extract, 3 g/L malt extract, 5 g/L peptone, 10 g/L glucose, and 20 g/L agar. S. cerevisiae and P. stipitis were precultured as inocula for fermentation in Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 mL of 3 g/L yeast extract, 3 g/L malt extract, 5 g/L (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 20 g/L glucose for S. cerevisiae or 20 g/L xylose for P. stipitis [21]. The media were sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min. Flasks were incubated at 30°C and shaken at 150 rpm for 9 h (S. *cerevisiae*) and 10 h (*P. stipitis*).

1.2 g of pretreated substrates was supplemented in fermentation medium containing 0.45 g yeast extract, 0.45 g malt extract, and 0.75 g  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  in 7.5 mL of 0.05 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 5.0) and sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min. Cellulase and xylanase were filtered and sterilized through a 0.2  $\mu$ m filters and the enzymes were added with the activities of 72 U and 1,440 U in each flask, respectively. Then, 7.5 mL (5% v/v) of each yeast strain was added last. Final volume was adjusted to 150 mL by sterilized distilled H<sub>2</sub>O. The samples were incubated with shaking at 35°C, 150 rpm for 7 days, and ethanol production was determined by gas chromatography (Shimadzu, Japan)

2.6. Statistical Analysis. Collected data (3 replicates) were analyzed by one-way ANOVA at 95% confidence level. Comparison was performed by Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) using SPSS for Window version 15.0.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Raw Materials. The samples of 18 types of grasses were divided into 2 groups. The first group was composed of 8 types of the forage grasses (napier leaves, dwarf napier leaves, king napier leaves, bana leaves, purple guinea, ruzi, pangola, and atratum) and the second one contained 10 ecotypes of vetiver grasses (Kamphaeng Phet 2, Songkhla 3, Surat Thani, Sri Lanka, Roi Et, Loei, Nakhon Sawan, Prachuap Khiri Khan, Ratchaburi, and Kamphaeng Phet 1) as shown in Figure 1. Since the height of all the grasses in this study is more than 1 metre, and the harvest can be carried out several times per year, considerably huge amount of dry biomass can be obtained from the conversion. Both leaves and stems from the purple guinea grass, ruzi grass, pangola grass, atratum grass, and vetiver grasses were used since their stems are rather small. However, only the leaves were employed from napier grass, dwarf napier grass, king napier grass, and bana grass from their strong, hard stems together with the limitation of the specific types of facilities required for the chopping and grinding. As the compositions of biomass in each type of grass diverse immensely, even the same type possibly differs depending on the environment or the plant ages. The factors that can affect growth, production and composition of grasses can be genetics, soil properties, maintenance, amount, and distribution of rain. Moreover, the cuttings of the stems and leaves of plants for various purposes result in the decrease of photosynthetic activities thereby reducing the accumulation of carbohydrates [22]. On the contrary, the proteins will be increased [23].

From the analysis of the composition of the biomass in 18 types of grasses studied, it was found that all types contained the average quantities of cellulose in the range of 31.85–38.51%, 31.13–42.61% of hemicellulose and 3.10–5.64% of lignin (Table 1). The low level of lignin present in the samples of grasses used in this study appeared more advantageous than the other types, for example, 6.4% in coastal Bermuda grass, 12% in switch grass, 7.3% in S32

Cranna	Dry matter yield (ten/he/year)	Biomass composition (%)					
Glasses	Dry matter yield (ton/na/year)	Cellulose	Hemicellulose	Lignin	Ash	Others	
Forage grasses							
Napier	7.7*	$32.92 \pm 1.48$	$36.46 \pm 1.19$	$3.60\pm0.67$	$0.33\pm0.14$	$26.69\pm3.04$	
Dwarf napier	17.5*	$35.64 \pm 0.21$	$34.19 \pm 1.24$	$3.66\pm0.20$	$0.13\pm0.12$	$26.38 \pm 1.38$	
King napier	7.7*	$32.01\pm0.14$	$31.13 \pm 0.57$	$3.10\pm0.04$	$1.65\pm0.04$	$32.11\pm0.53$	
Bana	7.7*	$33.93 \pm 2.27$	$35.12 \pm 1.62$	$3.55\pm0.34$	$0.18\pm0.01$	$27.21 \pm 3.71$	
Purple guinea	18.8	$33.40 \pm 0.74$	$31.26 \pm 1.91$	$4.00\pm0.54$	$0.61\pm0.08$	$30.73 \pm 2.10$	
Ruzi	14.1	$33.64 \pm 0.92$	$34.01\pm0.81$	$4.56\pm0.17$	$0.27\pm0.12$	$27.52 \pm 1.67$	
Pangola	37.5	$33.07\pm0.70$	$35.46 \pm 1.27$	$4.47\pm0.61$	$0.28\pm0.01$	$26.72 \pm 1.60$	
Atratum	18.8	$34.87 \pm 0.61$	$32.60\pm0.53$	$5.64 \pm 0.22$	$0.31\pm0.14$	$27.75\pm0.97$	
Vetiver grasses							
Kamphaeng Phet 2	6.0	$35.54 \pm 0.38$	$39.02\pm0.89$	$4.36\pm0.78$	$0.07\pm0.04$	$19.72\pm0.61$	
Songkhla 3	5.8	$31.85 \pm 1.73$	$37.87 \pm 1.59$	$4.67\pm0.49$	$0.26\pm0.16$	$25.67 \pm 2.69$	
Surat Thani	5.5	$33.97 \pm 1.16$	$39.12 \pm 1.57$	$3.67\pm0.70$	$0.09\pm0.03$	$22.16\pm0.74$	
Sri Lanka	6.4	$37.54 \pm 0.45$	$38.33 \pm 2.07$	$3.99\pm0.31$	$0.08\pm0.01$	$20.38 \pm 2.81$	
Roi Et	3.5	$34.04\pm0.27$	$42.61 \pm 1.17$	$4.83 \pm 0.24$	$0.04\pm0.04$	$19.32\pm0.88$	
Loei	4.9	$34.42\pm0.99$	$42.43 \pm 1.32$	$5.09 \pm 0.56$	$0.08\pm0.07$	$18.23\pm0.98$	
Nakhon Sawan	4.2	$32.67 \pm 1.31$	$39.60 \pm 1.25$	$4.96 \pm 1.18$	$0.06\pm0.04$	$22.57\pm0.94$	
Prachuap Khiri Khan	8.5	$35.53 \pm 1.52$	$38.87 \pm 0.09$	$4.65 \pm 1.52$	$0.19\pm0.11$	$20.44 \pm 2.26$	
Ratchaburi	7.6	$38.51 \pm 0.25$	$39.21 \pm 0.70$	$4.79\pm0.48$	$0.05\pm0.01$	$17.58\pm0.87$	
Kamphaeng Phet 1	6.5	$34.95\pm0.58$	$39.67 \pm 0.18$	$5.06\pm0.70$	$0.12\pm0.10$	$20.47 \pm 1.39$	

 TABLE 1: Biomass composition of grasses.

\* The yields of napier grass, dwarf napier grass, king napier grass, and bana grass were the values of leaves only.

rye grass (seed setting), 4.7% in orchard grass [2, 5], and 10.7% in *Miscanthus* grass [24]. Moreover, since the free sugars were not detectable from the samples, the hydrolysis was necessary in order to obtain the sugar prior to the further fermentation process. The contents of plant biomass can be used to initially indicate the potentiality of grasses whether they are suitable for the application as the energy crops. All the studied 18 types of plants contained high contents of the total cellulose and hemicellulose of approximately 60–80%. Therefore, the determination of cellulose and hemicellulose can be applied to quantify the theoretical production of ethanol.

3.2. Enzyme Production. The enzymes produced from the fungus *T. reesei* TISTR 3081 were assayed for the activities of cellulase using  $\alpha$ -cellulose and xylanase using xylan as the carbon sources, respectively. The results revealed that cellulase and xylanase showed the activities of 0.948 ± 0.05 and 92.13 ± 6.86 U/mL, respectively, whereas the obtained specific activities were 1.09 ± 0.09 and 65.32 ± 1.59/mg protein, respectively.

The various strains of fungus, *Trichoderma*, especially *T. reesei* including the mutants, have been popularly applied from the high capacity of the cellulase production suitable for the hydrolysis [3]. The enzymes have been shown to be tolerant against many inhibitors and show stability at 50°C comparatively higher than other types of fungi [25]. The advantages of the application of *T. reesei* are the fungal capability to produce the mixture of cellulases containing activities of at least 2 types of cellobiohydrolases, 5 types

of endoglucanases together with  $\beta$ -glucosidases. In addition, hemicellulases can also be produced which was reported by Zhang and Lynd [26]. The studies on the production of cellulases and hemicellulases from the fungus, *T. reesei* RUT C30 in the presence of 7.5 g/L of Solka Floc as the carbon source were also conducted by Juhász et al. [27]. The results revealed that the obtained specific activities of cellulase and xylanase by the FPU assay were approximately 0.58 and 119 U/mg protein, respectively. It can be clearly seen that the fungus, *T. reesei* can produce both cellulases and hemicellulases. Hence, the organism appears suitable for the production of the hydrolytic enzymes for lignocellulosic material degradation. As a result, the number of the types of enzymes required for the process can be reduced thereby reducing the costs.

3.3. Enzymatic Hydrolysis. In this research, only the glucose and xylose produced from the hydrolysis of cellulose and xylan by cellulase and xylanase were studied, respectively, since the main composition of hemicellulose is generally xylan. The comparison of the efficiency for the hydrolysis of each type of grass was evaluated from the percentages of the conversion of the total reducing sugar since each type contained different quantities of cellulose and hemicellulose. The pretreatment of the raw materials was conducted to disaggregate lignocellulose into the various compositions, namely, cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin [25]. The objective was to remove lignin, reduce cellulose crystallinity, increase the porosity of the raw materials resulting in cellulose accessibility to hydrolysis for conversion



FIGURE 1: 18 samples of grasses collected from Chiang Mai, Lampang, Ratchaburi, and Petchburi provinces. Forage grasses (a–h), (a) napier grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*), (b) dwarf napier grass (*P. purpureum cv. Mott*), (c) king napier grass (*P. purpureum cv. King Grass*), (d) bana grass (*P. purpureum*  $\times$  *P. americanum*), (e) purple guinea grass (*Panicum maximum* TD 58), (f) ruzi grass (*Brachiaria ruziziensis*), (g) pangola grass (*Digitaria decumbens*), (h) atratum grass (*Paspalum atratum*) and (i) vetiver grasses.

to fuels [2, 25, 28]. The use of alkaline hydrogen peroxide was an effective pretreatment of grass stovers and other plant materials in the context of animal nutrition and ethanol production. In addition, it has been widely applied with various substrates such as wheat straw [29, 30], rice hulls [19], sugarcane bagasse [31], barley straw [32], and

*Miscanthus* grass [24]. The advantages of this pretreatment are the use of reagents with low environmental impact and avoidance of special reaction chambers [33]. As a consequence, this pretreatment was selected for this research. From the preliminary results, no reducing sugars were obtained without the raw material pretreatment before the enzymatic hydrolysis (data not shown). Hence, the necessity of the pretreatment is very imperative.

From the hydrolysis of 18 types of grasses by chemical pretreatment with alkaline peroxide followed by hydrolysis with cellulase and xylanase produced from the fungus T. reesei TISTR 3081, the total reducing sugar obtained from the hydrolysis was tabulated in Table 2. Most of the grass samples' total reducing sugar showed the values in the range of 500-600 mg/g of raw materials equivalent to the concentration of 4-5 g/L and the obtained conversion was approximately 70-80%. There was no furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural produced from this method during the pretreatment [19]. These chemicals are always detected after the pretreatment and the hydrolysis by the use of acid and act as the inhibitors for the growth of yeasts used for the ethanol fermentation [34]. Rice hulls and wheat straw pretreated with alkaline peroxide could be converted to fermentable sugars with an excellent yield (96-97%) by enzymatic saccharification [19, 29]. The values were high since the commercial enzymes, namely, Celluclast 1.5 L (cellulase), Novozyme 188 ( $\beta$ -glucosidase), and Viscostar 150 L (xylanase) were applied in their work. These commercial enzymes must absolutely give much higher activities than the enzyme produced from the fungus T. reesei in our research. Moreover, the presence of  $\beta$ -glucosidase facilitated the hydrolysis of cellobiose to glucose resulting in the higher percentages of sugar conversion.

Since the sugar content and the value of sugar conversion from each grass obtained by the enzymatic hydrolysis were rather indifferent, the decisive selection of the suitable grass for the subsequent fermentation was not accurately possible. Therefore, the dry mass values of the grass samples were included in the calculations of the obtained reducing sugar contents from the enzymatic hydrolysis and the theoretical production of ethanol could be later calculated from the reducing sugar, assuming that the theoretical ethanol yield for fermenting is 0.511 g per g of hexose or pentose. From the results tabulated in Table 2, 11 types of grassses with the total reducing sugars over 3.9 ton/ha/year or the theoretical values for the ethanol production exceeding 2,550 L/ha/year were selected for the subsequent fermentation in descending order from the maximum, namely, pangola, purple guinea, dwarf napier leaves, atratum, ruzi, Prachuap Khiri Khan, Ratchaburi, bana leaves, napier leaves, king napier leaves and Sri Lanka, respectively.

3.4. Fermentation. Hydrolysis of the main composition, cellulose and hemicellulose, into glucose and xylose as the substrates of fermentation is necessarily required for the production of ethanol. In this research, the mixture of 2 types of yeasts was used, *S. cerevisiae* and *P. stipites*, since the former organism can use only glucose while the latter can catalyze both glucose and xylose as the substrates. Nonetheless, *P. stipitis* showed slower rate of fermentation than *S. cerevisiae* [35]. There are various methods to achieve the fermentation but SSCF has been shown to be more efficient than the others from the fact that the raw materials can be hydrolyzed to hexose and pentose for further ethanol

fermentation in single step. The gradual release of glucose from the hydrolysis can be continuously used for the fermentation resulting in the low concentration of glucose which yields better fermentation for xylose [13].

When the initially selected 11 types of grasses were fermented by SSCF by the addition of 2 types of yeasts; S. cerevisiae and P. stipitis together with 2 enzymes produced from T. reesei TISTR 3081; cellulase and xylanase at 35°C for 7 days, the ethanol production from various raw materials was tabulated in Table 3. The highest yield of ethanol, 1.14 g/L or 0.14 g/g substrate equivalent to 32.72% of the theoretical values, was obtained from Sri Lanka ecotype vetiver grass. For purple guinea grass and pangola grass, it was found that the lowest yield of ethanol was obtained at 6.08 and 6.8%, respectively, compared to the theoretical values. This result conflicted with the preliminary results of enzymatic hydrolysis that purple guinea grass and pangola grass gave the highest conversion of sugar of  $85.56 \pm 3.44$ and 76.03  $\pm$  0.84% respectively. This indicated that these 2 types of grasses may contain certain chemicals such as tannin or silica in the quantities that could possibly affect the activities of the enzyme and the growth of the yeasts resulting in the reduction of the ethanol production obtained from fermentation. Moreover, the presence of other substances toxic to the microorganisms in the system, such as the derivatives of lignin which are the phenolic compounds, may reduce the efficiency of the fermentation [36]. Isci et al. [7] studied the SSF fermentation in switchgrass by aqueous ammonia pretreatment and found that lignin could be eliminated by 40-50%. The yield of ethanol at 72% of the theoretical values was obtained from the application of the fermentation mixture between commercial cellulase (Spezyme CP) with the activity of 77 FPU/mL together with S. cerevisiae D<sub>5</sub>A for the period of 10 days. The differences could be from the fact that hemicellulose and lignin which can act as the inhibitors were preseparated. Only cellulose was used in the ethanol production by cellulase hydrolysis and single microorganism in SSF fermentation resulting in higher amount of ethanol.

In the analysis to determine the potential suitable grasses for the cultivation as the energy crops, the dry mass production of each type of grass (Table 1) was included in the calculation. The quantities of ethanol production were calculated in 3 cases as tabulated in Table 4. For the first case, the theoretical ethanol production was calculated from the determination of cellulose and hemicellulose from each type of grass. The complete hydrolysis of cellulose and hemicellulose and the amount of sugar totally converted to ethanol were used for the calculations. The overall theoretical yield for conversion was 0.581 g of ethanol per g of xylan and 0.568 g of ethanol per g of cellulose, assuming that xylan represents the major sugar source in all the biomass hemicellulose. The theoretical ethanol yield for fermentation is 0.511 g per g of hexose or pentose [37]. The results showed that the highest yield of ethanol was obtained from the pangola grass at 18,706.69 L/ha/year from the highest value of dry biomass at 37.5 ton/ha/year. As a result, it might have been suitable to be applied as the energy crops for the production of ethanol. Nevertheless, there are still

Grasses	Total cellulose and hemicellulose before pretreatment and hydrolysis	Total reducing sugar after hydrolysis	% conversion	Total reducing sugar after hydrolysis (ton/ha/year)	Theoretical ethanol yield (L/ha/year)*
	(mg/g substrate)	mg/g substrate g/L			
Napier	693.76 ± 26.67	$528.58 \pm 11.76 \ 4.14 \pm 0.34$	76.19 ± 1.70	4.05	2,621.06
Dwarf napier	$698.37 \pm 10.78$	$558.61 \pm 15.58 \ 4.13 \pm 0.34$	$79.99 \pm 2.23$	9.78	6,331.31
King napier	$631.40 \pm 4.91$	$516.63 \pm 8.82  4.04 \pm 0.32$	$81.82 \pm 1.40$	3.96	2,561.81
Bana	$690.54 \pm 36.65$	$556.27 \pm 24.94 \ \ 4.36 \pm 0.46$	$80.56\pm3.62$	4.26	2,758.31
Purple guinea	$646.60 \pm 17.78$	$553.20 \pm 22.22 \ \ 4.34 \pm 0.54$	$85.56 \pm 3.44$	10.37	6,717.88
Ruzi	$676.53 \pm 17.24$	$469.13 \pm 19.09 \ \ 3.97 \pm 0.61$	$69.34 \pm 2.82$	6.60	4,272.69
Pangola	$685.30 \pm 19.62$	$521.03 \pm 5.78  4.09 \pm 0.39$	$76.03 \pm 0.84$	19.54	12,654.31
Atratum	$674.70 \pm 11.09$	$505.93 \pm 27.58 \ 4.01 \pm 0.53$	$74.99 \pm 4.09$	9.49	6,143.81
Kamphaeng Phet 2	$745.60\pm7.74$	$586.55 \pm 22.59 \ 4.60 \pm 0.56$	$78.67\pm3.03$	3.54	2,295.91
Songkhla 3	$697.13 \pm 29.98$	$510.94 \pm 37.41 \ \ 3.98 \pm 0.20$	$73.29\pm5.37$	2.97	1,921.38
Surat Thani	$730.90 \pm 4.13$	$563.81 \pm 18.02 \ \ 4.42 \pm 0.50$	$77.14 \pm 2.47$	3.12	2,017.50
Sri Lanka	$758.70 \pm 25.11$	$619.31 \pm 6.38  4.85 \pm 0.42$	$81.63 \pm 0.84$	3.95	2,557.00
Roi Et	$766.50\pm9.15$	$516.95 \pm 16.35 \ \ 3.81 \pm 0.33$	$67.44 \pm 2.13$	1.83	1,184.36
Loei	$768.53\pm 6.05$	$550.89 \pm 22.62 \ 4.31 \pm 0.27$	$71.68 \pm 2.94$	2.71	1,757.17
Nakhon Sawan	$722.70 \pm 4.20$	$532.25 \pm 17.80 \ 4.37 \pm 0.58$	$73.64 \pm 2.46$	2.25	1,456.41
Prachuap Khiri Khan	$744.05 \pm 14.42$	$573.62 \pm 4.92  4.31 \pm 0.19$	$77.09 \pm 0.66$	4.85	3,139.24
Ratchaburi	$777.20 \pm 4.50$	$616.34 \pm 18.36 \ 4.54 \pm 0.25$	$79.30\pm2.36$	4.68	3,033.76
Kamphaeng Phet 1	$746.17\pm7.01$	$578.10 \pm 16.80 \ 4.52 \pm 0.28$	$77.48 \pm 2.25$	3.73	2,414.94
$\alpha$ -cellulose + xylan	$1,000.00 \pm 0.00$	$753.94 \pm 6.89  8.76 \pm 0.06$	$75.39\pm0.69$	_	

TABLE 2: Total cellulose and hemicellulose of grasses before pretreatment and hydrolysis and total reducing sugar released after hydrolysis.

Grasses (0.6 g) were pretreated with alkaline peroxide (7.5% (v/v)  $H_2O_2$ ; pH 11.5; 35°C, 24 h) followed by enzymatic hydrolysis at 50°C for 72 h. Positive control was 0.3 g of  $\alpha$ -cellulose mixed with 0.3 g of xylan.

\*Theoretical ethanol yield (L/ha/year) was calculated from total reducing sugars after enzymatic hydrolysis, assuming that the theoretical ethanol yield for fermenting is 0.511 g per g of hexose or pentose.

0	Eth	anol	
Grasses	g/L	g/g substrate	% of the theoretical values
Sri Lanka	$1.14 \pm 0.09^{a}$	$0.14 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$32.72 \pm 2.69^{a}$
Ratchaburi	$1.10 \pm 0.10^{a}$	$0.14\pm0.01^{a}$	$30.95 \pm 2.81^{a,b}$
$\alpha$ -cellulose + xylan	$1.06 \pm 0.30^{a,b}$	$0.13 \pm 0.04^{a,b}$	$23.01 \pm 6.47^{b}$
Dwarf napier	$0.98 \pm 0.16^{a,b}$	$0.12\pm0.02^{\mathrm{a,b}}$	$30.60 \pm 4.90^{a,b}$
Napier	$0.97 \pm 0.31^{a,b}$	$0.12 \pm 0.04^{a,b}$	$30.30 \pm 9.78^{a,b}$
Bana	$0.87 \pm 0.14^{a,b}$	$0.11 \pm 0.02^{a,b}$	$27.28 \pm 4.56^{\mathrm{a,b}}$
Prachuap Khiri Khan	$0.80\pm0.12^{\mathrm{b}}$	$0.10\pm0.01^{\mathrm{b}}$	$23.31 \pm 3.48^{b}$
King napier	$0.40 \pm 0.13^{\circ}$	$0.05 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	$13.93 \pm 4.53^{\circ}$
Atratum	$0.36 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	$0.05 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$11.64 \pm 1.60^{\circ}$
Ruzi	$0.30 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	$0.04\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$9.56 \pm 1.79^{\circ}$
Pangola	$0.21 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	$0.03 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$6.80 \pm 1.58^{\circ}$
Purple guinea	$0.18 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$	$0.02 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$6.08 \pm 2.49^{\circ}$

TABLE 3: Ethanol production from grasses by SSCF process.

Grasses (1.2 g) were pretreated with alkaline peroxide (7.5% (v/v) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>; pH 11.5; 35°C, 24 h). SSCF process was performed using cellulase and xylanase (72 and 1440 U, resp.) from *T. resei* for hydrolysis and *S. cerevisiae* and *P. stipitis* for cofermentation at 35°C for 7 days. Positive control was 0.6 g of  $\alpha$ -cellulose mixed with 0.6 g of xylan. Values not sharing a common superscript (a, b, c, and d) differ significantly (Duncan's Multiple Range Test).

Rank	,	Theoretical ethan	ol yield (L/ha/year)				
Ralik	Calculated from total ce hemicellulose	llulose and	Calculated from total reducing sugars after enzymatic hydrolysis		Ethanol yield from SSC	Ethanol yield from SSCF (L/ha/year)	
1	Pangola	18,706.69	Pangola	12,654.31	Dwarf napier	2,720.56	
2	Atratum	9,201.69	Purple guinea	6,717.88	Ratchaburi	1,330.06	
3	Dwarf napier	8,889.88	Dwarf napier	6,331.31	Pangola	1,272.00	
4	Purple guinea	8,818.50	Atratum	6,143.81	Napier	1,171.69	
5	Ruzi	6,922.69	Ruzi	4,272.69	Sri Lanka	1,151.69	
6	Prachuap Khiri Khan	4,576.81	Prachuap Khiri Khan	3,139.25	Atratum	1,071.19	
7	Ratchaburi	4,297.88	Ratchaburi	3,033.75	Prachuap Khiri Khan	1,066.75	
8	Napier	3,867.38	Bana	2,758.31	Bana	1,045.81	
9	Bana	3,847.50	Napier	2,621.06	Ruzi	661.56	
10	Sri Lanka	3,519.81	King napier	2,561.81	Purple guinea	536.44	
11	King napier	3,517.00	Sri Lanka	2,557.00	King napier	489.81	

TABLE 4: Comparison of the theoretical ethanol yield and ethanol produced from SSCF process of 11 types of grasses.

The theoretical ethanol yield for fermenting is 0.511 g per g of hexose or pentose.

many necessary factors required for the analysis such as the plantation areas for the cultivation, maintenance, and the composition in various grasses which may contain inhibitors affecting the activities of certain enzymes and the growth of the microorganisms in the fermentation process. Apparently, the obtained values of the sugar contents from the hydrolysis and the obtained ethanol from the fermentation were inconsistent with the theory. Hence, further studies on the hydrolysis of the biomass composition and the ethanol production should be conducted to determine the real quantity of the ethanol production. When the analysis has been performed in more details, other appropriate types of grasses may also have been discovered.

For the second case, when the theoretical values of ethanol production were calculated from the total reducing sugars obtained after the enzymatic hydrolysis, it was found that pangola grass still produced the highest theoretical values of ethanol production of 12,654.31 L/ha/yr despite the rather similar values of reducing sugars obtained from each type of grass after the enzymatic hydrolysis. Therefore, the highest yield of dry mass obtained from pangola grass consistently resulted in the highest value of theoretical ethanol production.

For the final third case, the ethanol production was calculated from the fermentation process, SSFC. It was found that dwarf napier grass leaves showed the highest yield of 2,720.56 L/ha/year. Therefore, this grass should have potential to be developed as the energy crop for the production of ethanol by this SSCF fermentation. Further studies can be carried out on the optimal conditions of fermentation to increase the production of ethanol approximately closed to the theoretical values. In this research, since the samples of rather aged grasses with the very strong and hard stems were collected, only the leaves were selectively applied for the experiments. Nevertheless, if the dwarf napier grass leaves were to be utilized for the application in the future, they should be harvested at the earlier stage so that both the stems and the leaves can be used.

When the theoretical ethanol production from pangola grass obtained from the second case was comparatively considered with the values obtained from the process of SSFC, it can be seen that the theoretical ethanol production from pangola grass was 5-folds higher than what obtained from dwarf napier grass from the process of SSFC. On the contrary, the ethanol production from pangola grass obtained from SSFC was much lower than the theoretical values since the concentration of ethanol obtained was considerably low when compared with the others. This result suggested that the fermentation by the method in this study might not have been suitable for this grass. There might be some substances that inhibit the process of fermentation. Pangola grass may not be appropriate for the ethanol production by SSCF fermentation. However, pangola grass yielded the highest quantities of ethanol when the analysis was derived from both theoretical calculations. More importantly, it seems appropriately applicable as the hay from the tremendously high contents of dry mass in this grass. Hence, pangola grass may also present potentiality as the energy crop in Thailand. In case this type of grass would be further developed for the production of ethanol that would yield the closest values to the theory, the fermentation process should be further investigated with some alterations. In addition, the fermentation by SHF can represent the good alternative process since the high level of sugar can be produced from the enzymatic hydrolysis of this type of grass.

Recently, Bank of Thailand, in January 2012 reported the consumption of ethanol in Thailand at approximately 1.3 million litres per day or 457 million litres per year [38]. In case that the dwarf napier grass is to be applied for the production of ethanol by the process of SSFC, at least 0.17 million hectares of the plantation area are necessarily required. When the production of ethanol from other types of energy crops was comparatively studied, it has been found that the yield from sugar cane was equal to 4,900 kg/ha/year or 6,210 L/ha/year, whereas from cassava was 6,000 kg/ha/year or 7,604 L/ha/year [39]. Although the production of ethanol from the SSCF process derived from dwarf napier grass was found to be 2,720.56 L/ha/year or 2.3 and 2.8-folds less than what obtained from the sugar cane and cassava, respectively, both of the mentioned energy crops are mostly utilized for human food consumption. Hence, the search for the alternative nonfood energy crops for the production of ethanol appears undeniably and continuously imperative in order to sustain the availability of the food energy crops for the prevention of food shortage problem in the future. This research particularly focused on the SSCF process that unfortunately had not been optimized. After the process, the total raw materials did not appear to be completely hydrolyzed. This might be from the fact that the optimal temperature for the activity of the enzymes should be in the range of 45-50°C. However, the temperature applied in this process was at 35°C. For the fermentation by yeast, the optimal temperature required has been known at 30°C [14]. Furthermore, the other conditions for the fermentation by these 2 microorganisms might not be optimal resulting in less ethanol production than it should have been. Therefore, the investigation on the optimal conditions about the various factors such as pH, temperature, oxygen content, and the medium ingredients affecting the fermentation is considerably imperative. This will enhance the efficiency of the sugar cofermentation from both S. cerevisiae and P. stipitis. The method to produce high concentration of ethanol can be accomplished by producing the enzyme with high hydrolytic activities to increase the efficiency of the hydrolysis. Moreover, the obtained enzymes should exhibit high activities at low concentration. Since the enzyme applied in this research was totally isolated from the fungi in our lab, the activities were therefore considerably low compared to the commercials. As a consequence, the large quantities of the enzyme were necessarily applied for the process. This might be the reason why the obtained ethanol concentration was rather low. The improvement of the production media such as the sources of carbon and the growth conditions for the culture should greatly enhance the production of the enzyme with higher activities. In addition, the development of the better strain by genetic manipulation also represents the interesting method to increase the fungal capacity for the production of the better enzyme with higher activities. This can be achieved through the higher efficiency of the fermentation in various aspects, for example, the strains that can possibly use various types of sugars as the substrates, the capability of the organisms to tolerate the high temperature, and high concentration of ethanol. In particular, in case that cellulosic ethanol will be further produced for the industries in the future, the development of the strains with the capability of simultaneous hydrolysis and fermentation of lignocellulose should be more advantageous.

#### 4. Conclusions

Lignocellulosic biomass, like grasses, could be successfully used in cellulosic ethanol production by biological process. Pangola grass has potential for saccharification before fermentation process, whereas dwarf napier grass has potential for fermentation by SSCF process. Therefore, they are

#### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by PTT Research and Technology Institute, PTT Public Company Limited, Thailand, and the Development and Promotion of Science and Technology Talents Project (DPST).

#### References

- C. A. Cardona, Ó. J. Sánchez, and L. F. Gutiérrez, *Process Synthesis for Fuel Ethanol Production*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla, USA, 2010.
- Y. Sun and J. Cheng, "Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: a review," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2002.
- [3] M. Balat, H. Balat, and C. Öz, "Progress in bioethanol processing," *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 551–573, 2008.
- [4] B. E. Dale, M. S. Allen, M. Laser, and L. R. Lynd, "Protein feeds coproduction in biomass conversion to fuels and chemicals," *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 219–230, 2009.
- [5] R. L. Howard, E. Abotsi, E. L. J. Van Rensburg, and S. Howard, "Lignocellulose biotechnology: issues of bioconversion and enzyme production," *African Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 602–619, 2003.
- [6] V. S. Chang, W. E. Kaar, B. Burr, and M. T. Holtzapple, "Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of limetreated biomass," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 23, no. 16, pp. 1327–1333, 2001.
- [7] A. Isci, J. N. Himmelsbach, A. L. Pometto III, D. R. Raman, and R. P. Anex, "Aqueous ammonia soaking of switchgrass followed by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 144, no. 1, pp. 69– 77, 2008.
- [8] K. Belkacemi, G. Turcotte, P. Savoie, and E. Chornet, "Ethanol production from enzymatic hydrolyzates of cellulosic fines and hemicellulose-rich liquors derived from aqueous/steam fractionation of forages," *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 4572–4580, 1997.
- [9] Y. Sun and J. J. Cheng, "Dilute acid pretreatment of rye straw and bermudagrass for ethanol production," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 14, pp. 1599–1606, 2005.
- [10] G. L. Guo, W. H. Chen, W. H. Chen, L. C. Men, and W. S. Hwang, "Characterization of dilute acid pretreatment of silvergrass for ethanol production," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 99, no. 14, pp. 6046–6053, 2008.
- [11] R. G. Grimshaw, "Vetiver System: A Green Investment For Sustainable Development," 2006, http://www.vetiver.org/ ICV4pdfs/ICV4-PROG-IN.htm.
- [12] C. E. Wyman, "Ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass: technology, economics, and opportunities," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 3–15, 1994.
- [13] K. Öhgren, O. Bengtsson, M. F. Gorwa-Grauslund, M. Galbe, B. Hahn-Hägerdal, and G. Zacchi, "Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of glucose and xylose in steampretreated corn stover at high fiber content with *Saccharomyces*

*cerevisiae* TMB3400," *Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 126, no. 4, pp. 488–498, 2006.

- [14] P. Chandrakant and V. S. Bisaria, "Simultaneous bioconversion of cellulose and hemicellulose to ethanol," *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 295–331, 1998.
- [15] Ruminant Nutrition Laboratory, University of Nebraska, "Manual of Laboratory Techniques," 2009, http://feedlot.unl. edu/rnlab/ManualWebsite.htm.
- [16] M. Mandels and J. Weber, "The production of cellulases," Advances in Chemistry Series, vol. 95, pp. 391–414, 1969.
- [17] T. K. Ghose, "Measurement of cellulose activities," *International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 257–268, 1987.
- [18] P. Held and J. Hurley, "Determination of total protein by the Lowry method using the BioTek instruments' ELx808 microplate reader," 2001, http://www.biotek.com/ resources/docs/ELx808\_Determining\_Total\_Protein\_Lowry\_ Method.pdf.
- [19] B. C. Saha and M. A. Cotta, "Enzymatic saccharification and fermentation of alkaline peroxide pretreated rice hulls to ethanol," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 528–532, 2007.
- [20] G. L. Miller, "Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar," *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 426–428, 1959.
- [21] J. M. Laplace, J. P. Delgenes, R. Moletta, and J. M. Navarro, "Cofermentation of glucose and xylose to ethanol by a respiratory-deficient mutant of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cocultivated with a xylose-fermenting yeast," *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering*, vol. 75, no. 3, pp. 207–212, 1993.
- [22] R. H. Brown and R. E. Blaser, "Relationships between reserve carbohydrate accumulation and growth rate in orchard grass and tall fescue," *Crop Science*, vol. 5, pp. 577–581, 1965.
- [23] C. H. Middleton, "Dry matter and nitrogen changes in five tropical grasses as influenced by cutting height and frequency," *Tropical Grassland*, vol. 16, pp. 112–117, 1982.
- [24] B. Wang, X. Wang, and H. Feng, "Deconstructing recalcitrant *Miscanthus* with alkaline peroxide and electrolyzed water," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 2, pp. 752–760, 2010.
- [25] R. A. Silverstein, A comparison of chemical pretreatment methods for converting cotton stalks to ethanol [M.S. thesis], Biological and Agricultural Engineering, North Carolina State University, 2004.
- [26] Y. H. Zhang and L. R. Lynd, "Toward an aggregated understanding of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose: noncomplexed cellulase systems," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 797–824, 2004.
- [27] T. Juhász, Z. Szengyel, K. Réczey, M. Siika-Aho, and L. Viikari, "Characterization of cellulases and hemicellulases produced by *Trichoderma reesei* on various carbon sources," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 3519–3525, 2005.
- [28] P. Kumar, D. M. Barrett, M. J. Delwiche, and P. Stroeve, "Methods for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for efficient hydrolysis and biofuel production," *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 3713–3729, 2009.
- [29] B. C. Saha and M. A. Cotta, "Ethanol production from alkaline peroxide pretreated enzymatically saccharified wheat straw," *Biotechnology Progress*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 449–453, 2006.
- [30] B. Qi, X. Chen, F. Shen, Y. Su, and Y. Wan, "Optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw pretreated by alkaline peroxide using response surface methodology," *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 48, no. 15, pp. 7346–7353, 2009.

- [31] S. C. Rabelo, R. M. Filho, and A. C. Costa, "A comparison between lime and alkaline hydrogen peroxide pretreatments of sugarcane bagasse for ethanol production," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 148, no. 1–3, pp. 45–58, 2008.
- [32] B. C. Saha and M. A. Cotta, "Comparison of pretreatment strategies for enzymatic saccharification and fermentation of barley straw to ethanol," *New Biotechnology*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 10–16, 2010.
- [33] G. Banerjee, S. Car, J. S. Scott-Craig, D. B. Hodge, and J. D. Walton, "Alkaline peroxide pretreatment of corn stover: effects of biomass, peroxide, and enzyme loading and composition on yields of glucose and xylose," *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, vol. 4, article 16, 2011.
- [34] R. Purwadi, "Continuous Ethanol production from diluteacid hydrolyzates: detoxification and fermentation strategy," Doctoral dissertation, Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Chalmers University of Technology, 2006.
- [35] M. Taniguchi, T. Tohma, T. Itaya, and M. Fujii, "Ethanol production from a mixture of glucose and xylose by coculture of *Pichia stipitis* and a respiratory-deficient mutant of *Saccharormyces cerevisiae*," *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering*, vol. 83, no. 4, pp. 364–370, 1997.
- [36] J. N. Nigam, "Ethanol production from wheat straw hemicellulose hydrolysate by *Pichia stipitis*," *Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 17–27, 2001.
- [37] J. R. Hettenhaus, "Ethanol fermentation strains present and future requirements for biomass to ethanol commercialization," 1998, http://infohouse.p2ric.org/ref/38/37753.pdf.
- [38] Bank of Thailand, "Report of ethanol price of Thailand," 2012, http://www.bot.or.th/Thai/EconomicConditions/Thai/ Northeast/commodities/Doclib\_CommodityMonthly/ Ethanol%20Monthly–01-55.pdf.
- [39] M. Balat and H. Balat, "Recent trends in global production and utilization of bio-ethanol fuel," *Applied Energy*, vol. 86, no. 11, pp. 2273–2282, 2009.

## Research Article

# Changes in the Material Characteristics of Maize Straw during the Pretreatment Process of Methanation

Yongzhong Feng,<sup>1,2</sup> Xiaoling Zhao,<sup>1,2</sup> Yan Guo,<sup>2,3</sup> Gaihe Yang,<sup>1,2</sup> Jianchao Xi,<sup>4</sup> and Guangxin Ren<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>College of Agronomy, Northwest A&F University, P.O. Box 95, Yangling, Shaanxi 712100, China

<sup>2</sup> The Research Center of Recycle Agricultural Engineering and Technology of Shaanxi Province, Yangling, Shaanxi 712100, China

<sup>3</sup> College of Forestry, Northwest A&F University, Yangling, Shaanxi 712100, China

<sup>4</sup> Institute of Geography Sciences and Natural Resources Research, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100101, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Yongzhong Feng, fengyz@nwsuaf.edu.cn

Received 26 March 2012; Revised 30 July 2012; Accepted 30 July 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Yongzhong Feng et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Pretreatment technology is important to the direct methanation of straw. This study used fresh water, four bacterium agents (stem rot agent, "result" microbe decomposition agent, straw pretreatment composite bacterium agent, and complex microorganism agent), biogas slurry, and two chemical reagents (sodium hydroxide and urea) as pretreatment promoters. Different treatments were performed, and the changes in the straw pH value, temperature, total solid (TS), volatile solid (VS), and carbon-nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio) under different pretreatment conditions were analyzed. The results showed that chemical promoters were more efficient than biological promoters in straw maturity. Pretreatment using sodium hydroxide induced the highest degree of straw maturity. However, its C/N ratio had to be reduced during fermentation. In contrast, the C/N ratio of the urea-pretreated straw was low and was easy to regulate when used as anaerobic digestion material. The biogas slurry pretreatment was followed by pretreatments using four different bacterium agents, among which the effect of the complex microorganism agent (BA4) was more efficient than the others. The current study is significant to the direct and efficient methanation of straw.

#### 1. Introduction

The rural household biogas in China has rapidly developed in recent years. By 2010, the number of rural household biogas users had reached 41.8 million in China [1, 2]. However, the rural household biogas industry has been facing a fermented material shortage due to the changes in agricultural structure. Moreover, the use of anaerobic digesters has been discontinued due to material shortage [3–5]. In China, the straw yield is nearly  $7 \times 10^9$  t every year [6, 7] (of which rice, corn, and wheat straw account for 79.5%) [8]. Aside from the small portions used as animal feeds or returned to the field, most straws are either used as fuels or burned directly in the fields, which cause a huge waste [9–11]. However, straw as fermented material possesses many problems, such as long run-up time, low gas output, low material utilization ratio, and material crusting [12, 13]. Crop straw has high contents of lignin, cellulose, and hemicellulose, and the degradation is difficult. These problems seriously affect the fermentation process and material processing of straw [14]. Therefore, straw pretreatment is essential for an efficient direct methanation.

Maize straw is a lignocellulosic biomass which contains components such as cellulose (34.0%), hemicellulose (37.5%), and lignin (22%). The carbon-nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio) for maize straw is about 66.31%, while the proper C/N ratio for anaerobic digester should be within the range of 25–35 [15]. At present, straw pretreatment studies focus on adjusting the nutritional value of straw and improving its characteristics [16, 17]. Adjusting the nutritional value is usually achieved by regulating the C/N ratio by mixing straw with fermented materials having different carbon and nitrogen contents. Therefore, exogenous nitrogen needs to be supplemented to increase the nitrogen fraction for more efficient anaerobic digestion of maize straw. Nitrogen can be added in the form of inorganic form (e.g., ammonium bicarbonate) or organic form (e.g., urea or animal manure). Animal manure and other organic wastes are additional nutrient sources, provided they are readily available for anaerobic digestion. Nitrogen fertilizer (e.g., ammonia or urea) is another nitrogen source that can be easily added to the maize straw if nitrogenous wastes are not available [18]. On the other hand, straw characteristics are improved by using physical, chemical, or biological pretreatment, which improve the straw's utilization rate [16]. Lignocellulose is difficult to degrade biologically. Pretreatment of straw by mechanical size reduction, heat treatment, and/or chemical treatment usually improves its digestibility. Chemical pretreatment methods that have been explored in previous research include bicarbonate treatment [19], radiation [20], alkaline peroxide treatment [21], and ammonia treatment [22]. Among them, ammonia treatment has several advantages over the other ones, since ammonia itself is a nitrogen source for biodegradation.

Based on the theory and practice of straw anaerobic digestion and rural methane fermentation, this study investigated pH, temperature, total solid (TS), volatile solid (VS), and carbon-nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio) of maize straw during biological and chemical pretreatment processes. Moreover, the changes in the material characteristics during the process were compared, and efficient straw pretreatment agents were chosen according to the degree of straw maturity. The current study also provides theoretical reference for practical methanation.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Raw Material. Air-dried maize straw used in this study was collected from the experimental field of Northwest Agriculture and Forestry University in Yangling, China. Before the pretreatment, the maize straw was chopped into 2-3 cm pieces [23]. The raw material contained  $79.50\pm0.42\%$  of TS, and there were about 89.20% VS in the dry matter. The C/N ratio of the raw material was 66.31.

2.2. Biological Pretreatment. The biological pretreatment promoters were mixed microorganism, which were bacterium agent 1(BA1) [24] (stem rot agent, main composition: Bacillus polymyxa, Bacillus subtilis, Bacillus brevis, Bacillus licheniformis, Brevibacterium sulphureum, and so on.), bacterium agent 2(BA2) [25] ("result" microbe decomposition agent, main composition: Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Coccidioides, H. anomala, S. cerevisiae, Bacillus licheniformis, Pseudomonas, Leucothrix, Lactobacillus delhi and so on.), bacterium agent 3(BA3) [26] (straw pretreatment composite bacterium agent, main composition: Bacillus subtilis, Streptomyces microflavus, Trichoderma koningii, Chaetomium globosum, and so on.), and bacterium agent 4(BA4) [27]

(complex microorganism agent, main composition: Bacillus subtilis, Bacillus natto, Streptoverticillium baldaccii, Thermoactinomyces vulgaris, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Candida utilis, Candida tropicalis, Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus oryzae, Rhizopus nigricans, and so on.).

These four kinds of microorganism were weighed 0.04, 8.00, 8.00, and 8.00 g, respectively, according to their different number of viable bacteria. Then these pretreatment promoters were put into four different 2000 mL beakers, which contain 2000 g fresh water. After that, the mixer was put into a constant temperature incubator for a 24 h cultivation in  $37^{\circ}$ C [28]. The activated promoters were then added into the pretreatment reactor, which contained 800 g maize straw. The pretreatment process was 10 days.

Biogas slurry was obtained from an anaerobic digester that produced gas normally in Yangling, China. 2000 g biogas slurry was added in the pretreatment reactor with 800 g maize straw, and the pretreatment process was 10 days.

2.3. Chemical Pretreatment. Sodium hydroxide and urea were used in this study. The amount of chemicals added was referred to in the previous researches [29, 30]. This study added 800 g maize straw, 2000 g fresh water, and then 160 g sodium hydroxide and 160 g urea, respectively. The pretreatment process lasted for 10 days.

In this study, fresh water was used as the control group, and 2000 g was added into 800 g maize straw for a ten-day pretreatment. All operations were of unified management, and the experiment was repeated three times.

2.4. Tested Indexes and Methods. The pH value was measured by intelligent pH meter (pHs-3CT, China) every day. Temperatures at the center of each pile as well as environmental temperature were recorded manually by a thermometer every day. The untreated and treated maize straw samples were analyzed for TS and VS, according to the APHA standard methods [31]. The total organic carbon (TOC) was determined using the  $K_2Cr_2O_7$  volumetric and outside heating methods [32]. The total organic nitrogen (TON) was analyzed by Kjeldahl method (Model KDN-08C, Shanghai, China) as recommended by Cottenie et al. [33], while the carbon-nitrogen (C/N) ratio was calculated using values of the TOC and TON.

#### 3. Results

3.1. Changes in the Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Maize Straw before and after Pretreatment. The characteristics of maize straw between before pretreatment and after ten-day pretreatment were compared in Table 1. After pretreatment, TS of maize straw was dramatically decreased, which was between  $11.07 \pm 1.33\%$ and  $20.00 \pm 0.30\%$ . Significant differences were observed between control group ( $11.53 \pm 0.55\%$ ) and experimental groups, except those treated with BA1 ( $11.07 \pm 1.33\%$ ) and BA2 ( $11.83 \pm 0.21\%$ ). An extremely significant difference was also observed between the control group and the specimens pretreated with BA4 ( $14.31 \pm 0.37\%$ ),

Pretreatment promoters		TS <sup>a</sup> (%)	VS <sup>b</sup> (%)	TOC <sup>c</sup> (%)	TON <sup>d</sup> (%)	C/N ratio
Raw material		$79.50\pm0.42$	$89.20\pm0.31$	$36.95\pm0.28$	$0.56\pm0.02$	66.31
	BA 1	$11.07 \pm 1.33$	$92.33 \pm 0.45$	$33.00\pm0.43$	$0.54\pm0.00$	61.05
	BA 2	$11.83\pm0.21$	$91.65\pm0.64$	$33.78 \pm 0.41$	$0.72\pm0.05$	46.68
	BA 3	$13.67\pm0.23$	$90.36 \pm 0.37$	$34.69 \pm 0.55$	$0.68\pm0.05$	50.90
After ten_day pretreatment	BA 4	$14.31\pm0.37$	$89.64 \pm 0.27$	$32.50\pm0.30$	$0.70\pm0.03$	46.53
And ten-day pretreatment	Urea	$14.64\pm0.60$	$91.24\pm0.32$	$32.43 \pm 0.43$	$1.45\pm0.02$	22.36
	Sodium hydroxide	$20.00\pm0.30$	$44.63 \pm 0.45$	$15.03\pm0.24$	$0.25\pm0.02$	60.25
	Biogas slurry	$13.71\pm0.34$	$86.11 \pm 0.39$	$28.00\pm0.08$	$0.84\pm0.00$	33.23
	Fresh water	$11.53\pm0.55$	$93.19\pm0.38$	$33.37\pm0.54$	$0.59\pm0.01$	56.26
After ten-day pretreatment	BA 2 BA 3 BA 4 Urea Sodium hydroxide Biogas slurry Fresh water	$11.83 \pm 0.21$ $13.67 \pm 0.23$ $14.31 \pm 0.37$ $14.64 \pm 0.60$ $20.00 \pm 0.30$ $13.71 \pm 0.34$ $11.53 \pm 0.55$	$91.65 \pm 0.64$ $90.36 \pm 0.37$ $89.64 \pm 0.27$ $91.24 \pm 0.32$ $44.63 \pm 0.45$ $86.11 \pm 0.39$ $93.19 \pm 0.38$	$\begin{array}{l} 33.78 \pm 0.41 \\ 34.69 \pm 0.55 \\ 32.50 \pm 0.30 \\ 32.43 \pm 0.43 \\ 15.03 \pm 0.24 \\ 28.00 \pm 0.08 \\ 33.37 \pm 0.54 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.72 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.68 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.70 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.45 \pm 0.02 \\ 0.25 \pm 0.02 \\ 0.84 \pm 0.00 \\ 0.59 \pm 0.01 \end{array}$	46.63 50.99 46.55 22.30 60.21 33.21 56.21

TABLE 1: Basic characteristics of maize straw before and after ten-day pretreatment.

<sup>a</sup>TS: total solid.

<sup>b</sup>VS: volatile solid, dry basis.

<sup>c</sup>TOC: total organic carbon, dry basis.

<sup>d</sup>TON: total organic nitrogen, dry basis.

 $ure(14.64 \pm 0.60\%)$ , and so dium hydroxide (20.00 \pm 0.30\%). The VS content of the sodium hydroxide-treated specimen  $(44.63 \pm 0.45\%)$  was significantly different from that of the raw material (89.20%  $\pm$  0.31), while VS of the other treatments fluctuated between 86.11  $\pm$  0.39% and 93.19  $\pm$ 0.38% without substantial change. Compared with raw material, TOC of all experimental groups decreased. TOC of the sodium hydroxide-treated specimen was only 15.03  $\pm$ 0.24%, indicating that majority of water-insoluble carbon was decomposed and transformed during the pretreatment process. TON of the groups treated with BA1 (0.54%) and sodium hydroxide  $(0.25 \pm 0.02\%)$  both decreased, while others increased. The C/N ratios of the pretreated straws were lower than that of the raw material, implying that pretreatment reduces the C/N ratio of fermented materials, which is significant to the life activities of methanogenic bacteria.

3.2. Changes in pH. pH plays a crucial role in the growth metabolism of microbes. Microorganism used in this study was a mixture which contained bacterium, fungus, saccharomycetes, and actinomycetes, with its suitable pH varying from 4.5 to 6.5. pH of BA1 treated decreased to the range of 4.1 to 4.8 from the 5th day, which is unfavorable for bacterium growth. pH of BA2 treated fell to 4.4 on the 4th day. However, it gradually increased later, and hence, the bacterium activity significantly decreased. pH of BA3 treated was stable between 4.7 and 6.2 before the 8th day. However, pH was then decreased to 4.3 at the 9th day and kept at the same level at the 10th day. pH of BA4 treated remained between 4.7 and 5.9. Thus, the bacterium grew well under the moderate conditions. Compared with that of control group, pH of biogas slurry-treated group was higher at the first two days. Then, it started to decline three days later and stabilized between 6.15 and 7.75, maintaining a neutral condition, which fell in the scope of the suitable pH.

pH of two chemically treated specimens was both higher than the others, particularly between 8.9 and 9.2 and between 11.3 and 11.8 for the urea and sodium hydroxidetreated groups, respectively. pH of control group was kept



FIGURE 1: Changes in pH level during the pretreatment process.

falling down and then fluctuated near 4.4 since the 4th day (Figure 1).

3.3. Changes in Temperature. Temperatures of the environment and every treated group were shown in Figure 2. The temperature of the environment significantly changed during the 6th and 8th days, whereas those of the treated groups did not. The temperature of the group treated with BA1 was slightly lower than that of environment during the 3rd and 5th days, whereas the other bacterium agents groups had higher temperatures than that of environment. This result can be attributed to the restrained growth of BA1 due to the interaction of the pH and temperature during the process, which thus causes the decline of the decomposition characteristics of the material. The temperatures



FIGURE 2: Changes in the temperature during the pretreatment process.



FIGURE 3: Changes in the TS content during the pretreatment process.

of the groups treated with BA3 and BA4 were high and thus beneficial to the straw decomposition. Moreover, the temperatures of the two chemically treated groups slightly fluctuated along the temperature of environment. During the 1st day, the temperature of the urea-treated group was quite low (only 11.5°C) and that of the sodium hydroxide-treated group was higher (19.0°C). Both seemed to stabilize after that and, hence, were beneficial for the organic decomposition



FIGURE 4: Changes in the VS content during the pretreatment process.

in straw. The temperatures of the biogas-slurry-treated and control groups were subject to the environment.

3.4. Changes in TS and VS. TS and VS are two indexes of the degree of decomposition maturity and are important parameters of the fermented substrate concentration. Figure 3 showed that the TS contents of all experimental groups were higher than that of the control group since the 4th day, indicating the effect of the promoters on straw decomposition. However, these TS contents all decreased as time elapsed. During the 1st day, the TS content of the ureatreated group was the highest, followed by that of the sodium hydroxide-treated group. However, the former declined by 9.79%, whereas the latter decreased by only 2.1%. Among the biological promoters, TS of the group treated with BA4 was higher than those of the others, whereas those of the groups treated with BA1 and biogas slurry stayed at low levels without significant changes. In summary, during the pretreatment process, the two chemical promoters induced the highest degrees of straw decomposition maturity, whereas BA4 and BA1 and biogas slurry had lesser effects.

Figure 4 showed the changes in VS. VS of all groups stabilized between 88.31% and 93.61% without significant fluctuations and differences, except those of the groups treated with sodium hydroxide and biogas slurry. VS of the sodium hydroxide-treated group was the lowest (43.35% to 51.18%), followed by that of the group with biogas slurry (84.95% to 87.80%), with slight fluctuations.

3.5. Changes in C/N Ratio. C/N ratio (Figure 5(a)) of pretreated straw increased firstly and decreased subsequently, and had the same trend as TOC (Figure 5(b)). However, TON (Figure 5(c)) varied slightly except urea-treated group. Urea as a rich nitrogen promoter added exogenous nitrate in

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology



FIGURE 5: Changes in C/N ratio, TOC, and TON during the pretreatment process: (a) changes in C/N ratio, (b) changes in TOC, (c) changes in TON.

material. So C/N ratio of urea-treated group was the lowest from beginning to end. Its C/N ratio was only 3.80 on the 1st day. However, it gradually increased with time and remained between 3.80 and 22.36. C/N ratios of BA1-treated, sodium hydroxide-treated, and control groups were very high during and after pretreatment, which were 51.65, 61.64, and 57.76 in average, respectively. In biological pretreatment, BA2, BA3, and BA4 treated had the same value in TOC and TON, and the C/N ratio was very close to 46.58, 45.86, and 43.59 in average, respectively. For its lower TOC and higher TON, C/N ratio of biogas slurry-treated group was kept at a lower level (33.12 in average). And the same results were achieved by Zhong et al. [34].

#### 4. Discussions

Straw maturity is a key factor of the pretreatment. Several authors have concluded that using a single parameter as a maturity index is insufficient and that amalgamation of several parameters is usually needed. Various physical, biological, and chemical parameters have been used to monitor the quality and maturity of compost [35–37]. The effects of different promoters on the changes of the indexes during the pretreatment process varied, as well as the requirements of the different promoters on the pretreatment external conditions. Only in suitable temperatures, pH levels, and other environment conditions can bacterium agents

obtain good effects. Too high or low temperatures and unsuitable pH levels can impede the normal life metabolism of microorganisms and thus influence the degree of straw decomposition maturity during the pretreatment process [38]. For the group treated with the stem rot agent (BA1), pH level of the material was lower during the early stages and was even as low as 4.1 during the 5th day. The temperatures on the 3rd and 5th days were lower than the environmental temperature, thus restraining the growth of microorganism and negatively affecting the straw organic degradation. Complex microorganism agent- (BA4-) treated group could maintain a better living condition for microbe, and its treatment effect was superior to other bacterium agent treatments. Urea and sodium hydroxide are both alkaline and, hence, beneficial to the degradation of lignocellulose and hemicellulose. Studies results showed that sodium hydroxide treatment can improve the conversion rate of lignocelluloses [39-47]. Moreover, the results of the studies by Chandra and Jackson [29] and Chesson [48] suggested that the degradation of lignocellulose was optimal upon the addition of 10% of sodium hydroxide. During the pretreatment process, the TS contents of the urea and sodium hydroxide-treated groups were both high. These results indicate that, under alkaline conditions, the lignocellulose degradation rate is improved, macromolecular substances are decomposed, the water-holding capacity of straw is decreased, and the water content of straw is lower than those of other samples of equivalent weight. The sodium hydroxide-treated group had an obviously lower VS content than those of the other groups. However, its C/N ratio was higher. Thus, some restrictions were encountered when the group was used as fermented materials, and better effects could have been achieved by adding nitrogen to regulate the C/N ratio to a suitable value. The biogas-slurry-treated group was more suitable for use in microorganism anaerobic fermentation, with only modest changes in the material's characteristics and a suitable C/N ratio of 33.23. The control group had a lower pH level, temperature, and TS content. Its C/N ratio was higher, and the straw degradation was bad. Hence, its treatment effect was worse than those of the promoters.

#### **5. Conclusions**

Synthesizing each index of pretreatment material, it can be summarized that the effect of sodium hydroxide-pretreated group was better than any others, followed by urea-treated group. In biological pretreatment, biogas slurry was the best promoter, for its good corrosion effect, and more economic. BA4 also had a good effect on straw maturity, and the next is BA3 treated. BA1 treated was the worst group, because its microorganisms' survival conditions were limited by unsuited pH and temperature.

As compared with biological pretreatment, chemical treatment is easier to operate and has good effect. However, it will be a difficult and expensive task to recycle the chemicals used for the hydrolysis to avoid the environmental pollution. On the other hand, although the biological pretreatment was less effective than the sodium hydroxide and urea

treatment, there exists a big room for improvement of the microbial degradation of cellulosic biomass by optimization of the fungal growth conditions and manipulation of the process parameters such as pH and temperature. However, in order to approach the biomass-to-fuels issue in a more environmentally friendly way, we will continue to improve the efficiency of biological treatment of maize straw to optimize the biogas production.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was financially supported by China's Technology Support Project for the Eleventh Five-Year-Plan: Research and Demonstration of the Key Technology on the Sustainable Development of Resettlement Area in Sanjiangyuan (Grant no. 2009BAC61B04) and the Twelfth Five-Year-Plan: High-yielded Biogas Technology Integrated Demonstration on Mixing Materials (Grant no. 2011BAD15B03) and the Special Energy Project by China's Ministry of Agriculture in 2012.

#### References

- X. J. Li, B. Zhou, H. R. Yuan, Y. Z. Pang, and Y. Meng, "China biogas industry-challenges and future development," *Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 352–355, 2011.
- [2] Y. Z. Tu and Z. L. Wu, "Development report of China's biogas industry in 2010," Seminar corpus about methane development strategies and measures, 2010.
- [3] Y. Q. Zhan, "Application of new techniques in methanation with material of straw," *Renewable Energy Resources*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 100–101, 2007.
- [4] X. Z. Wang, "Discuss the causes and countermeasures of the declining use of methane in Pingan County," *China Biogas*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 47–48, 2007.
- [5] Y. C. Huang, Y. Y. Lai, H. F. Xiong, L. M. Wen, M. H. Li, and J. H. Lai, "Discussion on feed-liquid separation technology of biogas," *Energy Research and Management*, vol. 3, pp. 68–70, 2010.
- [6] L. Shi, Y. C. Zhao, and X. L. Chai, "Comprehensive utilization techniques progress of crop straws in China," *China Biogas*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 11–19, 2005.
- [7] P. D. Zhang, Y. L. Yang, and G. Q. Li, "Energy potentiality of crop straw resources in China," *Renewable Energy Resources*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 80–83, 2007.
- [8] X. J. Wang, G. H. Yang, Y. Z. Feng, G. X. Ren, and X. H. Han, "Optimizing feeding composition and carbon-nitrogen ratios for improved methane yield during anaerobic co-digestion of dairy, chicken manure and wheat straw," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 27, pp. 1048–1053, 2012.
- [9] Z. Y. Yan, Y. X. Yuan, X. F. Liu, Y. Z. Liao, and R. N. He, "A study on biogas fermentation with straws," *Journal of Sichuan Agricultural University*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 176–179, 2009.
- [10] L. G. Yan and J. W. Chen, Several Major Problems of China's Energy Sustainable Development, Science Press, 2007.
- [11] C. Z. Wu and L. L. Ma, Biomass Energy Modernization Utilization Technology, Chemical Industry Press, 2003.
- [12] K. Sheng and Y. L. Zhang, "On sustainable development of the rural marsh gas construction in China," *Journal of Huazhong Agricultural University*, no. 4, pp. 50–52, 2007.

- [13] R. F. Li, C. L. Lan, B. Ma, and B. F. Shi, "Research progress of crude material on methane ferment," *Chinese Agricultural Science Bulletin*, vol. 27, no. 30, pp. 1–5, 2011.
- [14] R. Liu, C. J. Wan, Q. Huang, and F. H. Huang, "Problem and prospect of pretreatment of straw," *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 88–91, 2009.
- [15] D. J. Hills and D. W. Roberts, "Anaerobic digestion of dairy manure and field crop residues," *Agricultural Wastes*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 179–189, 1981.
- [16] X. H. Chen and H. G. Zhu, "Research progress and prospect on producing biogas from crop straws," *Nongye Gongcheng Xuebao/Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 279–283, 2007.
- [17] Y. Wang, C. Lin, J. Hou, and Y. Hou, "Effects of bacterial protein and urea addition on straw anaerobic fermentation," *Nongye Gongcheng Xuebao/Transactions of the Chinese Society* of Agricultural Engineering, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 74–78, 2011.
- [18] R. Zhang and Z. Zhang, "Biogasification of rice straw with an anaerobic-phased solids digester system," *Bioresource Technol*ogy, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 235–245, 1999.
- [19] J.-X. Liu, Y.-M. Wu, and N.-Y. Xu, "Effects of ammonia bicarbonate treatment on kinetics of fiber digestion, nutrient digestibility and nitrogen utilization of rice straw by sheep," *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, vol. 52, no. 1-2, pp. 131– 139, 1995.
- [20] Lu Zhao Xin and M. Kumakura, "Effect of radiation pretreatment on enzymatic hydrolysis of rice straw with low concentrations of alkali solution," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 13–17, 1993.
- [21] M. M. Patel and R. M. Bhatt, "Optimisation of the alkaline peroxide pretreatment for the delignification of rice straw and its applications," *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 253–263, 1992.
- [22] C. Sankat and B. Lauckner, "The effect of ammonia treatment on the digestibility of rice straw under various process conditions," *Canadian Agricultural Engineering*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 309–314, 1991.
- [23] L. L. Chu, G. H. Yang, C. L. Zhang, G. X. Ren, and Y. Z. Feng, "The biogas production efficiency of crop straws at different temperature," *Agricultural Research in the Arid Areas*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 190–193, 199, 2008.
- [24] B. He and E. X. Huang, "A crop straw rotten microbial agent and preparation method," China Patent, 2008.
- [25] R. B. Duan, "Microbial decomposition agent and preparation method," China Patent, 2008.
- [26] M. L. Li, J. Gu, H. Gao, Q. J. Qin, and D. L. Liang, "Microorganism preparation agent for fast maturity of agricultural residue and preparation method," China Patent, 2011.
- [27] M. L. Li, J. Gu, and H. Gao, "Complex microorganism agent for fast maturity of agricultural residue and preparation method," China Patent, 2004.
- [28] Y. M. Ji, G. H. Yang, D. X. Yin, and J. J. Liu, "Effect of different pretreatments on biogas production characteristics of anaerobic fermentation of wheat straw," *Journal of Northwest A&F University*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 149–156, 2012.
- [29] S. Chandra and M. Jackson, "A study of various chemical treatments to remove lignin from coarse roughages and increase their digestibility," *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 11–17, 1971.
- [30] R. K. Wilson and W. J. Pigden, "Effect of sodium hydroxide treatment on the utilization of wheat straw and poplar wood by rumen microorganisms," *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 122–123, 1964.

- [32] L. W. Lian, X. L. Wan, X. M. Guo et al., Routine Analysis of Methane Ferment, 1984.
- [33] A. Cottenie, M. Verloo, L. Kiekens, G. Velghe, and R. Amerlynck, *Chemical Analysis of Plants and Soils*, Laboratory of Analytical and Agrochemistry State, University, Ghent, Belgium, 1982.
- [34] W. Zhong, Z. Zhang, W. Qiao, P. Fu, and M. Liu, "Comparison of chemical and biological pretreatment of corn straw for biogas production by anaerobic digestion," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 1875–1879, 2011.
- [35] F. Zucconi, A. Pera, M. Forte, and M. de Bertoldi, "Evaluating toxicity of immature compost," *BioCycle*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 54– 57, 1981.
- [36] C. Aparna, P. Saritha, V. Himabindu, and Y. Anjaneyulu, "Techniques for the evaluation of maturity for composts of industrially contaminated lake sediments," *Waste Management*, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 1773–1784, 2008.
- [37] M. Gómez-Brandón, C. Lazcano, and J. Domínguez, "The evaluation of stability and maturity during the composting of cattle manure," *Chemosphere*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 436–444, 2008.
  [38] R. Y. Huang, W. N. He, H. J. Tang et al., "Straws biogas
- [38] R. Y. Huang, W. N. He, H. J. Tang et al., "Straws biogas fermentation with bacterium additive pretreatment," *China Biogas*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 24–26, 2008.
- [39] R. W. Detroy, L. A. Lindenfelser, S. Sommer, and W. L. Orton, "Bioconversion of wheat straw to ethanol: chemical modification, enzymatic hydrolysis, and fermentation," *Biotechnology* and Bioengineering, vol. 23, pp. 1527–1535, 1981.
- [40] T. D. Nguyen, K. R. Kim, S. J. Han et al., "Pretreatment of rice straw with ammonia and ionic liquid for lignocellulose conversion to fermentable sugars," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 19, pp. 7432–7438, 2010.
- [41] J. Cai, L. Zhang, S. Liu et al., "Dynamic self-assembly induced rapid dissolution of cellulose at low temperatures," *Macromolecules*, vol. 41, no. 23, pp. 9345–9351, 2008.
- [42] S. Bower, R. Wickramasinghe, N. J. Nagle, and D. J. Schell, "Modeling sucrose hydrolysis in dilute sulfuric acid solutions at pretreatment conditions for lignocellulosic biomass," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 99, no. 15, pp. 7354–7362, 2008.
- [43] J. W. Lee and T. W. Jeffries, "Efficiencies of acid catalysts in the hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass over a range of combined severity factors," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 10, pp. 5884–5890, 2011.
- [44] A. M. J. Kootstra, H. H. Beeftink, E. L. Scott, and J. P. M. Sanders, "Optimization of the dilute maleic acid pretreatment of wheat straw," *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, vol. 2, article 31, 2009.
- [45] R. A. Silverstein, Y. Chen, R. R. Sharma-Shivappa, M. D. Boyette, and J. Osborne, "A comparison of chemical pretreatment methods for improving saccharification of cotton stalks," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 98, no. 16, pp. 3000–3011, 2007.
- [46] T. H. Kim, J. S. Kim, C. Sunwoo, and Y. Y. Lee, "Pretreatment of corn stover by aqueous ammonia," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 39–47, 2003.
- [47] K. C. Nlewem and M. E. Thrash, "Comparison of different pretreatment methods based on residual lignin effect on the enzymatic hydrolysis of switchgrass," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 14, pp. 5426–5430, 2010.
- [48] A. Chesson, "Effects of sodium hydroxide on cereal straws in relation to the enhanced degradation of structural polysaccharides by rumen microorganisms," *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, vol. 32, pp. 745–758, 1981.

## Research Article

# PHA Productivity and Yield of *Ralstonia eutropha* When Intermittently or Continuously Fed a Mixture of Short Chain Fatty Acids

#### Panchali Chakraborty,<sup>1</sup> Kasiviswanathan Muthukumarappan,<sup>1</sup> and William R. Gibbons<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, SAE 225/Box 2120, South Dakota State University, Brookings, SD 57006, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Biology and Microbiology, South Dakota State University, Brookings, SD 57006, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Kasiviswanathan Muthukumarappan, muthukum@sdstate.edu

Received 4 June 2012; Revised 1 August 2012; Accepted 2 August 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Panchali Chakraborty et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The research described in this present study was part of a larger effort focused on developing a dual substrate, dual fermentation process to produce Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA). The focus of this study was developing and optimizing a strategy for feeding a mixture of SCFAs (simulated ARF) and maximizing PHA production in a cost-effective way. Three different feeding strategies were examined in this study. The substrate evaluated in this study for the growth phase of *R. eutropha* was condensed corn solubles, a low-value byproduct of the dry-mill, corn ethanol industry. The culture was grown to high cell densities in nitrogen-supplemented condensed corn solubles media in 5 L bioreactors. The overall growth rate of *R. eutropha* was  $0.2 h^{-1}$ . The 20 mL ARF feeding every 3 h from 48 to 109 h strategy gave the best results in terms of PHA production. PHA productivity ( $0.0697 \text{ g L}^{-1} h^{-1}$ ), PHA concentration ( $8.37 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), and PHA content (39.52%) were the highest when ARF was fed every 3 h for 61 h. This study proved that condensed corn solubles can be potentially used as a growth medium to boost PHA production by *R. eutropha* thus reducing the overall cost of biopolymer production.

#### 1. Introduction

Biodegradable polymers made from renewable resources such as agricultural wastes, corn, cassava, tapioca, whey, and so forth, do not lead to depletion of finite resources. The most studied of the biodegradable polymers include polyesters, polylactides, aliphatic polyesters, polysaccharides, and various copolymers [1]. These biopolymers have many of the desirable physical and chemical properties of conventional synthetic polymers [2]. To this point, high production costs have limited the use of biopolymers. However if these costs can be reduced, there would be widespread economic interest [3].

The focus of this project was production of the biopolymer Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) at a low cost. PHA is actually a term used to describe a diverse family of polymers that are composed of 3-hydroxy fatty acid monomers. The carboxyl group of one monomer forms an ester bond with hydroxyl group of the neighboring monomer. Polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) has been studied in most detail. PHB has good oxygen impermeability, moisture resistance, water insolubility, and optical purity [4, 5]. Young's modulus and tensile strength of PHB are similar to polypropylene, but elongation at break is 6% as opposed to that of 400% for polypropylene [6]. It has good UV resistance, but poor resistance to acids and bases [7]. The oxygen permeability is very low, making PHB a suitable material for use in packaging oxygen-sensitive products. PHB has low water vapor permeability compared to other bio-based polymers but higher than most standard polyolefins and synthetic polyesters [5, 8]. Since PHB is toxicologically safe, it can be used for articles which come into contact with skin, feed, or food [9].

In the food industry, PHA has a wide application as edible packaging material, coating agent, flavor delivery agent, and as dairy cream substitute [10, 11]. It can also be used for making bottles, cosmetics, containers, pens, golf tees, films, adhesives and nonwoven fabrics, toner, and developer compositions, ion-conducting polymers, and as latex for paper coating applications [12, 13]. It can be used to make laminates with other polymers such as polyvinyl alcohol. The degradation products of PHB are found in large concentrations in human-blood plasma, so is not toxic for human use [14].

PHA production by *Ralstonia eutropha* (*R. eutropha*) generally occurs during stationary phase. Hence cells are first grown to high density, after which a key nutrient is limited to trigger PHA synthesis [14]. Because of this dual phase process, PHA production lends itself to fed-batch, as well as, continuous operation. This follows Pontryagin's maximum principle, which is an optimal feeding strategy for fed-batch fermentation [15]. The key to this principle is determining the optimum switching time ( $t_c$ ). The maximum growth rate ( $\mu_{max}$ ) should be initially maintained, then switched to the critical growth rate ( $\mu_{c}$ ) at  $t_c$  to maximize the specific product production rate ( $\rho_{max}$ ). Since growth rate is affected by Carbon : Nitrogen (C : N) ratio, it should also be changed at  $t_c$ .

A variety of carbon sources have been used for production of PHA using different fermentation strategies. Carbohydrates, oils, alcohols, fatty acids, and hydrocarbons are potential carbon sources for PHA production. Ethanol byproducts, cane and beet molasses, cheese whey, plant oils, hydrolysates of corn, cellulose, hemicellulose, palm oil, soybean oil, tallow, corn steep liquor, casamino acids, and food scraps had been used as substrates to produce PHA using different organisms [16–21].

The substrate evaluated in this study for the growth phase of *R. eutropha* was condensed corn solubles (CCS), which is a low-value byproduct of the dry-mill, corn ethanol industry. In the dry mill process, the whole corn is milled, mixed with water, and enzymatically hydrolyzed to convert starch to glucose, which is converted to ethanol by fermentation. After distillation to remove ethanol, the larger corn particles are recovered by centrifugation as distiller's wet grains. The supernatant is condensed in multiple-effect evaporators to give condensed corn solubles [22].

The composition of CCS is shown in Table 1. Cornmilling byproducts are typically marketed as animal feed because of their protein content. However, these byproducts may also contain residual carbohydrates, which might be utilized by microbial fermentation to produce industrial biopolymers. CCS is an excellent source of vitamins and minerals, including phosphorous and potassium.

The objective of this study was to determine the effects of adding artificial rumen fluid (ARF) on cell viability, growth as well as PHA production to a 48 h culture of *R. eutropha*. Different strategies of feeding simulated ARF into the bioreactors were assessed to maximize PHA production.

TABLE 1: CCS composition from a dry mill ethanol plant.

Components	CCS
Dry matter %	34.9
Crude protein %	13.7
Crude fat (ether extract) %	16.2
Ash %	9.5
Crude fiber %	0.8
Copper ppm	8.3
Sodium ppm	5,620
Calcium ppm	487
Magnesium ppm	6,850
Zinc ppm	49
Phosphorus ppm	15,400
Potassium ppm	22,900

Composition is on dry matter basis.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Culture, Maintenance, and Inoculum Propagation. The ATCC 17699 type strain of *R. eutropha* was used. The culture was routinely transferred to nutrient broth and incubated on a reciprocating shaker (250 rpm) at 30°C for 24 h. For short-term maintenance, the culture was stored on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) slants covered with mineral oil and stored in the refrigerator. Inoculum for all trials was prepared in a stepwise manner, by transferring the culture from TSA plates into 100 ml of the CCS medium (described below), then incubating for 24 h on a rotary shaker (250 rpm) at 30°C. The inoculum rate for all bioreactor trials was 1% (v v<sup>-1</sup>) from a 24 h grown culture to an average OD of 1.04.

2.2. Medium. A low-cost medium based on CCS was developed in a prior study [23]. This medium, containing 240 g CCS L<sup>-1</sup>, with a C:N ratio of 50:1 was the best medium for the growth of *R. eutropha*. The medium was prepared by mixing 1,370 mL CCS with 4,630 mL deionized water, adjusting the pH to 6.5 using 10 M sodium hydroxide (NaOH), then centrifuging at 11,000 rpm for 7 min at 15–25°C. The supernatant was then filtered through Whatman filter paper #113 and autoclaved. A filter sterilized 178 g L<sup>-1</sup> ammonium bicarbonate (NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub>) stock solution was prepared and then 20.4 mL of this solution was added to each liter of CCS medium to adjust the C:N ratio to 50:1. The pH was further adjusted to 7.0 by adding 10 N sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) before inoculation.

2.3. Fermentation Conditions for Cultivation of R. eutropha in Bioreactor. Experimental trials were conducted in 5 L New Brunswick, Bioflo III, Edison, NJ bioreactor that contained 4 L of CCS medium. Filter sterilized air  $(1 L L^{-1} min^{-1})$ was sparged into the bioreactor, and 2-3 mL of antifoam (Cognis Clerol FBA 5059, Cognis, Cincinnati, OH) were added to the medium before inoculation. Fermentation medium was incubated at 30°C and 500 rpm for 48 h, since prior research had shown *R. eutropha* to reach its maximum population by this time/temperature combination [23].

At 48 h we began feeding the fermenter a mixed shortchain fatty acid (SCFA) solution, using any of the three different strategies. This SCFA solution, referred to as ARF, contained 10 parts acetic, 2 parts butyric, 15 parts lactic, and 20 parts propionic acids  $(vv^{-1})$ . The composition of ARF was based on a separate study evaluating fermentation of biomass with rumen consortia. A total volume of 372 mL of ARF was fed to the culture over a period of 48 h. In the first feeding strategy (24 h feeding), 124 mL of ARF was added at 48, 72, and 96 h. In the second feeding strategy (3 h feeding), 20 mL ARF was added at 48 h and then every 3 h until 109 h. In the third feeding strategy (continuous feeding), ARF was continuously added from 48 to 96 h at a rate of  $7.75 \text{ mL h}^{-1}$ . All incubations were continued until 144 h. Two replications were performed for each feeding strategy to determine the effect of mixed fatty acids on cell viability, acid utilization, and PHA production.

#### 2.4. Analytical Methods

2.4.1. Viable Counts, Cell Dry Weights, pH, HPLC, and Ammonium/Phosphate Analysis. Samples were collected every 12 h and viable cell counts were done with TSA. At 72, 96, and 144 h, 50 mL samples were collected to determine cell dry weights. Samples were centrifuged and the precipitate was dried in the hot air oven at 80°C for 2 days. pH was measured using an Acumet 950 pH meter (Thermo Fisher Scientific of Waltham, MA). Samples were also analyzed via a Waters HPLC system (Milford, MA) for sugars, organic acids and glycerol. These samples were first filtered through a nonsterile  $0.2 \,\mu m$  filter to remove solids, and then frozen until analysis. An Aminex HPX 87H column (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA), operated at 65°C with a helium-degassed, 4 mM H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> mobile phase at a flow rate of 0.6 mL min<sup>-1</sup> was used. Peaks were detected using a refractive index detector. Standard solutions of maltose, glucose, lactic acid, butyric acid, acetic acid, propionic acid, succinic acid, and glycerol (at 3 and  $30 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ) were used to calibrate the integrator. Samples collected at 0, 72, and 120 h were also tested for ammonia and phosphate using Hach Ammonium and Phosphate Unicell tests (Hach Company, Loveland, Colorado).

2.4.2. PHA Analysis. To measure PHA, 50 mL samples of broth were collected at 72, 96, and 144 h and centrifuged. The pellets were then lyophilized and ground using a mortar and pestle. The method developed by Braunegg et al. [24] was used to simultaneously extract and derivatize PHA to the 3-hydroxyalkanoate methyl esters of the monomers. In this method, 20–30 mg of ground cells were digested by adding 5 mL of digest solution and incubating at 90–100°C for 4 h. The digest solution contained 50% chloroform, 42.5% methanol, 7.5% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (v v<sup>-1</sup>). After cooling, sample was washed with 2 mL of water, and the bottom layer (containing the chloroform and methyl esters of PHA) was collected and placed in a Gas Chromatography (GC) vial with anhydrous sodium sulfate (to remove residual water). Vials were frozen until analysis.

PHA was quantified using a Hewlett-Packard 5890 Series II (Palo Alto, CA) GC with a flame ionization detector (GC-FID) [24, 25]. Split injection was used onto a Supelco SSP-2380 (Park Bellefonte, PA) capillary column ( $30 \,\mathrm{m} \times$ 0.25 mm I.D. with 0.20 um film). The inlet head pressure was maintained at 28 psi, and the temperature program started at 50°C for 4 min, then increased by 3°C min<sup>-1</sup> to a final temperature of 146°C for 4 min. The injector and detector temperatures were 230°C and 240°C, respectively. Purified poly (3-hydroxybutyric acid co-3-hydroxyvaleric acid) (P(HB-HV)) obtained from Sigma-Aldrich was used for a standard calibration. The copolymer consisted of 88% 3-hydroxybutyric acid (3-HB) and 12% 3-hydroxyvaleric acid (3-HV). Copolymer concentrations of  $2-10 \text{ mg mL}^{-1}$ were digested as above, and then analyzed by GC-FID. Retention times were 14.9 min for methylated 3-HB, and 17.8 min for methylated 3-HV.

2.5. Statistical Analysis. All trials were performed in duplicates. Various fermentation parameters (maximum cell populations, SCFA utilization rates, PHA productivity, etc.) were analyzed to determine least significant differences between treatments using randomized complete block design. Fermentation efficiency (FE) was calculated as the percentage of substrate supplied to that was consumed. PHA productivity was calculated as the concentration of PHA produced per hour whereas PHA content was determined as a percentage of PHA concentration over cell dry weight. Data were analyzed using the PROC GLM procedure of SAS software to determine F values and least squares (LS) means. Exponential regression equations were used to determine growth rates and acid utilization rates for each replication, from which means were calculated. They were statistically analyzed by ANCOVA to test homogeneity of slopes. Statistical data were analyzed at the significant level of P < 0.05.

#### 3. Results

In all bioreactor trials, the organism was incubated under similar conditions ( $30^{\circ}$ C, 500 rpm, and aeration at  $1 \text{ LL}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1}$ ) for the first 48 h, and this data was relatively uniform. Figure 1 and Table 2 show the average cell population, growth rate, acid utilization, and ammonia and phosphate uptake rates during this growth period.

Compared to shake flasks trials (Table 3), the maximum cell population in bioreactor trials was almost 10-fold higher  $(2.3 \times 10^{10} \text{ cfu mL}^{-1})$ . Likewise, the growth rate of *R. eutropha* was also higher in the bioreactor  $(0.20 \text{ h}^{-1})$  compared to the aerated shake flasks  $(0.13 \text{ h}^{-1})$ . In the shake flask trials, lactic acid was consumed at the fastest rate followed by acetic, butyric, succinic, and propionic acids. In the bioreactors, the organic acid utilization rates in the growth phase were generally similar to shake flask trials except for lactic acid. It was consumed slower than acetic acid. Overall acid utilization rates were higher in the bioreactors than in shake flasks probably due to the higher cell population. Percentage

Phosphate utilization rate $(mg L^{-1} h^{-1})$	
0.023	
Succinic	
0.027	
Succinic	
71.2	

TABLE 2: Average growth and nutrient utilization rates of *R. eutropha* in CCS medium through 48 h in biorector.

TABLE 3: Average growth and nutrient utilization rates of *R. eutropha* in CCS medium through 48 h in shake flasks.

Maximum cell population (cfu mL <sup>-1</sup> )		$\begin{array}{c} \text{Maximum growth} \\ \text{rate} \ (h^{-1}) \end{array}$	Ammonia utilization rate $(mg L^{-1} h^{-1})$	Phosphate utilization rate $(mg L^{-1} h^{-1})$
$2.6 \times 10^{9}$		0.13	1.7	0.022
		SCFA utilization rate $(g L^{-1} h^{-1})$		
Acetic	Butyric	Lactic	Propionic	Succinic
0.033	0.026	0.054	0.010	0.021
		SCFA FE (%)		
Acetic	Butyric	Lactic	Propionic	Succinic
77.6	76.2	94.2	35.6	62.7



FIGURE 1: Average growth rate and organic acid utilization during the initial 48 h incubation in the CCS medium. The values for average cell count ( $\blacksquare$ ), acetic acid utilization ( $\triangle$ ), butyric acid utilization ( $\Diamond$ ), lactic acid utilization ( $\square$ ) propionic acid utilization, ( $\blacktriangle$ ) and succinic acid utilization ( $\times$ ) are indicated. Values are the means of two replications with standard deviation showed by error bars.

1E+11 9 population (cfu mL<sup>-1</sup>) 8 1E+10 7 Concentration (g L<sup>-1</sup>) 6 1E+09 5 4 1E+083 Cell 2 1E+07 0 1E+06 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 0 Time (h)

FIGURE 2: Acid utilization and growth of *Ralstonia eutropha* with 24 h interval additions of ARF. The values for cell count ( $\blacksquare$ ), acetic acid utilization ( $\triangle$ ), butyric acid utilization ( $\Diamond$ ), lactic acid utilization ( $\Box$ ), propionic acid utilization ( $\blacktriangle$ ), succinic acid utilization ( $\times$ ), and PHA concentration (O) are indicated. Values are the means of two replications with standard deviation showed by error bars.

acid consumptions were also higher in the bioreactor with the exception of lactic acid. Ammonia and phosphate usage rates were higher in bioreactor trials again due to the higher cell population.

Three ARF-feeding strategies were compared in this study. Figures 2, 3, and 4 show that ARF feeding resulted in a slight increase in cell populations. The effects of different feeding strategies on maximum cell population, and ammonia and phosphate utilization rates are shown in Table 4. The maximum cell populations were not significantly different between the three treatments. In all cases, the cell population continued to rise after ARF additions began, suggesting that the acid levels were not inhibitory. The rates of ammonia utilization and phosphate utilization were similar for all feeding strategies.

As expected, the 24 h addition method (Figure 2) resulted in the highest spikes in SCFA concentration, with acid levels then falling as *R. eutropha* metabolized the acids to

Vou naramatara		Feeding strategies	
Key parameters	24 h addition	3 h addition	Continuous addition
Cell population at 48 h (CFU <sup>-1</sup> mL)	$4.28 imes10^{10a}$	$1.70  imes 10^{10b}$	$1.01 imes 10^{10b}$
Maximum cell population (CFU <sup>-1</sup> mL)	$5.03 imes10^{10a}$	$5.68 imes10^{10a}$	$5.47 imes10^{10a}$
Ammonia utilization rate (g <sup>-1</sup> L <sup>-1</sup> h)	1.2ª	$1.0^{a}$	1.1 <sup>a</sup>
Phosphate utilization rate $(g^{-1} L^{-1} h)$	0.010 <sup>a</sup>	0.013 <sup>a</sup>	0.011ª
Acid utilization $(g^{-1} L^{-1} h)$			
Acetic	0.029 <sup>a</sup>	$0.052^{\rm b}$	$0.047^{b}$
Butyric	0.009 <sup>a</sup>	0.010 <sup>a</sup>	$0.014^{a}$
Lactic	$0.074^{a}$	$0.080^{a}$	$0.078^{a}$
Propionic	0.077 <sup>a</sup>	0.083 <sup>a</sup>	$0.080^{a}$
Combined	0.20 <sup>a</sup>	0.25 <sup>b</sup>	$0.24^{\mathrm{b}}$
Fermentation efficiency (%)			
Acetic	58.8ª	$100^{b}$	98.7 <sup>b</sup>
Butyric	94.7ª	100 <sup>b</sup>	100 <sup>b</sup>
Lactic	100 <sup>a</sup>	100 <sup>a</sup>	100 <sup>a</sup>
Propionic	95.7ª	100 <sup>b</sup>	95ª
Combined	82.7ª	100 <sup>b</sup>	97.8 <sup>b</sup>
PHA production			
Cell dry weight $(g^{-1} L)$	17.6 <sup>a</sup>	21.13 <sup>a</sup>	17.3ª
PHA concentration $(g^{-1} L)$	6.42 <sup>a</sup>	8.37 <sup>a</sup>	6.67 <sup>a</sup>
PHA productivity $(g^{-1} L^{-1} h)$	0.0537ª	$0.0697^{b}$	$0.056^{a}$
PHA content (%)	36.23ª	39.52ª	37.78 <sup>a</sup>

TABLE 4: Comparison of all the key parameters under different ARF feeding strategies.

 $^{\rm a,b,c}$  Means within column not sharing common superscript differ significantly (P < 0.05).



FIGURE 3: Acid utilization and growth of *Ralstonia eutropha* with 3 h interval additions of ARF. The values for cell count ( $\blacksquare$ ), acetic acid utilization ( $\triangle$ ), butyric acid utilization ( $\Diamond$ ), lactic acid utilization ( $\square$ ), propionic acid utilization ( $\blacktriangle$ ), succinic acid utilization ( $\times$ ), and PHA concentration (O) are indicated. Values are the means of two replications with standard deviation showed by error bars.

PHA. There was no apparent accumulation of lactic, butyric, or succinic acids for the 24 h feeding strategy. However, acetic acid ( $2.3 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), and to a lesser extent propionic acid ( $0.5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), had accumulated over time. All the SCFAs were completely utilized by 144 h for the 3h feeding strategy. For the continuous-feeding strategy, all the SCFAs were consumed by 144 h with the exception of propionic acid ( $0.5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ).



FIGURE 4: Acid utilization and growth of *Ralstonia eutropha* with continuous ARF addition. The values for cell count ( $\blacksquare$ ), acetic acid utilization ( $\triangle$ ), butyric acid utilization ( $\Diamond$ ), lactic acid utilization ( $\square$ ), propionic acid utilization ( $\blacktriangle$ ), succinic acid utilization ( $\times$ ), and PHA concentration (O) are indicated. Values are the means of two replications with standard deviation shown by error bars.

Utilization rates of the individual SCFAs during the final 96 h of fermentation (48 to 144 h), along with the combined acid utilization rates, are shown in Table 4. The combined utilization rate also included consumption of succinic acid that was already present in the CCS medium. The highest combined acid utilization rates were observed in the 3 h and

TABLE 5: Comparison of combined short fatty acid feeding of Ralstonia eutropha in shake flasks.

Parameters	Volatile fatty acid					
rarameters	Acetic $(5 g L^{-1})$	Butyric $(5 \text{ g } \text{L}^{-1})$	Lactic $(8 \text{ g } \text{L}^{-1})$	Propionic $(5 g L^{-1})$		
Maximum cell population (cfu mL <sup>-1</sup> )	$5.70  imes 10^{9a}$	$6.17  imes 10^{9ab}$	$5.32  imes 10^{9a}$	$6.67 imes10^{9b}$		
Fermentation efficiency (%)	70.6 <sup>a</sup>	95.6 <sup>b</sup>	70.7 <sup>a</sup>	68.6 <sup>a</sup>		
Acid utilization rate $(g L^{-1} h^{-1})$	$0.048^{a}$	0.041 <sup>a</sup>	$0.080^{b}$	$0.046^{a}$		
PHA concentration $(g L^{-1})$	2.9 <sup>ab</sup>	4.6 <sup>a</sup>	2.4 <sup>b</sup>	4.3ª		
Cell dry weight $(g L^{-1})$	9.9 <sup>ab</sup>	14.5 <sup>b</sup>	6.0 <sup>a</sup>	14.7 <sup>b</sup>		
PHA productivity $(g L^{-1} h^{-1})$	$0.024^{ab}$	0.037 <sup>a</sup>	$0.020^{b}$	0.036 <sup>a</sup>		
PHA content (%)	29.2ª	31.9 <sup>a</sup>	30.7 <sup>a</sup>	29.3ª		

 $^{\rm a,b}$  Means within column not sharing common superscript differ significantly (P < 0.05).

continuous feeding strategies, with the lowest rate in the 24 h feeding method.

The trend of higher acid utilization rates with the 3 h and continuous feeding methods also evident for the individual acids. However, the difference was only significant for acetic acid. Propionic and lactic acids were used most rapidly followed by acetic and butyric acid.

Table 4 also shows the FEs of the four SCFAs, along with the combined FE. The 3 h and continuous-feeding strategies resulted in the highest combined FE, while the lowest occurred with the 24 h feeding method. This is consistent with the lower acid utilization rates observed with the 24 h feeding strategy.

In comparing the individual acids, lactic acid was consumed completely, with greater than 95% utilization of propionic and butyric acids. FEs were higher for all the acids in the bioreactor trials compared to the prior shake-flask trials (Table 5).

Cell dry weights and PHA production parameters for the different ARF-feeding strategies are provided in Table 4. The 3 h feeding strategy resulted in the highest cell dry weight, PHA concentration, and PHA content, but the values were not significantly different from the other feeding strategies. Only the PHA productivity for the 3 h feeding strategy was significantly higher. Cell dry weight and PHA production were much higher than that obtained during the shake-flask trials. The highest PHA concentration in the cells in the shake-flask trials was  $4.6 \text{ g L}^{-1}$  (Table 5), whereas in the fermenter trials, the PHA concentration of the cells was about 1.82 times higher [23].

#### 4. Discussion

Typically, PHA production occurs during stationary phase. Hence cells are first grown through exponential phase in a balanced medium to maximize growth rate. This medium is formulated to run out of a key nutrient when the maximum cell population is achieved, then additional carbon is added by fed-batch or continuous mode to maximize PHA production [26].

In this study, nitrogen deficiency was used to trigger PHA production in the presence of excess carbon. Nitrogensupplemented CCS medium resulted in better growth of R. eutropha in the bioreactors as compared to the shake flasks due to the improved aeration and agitation provided in the bioreactor, along with more consistent pH control. The organism continued to grow after the SCFAs were added at 48 h. This growth was supported by the residual ammonia and phosphorus present in the medium. The organism reached its stationary phase by 96 h when most of the ammonia and phosphorous present in the medium were consumed. Ideally, one or both of these nutrients becomes limiting at the end of exponential phase, to trigger the shift from reproductive metabolism to PHA synthesis [26]. Because nitrogen and phosphate were not depleted until 72 h, this could have contributed to the continued increase in cell numbers observed after 48 h. It is likely that at least some of the SCFAs fed at 48 h were utilized for growth, until the point at which nitrogen became limiting. Researchers have found that the complete lack of nitrogen may suppress enzyme activity in PHA synthesis [27]. Thus, a small amount of ammonia in the media might be necessary to trigger PHA synthesis.

The utilization rate of lactic acid in the initial 48 h was lower than that of acetic acid probably due to higher concentration of lactic acid  $(1.6 \text{ g L}^{-1})$  in the bioreactor media compared to the shake-flask media  $(1 \text{ g L}^{-1})$ . This variation was due to the different batches of CCS obtained from the ethanol plant.

In this study, fed-batch (24 h feeding) and continuousfeeding strategies were chosen to determine their effect on PHA production. The lowest acid utilization rates and FEs were observed for the 24h feeding strategy due to the periodic spikes in SCFA concentrations, that might have disrupted the acid utilization and decreased cell activity. At high SCFA concentration the pH of the medium can reach below the pKas for SCFAs (lactic 3.86, acetic 4.76, butyric 4.83, and propionic 4.87). At low pHs the undissociated form predominates, and the SCFAs readily cross the cell membrane. Once inside, they rapidly dissociate and acidify the cytoplasm [28]. As a result, the proton gradient cannot be maintained as desired, and energy generation and transport systems dependent on proton gradient are disrupted [29]. This can also cause an increase in osmotic pressure due to the accumulation of anions [30]. At pH levels closer to the optimum for R eutropha ( $\sim$ 7.0), SCFAs would be in the dissociated form in the medium. While the anions wouldn't be transported as readily, once inside the cell they would not cause the adverse effects of the undissociated form. Therefore, SCFAs can only be effective carbon sources when pH and SCFA concentrations are carefully regulated. Acid utilization rates might have also been reduced by depletion of certain acids at the end of each 24 h phase.

For the continuous strategy, small volumes of the SCFAs were fed continuously. Though FEs of the SCFAs were higher than that of the 24 h feeding strategy, there were slight accumulations in SCFAs towards the end of the fermentation.

It was thus necessary to develop an optimal feeding strategy which could potentially increase acid utilizations and FEs. The 3 h feeding strategy was thus chosen. Since the SCFAs were added in smaller doses at shorter intervals, pH of the medium was more efficiently regulated, which resulted in better utilization and 100% FE of the organic acids.

In comparison to the prior aerated shake-flasks trials (Table 5), which were fed with individual SCFAs, the addition of mixed acids to the bioreactor resulted in more rapid uptake of propionic acid and slower utilization of butyric acid. Propionate utilization rate rose from  $0.046 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{L}^{-1}\,\mathrm{h}^{-1}$ in aerated shake flasks [23] to approximately  $0.08 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$ when added as a part of the ARF mixture in the bioreactor trials. This was likely due to the higher cell populations achieved in the bioreactor trials coupled with the fact that proprionate utilization by R. eutropha is energetically favorable [31]. Moreover, addition of propionic acid in small doses might have controlled the change in pH, and thus resulted in better utilization. The decline in the utilization rate of butyric acid, from  $0.041 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{L}^{-1}\,\mathrm{h}^{-1}$  when fed individually in aerated shake flasks to  $0.011 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$  in bioreactor trials, may have been due to additional ATP needed to transport this acid [32, 33]. Thus utilization of other acids was preferred over butyric acid when fed as a mixture for growth.

The high FEs for lactic and propionic acids were consistent with the metabolic preference of *R. eutropha*, especially considering that the ARF contained 15 and 20 g L<sup>-1</sup> of these acids, respectively. The high FE of butyric acid may be due to the fact that ARF contained only 2 g L<sup>-1</sup> of this acid. While conducting the shake-flask trials, we had previously noted that *R. eutropha* did not prefer acetic acid, therefore its lower FE was not surprising.

Thus, it can be concluded that in the 24 h strategy the sudden rise in the SCFA concentrations must have lowered the pH by accumulation of acid. This might have caused decrease in acid consumption, FE, and PHA productivity. Though the dosages of acids were small for the continuous feeding, continuous addition might have lowered the efficiency of the process. The smaller dosage and the fed-batch mode of the 3 h feeding strategy might have resulted in better control of pH and of catabolite repression. So the optimized growth conditions (as discussed before) for the organism and 3h feeding strategy of ARF addition was considered the best to obtain optimum PHA production by the organism.

Yu et al. suggested [31] in their study that an average yield of PHA was  $0.39 \,\mathrm{g \, g^{-1}}$  of carbon sources (acetic, butyric, and propionic acids). In the current study the highest yield of about  $0.2 \,\mathrm{g \, g^{-1}}$  was observed when the 3 h

feeding strategy was used. Investigators have reported that inexpensive carbon sources lead to low PHA productivity due to inefficient utilization of nutrients by organisms [34– 36]. A majority of carbon sources was probably utilized to generate energy for cell maintenance.

Wild-type strain of *R. eutropha* used in this study was not able to use glucose and did not completely utilize the high amount of glycerol present in the CCS medium. Recombinant microorganisms can be used to increase growth rate and nutrient utilization. PHA biosynthesis genes can be inserted in organisms that have wider range of utilizable substrates to increase PHA productivity and PHA content. For example, the recombinant strains of *R. eutropha* (H16) containing glucose-utilizing genes of *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), and *E. coli* harboring the *R. eutropha* genes had higher PHA productivity and concentration as compared to the wild-type strain [14, 34].

#### 5. Conclusion

Since the carbon source is a major contributor to PHA cost, inexpensive sources of carbon are important. From an economical point of view, the use of purified media to increase PHA yield will significantly increase the production cost. This study showed that R. eutropha is capable of growing in CCS medium, a low-value byproduct of ethanol industry. We also concluded that mixture of SCFAs in the same compositional ratios of ARF was not inhibitory when added at stationary phase of growth. SCFAs can be diverted toward PHA production by R. eutropha. As the use of purified SCFAs is cost prohibitive, developing a mixed culture system to produce a mixture of SCFAs from another ethanol industry byproduct is highly cost-effective. Thus utilization of inexpensive carbon sources may lead to economically viable PHA production in future when superior genetics and fermentation strategies are applied together.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was funded by South Dakota Corn Utilization Council and the Agricultural Experiment Station.

#### References

- D. Byrom, "Production of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate: poly-βhydroxyvalerate copolymers," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 103, no. 2-4, pp. 247–250, 1992.
- [2] W. Amass, A. Amass, and B. Tighe, "A review of biodegradable polymers: uses, current developments in the synthesis and characterization of biodegradable polyesters, blends of biodegradable polymers and recent advances in biodegradation studies," *Polymer International*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 89–144, 1998.
- [3] H. Nishida and Y. Tokiwa, "Effects of higher-order structure of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) on its biodegradation. I. Effects of heat treatment on microbial degradation," *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, vol. 46, no. 8, pp. 1467–1476, 1992.
- [4] P. A. Holmes, "Biologically produced PHA polymers and copolymers," in *Developments in Crystalline Polymers*, D. C. Bassett, Ed., pp. 1–65, Elsevier, London, UK, 1988.

- [5] K. Lindsay, "Truly biodegradable resins are now truly commercial," *Modern Plastics*, vol. 396, pp. 62–64, 1992.
- [6] T. V. Ojumu, J. Yu, and B. O. Solomon, "Production of polyhydroxyalkanoates, a bacterial biodegradable polymer," *African Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 18–24, 2004.
- [7] R. J. Helleur, "Pyrolysis gas chromatography for the rapid characterization of bacterial poly (β-hydroxybutyrate-co-βhydroxyvalerate)," *Polymer Preprints*, vol. 29, pp. 609–610, 1988.
- [8] U. J. Hanggi, "Pilot scale production of PHB with Alcaligenes latus," in Novel Biodegradable Microbial Polymers, E. A. Dawes, Ed., pp. 65–70, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1990.
- [9] M. Crank, M. Patel, F. M. Weideman, J. Schleich, B. Husing, and G. Angerer, "Techno-economic feasibility of largescale production of bio-based polymers in Europe (PRO-BIP)," Final Report, The European Commission's Institute for Prospective Technological Studies (IPTS), Sevilla, Spain, 2004.
- [10] S. F. Williams and O. P. Peoples, "Biodegradable plastics from plants," *Chemtech*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 38–44, 1996.
- [11] W. S. Ahn, S. J. Park, and S. Y. Lee, "Production of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) by fed-batch culture of recombinant *Escherichia coli* with a highly concentrated whey solution," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 3624–3627, 2000.
- [12] D. R. Rutherford, W. J. Hammer, and G. N. Babu, "Poly(βhydroxyorganoate) pressure sensitive adhesive compositions," U.S. Patent 5614576, 1997.
- [13] M. L. Steel and P. Norton-Berry, "Non-woven fibrous materials," U.S. Patent 4603070, 1986.
- [14] S. Y. Lee, "Plastic bacteria? Progress and prospects for polyhydroxyalkanoate production in bacteria," *Trends in Biotechnol*ogy, vol. 14, no. 11, pp. 431–438, 1996.
- [15] S. Shioya, "Optimization and control in fed-batch bioreactors," in *Advances in Biochemical Engineering*, A. Fichter, Ed., Springer, Berlin, Germany, 1992.
- [16] G. Du and J. Yu, "Green technology for conversion of food scraps to biodegradable thermoplastic polyhydroxyalkanoates," *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 36, no. 24, pp. 5511–5516, 2002.
- [17] P. Kahar, T. Tsuge, K. Taguchi, and Y. Doi, "High yield production of polyhydroxyalkanoates from soybean oil by *Ralstonia eutropha* and its recombinant strain," *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 79–86, 2004.
- [18] M. Koller, R. Bona, C. Hermann et al., "Biotechnological production of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) with *Wautersia eutropha* by application of green grass juice and silage juice as additional complex substrates," *Biocatalysis and Biotransformation*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 329–337, 2005.
- [19] C. Y. Loo, W. H. Lee, T. Tsuge, Y. Doi, and K. Sudesh, "Biosynthesis and characterization of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyhexanoate) from palm oil products in a *Wautersia eutropha* mutant," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 27, no. 18, pp. 1405–1410, 2005.
- [20] C. Marangoni, A. Furigo Jr., and G. M. F. Aragão, "The influence of substrate source on the growth of *Ralstonia eutropha*, aiming at the production of polyhydroxyalkanoate," *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 175–180, 2001.
- [21] I. Taniguchi, K. Kagotani, and Y. Kimura, "Microbial production of poly(hydroxyalkanoate)s from waste edible oils," *Green Chemistry*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 545–548, 2003.

- [22] J. Jerke, Production of pullulan by Aureobasidium pullulans using condensed corn solubles [M.S. thesis], South Dakota State University, 2001.
- [23] P. Chakraborty, W. Gibbons, and K. Muthukumarappan, "Conversion of short chain fatty acids into polyhydroxyalkanoateby *Ralstonia eutropha*," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 361, pp. 1995–2004, 2009.
- [24] G. Braunegg, B. Sonnleitner, and R. M. Lafferty, "A rapid gas chromatographic method for the determination of poly  $\beta$  hydroxybutyric acid in microbial biomass," *European Journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 29–37, 1978.
- [25] Y. Comeau, K. J. Hall, and W. K. Oldham, "Determination of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate and poly-β-hydroxyvalerate in activated sludge by gas-liquid chromatography," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 2325–2327, 1988.
- [26] L. L. Madison and G. W. Huisman, "Metabolic engineering of poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates): from DNA to plastic," *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 21–53, 1999.
- [27] H. Shimizu, Kozaki, Y. Kodama H, and S. Shioya, "Maximum production strategy for biodegradable copolymer P, (HB-co-HV) in fed-batch culture of *Alcaligenes eutrophus*," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 62, no. 5, pp. 518–525, 1999.
- [28] C. V. Salmond, R. G. Kroll, and I. R. Booth, "The effect of food preservatives on pH homeostasis in *Escherichia coli*," *Journal of General Microbiology*, vol. 130, no. 11, pp. 2845–2850, 1984.
- [29] H. G. Lawford and J. D. Rousseau, "Effects of pH and acetic acid on glucose and xylose metabolism by a genetically engineered ethanologenic *Escherichia coli*," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 39-40, no. 1, pp. 301–322, 1993.
- [30] A. J. Roe, D. McLaggan, I. Davidson, C. O'Byrne, and I. R. Booth, "Perturbation of anion balance during inhibition of growth of *Escherichia coli* by weak acids," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 180, no. 4, pp. 767–772, 1998.
- [31] J. Yu, Y. Si, W. Keung, and R. Wong, "Kinetics modeling of inhibition and utilization of mixed volatile fatty acids in the formation of polyhydroxyalkanoates by *Ralstonia eutropha*," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 731–738, 2002.
- [32] L. Shang, M. Jiang, and H. N. Chang, "Poly(3hydroxybutyrate) synthesis in fed-batch culture of *Ralstonia eutropha* with phosphate limitation under different glucose concentrations," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 25, no. 17, pp. 1415–1419, 2003.
- [33] H. Shi, M. Shiraishi, and K. Shimizu, "Metabolic flux analysis for biosynthesis of poly(β-Hydroxybutyric acid) in *Alcaligenes eutrophus* from various carbon sources," *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 579–587, 1997.
- [34] S. Y. Lee, J. I. Choi, and H. H. Wong, "Recent advances in polyhydroxyalkanoate production by bacterial fermentation: minireview," *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, vol. 25, no. 1–3, pp. 31–36, 1999.
- [35] T. Tsuge, K. Tanaka, and A. Ishizaki, "Development of a novel method for feeding a mixture of L-lactic acid and acetic acid in fed-batch culture of *Ralstonia eutropha* for poly-D-3-hydroxybutyrate production," *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 545–550, 2001.
- [36] T. Tsuge, "Metabolic improvements and use of inexpensive carbon sources in microbial production of polyhydroxyalkanoates," *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, vol. 94, no. 6, pp. 579–584, 2002.

## **Research** Article

# Analysis of Casein Biopolymers Adsorption to Lignocellulosic Biomass as a Potential Cellulase Stabilizer

#### Anahita Dehkhoda Eckard,<sup>1</sup> Kasiviswanathan Muthukumarappan,<sup>1</sup> and William Gibbons<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, South Dakota State University, 1400 North Campus Drive, Brookings, SD 57007, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Biology and Microbiology, South Dakota State University, 1400 North Campus Drive, Brookings, SD 57007, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Anahita Dehkhoda Eckard, anahita.eckard@sdstate.edu

Received 23 May 2012; Accepted 3 July 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Anahita Dehkhoda Eckard et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Although lignocellulosic materials have a good potential to substitute current feedstocks used for ethanol production, conversion of these materials to fermentable sugars is still not economical through enzymatic hydrolysis. High cost of cellulase has prompted research to explore techniques that can prevent from enzyme deactivation. Colloidal proteins of casein can form monolayers on hydrophobic surfaces that alleviate the de-activation of protein of interest. Scanning electron microscope (SEM), fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR), capillary electrophoresis (CE), and Kjeldahl and BSA protein assays were used to investigate the unknown mechanism of action of induced cellulase activity during hydrolysis of casein-treated biomass. Adsorption of casein to biomass was observed with all of the analytical techniques used and varied depending on the pretreatment techniques of biomass. FT-IR analysis of amides I and II suggested that the substructure of protein from casein or skim milk were deformed at the time of contact with biomass. With no additive, the majority of one of the cellulase mono-component, 97.1  $\pm$  1.1, was adsorbed to CS within 24 h, this adsorption was irreversible and increased by 2% after 72 h. However, biomass treatment with skim-milk and casein reduced the adsorption to 32.9%  $\pm$  6.0 and 82.8%  $\pm$  6.0, respectively.

#### 1. Introduction

Production of ethanol from residual lignocellulosic biomass may serve as a promising clean fuel substitute that can reduce the greenhouse gases, ease the resource limitations of fossil fuel, eliminate the concerns of using food for fuel production, progress the rural economy, and create direct and indirect jobs. The market of ethanol grew from less than a billion liters in 1975 [1], and it is expected to reach more than 22 million gallons by 2022 [2].

Carbohydrates of cellulose and hemicellulose are hydrolyzed with two routes of acid or enzymatic hydrolysis to their subunits that can be fermented to ethanol by, for example, baker's yeast [3]. Despite extensive research, the production of ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass in a manner that can economically compete with that of corn has not yet been achieved.

The cost of cellulolytic enzymes remains one of the key challenges for second-generation biofuel production. In a recent study, the price of cellulytic enzymes has been estimated to be \$0.68/gal ethanol [4]. Considering that the price of enzyme in dry-grind corn ethanol is only 0.03-0.04 \$/gal ethanol [5], an extensive price gap must be diminished before lignocellulosic ethanol can compete with corn ethanol process. Enzymes have been found to be deactivated by a variety of reasons such as thermal effects imposed in a longer process [6], shearing effect [7], airliquid contact [8], irreversible adsorption to active (e.g., cellulose) and nonactive sites (e.g., lignin) [9-12] and high concentrations of monomer sugars of hemicellulose (i.e., xylose, mannose, and galactose) [13, 14], xylo-oligomers [13], soluble lignin or lignin degradation products [15, 16], polymeric phenol tannic acids, and to a lesser extent monomeric phenolic compounds [17].

Cellulase deactivation can reach to as low as 16% of the initial activity within the first 24 h of hydrolysis [9]. Deactivation of cellulase is certainly a negative property that impacts the process cost by eliminating the chance of enzyme recycling or requiring more enzymes to maintain acceptable conversion rates.

In addition to efforts to genetically engineer new types of enzymes and enzyme producing microbes, application of surfactants (especially the nonionic) showed to be an effective approach to improve enzyme activity and hence reduce their application rate or increase the possibility for recycling. When surfactants are present in solution at levels beyond the critical micelle concentration (CMC), core-shell nanoparticles are formed. The interactions between enzymes and these micelle particles can result in a strong positive modification of the catalytic properties of the enzyme, such that "superactivity" of enzymes can be observed. Thus, an enhanced catalytic reaction can occur at the interface of micelles enzyme compared to that in aqueous phase [18]. It was suggested that the electrostatic interaction between micelle and enzyme, such as lipase, activates the key amino acids of enzyme (e.g., lysine and arginine) resulting in increased catalytic activity [19]. Also it was suggested that surfactants adsorb in the monomer form [20] to the surface of lignocellulosic biomass and prevent irreversible enzyme adsorption by increasing entropy at the time of contact with enzyme, thus increasing the amount of free enzyme in solution [21, 22]. Disruption effect of biomass (e.g., removal of lignin, disruption of H-bonding in cellulose, and removal of amorphous cellulose) was reported to be another potential effect of surfactants [14, 20, 23].

Although surfactants have demonstrated these potential advantages, amphiphilic polymers of proteins and biopolymers are better choices in improvement of enzyme activity. This is because surfactants might have disadvantages such as foaming property and environmental pollution [24], and in some cases even small quantities of Tween 80 have been shown to be inhibitory to some strains of yeast [25]. For instance, application of 2.5 g/L Tween 20 helped to reduce the enzyme loading by 50%, while retaining cellulose conversion [11]. However, 1 g/L of Tween 20 was found to be an inhibitor to *D. claussenii* [26].

Alternative lignin-blocking polypeptides that were reported to enhance the catalytic reaction of cellulase by several folds include soybean meal, corn steep liquor, bovine serum albumin (BSA), amylase, chicken egg albumin, and combinations thereof [12]. The high cost of some of these proteins, such as BSA, has prompted us to further investigate more cost-efficient protein sources to be used as an enzyme activator.

Recently, we found for the first time that casein can be a good alternative stabilizer for cellulase, depending on the type of casein used (e.g., ultrafiltered liquid, lyophilized acid casein [27], and complete casein (gluten free)). In our recent study, it was found that casein can increase the ethanol yield from corn stover by as much as 8.48%–33.7% through enhancement of enzyme activity. However, the mechanism of action behind the effectiveness of casein during hydrolysis and fermentation of lignocellulosic biomass remained a question. Application of casein as a stabilizer for protein structure or even as a chaperone in promoting proper protein folding is well established [28–30]. It has been found that the casein aggregates into complexes ranging from a few nanometers to hundreds of nanometers in diameter [31, 32] and that surface binding may also alter the structure of casein. Casein has been used in the past on the surface of SiO<sub>2</sub> for immobilization and induced activity of kinesin [33]. It was predicted that above a minimum casein concentration, an irreversible monolayer of casein is formed on the surface with a thickness corresponding to the size of the casein in solution [33]. Reduced adsorption of microbes (*Listeria monocytogenes*) due to the protection provided by surface preadsorption with milk protein has also been reported [34].

Therefore, the aim of this study was set to investigate one of the potential mechanisms of action behind the casein and whey protein effectiveness that would reduce the cellulase irreversible adsorption to lignocellulosic biomass. Analytical techniques such as Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), and Kjeldahl and BSA protein analyses were used to determine the adsorption of whey and casein protein to biomass, and capillary electrophoresis (CE) was used to analyze the modifications in enzyme solubilization in the presence of additives.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Pretreatment of Corn Stover. Ground corn stover (8 mm screen, Speedy King, Winona Attrition Mill Co., MN, USA) was pretreateds with different techniques as described in Table 1. Lime and dilute acid pretreatments of corn stover were performed according to optimized conditions reported previously by Kaar and Holtzapple [35] and Lloyd and Wyman [36], respectively. These pretreatments were performed in a 1-L Parr reactor (Parr Instrument Company, Moline, IL, USA) equipped with Rushton disc impeller rotating at 100 rpm, with pressure and temperature control. For dilute sulfuric acid pretreatment, ground corn stover was soaked in 0.98% sulfuric acid overnight at a solid loading rate of 5%. The soaked corn stover in acid solution was then loaded into the reactor and treated for 40 min at 140°C. The reaction was terminated by immersing the reactor in a cold water bath. Vacuum filtration with Whatman no. 2 filter paper was used to separate pretreated biomass from the liquid, and the solids were then washed with DI water until a neutral pH was achieved. For lime pretreatment, the ground corn stover was mixed with  $0.075 \text{ g/g Ca}(OH)_2$  at a solid loading rate of 19.5% and then heated to 120°C for 4 h. The solid fraction was recovered, rinsed, and filtered as described earlier.

Alkali pretreatment was conducted according to Gupta and Lee [37]. In brief, 1% w/v NaOH was mixed with ground corn stover to achieve a solid loading rate of 8.3% and then was heated in sealed Erlenmeyer flasks at 60°C for 24 h. Solids were filtered and washed until a neutral pH was obtained. Extrusion pretreatment was conducted according to Karunanithy and Muthukumarappan [38] using a single screw extruder (Brabender Plasti-corder Extruder Model

3

			Yield of original components left in pretreated solids (%)		
Pretreatment	Condition	Pretreatment severity $(\log R_0)^{\mathrm{f}}$	Glucan	Xylan	Lignin
Untreated	NA	NA	34.6	14.9	20.2
Acid	0.98% H <sub>2</sub> (SO <sub>4</sub> ), 5% SL, 140°C, 40 min	2.77	26.7–28.9	1.0	16.4
Lime	0.075 g/g <sup>a</sup> Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> , 19.5% SL, 120° C, 5 h	2.96	33.5	10.6	12.3
Alkali	1% NaOH, 8.3% SL <sup>b</sup> , 60°C, 24 h	3.31	31.1-33.0	11.9	7.3
Extrusion	90°C <sup>c</sup> , 180°C <sup>d</sup> , 180°C <sup>e</sup> , 45–90 sec, 1 : 5 SL	2.20	33.5–33.9	14.7	20.2
AFEX	50% SL, 140°C, 15 min	2.34	31.1	14.9	15.8

TABLE 1: Pretreatment condition of corn stover and the resulting corn stover composition.

<sup>a</sup>g Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>/g Biomass, <sup>b</sup>SL: solid loading (biomass: H<sub>2</sub>O), <sup>c</sup>feed zone temperature = 90°C, <sup>d</sup>transition zone temperature = 180°C, <sup>e</sup>die zone temperature = 180°C, <sup>f</sup>log  $R_0$  = log[time exp(*H*–*R*)/14.75], where *H* is pretreatment temperature and *R* is a reference temperature of 100°C.

PL2000, Hackensack, NJ, USA) with a barrel length to screw diameter ratio (L/D) of 20:1 and a compression ratio of 3:1. The moisture content of ground corn stover was adjusted to 20% wb and held overnight before being manually fed into the extruder at an average rate of 16.5 g/min. While the residence time of the material in the barrel varied slightly due to the nature of the manual feeding, a mean reaction time of 45–90 s was estimated. The temperatures of feed, barrel, and die zone of the extruder were held at 90, 180, and 180°C, respectively. AFEX-pretreated biomass was provided by Michigan State University (see conditions in Table 1).

2.2. Enzymes. Celluclast 1.5 L, with a cellulase activity of 71.7 FPU/mL, and Novozyme 188, with a  $\beta$ -glucosidase activity of 422.14 CBU/mL obtained from Sigma Aldrich were used as the cellulytic enzymes. Celluclast 1.5 L and Novozyme 188 were used at dosages of 25 FPU/g glucan and CBU: FPU ratio ~2.5, respectively.

2.3. Adsorption of Casein and Whey Proteins to Corn Stover Determined by FT-IR. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) was initially used to determine the casein biopolymers physical adsorption onto the corn stover. Corn stover containing 1% (w/v) glucan prepared with different techniques according to Section 2.1 was blended in 50% (v/v) citrate buffer (pH 4.85), 2.5 g/g glucan of casein or skim milk, and sufficient deionized water (DI) for a total volume of 10 mL to achieve a 3% solid loading. Prepared test tubes (in duplicate) were incubated for 72 h in a shaker incubator at 50°C and 150 rpm. After treatment, biomass was subsequently collected with vacuum filtration, and washed with 2 times the sample volume with DI water. Collected solid residues of biomass were then scanned with Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (Nicolet 380) with an ATR (attenuated total reflectance) accessory as described in more detail elsewhere [39]. Samples were uniformly pressed against the diamond surface with the swivel pressure tower accessory; then for each spectrum, a 150-scan interferogram was collected using single beam mode with 4 cm<sup>-1</sup> resolution

TABLE 2: Band frequencies and assignment for protein in aqueous solution.

Designation	Bandwidth (cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Assignments	Ref
H <sub>2</sub> O	1500-1800	C=O stretching	[40]
Amide I	1617–1692	C=O stretching	[41]
Amide II	1510-1580	N–H bending vibration C–N stretching vibration	[41]
Amide III	1229–1301	Mix of several displacement	[41]

for the region of 4000 to 500 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Prior to each analysis, a background spectrum (air) was collected and automatically corrected from the sample spectrum. Reference spectra consisted of biomass that had been incubated under similar conditions as treatment samples, with the absence of additives. Wavenumber assignments brought in Table 2 demonstrate the regions of protein (amides I–II) that could be used to evaluate the protein adsorption on biomass.

2.4. Adsorption of Casein and Whey Proteins to Corn Stover Determined by SEM. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to provide a more in-depth qualitative analysis of the casein adsorption onto the pretreated corn stover. To prevent redundant imaging, only pure casein (with minor whey) and extrusion pretreated biomass were used in this analysis. Extruded corn stover (5% w/v) was solubilized in a 50 mL solution of citrate buffer (pH 4.85) with 4.1% (w/v) casein. After 72 h of incubation at 50°C and 150 rpm, biomass was separated from the solution by vacuum filtration using Whatman filter paper no.2 after being washed with 2 times the sample volume with DI water. Collected biomass was then lyophilized at -48°C for 48 h prior to SEM analysis. The samples were gold coated for 180 s to help reduce sample charging typically observed on non-conductive samples. All samples were imaged under high vacuum conditions, utilizing the secondary electron detector (SED). This detector is ideal for observing fine surface morphology. Images were acquired at various areas throughout the samples, at a variety of magnifications from 42x to 19,000x.

2.5. Adsorption of Casein and Whey Proteins to Corn Stover Determined by BSA and Kjeldahl. To quantify the amount of adsorbed protein, Kjeldahl digestion [42] and Bovine serum albumin (BSA) assays were used to determine the amount of soluble protein (casein and whey). The difference between the applied protein through casein or milk and the remaining level of protein in solution after incubation would represent the amount of bonded protein. Corn stover containing 1% (w/v) glucan prepared with different techniques according to Section 2.1 was solubilized in a total volume of 80 and 30 mL solution for Kjeldahl and BSA assays, respectively. The solution was comprised of 50% (v/v) citrate buffer (pH 4.85), 2.5% (w/v) commercial casein or skim milk, and DI water. Samples were incubated for 30 min at 60°C to maximize binding of the casein or milk proteins to lignin; this was because it was reported that the elevated temperatures enhanced the adsorption activity [43]. The temperature was then reduced to 50°C for 72 h of incubation similar to the enzymatic hydrolysis condition according to NREL protocol (With no enzymes added) [44]. Samples were collected at 24, 48, and 72 h, centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 5 min, and the supernatant (biomass free) was subjected to Kjeldahl or BSA analysis in duplicates.

2.6. Cellulase Solubilization Determined by CE. To estimate the modifications in cellulase solubilization during hydrolysis of corn stover with and without preincubation with casein polymers, CE (Beckman PACE MDQ capillary electrophoresis system (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA, USA) equipped with a UV detector set at 214 nm) was applied as the analytical tool. Samples of extruded corn stover (1% w/v glucan) were prepared in a total volume of 80 mL consisting of 50% (v/v) citrate buffer (pH 4.85), DI water, and either 2.5% w/v casein or skim milk. Each reaction vial was incubated in a shaker bath set at 150 rpm and 60°C for 30 min to maximize protein binding [9]. The temperature was then reduced to 50°C, and 25 FPU cellulase with 2.5 CBU: FPU of  $\beta$ -glucosidase was added to each vial for 72 h enzymatic hydrolysis. Samples were withdrawn after 24, 48, and 72 h of incubation and then centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 5 min, and the biomass-free supernatants were prepared for CE analysis as described in the following.

Samples were processed via CE according to the method defined by Salunke et al. [45]. In brief, pure skim milk, casein, enzymes cocktail, or hydrolyzate supernatants were diluted to 10 mg/mL protein using HPLC grade water. Separation was obtained via a 50  $\mu$ m bare fused silica capillary with the length of 30.2 cm. Gel formulation in a sieving range of 10–225 KDa was used. For estimation of protein molecular weights in the sample, the SDS-MW size standard (recombinant proteins 10–225 kDa supplied with the ProteomeLab SDS-MW Analysis Kit) was used to calibrate the gel.  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (5  $\mu$ L) was added to each microfuge vial containing diluted SDS-MW size standard (10  $\mu$ L in 85  $\mu$ L of sample buffer). Prepared vials were heated

in a water bath for 10 min at 90°C. A separation at constant voltage of 15 KV (25°C temperature and 20 bar pressure) was performed with reverse polarity in SDS-MW gel buffer. Sample was electro kinetically introduced at 5 kV for 20 s. A capillary preconditioning method was run every six samples. The area of each peak and identification of each protein were found and calculated from the electropherogram.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Adsorption of Casein and Whey Proteins to Corn Stover Determined by FT-IR. FT-IR was used to demonstrate the physical adsorption of casein or skim milk proteins on biomass after 72 h of incubation. Figures 1(a)-1(e) show the IR spectra of corn stover pretreated by various methods that have been incubated with skim milk or casein. Although the protein secondary structure can be obtained from the IR spectra to quantify the modifications in enzyme structure, the IR spectra obtained in this study were used without any extra manipulations (i.e., subtraction, smoothing, or convolution) to compare the amides I and II profiles visually. It is known that water and amide I and II demonstrate IR absorption at the same regions, with water peaks appearing at 1500-1800 cm<sup>-1</sup> and amides I and II absorbing at 1617-1692 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1510–1580 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Table 2). The differences observed in peak shapes from samples treated with casein or milk compared to those without additives can be associated to adsorbed protein (Figures 1(a)-1(e)). IR spectra collected from aqueous buffer were included in each of Figures 1(a)-1(e) to demonstrate the portion of each spectrum belonging to water. FT-IR technique was also applied before to successfully estimate the protein content of the milk [46].

As it is demonstrated in Figure 1, the sign of protein adsorption can be simply observed in almost all samples. Lime-pretreated corn stover (Figure 1(b)) and AFEXpretreated CS (Figure 1(e)) showed the highest profile of amide II compared to adsorbed protein to other pretreated CSs, while alkali-pretreated samples did not show a significant increase in amides I or II regions compared to control (Figure 1(a)). These results suggest that either a lower amount of protein was adsorbed to some biomass (e.g., alkali pretreated) or the casein substructure was deformed when it adsorbed to biomass.

Ozeki et al. [33] reported that when 0.2 mg/mL of casein was introduced to  $SiO_2$ , most of the casein was tightly adsorbed to the surface of  $SiO_2$ , and when it was washed with casein-free buffer, only some part of the casein released from the surface. Repeated introduction of casein solution to the surface of  $SiO_2$  resulted in readsorption of casein to the surface. As a result, the author suggested that casein adsorption to  $SiO_2$  surfaces has two modes of a tightly and a weakly bound layer.

3.2. Adsorption of Casein and Whey Proteins to Corn Stover Determined by SEM. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used as another surface analysis technique to demonstrate whether casein and milk proteins have any affinity to



FIGURE 1: FTIR plots of alkali-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (a); FTIR plots of lime-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (b); FTIR plots of dilute acid-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (c); FTIR plots of extrusion-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (c); FTIR plots of extrusion-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (d); FTIR plots of AFEX-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (d); FTIR plots of AFEX-pretreated corn stover incubated with casein and skim milk in solution of aqueous citrate buffer for 72 h (e). Bracket sign demonstrates the amount of protein adsorbed on biomass.

corn stover and the degree to which they are able to adsorb to biomass after a certain period of incubation (Figure 2). As can be observed in Figure 2, when 4.5% w/v of casein in citrate buffer solution of biomass was lyophilized, the casein formed a white cake with a substantial number of perforations and globules on the surface of biomass. Due to the magnification limitations of SEM, the casein micelles themselves were not shown in this study. However single casein micelles images have been taken by field-emission scanning electron microscopy and can be found in the paper of Dalgleish et al. [47]. According to their imaging results, the size of the casein micelles varies between 200 nm and 350 nm, and the surface of each micelle at this magnification has been shown to conform to cylindrical or tubular structures that vary between 10 and 20 nm [47]. The size of the lyophilized casein globules on biomass varied between 5 and 50  $\mu$ m



FIGURE 2: SEM analysis of lyophilized: 4% w/v casein solution in citrate buffer((a), (b), and (c)); extrusion-pretreated corn stover (8 mm) incubated for 24 h with 4% w/v casein solution of citrate buffer ((d), (e), (f), and (g)); extrusion-pretreated corn stover incubated for 24 h in citrate buffer only ((h), and (i)).

(Figures 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c)). Although the structure and position of casein at the time of reaction are best captured by imaging from a liquid sample, the aggregation of casein micelles at pH 4.85 was previously reported to be observed even by naked eye [48].

Observed contrast between the two Figures 2(d) and 2(h), associated with casein treated biomass and control, respectively, can clearly demonstrate the adsorption of casein polymers to the surface of corn stover. It appears that

casein initially created several layers of coating in some areas, while in other regions it adhered to the strands of biomass in a discontinuous coagulation form (Figures 2(e) and 2(f)). Interfacial studies on casein-hydrophobic surfaces for protein activations have shown that casein binds to the SiO<sub>2</sub> surfaces by forming a tightly bound monolayer of  $\beta$ -casein, followed by a second loosely bound layer [49]. Tiberg et al. [50] found similar subunit interactions for casein adsorbed to silicon oxide. It is noteworthy to indicate that

Pretreatment	Soluble skim milk proteins (%)			Soluble casein proteins (%)		
	24 h	48 h	72 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
Dilute acid	29	<1	<1	21	<1	<1
Lime	55	15	18	5.6	5.2	<1
Alkali	90	22	14	65	3.1	<1
Extrusion	92	25	10	55	8.6	<1
AFEX	97	28	15	30	3.5	<1
Raw	91	<1	15	49	2.5	<1

TABLE 3: Comparison of soluble casein or skim milk proteins after 72 h of incubation with lime-, alkali-, dilute acid-, and extrusionpretreated corn stover determined with BSA assay.

we used double the casein dose that we usually apply for hydrolysis in order to clearly show the coating effect of the casein on cellulosic biomass.

3.3. Adsorption of Casein and Whey Proteins to Corn Stover Determined by BSA and Kjeldahl. In addition to the two surface analysis techniques (SEM and FT-IR) that were applied to illustrate the adsorption of casein or milk proteins onto corn stover, Kjeldahl and BSA protein assays were used for quantitative evaluation of the same phenomenon. Solution of aqueous citrate buffer comprised of 2.5% w/v casein polymer or skim milk and 1% w/v of corn stover (8 mm) were incubated together at 60°C for 30 min followed by 72 h of incubation at 50°C. The amount of soluble proteins was obtained by measuring the protein left in supernatant of samples drawn after 24, 48, and 72 h of incubation of biomass with casein or milk and comparing that to control (aqueous buffer of casein or milk with no biomass). The difference in protein content would represent the amount of protein adsorbed onto the biomass.

The results of Kjeldahl analysis demonstrated that after 24 h of incubation of casein with biomass, 68.37% of casein proteins (1.17 to 0.37% (w/v)) were adsorbed to the surface of biomass. Based on the compositional analysis of the milk used in the study, 2.5% (w/v) of milk solution was projected to contain 0.87% w/v protein; this was also confirmed by Kjeldahl assay that was indicated to be 0.89% w/v protein. After 24 h of incubation of 1% w/v corn stover in milk solution, the results demonstrated that 15.7% of the milk protein was adsorbed to the biomass. According to the amount of the biomass used, an adsorption rate of 0.80 and 0.14 g of protein/g of biomass can be estimated for casein and milk proteins, respectively.

Another method used to evaluate the adsorption of casein or milk proteins to pretreated corn stover was BSA assay. In this assay, BSA protein of 2 mg/mL was used as reference, and the reactivity of the protein being evaluated was assumed to be comparable to that of BSA. Table 3 shows the percentage of soluble protein found after 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation of 1% w/v glucan equivalent of pretreated corn stover with 2.5% w/v casein polymers or skim milk.

The greater adsorption of soluble casein proteins to biomass compared to milk proteins was in agreement with Kjeldahl analysis. However, Kjeldahl analysis demonstrated a slightly higher protein adsorption compared to what was obtained with BSA analysis. The adsorption of milk protein to biomass was found to vary between 1.12 and 73.9% whereas casein adsorption varied between 37.5 and 93.4% after 24 h of incubation. These results suggest that casein proteins have a much higher affinity for corn stover compared to proteins in milk. Moreover, the affinity of proteins varies depending on the pretreated corn stover used. This might have been due to the differences in particle size, surface area, and chemical structure originating from different pretreatment techniques.

While casein has shown a stronger earlier affinity to pretreated corn stover compared to milk protein, adsorption of both milk and casein approached 100% by 72 h of incubation. Recently, Zhang et al. [51] reported that increasing the incubation time of lignocellulosic substrate with PEG 4000 from 0–2 h increased the amount of adsorbed PEG. They suggested that increasing the incubation time provided PEG with additional opportunity to interweave into the biomass structure and create a denser hydration layer on the exterior surface. As a result, the denser layer of polymer can provide a greater steric hindrance for the enzyme from the nonspecific sites.

The extensive adsorption of casein onto biomass observed in this research study was not unanticipated in light of the widespread application of casein as glue for adhesion of wood particles. Moreover, the adsorption of  $\beta$ -casein to a silica-aqueous solution interface or bimodal PEG brushes and many other supports has been reported in the past [32, 52, 53]. Based on the prior arts,  $\beta$ -casein creates a densely packed monolayer on surfaces via hydrophobic interaction and adsorption of its highly charged N-terminal to the pseudophases [52].

3.4. Cellulase Solubilization Determined by CE. Evaluating a specific protein in a mixture of proteins has always been challenging, since methods that use the total nitrogen value cannot distinguish between specific proteins. Analytical methods that can distinguish between proteins include CE, SDS-Page gel electrophoresis, and size exclusion chromatography. However, one of the concerns with these methods is that the peak associated with the protein of interest may overlap with other proteins in the mixture. We selected CE to evaluate the modifications in enzyme adsorption under the effect of casein and milk's preadsorption to biomass. In this trial, the relative amount of enzyme substructure



FIGURE 3: Capillary electrophoresis plots of pure cellulase diluted in HPLC grade water (a); commercial casein diluted in HPLC grade water (b);skim milk powder diluted in HPLC grade water (c).

in control (enzymatic hydrolysis without additive) and treatment samples (with casein and milk) were compared with each other. Using CE, we were able to differentiate between peaks associated with enzyme and those associated with casein and whey proteins. To locate the characteristic peaks for each of these compounds, separate solutions of HPLC-grade water containing each of these compounds were prepared and processed via capillary electrophoresis.

TABLE 4: Reduction in one of the mono-component of soluble cellulase in hydrolyzate of corn stover preadsorbed with casein or skim milk compared to control (no additive) determined by CE.

Sample condition	Reduction in soluble cellulase (%)		
No additive 24 h	$97.1 \pm 1.1$		
No additive 72 h	$99.5\pm0.0$		
With casein 24 h	$32.8 \pm 6.0$		
With casein 72 h	$0.0 \pm 0.0$		
With skim milk 24 h	$82.8\pm6.0$		
With skim milk 72 h	$74.8\pm0.8$		

\*Standard errors of the mean reported after  $\pm$ .

As can be observed in Figures 3(a)-3(c), the CE analysis of individual samples of cellulase, casein, and milk proteins resulted in characteristic peaks for each material. The cellulase sample (Figure 3(a)) contained peaks at 10.5, 13, 14.5, 16, and 18 min. Commercial casein (Figure 3(b)) consisted of casein substructures (as labeled), along with minute amounts of whey protein. As can be observed, peaks for *k*-casein appeared at 24.2 min,  $\alpha$ s<sub>2</sub>-casein at 23.2 min,  $\beta$ casein at 23.8 min,  $\alpha$ s<sub>1</sub>-casein at 22.0 min, and whey protein at 16–18 min. As it is apparent, the peaks of casein and whey proteins associated with ~20–24 and ~18 min (Figures 3(b) and 3(c)) did not overlap with peaks of cellulase. Therefore, retention times of >11–14, 20–28, and 16–18 min were used to track the cellulase, casein, and skim milk proteins, respectively.

According to the results (Figure 4(a)), the relative cellulase concentration in corn stover samples that were enzymatically hydrolyzed without the use of any polypeptide additives (casein or skim milk) was smaller than that in samples preincubated with casein or milk. This suggests that cellulase was either adsorbed to corn stover or other hydrophobic surfaces in reaction site or has been degraded. However, when corn stover was treated with casein or skim milk, the specific subunit of cellulase at 12.8 min was significantly increased compared to control (Figures 4(b) and 4(c)).

In the first 24 h of reaction, the majority of cellulase was adsorbed to biomass, during which the amount of one of the cellulase mono-component was reduced in solution by 97.1%  $\pm$  1.1. Application of casein and milk reduced the adsorption to 32.9%  $\pm$  6.0 and 82.8%  $\pm$  6.0, respectively (Table 4). After 72 h of hydrolysis the amount of soluble cellulase adsorption was further reduced to 74.9%  $\pm$  0.8 for milk-treated samples and to less than a quantifiable amount for casein-treated corn stover.

It was found that the reduction in casein and whey proteins after 72 h compared to that of 24 h was correlated with the increase in cellulase solubilization. These results suggest the steric barrier role for casein and milk, which prevents from the cellulase nonproductive adsorption to biomass. Similar effects were obtained from the application of nonionic surfactants and polymers such as Triton X-100, Tween 20 and 80, PEG 4000 and 6000, and many others [9– 11, 54] in which the adsorption of surfactants to surface of



FIGURE 4: Capillary electrophoresis plots of supernatant from the solution of corn stover hydrolyzed for 24 h with cellulase (no additives) (a); supernatant from the solution of casein-treated corn stover hydrolyzed for 24 h with cellulase (b); supernatant from the solution of skim milk-treated corn stover hydrolyzed for 24 h with cellulase (c).

biomass was demonstrated to improve the cellulase activity and increase the enzyme solubilization [20, 43, 55].

It was reported that polymers adsorbed to surfaces can effectively use the relationship between electrostatic and steric interactions in order to control the adsorption and desorption of proteins of interest [56]. These fundamental findings have been applied in pharmaceutical, surface chemistry, and many other fields to serve as the basis for the design of controlled-release devices [57, 58]. Whole casein or the substructures of casein were used onto microtubule motility assays to reserve the kinesin functionality. It was found that the adsorbed casein bilayer improves the activity of kinesin, by one of the tightly bound casein layer anchoring the kinesin, while the second loosely bound layer of casein improves the position of kinesin for interaction with microtubules [59].

#### 4. Conclusion

The cost of cellulase is a major barrier in biomass conversion process, necessitating new techniques to maintain cellulase activity for an extended period of time to reduce cellulase utilization and facilitate cellulase recycling. Casein was found to be an effective biopolymer that can reduce enzyme deactivation. One of the mechanisms of action associated with casein effectiveness on the induction of cellulase activity during conversion of lignocellulosic biomass was investigated using several techniques. As a result, it was found that with no additive, the majority of one of the cellulase monocomponent, 97.1  $\pm$  1.1, was irreversibly adsorbed to corn stover within the first 24 h of hydrolysis. However application of casein or skim milk reduced the cellulase adsorption to  $32.9\% \pm 6.0$  and  $82.8\% \pm 6.0$ , respectively. The preadsorption of casein proteins to biomass was demonstrated to be much higher than skim milk protein, and the adsorption of either varied based on the pretreatment of biomass used. Amide profile of the adsorbed casein or skim milk proteins to biomass suggested that perhaps some of the proteins substructures are deformed at the time of adsorption. The results of this study suggest that steric barrier provided by adsorbed casein and whey proteins on lignocellulosic biomass may induce the cellulase activity by prohibition of cellulase adsorption to nonproductive sites of the biomass. Other impacts of biomass-adsorbed protein on cellulase should be further studied.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors of this paper have no conflict of interest to declare.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Agricultural Experiment Station, South Dakota State University, and the North Central Sun Grant Center, Brookings, South Dakota, and U.S. Department of Energy, Golden, CO, Grant no. DE-FG36-08GO88073 for funding, facilities, equipment, and supplies. The authors would also like to thank Dr. Lloyd Metzger and Mr. Salunke Prafulla for accommodation and guiding the analysis of capillary electrophoresis.

#### References

- M. J. Taherzadeh and K. Karimi, "Acid-based hydrolysis process for ethanol from lignocellulosc materials: a review," *Bioresour*, vol. 2, pp. 472–499, 2007.
- [2] Z. Yue, C. Teater, Y. Liu, J. MacLellan, and W. Liao, "A sustainable pathway of cellulosic ethanol production integrating anaerobic digestion with biorefining," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 105, no. 6, pp. 1031–1039, 2010.
- [3] L. Olsson and B. Hahn-Hägerdal, "Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates for ethanol production," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 312–331, 1996.
- [4] D. Klein-Marcuschamer, P. Oleskowicz-Popiel, B. A. Simmons, and H. W. Blanch, "The challenge of enzyme cost in the production of lignocellulosic biofuels," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 109, no. 4, pp. 1083–1087, 2011.
- [5] S. K. Khanal and B. Lamsal, Bioenergy and Biofuel Production: Some Prospective, 2010.
- [6] W. K. Kaar and M. T. Holtzapple, "Benefits from Tween during enzymatic hydrolysis of corn stover," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 59, pp. 419–427, 1998.
- [7] T. P. Gunjikar, S. B. Sawant, and J. B. Joshi, "Shear deactivation of cellulase, exoglucanase, endoglucanase, and β-glucosidase in a mechanically agitated reactor," *Biotechnology Progress*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 1166–1168, 2001.
- [8] M. H. Kim, S. B. Lee, D. D. Y. Ryu, and E. T. Reese, "Surface deactivation of cellulase and its prevention," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 99–103, 1982.
- [9] A. D. Eckard, K. Muthukumarappan, and W. Gibbons, "Pretreatment of extruded corn stover with polyethylene glycol to enhance enzymatic hydrolysis: optimization, kinetics, and mechanism of action," *BioEnergy Research*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 424–438, 2011.
- [10] J. B. Kristensen, J. Börjesson, M. H. Bruun, F. Tjerneld, and H. Jørgensen, "Use of surface active additives in enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw lignocellulose," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 888–895, 2007.
- [11] T. Eriksson, J. Börjesson, and F. Tjerneld, "Mechanism of surfactant effect in enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 353–364, 2002.
- [12] B. Yang and C. E. Wyman, "BSA treatment to enhance enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose in lignin containing substrates," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 94, no. 4, pp. 611–617, 2006.
- [13] Z. Xiao, X. Zhang, D. J. Gregg, and J. N. Saddler, "Effects of sugar inhibition on cellulases and β-glucosidase during enzymatic hydrolysis of softwood substrates," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 115, no. 1–3, pp. 1115–1126, 2004.
- [14] Q. Qing, B. Yang, and C. E. Wyman, "Xylooligomers are strong inhibitors of cellulose hydrolysis by enzymes," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 24, pp. 9624–9630, 2010.
- [15] T. H. Kim, Y. Y. Lee, C. Sunwoo, and J. S. Kim, "Pretreatment of corn stover by low-liquid ammonia recycle percolation process," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 133, no. 1, pp. 41–57, 2006.
- [16] Y. M. Zhu, T. H. Kim, Y. Y. Lee, R. G. Chen, and R. T. Elander, "Enzymatic production of xylooligosaccharides from corn stover and corn cobs treated with aqueous ammonia,"

Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology, vol. 130, no. 1-3, pp. 586–598, 2006.

- [17] E. Ximenes, Y. Kim, N. Mosier, B. Dien, and M. Ladisch, "Deactivation of cellulases by phenols," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 54–60, 2011.
- [18] E. Hoshino and A. Tanaka, "Enhancement of enzymatic catalysis of bacillus amyloliquefaciens α-amylase by nonionic surfactant micelles," *Journal of Surfactants and Detergents*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 299–303, 2003.
- [19] E. M. K. Hedin, P. Høyrup, S. A. Patkar, J. Vind, A. Svendsen, and K. Hult, "Implications of surface charge and curvature for the binding orientation of Thermomyces lanuginosus lipase on negatively charged or zwitterionic phospholipid vesicles as studied by ESR spectroscopy," *Biochemistry*, vol. 44, no. 50, pp. 16658–16671, 2005.
- [20] D. J. Seo, H. Fujito, and A. Sakoda, "Effects of a non-ionic surfactant, Tween 20, on adsorption/desorption of saccharification enzymes onto/from lignocelluloses and saccharification rate," *Adsorption*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 813–822, 2011.
- [21] T. Maobing, X. Zhang, M. Paice, P. McFarlane, and J. N. Saddler, "Effect of surfactants on separate hydrolysis fermentation and simultaneous saccharification fermentation of pretreated lodgepole pine," *Biotechnology Progress*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 1122–1129, 2009.
- [22] O. G. Berg, Y. Cajal, G. L. Butterfoss et al., "Interfacial activation of triglyceride lipase from Thermomyces (Humicola) lanuginosa: kinetic parameters and a basis for control of the lid," *Biochemistry*, vol. 37, no. 19, pp. 6615–6627, 1998.
- [23] S. S. Helle, S. J. B. Duff, and D. G. Cooper, "Effect of surfactants on cellulose hydrolysis," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 611–617, 1993.
- [24] T. Cserháti, E. Forgács, and G. Oros, "Biological activity and environmental impact of anionic surfactants," *Environment International*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 337–348, 2002.
- [25] M. J. Taherzadeh and K. Keikhosro, "Enzyme-based hydrolysis processes for ethanol from lignocellulosic material, a review," *BioResources*, vol. 2, pp. 707–738, 2007.
- [26] J. Wu and L. K. Ju, "Enhancing enzymatic saccharification of waste newsprint by surfactant addition," *Biotechnology Progress*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 649–652, 1998.
- [27] A. D. Eckard, K. Muthukumarappan, and W. Gibbons, "Enhanced bioethanol production from pretreated corn stover via multi-positive effect of casein micelles," *Bioresource Technology*, 2012.
- [28] J. Bhattacharyya and K. P. Das, "Molecular chaperone-like properties of an unfolded protein, α(s)- casein," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 274, no. 22, pp. 15505–15509, 1999.
- [29] J. D. Wang, M. D. Michelitsch, and J. S. Weissman, "GroEL-GroES-mediated protein folding requires an intact central cavity," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 95, no. 21, pp. 12163–12168, 1998.
- [30] P. E. Morgan, T. M. Treweek, R. A. Lindner, W. E. Price, and J. A. Carver, "Casein proteins as molecular chaperones," *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 2670– 2683, 2005.
- [31] K. W. Ruettimann and M. R. Ladisch, "Casein micelles: structure, properties and enzymatic coagulation," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 578–589, 1987.
- [32] C. Phadungath, "Casein micelle structure: a concise review," Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology, vol. 27, pp. 201–212, 2005.
- [33] T. Ozeki, V. Verma, M. Uppalapati et al., "Surface-bound casein modulates the adsorption and activity of kinesin on

SiO2 surfaces," *Biophysical Journal*, vol. 96, no. 8, pp. 3305–3318, 2009.

- [34] H. Al-Makhlafi, J. McGuire, and M. Daeschel, "Influence of preadsorbed milk proteins on adhesion of Listeria monocytogenes to hydrophobic and hydrophilic silica surfaces," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 3560– 3565, 1994.
- [35] W. E. Kaar and M. T. Holtzapple, "Using lime pretreatment to facilitate the enzymic hydrolysis of corn stover," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 189–199, 2000.
- [36] T. A. Lloyd and C. E. Wyman, "Combined sugar yields for dilute sulfuric acid pretreatment of corn stover followed by enzymatic hydrolysis of the remaining solids," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 18, pp. 1967–1977, 2005.
- [37] R. Gupta and Y. Y. Lee, "Pretreatment of corn stover and hybrid poplar by sodium hydroxide and hydrogen peroxide," *Biotechnology Progress*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 1180–1186, 2010.
- [38] C. Karunanithy and K. Muthukumarappan, "Response surface methodology for optimization of corn stover pretreatment using an extruder," *Biological Engineering*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 73– 95, 2010.
- [39] S. P. S. Chundawat, B. Venkatesh, and B. E. Dale, "Effect of particle size based separation of milled corn stover on AFEX pretreatment and enzymatic digestibility," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 96, no. 2, pp. 219–231, 2007.
- [40] A. Dong, P. Huang, and W. S. Caughey, "Protein secondary structures in water from second-derivative amide i infrared spectra," *Biochemistry*, vol. 29, no. 13, pp. 3303–3308, 1990.
- [41] J. Kong and S. Yu, "Fourier transform infrared spectroscopic analysis of protein secondary structures," *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 549–559, 2007.
- [42] R. D. M. Hooi, R. L. Barbano, D. Bradley et al., Standard Methods For the Examination of Dairy Products, American Public Health Association, Washington DC, 2004.
- [43] J. Börjesson, M. Engqvist, B. Sipos, and F. Tjerneld, "Effect of poly(ethylene glycol) on enzymatic hydrolysis and adsorption of cellulase enzymes to pretreated lignocellulose," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 41, no. 1-2, pp. 186–195, 2007.
- [44] M. Selig, N. Weiss, and Y. Ji, Enzymatic Saccharification of Lignocellulosic Biomass March Laboratory Analytical Procedure (LAP), 2008.
- [45] P. Salunke, C. Marella, and L. E. Metzger, "Use of capillary gel electrophoresis for quantification of individual milk proteins in ultra- and microfiltration retentate," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, article 58, supplement 1, 2011.
- [46] Y. Etzion, R. Linker, U. Cogan, and I. Shmulevich, "Determination of protein concentration in raw milk by mid-infrared fourier transform infrared/attenuated total reflectance spectroscopy," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 87, no. 9, pp. 2779– 2788, 2004.
- [47] D. G. Dalgleish, P. A. Spagnuolo, and H. D. Goff, "A possible structure of the casein micelle based on high-resolution fieldemission scanning electron microscopy," *International Dairy Journal*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 1025–1031, 2004.
- [48] J. Satulovsky, M. A. Carignano, and I. Szleifer, "Kinetic and thermodynamic control of protein adsorption," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 97, no. 16, pp. 9037–9041, 2000.
- [49] G. Fragneto, R. K. Thomas, A. R. Rennie, and J. Penfold, "Neutron reflection study of bovine β-casein adsorbed on OTS self-assembled monolayers," *Science*, vol. 267, no. 5198, pp. 657–660, 1995.

- [50] F. Tiberg, T. Nylander, T. J. Su, J. R. Lu, and R. K. Thomas, "β-casein adsorption at the silicon oxide-aqeous solution interface," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 844–850, 2001.
- [51] Y. Zhang, Y. Zhang, and L. Tang, "Effect of PEG4000 on cellulase catalysis in the lignocellulose saccharification processes," *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 86, no. 1, pp. 115–120, 2011.
- [52] M. Lee, S. P. Kyung, C. Chung, and H. Kim, "QCM study of βcasein adsorption on the hydrophobic surface: effect of ionic strength and cations," *Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1031–1035, 2004.
- [53] N. Ngadi, J. Abrahamson, C. Fee, and K. Morison, "QCM-D study of β-casein on silicate-PEG surfaces," *Journal of Applied Sciences*, vol. 10, no. 24, pp. 3343–3348, 2010.
- [54] A. D. Eckard, K. Muthukumarappan, and W. Gibbons, "Modeling of pretreatment condition of extrusion pretreated prairie cordgrass and corn stover with polyoxyethylen (20) sorbitan monolaurate," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 167, no. 2, pp. 377–393.
- [55] J. Li, S. Li, C. Fan, and Z. Yan, "The mechanism of polyethylene glycol (PEG) 4000 effect on enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose," *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, vol. 89, pp. 203–210, 2011.
- [56] M. M. R. Talukder, T. Takeyama, Y. Hayashi et al., "Improvement in enzyme activity and stability by addition of low molecular weight polyethylene glycol to sodium bis(2-ethyl-L-hexyl)sulfosuccinate/isooctane reverse micellar system," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 110, no. 2, pp. 101–112, 2003.
- [57] M. Haider, Z. Megeed, and H. Ghandehari, "Genetically engineered polymers: status and prospects for controlled release," *Journal of Controlled Release*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 1–26, 2004.
- [58] E. Leonard, V. Turitto, T. Vincent, and L. Vroman, *Blood in Contact With Natural and Artificial Surfaces*, vol. 2, The New York Academy of Sciences, New York, NY, USA, 1987.
- [59] V. Verma, W. O. Hancock, and J. M. Catchmark, "The role of casein in supporting the operation of surface bound kinesin," *Journal of Biological Engineering*, vol. 2, article 14, 2008.

## Research Article

# Factors Affecting Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) Production from Oil Palm Frond Juice by *Cupriavidus necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>)

### Mior Ahmad Khushairi Mohd Zahari,<sup>1, 2</sup> Hidayah Ariffin,<sup>3</sup> Mohd Noriznan Mokhtar,<sup>1</sup> Jailani Salihon,<sup>2</sup> Yoshihito Shirai,<sup>4</sup> and Mohd Ali Hassan<sup>1, 3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Process and Food Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, 43400 Selangor, Malaysia

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Chemical and Natural Resources Engineering, Universiti Malaysia Pahang, Lebuhraya Tun Razak, Kuantan, 26300 Pahang, Malaysia

<sup>3</sup> Department of Bioprocess Technology, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, 43400 Selangor, Malaysia

<sup>4</sup> Department of Biological Functions and Engineering, Graduate School of Life Science and Systems Engineering, Kyushu Institute of Technology, 2-4 Hibikino, Wakamatsu-ku, Kitakyushu, Fukuoka 808-0196, Japan

Correspondence should be addressed to Hidayah Ariffin, hidayah\_a@biotech.upm.edu.my

Received 6 June 2012; Revised 3 July 2012; Accepted 3 July 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Mior Ahmad Khushairi Mohd Zahari et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Factors influencing poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) P(3HB) production by *Cupriavidus necator* CCUG52238<sup>T</sup> utilizing oil palm frond (OPF) juice were clarified in this study. Effects of initial medium pH, agitation speed, and ammonium sulfate  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentration on the production of P(3HB) were investigated in shake flasks experiments using OPF juice as the sole carbon source. The highest P(3HB) content was recorded at pH 7.0, agitation speed of 220 rpm, and  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentration at 0.5 g/L. By culturing the wild-type strain of *C. necator* under the aforementioned conditions, the cell dry weight (CDW) and P(3HB) content obtained were 9.31 ± 0.13 g/L and 45 ± 1.5 wt.%, respectively. This accounted for 40% increment of P(3HB) content compared to the nonoptimized condition. In the meanwhile, the effect of dissolved oxygen tension (DOT) on P(3HB) production was investigated in a 2-L bioreactor. Highest CDW (11.37 g/L) and P(3HB) content (44 wt.%) were achieved when DOT level was set at 30%. P(3HB) produced from OPF juice had a tensile strength of 40 MPa and elongation at break of 8% demonstrated that P(3HB) produced from renewable and cheap carbon source is comparable to those produced from commercial substrate.

#### 1. Introduction

Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate), P(3HB) is a biodegradable thermoplastic polyester accumulated intracellularly by many microorganisms under unfavorable growth conditions [1]. The high production cost of P(3HB) can be decreased by strain development, improving fermentation and separation processes [2–4], and/or using a cheap carbon source [5]. In P(3HB) production, about 40% of the total production cost is contributed by the raw material, whereby the cost of carbon feedstock alone accounts for 70 to 80% of the total raw material cost [6, 7]. Therefore, the utilization of renewable and sustainable substrates for the production of P(3HB) has become an important objective for the commercialization of bioplastics. A lot of research have been carried out to discuss and propose the utilization of renewable biomass to replace commercial sugars as carbon source in order to reduce the production cost of P(3HB) [8–12].

Recently, we reported on the use of oil palm frond (OPF) juice as the novel and renewable feedstock for the production of P(3HB) [13]. We demonstrated that OPF juice is a good substrate for the production of P(3HB) from wild-type *Cupriavidus necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>), with better yield of product formation in comparison to technical grade sugars. This can be explained by the presence of minerals and nutrients in the OPF juice which are essential for bacterial growth
during fermentation. Apart from contributing to higher product formation and microbial growth, the use of OPF juice is advantageous compared to the other lignocellulosebased sugars due to the ease in its processing wherein no harsh pretreatment steps and enzymatic treatment will be needed in order to obtain the sugars.

In our report, 32 wt.% of P(3HB) accumulation was successfully obtained under nonoptimized fermentation condition [13]. *C. necator* is well known as polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) producer and its ability to accumulate PHA more than 50 wt.% has been previously reported [8, 14]. In general, P(3HB) accumulation is favored by an excess carbon source and inadequate supply of macrocomponents such as nitrogen, phosphate, and dissolved oxygen or microcomponents such as magnesium, sulphate, iron, potassium, manganese, copper, sodium, cobalt, tin, and calcium [7, 15]. Moreover, it was also reported that the accumulation of P(3HB) in microorganisms were influenced by several physical parameters including pH and agitation speed [16–19].

In order to make the production of P(3HB) feasible for industrial application, it is crucial to have high P(3HB) production yield. In this study, we investigated the effect of initial medium pH, agitation speed, and ammonium sulfate  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentration on P(3HB) production from *C. necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>) utilizing OPF juice in shake flasks fermentation with the aim to clarify the effect of each fermentation parameter on the microbial growth and P(3HB) formation. The effect of dissolved oxygen tension (DOT) level on cell growth and P(3HB) production was investigated by conducting batch fermentation in 2-L-bioreactor. P(3HB) produced from this study was then characterized for its thermal and mechanical properties.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

*2.1. Bacterial Strain.* In this study, *C. necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>) was obtained from the Culture Collection, University of Goteborg, Sweden and used for the production of P(3HB). The culture was maintained on slants of nutrient agar at 4°C. The inoculum preparation, media, and cultivation conditions for *C. necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>) are similar to those reported by Zahari et al. [13], unless otherwise stated.

2.2. Biosynthesis of P(3HB) in Shake Flask. P(3HB) biosynthesis was carried out through one-stage cultivation fermentation in shake flasks. OPF juice in this study was obtained by pressing fresh OPF following the method described earlier [13]. OPF juice which comprises fructose, glucose and sucrose was diluted from stock (55 g/L) to 16-17 g/L of total initial sugars and used as carbon sources throughout the study period. In order to study the effect of culture medium initial pH on biosynthesis of P(3HB), the initial pH value of each MSM and OPF juice was adjusted to pH 6.0–8.0 using 2 M NaOH prior to autoclaving. Another set of experiment was conducted to study the effect of agitation on P(3HB) production by testing several agitation speed at 180, 200, 220, 240, and 260 rpm. For the effect of ammonium sulfate

concentration, various concentrations of  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  in the range of 0–2.0 g/L were tested. The cultures were incubated at 30°C under aerobic condition, and all experiments were conducted in duplicates.

2.3. Biosynthesis of P(3HB) in 2-L-Bioreactor. In order to study the effect of dissolved oxygen tension (DOT) on cell growth and P(3HB) production profile under the optimized condition obtained from the shake flask study, batch experiment was conducted in 2-L-bioreactor (1L working volume) at different DOT levels of 20, 30, 40, and 50%. 100 mL of pregrown cells from growing stage were transferred into 900 mL MSM in 2L bioreactors (Sartorius, Germany) supplemented with OPF juice at 30% (v/v) dilution. The stock of OPF juice with 55 g/L of initial total sugars concentration was autoclaved separately prior to addition with the MSM medium. The MSM compositions were prepared as previously reported by Zahari et al. [13], except that 0.5 g/L of (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was used in this study. The temperature inside the bioreactor was set at 30°C, while DOT level was set at various concentrations of saturation throughout the fermentation using cascade mode and supplied with air at 1.0 vvm. The pH value during fermentation was controlled at pH 7.0  $\pm$  0.05 by 2 M NaOH/H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Samples were withdrawn every 5 h for the period of 50 h for the determination of CDW, P(3HB) concentration, residual sugars, and ammoniacal nitrogen (NH<sub>3</sub>-N) content.

#### 2.4. Analytical Procedures

2.4.1. Biomass and Culture Medium Separation. Residual sugars concentration, cell dry weight measurement, and P(3HB) analysis were done as previously described by Zahari et al. [13]. The samples from the bacterial fermentations were taken at the end of the cultivation period to measure the total dry weight and P(3HB) content. Each sample was centrifuged at 11,000 × g for 5 min at 4°C (Thermo Fisher Scientific, NC, USA) and the solids were washed with distilled water and centrifuged for two consecutive times.

2.4.2. Determination of Cell Dry Weight and P(3HB) Content. Dry weight measurements were carried out by drying the solids at 50°C and cooling in a desiccator to constant weight. The P(3HB) content and composition in the lyophilized cell were determined using the gas chromatography (Shimadzu GC-2014). Approximately, 20 mg of lyophilized cells were subjected to methanolysis in the presence of methanol and sulfuric acid [85%:15% (v/v)]. The organic layer containing the reaction products was separated, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and analyzed by GC according to the standard method [20] using an ID-BP1 capillary column, 30 m × 0.25 mm × 0.25  $\mu$ m film thickness (SGE).

2.4.3. Determination of Residual Ammoniacal Nitrogen ( $NH_3$ -N) Content. The supernatant was then analyzed for residual sugars and ammoniacal nitrogen content. Residual ammoniacal nitrogen ( $NH_3$ -N) content analysis was done using

Initial pH	CDW (g/L)	Total P(3HB) (g/L)	P(3HB) content (wt.%) <sup>b</sup>
6.0	6.42	1.28	20
6.5	7.12	1.99	28
7.0	8.57	2.91	34
7.5	6.89	1.72	25
8.0	4.02	0.40	10

TABLE 1: Effect of initial pH value on the biosynthesis of P(3HB)<sup>a</sup>.

<sup>a</sup>MSM containing 16 g/L of total sugars in OPF juice and supplied with 1.0 g/L of  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ , incubated at 30°C for 48 h with agitation at 200 rpm. <sup>b</sup>Determination by GC from freeze dried samples.

\*Values obtained herewith are means of two independent experiments.

Nessler method according to standard procedures (HACH, USA) which was previously described by Zakaria [21]. Samples with appropriate dilution factor were filled to 25 mL in the sampling bottles. Three drops of mineral stabilizer were added into solution and the bottle was inverted for several times. Three drops of polyvinyl alcohol also were added into the solution and mixed well with inversion several times. Lastly, 1.0 mL of Nessler reagent was added to the mixtures and mix thoroughly by inversion. The standard solution was prepared by replacing the samples with deionised water as blank sample. The sample solution was determined at the wavelength ( $\lambda$ ) 425 nm using DR/4000 spectrophotometer by following the manufacturer, instructions (HACH, USA).

2.4.4. Determination of Residual Sugars. Residual sugars were determined by a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (Agilent Series 1200, USA) using the Supelcosil LC-NH2 column (Sigma Aldrich) (25 cm × 4.6 mm ID, 5  $\mu$ m particles) with a RI detector operated at 30°C. The mobile phase was acetonitrile : water (75% : 25%) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. The components were identified by comparing their retention times with those of authentic standards under analytical conditions and quantified by external standard method [22].

2.5. *Extraction of P*(3HB). Solvent extraction method as described by Zakaria et al. [23] was carried out in order to extract the P(3HB) produced from fermentation. P(3HB) film was then prepared by solvent casting using chloroform.

2.6. Characterization of P(3HB). Thermal properties of the polymer were determined by differential scanning colorimetry (DSC) (TA Instruments). For DSC analysis, 5–7 mg of homopolymer samples were weighed and heated from 20 to 200°C at heating rates 10°C/min and held for 1 min. The first scan was conducted to eliminate the polymer history. The samples were then fast cooled from 200°C to -30°C. The second scan was used in reheating the samples at the same heating rates and was used in evaluating the thermal properties of the biopolymer. The tensile strength, Young's modulus and elongation to break were determined by using Instron Universal Testing Machine (Model 4301) at 5 mm/min of crosshead speed [21]. Mechanical tensile data were calculated from the stress-strain curves on average of five specimens.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

#### 3.1. Biosynthesis of P(3HB) in Shake Flask Experiment

3.1.1. Effect of Initial Medium pH. The effect of initial medium pH on biosynthesis of P(3HB) from OPF juice was studied by varying the pH between pH 6.0 and 8.0 due to the fact that C. necator can tolerate and produce PHA at the aforementioned pH range [24]. Suitable initial medium pH is crucial for the cell growth and P(3HB) accumulation by C. necator (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>). As shown in Table 1, increasing the initial medium pH value at intervals of 0.5 units affected both the cell growth and P(3HB) production. Both the cell growth and P(3HB) content were increased when the initial medium pH was increased from pH 6.0 to pH 7.0, that is, from 6.42 g/L to 8.57 g/L for CDW and 20 wt.% to 34 wt.% for P(3HB) content, respectively. However, further increase of initial medium pH above pH 7.0 decreased both the CDW and P(3HB) content. From the results, it can be concluded that pH 7.0 was the optimum initial medium pH for the growth and biosynthesis of P(3HB) by C. necator (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>) in which, 8.57 g/L of CDW and 34 wt.% of P(3HB) accumulation was recorded. The optimal pH for the cell growth and P(3HB) accumulation in this study was similar to those reported in the literature. It was reported that the optimum pH for growth and P(3HB) production by A. eutrophus was pH 6.9 and that a pH of 5.4 inhibited its growth [16].

On the other hand, lowest CDW and P(3HB) content, 4.02 g/L and 10 wt.%, respectively, were obtained at pH 8.0. Lowest cell growth and P(3HB) accumulation at this initial pH value were obtained might due to alkaline condition which could affect the P(3HB) production. These results corroborate with other be previous findings. For instance, N. J. Palleroni and A. V Palleroni. [25], recommended a pH range of between 6.0 to 7.5 for microbial growth and P(3HB) production. Although P(3HB) production can be controlled by precisely manipulating the medium pH, it has been reported that pH values other than 7.0 affected P(3HB) production [26]. These results suggested that P(3HB) production is sensitive to the pH of cultivation.

3.1.2. Effect of Agitation Speed. Table 2 displays the effect of agitation speed on biosynthesis of P(3HB) using OPF juice as substrate in shake flasks experiment. It is interesting to note that both cell growth and P(3HB) production

Agitation speed (rpm)	CDW (g/L)	Total P(HB) (g/L)	P(3HB) content (wt.%) <sup>b</sup>
180	7.37	1.62	22
200	8.30	2.66	32
220	9.42	3.77	40
240	6.37	1.72	27
260	5.19	1.09	21

TABLE 2: Effect of agitation speed on the biosynthesis of P(3HB)<sup>a</sup>.

<sup>a</sup>MSM containing 16 g/L of total sugars in OPF juice and supplied with 1.0 g/L of  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ , incubated at  $30^{\circ}C$  for 48 h (initial pH medium adjusted at  $7.0 \pm 0.1$ ).

<sup>b</sup>Determination by GC from freeze dried samples.

\*Values obtained herewith are means of two independent experiments.

TABLE 3: Effect of $(NH_4)_2SO_4$	concentration on bios	vnthesis of P(3HB) <sup>a</sup>
1/4 1		

(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> concentration (g/L)	CDW (g/L)	Total P(3HB) (g/L)	P(3HB) content (wt.%) <sup>b</sup>
0.0	5.25	2.31	44
0.5	8.31	3.49	42
1.0	8.65	2.94	34
1.5	9.05	2.62	29
2.0	10.15	2.33	23

<sup>a</sup>MSM containing 16 g/L of total sugars in OPF juice, incubated at  $30^{\circ}$ C for 48 h with agitation at 200 rpm (initial pH medium adjusted at 7.0 ± 0.1). <sup>b</sup>Determination by GC from freeze dried samples.

\*Values obtained herewith are means of two independent experiments.

showed an increasing trend with the agitation speed up to 220 rpm. For the agitation speed of more than 220 rpm, the cell biomass and P(3HB) content was decreased. This result suggests that agitation speed plays an important role in the fermentation process. Agitation not only provides mixing and homogeneous cell and heat dispersion in the fermentation broth, but also better aeration for the cells by increasing the oxygen transfer rate throughout the fermentation medium. Generally, slower agitation speed may cause the possibilities of cells aggregation, making the culture medium more heterogeneous. This may cause the cell growth to be decreased and thus affecting the production of P(3HB). On the other hand, increasing agitation speed higher than its optimal level may reduce the P(3HB) formation, and hence, the CDW. This is due to the fact that PHA is only produced and stored as granules in the cell cytoplasm by microorganisms when they are under stress conditions, for example when there is limitation of nutrient or electron acceptor such as oxygen [27].

In our study, the best condition for the biosynthesis of P(3HB) is at moderate agitation speed which is at 220 rpm with the highest CDW and P(3HB) content reaching up to 9.42 g/L and 40 wt.%, respectively.

3.1.3. Effect of  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  Concentration. Nitrogen is an essential element for cell growth and P(3HB) accumulation.  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  has been widely used as the inorganic nitrogen source for the biosynthesis of P(3HB) by *C. necator*. It is important to optimize nitrogen content in fermentation medium as P(3HB) accumulation in the microorganisms can be triggered when one of the nutrients  $(N, P, Mg, and O_2)$  in the mineral salt is limited in the presence of excess carbon source [14, 15].

The effect of different  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentrations on biosynthesis of P(3HB) by *C. necator* (CCUG52338<sup>T</sup>) from OPF juice is summarized in Table 3. In overall, it was observed that CDW was increased when  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ concentration increased from 0 to 2.0 g/L. On the other hand, P(3HB) accumulation decreased with the increase of  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentration. Highest P(3HB) accumulation at 44 wt.% was achieved when there was no addition of  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ , in the culture medium. However, unsatisfactory cell growth that is, 5.25 g/L of CDW was observed in the experiment.

Based on the results, it was also found that  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ concentration at 0.5 g/L was the optimal concentration for P(3HB) accumulation and CDW formation, giving 42 wt.% and 8.31 g/L, respectively. Further increasing nitrogen concentration slightly improved the cells growth; however the accumulation of P(3HB) was restricted. This may be due to excess nitrogen concentration that limited the P(3HB) accumulation. These results corroborate to the literature, which reported that P(3HB) formation predominantly occurs under-nitrogen and oxygen-limited conditions [14, 15, 28, 29]. It was discussed that excess nitrogen source may restrict acetyl-CoA from entering P(3HB) production pathways and otherwise channelling into TCA cycle for biomass production [15, 21, 28].

3.1.4. Biosynthesis of P(3HB) under Optimized Condition in Shake Flask. Biosynthesis of P(3HB) was then carried out in shake flask under the optimized conditions: initial pH medium, 7.0; agitation speed, 220 rpm and  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentration, 0.5 g/L. Under these conditions, the maximum cell dry weight obtained was  $9.31\pm0.13$  g/L with  $45\pm1.5$  wt.% of P(3HB) accumulation. The P(3HB) produced from this



FIGURE 1: (a) Time profile of cell growth and P(3HB) production by *C. necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>) using OPF juice in 2-L bioreactor at 30% DOT level. (b)Time profile of sugars and ammonical nitrogen utilization by *C. necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>) using OPF juice in 2-L bioreactor at 30% DOT level.

study is 40% higher compared to the P(3HB) produced under nonoptimized condition as shown in our previous study [13]. The results presented herewith demonstrated that pH, agitation speed, and nitrogen concentration indeed plays an important role in the P(3HB) production by *C. necator* (CCUG52338<sup>T</sup>) utilizing OPF juice.

#### 3.2. Biosynthesis of P(3HB) in 2-L Bioreactor

3.2.1. Effect of Dissolved Oxygen Tension (DOT). Biosynthesis of P(3HB) from OPF juice by *C. necator* (CCUG52338<sup>T</sup>) was carried out through batch cultivation process in 2-L bioreactor. The effect of DOT level in the bioreactor was studied for DO concentrations of 20 to 50% and the results are shown in Table 4. It was observed that CDW was increased when DOT level increased from 20 to 50%. On the other hand, P(3HB) accumulation was decreased with the increase in DOT level. Highest CDW (12.81 g/L) and P(3HB) content (46 wt.%) were achieved at 50 and 20% DOT level, respectively. Based on the

result, it was found that dissolved oxygen concentration in the fermentation medium improved the cell growth; however, P(3HB) accumulation was found to be increased towards oxygen limitation. This result suggested that appropriate level of oxygen is needed for cell development, and oxygen depletion was favorable for P(3HB) accumulation.

As shown in Table 4, P(3HB) accumulation was tripled at lower dissolved oxygen concentration (20%) compared to the higher ones (50%). This might be due to the fact that insufficient supply of oxygen to the bacteria may decrease oxidation of NADH and lead to P(3HB) biosynthesis [15, 21, 28]. A similar observation was obtained in our previous study on the effect of different  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$  concentration on P(3HB) production using OPF juice in shake flask experiment. These results indicate that both nitrogen and oxygen limitation do not improve cell biomass development, but markedly improve the P(3HB) accumulation. Therefore, it can be suggested that besides nitrogen depletion, oxygen limitation is also important in getting the optimal level of P(3HB) accumulation.

3.2.2. Cell Biomass and P(3HB) Production Profile. In order to study cell biomass and P(3HB) production profile by *C. necator* (CCUG52238<sup>T</sup>), batch cultivation process was carried out using OPF juice in 2-L bioreactor with aeration supplied at 30% DOT level and the results were depicted in Figures 1(a) and 1(b). It was observed that the culture entered the exponential phase after a lag of 15 h, and nitrogen was completely consumed within 35 h. Highest CDW (11.37 g/L) and P(3HB) content (44 wt.%) were achieved at 45 hr cultivation period. The biomass yield ( $Y_{x/s}$ ) and P(3HB) yield ( $Y_{p/s}$ ) were 0.81 g biomass/g sugars consumed and 0.36 g P(3HB)/g sugars consumed, respectively. The maximum P(3HB) productivity was 0.11 g/L/h.

Almost similar P(3HB) content with some improvement in cell growth was obtained in this study compared to the shake flask experiment under optimal condition. Higher CDW (11.37 g/L) and biomass yield (0.81 g biomass/g sugars consumed) obtained in fermentor compared to shake flask were due to different conditions which prevail in the shake flasks and fermentor; some of these conditions include aeration, agitation, and temperature. In fermentor, aeration was supplied via air sparging, and agitation is provided by an impeller or by the motion imparted to the broth (liquid phase) by rising gas bubbles [30]. Temperature is maintained at a constant and uniform value by circulation of cooling water through coils in the vessel or in a jacket surrounding the vessel [31]. Compared to our previous studies in shake flasks using technical grade sugars [13], batch studies in 2-L bioreactor using renewable sugars from OPF juice showed superior results in C. necator CCUG52238<sup>T</sup> probably due to the additional components in the OPF juice that improve the fermentation performance. An almost similar observation was reported by Koutinas et al. [12] when WH and FE were used as renewable feedstock for P(3HB) production. It was reported that the consumption of various carbon sources (carbohydrates,

DOT (%)	Maximum CDW (g/L)	Maximum total P(3HB) (g/L)	Maximum P(3HB) content (wt.%) <sup>b</sup>
20	9.55	3.93	46
30	11.37	4.78	44
40	12.52	3.38	25
50	12.81	2.37	15

TABLE 4: Effect of DOT (%) level on biosynthesis of P(3HB)<sup>a</sup>.

<sup>a</sup>Experiments were conducted in 2-L bioreactor (1 L working volume) by batch mode using OPF juice with initial total sugars of 16 g/L as substrates.

<sup>b</sup>Determination by GC from freeze dried samples.

\*Values obtained herewith are means of duplicate sample.

TABLE 5: Comparison of thermal and mechanical properties of P(3HB) obtained in this study with literature.

Microorganisms	Carbon sources	$T_m$	Tensile strength (MPa)	Elongation to break (%)	References
<i>C. necator</i> CCUG52238 <sup>T</sup>	OPF juice	162.2	40	8	This study
R. eutropha	Fructose	177	43	5	Doi, 1990 [28]
A. latus	Maple sap	177	_	_	Yezza et al., 2007 [10]

amino acids, peptides) presented in the feedstock resulted in high growth yields (up to 1.07 g cells/g glucose) as related to glucose.

As shown in Figures 1(a) and 1(b), the microbial growth is mainly associated with ammoniacal nitrogen consumption. For the first 35 h, lower sugars consumption by C. necator was observed. The sugars consumption within the time range was only 8.03 g/L which is half of the total sugars in the culture broth. On the other hand, the NH<sub>3</sub>-N was found to be decreased drastically from initial and completely exhausted after 35 h of cultivation period. This result indicates that at initial, the microbial growth was mainly attributed by the consumption of nitrogen sources from (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> supplied earlier as one of the medium composition in bioreactor. In addition to that, other organic compounds such as amino acids, carbohydrates, and other minerals which were previously characterized in the OPF juice could be used as supplementary growth substrates by the bacterium [13]. After that, the cell growth was mainly contributed by the cell expansion due to P(3HB) accumulation inside the cells. It can be seen that the P(3HB) accumulation was doubled that is, 20 wt.% to 40 wt.%, from 35 h to 40 h of cultivation period. From sugars consumption and P(3HB) profiles, it can be observed that the detectable depletion of sugars in the medium from 35 h onwards can be associated with P(3HB) accumulation. These results are in agreement with the findings of other researchers that reported P(3HB) accumulation is favored by an excess of carbon source and limited supply of macrocomponents such as nitrogen and dissolved oxygen [7, 16, 29]. It is interesting to note that C. necator CCUG52238<sup>T</sup> completely utilized the glucose in the OPF juice. Regardless of fructose (due to too low concentration of fructose in the medium), it seems like the bacterium preferred to consume glucose compared to sucrose. Glucose consumption rate by C. necator CCUG52238<sup>T</sup> was much higher at 0.33 g/L/h, compared to that of sucrose that is, 0.049 g/L/h. This shows that C. necator CCUG52238<sup>1</sup> prefers monosaccharide than disaccharide as its carbon source.

3.2.3. Characterization of Homopolymer P(3HB). The mechanical and thermal properties of the homopolymer produced in 2-L bioreactor are shown in Table 5. The mechanical and thermal properties of P(3HB) obtained in this study showed an almost similar properties to those reported in the literature. For instance, the tensile strength and elongation to break for P(3HB) produced in this study were 40 MPa and 8%, respectively, and it was comparable to the P(3HB) produced from pure fructose [28]. The melting temperature,  $T_m$  of P(3HB) obtained from OPF juice ( $T_m =$ 162.2°C), was slightly lower compared to the melting point 177°C reported for P(3HB) produced from pure fructose [28] and other renewable sugars such as maple sap [10]. This could be influenced by other properties of the P(3HB) such as molecular weight. It has been reported that the molecular weight of P(3HB) produced is mainly influenced by the type of bacterial strain, substrate, growth rate, and production temperature [15, 29, 32].

#### 4. Conclusions

This study demonstrated that higher cell growth and P(3HB) accumulation can be obtained by culturing Cupriavidus necator strain CCUG52238<sup>T</sup> at optimized condition using OPF juice as the sole renewable carbon source. Under the optimal conditions, the highest cell weight was  $9.31 \pm 0.13$  g/L with  $45 \pm 1.5$  wt.% of P(3HB) contained in the cells, accounts of 40% increment for P(3HB) content compared to the nonoptimized condition. Cultivation in a 2-L bioreactor with 30% DOT yielded CDW of 11.37 g/L and P(3HB) content of 44 wt.%. In the meanwhile, thermal and mechanical characterization of the P(3HB) obtained from OPF juice showed almost similar properties to those reported in the literature. It is worth to mention that this study may contribute to the process development for P(3HB) production from renewable OPF juice in pilot and industrial scale. Furthermore, since OPF is an abundant solid waste at oil palm plantation and is currently underutilized, it has a great potential to be used as sustainable, renewable, and cheap fermentation feedstock for the production of P(3HB).

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the Federal Land Development Authority, (FELDA) Malaysia, the Ministry of Science Technology and Innovation (MOSTI), Malaysia, and the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) for funding this research and giving the technical support during the study period. Their heartiest gratitude also goes to Universiti Malaysia Pahang (UMP) for providing the study leave. M. A. K. M. Zahari is a recipient of an academic training scholarship from the Ministry of Higher Education, Malaysia.

#### References

- [1] S. Y. Lee, "Review bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 49, pp. 1–14, 1996.
- [2] Beom Soo Kim, Seung Chul Lee, Sang Yup Lee, Ho Nam Chang, Yong Keun Chang, and Seong Ihl Woo, "Production of poly(3-hydroxybutyric acid) by fed-batch culture of *Alcaligenes eutrophus* with glucose concentration control," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 43, no. 9, pp. 892–898, 1994.
- [3] B. S. Kim and H. N. Chang, "Production of poly(3hydroxybutyrate) from starch by Azotobacter chroococcum," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 109–112, 1998.
- [4] Sei Kwang Hahn, Yong Keun Chang, Beom Soo Kim, and Ho Nam Chang, "Communication to the editor optimization of microbial poly(3- hydroxybutyrate) recovery using dispersions of sodium hypochlorite solution and chloroform," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 256–261, 1994.
- [5] W. J. Page, "Production of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate by Azotobacter vinelandii strain UWD during growth on molasses and other complex carbon sources," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 329–333, 1989.
- [6] J. M. B. T. Cavalheiro, M. C. M. D. de Almeida, C. Grandfils, and M. M. R. da Fonseca, "Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) production by *Cupriavidus necator* using waste glycerol," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 509–515, 2009.
- [7] M. Koller, A. Atlić, M. Dias, A. Reiterer, and G. Braunegg, "Microbial production from waste raw materials," *Microbiology Monograph*, vol. 14, pp. 85–119, 2010.
- [8] D. Rusendi and J. D. Sheppard, "Hydrolysis of potato processing waste for the production of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 191–196, 1995.
- [9] B. S. Kim, "Production of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) from inexpensive substrates," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 774–777, 2000.
- [10] A. Yezza, A. Halasz, W. Levadoux, and J. Hawari, "Production of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) by Alcaligenes latus from maple sap," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 269–274, 2007.
- [11] R. Haas, B. Jin, and F. T. Zepf, "Production of poly(3hydroxybutyrate) from waste potato starch," *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 253–256, 2008.
- [12] A. A. Koutinas, Y. Xu, R. Wang, and C. Webb, "Polyhydroxybutyrate production from a novel feedstock derived from a wheat-based biorefinery," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 1035–1044, 2007.
- [13] M. A. K. M. Zahari, M. R. Zakaria, H. Ariffin et al., "Renewable sugars from oil palm frond juice as an alternative novel

fermentation feedstock for value-added products," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 110, pp. 566–571, 2012.

- [14] S. Khanna and A. K. Srivastava, "Statistical media optimization studies for growth and PHB production by *Ralstonia eutropha*," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 2173–2182, 2005.
- [15] A. J. Anderson and E. A. Dawes, "Occurrence, metabolism, metabolic role, and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates," *Microbiological Reviews*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 450– 472, 1990.
- [16] M. Beaulieu, Y. Beaulieu, J. Melinard, S. Pandian, and J. Goulet, "Influence of ammonium salts and cane molasses on growth of *Alcaligenes eutrophus* and production of polyhy-droxybutyrate," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 165–169, 1995.
- [17] F. Tabandeh and E. Vasheghani-Farahani, "Biosynthesis of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate as a biodegradable polymer," *Iranian Polymer Journal*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 37–42, 2003.
- [18] M. S. Baei, G. D. Najafpour, H. Younesi, F. Tabandeh, and H. Eisazadeh, "Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) synthesis by *Cupriavidus* necator DSMZ 545 utilizing various carbon sources," World Applied Science Journal, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 157–161, 2009.
- [19] S. Philip, S. Sengupta, T. Keshavarz, and I. Roy, "Effect of impeller speed and pH on the production of poly(3- hydroxybutyrate) using *Bacillus cereus* SPV," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 691–699, 2009.
- [20] G. Braunegg, B. Sonnleitner, and R. M. Lafferty, "A rapid gas chromatographic method for the determination of poly β hydroxybutyric acid in microbial biomass," *European Journal* of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 29– 37, 1978.
- [21] M. R. Zakaria, Biosynthesis of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-cohydroxyvalerate) copolymer from organic acids using Comamonas sp. EB172 [Ph.D. thesis], Faculty of Biotechnology & Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 2011.
- [22] E. Kafkas, M. Koşar, N. Türemiş, and K. H. C. Başer, "Analysis of sugars, organic acids and vitamin C contents of blackberry genotypes from Turkey," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 97, no. 4, pp. 732–736, 2006.
- [23] M. R. Zakaria, H. Ariffin, N. A. Mohd Johar et al., "Biosynthesis and characterization of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyvalerate) copolymer from wild-type *Comamonas* sp. EB172," *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, vol. 95, no. 8, pp. 1382–1386, 2010.
- [24] L. P. A. Paladino, Screening, optimization and extraction of polyhydroxyalkanoates and peptidoglycan from Bacillus megaterium [M.S. dissertation], Michigan Technological University, 2009.
- [25] N. J. Palleroni and A. V. Palleroni, "Alcaligenes latus, a new species of hydrogen-utilizing bacteria," *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 416–424, 1978.
- [26] Y. H. Wei, W. C. Chen, C. K. Huang et al., "Screening and evaluation of polyhydroxybutyrate-producing strains from indigenous isolate *Cupriavidus taiwanensis* strains," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 252–265, 2011.
- [27] L. S. Serafim, P. C. Lemos, M. G. E. Albuquerque, and M. A. M. Reis, "Strategies for PHA production by mixed cultures and renewable waste materials," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 615–628, 2008.
- [28] Y. Doi, "Structure and properties of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)," in *Microbial Polyesters*, VCH, New York, NY, USA, 1990.
- [29] L. L. Madison and G. W. Huisman, "Metabolic engineering of poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates): from DNA to plastic,"

*Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 21–53, 1999.

- [30] H. S. Fogler, *Elements of Chemical Reaction Engineering*, Prentice-Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 2nd edition, 1992.
- [31] H. W. Blanch and D. S. Clark, *Biochemical Engineering*, Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, USA, 1997.
- [32] M. A. Hassan, Y. Shirai, H. Umeki et al., "Acetic acid separation from anaerobically treated palm oil mill effluent by ion exchange resins for the production of polyhydroxyalkanoate by *Alcaligenes eutrophus*," *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 1465–1468, 1997.

## Research Article

# Lovastatin Production by *Aspergillus terreus* Using Agro-Biomass as Substrate in Solid State Fermentation

# Mohammad Faseleh Jahromi,<sup>1</sup> Juan Boo Liang,<sup>2</sup> Yin Wan Ho,<sup>1</sup> Rosfarizan Mohamad,<sup>3</sup> Yong Meng Goh,<sup>4</sup> and Parisa Shokryazdan<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Industrial Biotechnology, Institute of Bioscience, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Malaysia

<sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Animal Production, Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Malaysia

<sup>3</sup> Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Malaysia

<sup>4</sup> Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Malaysia

Correspondence should be addressed to Juan Boo Liang, jbliang@putra.upm.edu.my

Received 1 June 2012; Revised 2 July 2012; Accepted 2 July 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Mohammad Faseleh Jahromi et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Ability of two strains of *Aspergillus terreus* (ATCC 74135 and ATCC 20542) for production of lovastatin in solid state fermentation (SSF) using rice straw (RS) and oil palm frond (OPF) was investigated. Results showed that RS is a better substrate for production of lovastatin in SSF. Maximum production of lovastatin has been obtained using *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 and RS as substrate without additional nitrogen source (157.07 mg/kg dry matter (DM)). Although additional nitrogen source has no benefit effect on enhancing the lovastatin production using RS substrate, it improved the lovastatin production using OPF with maximum production of 70.17 and 63.76 mg/kg DM for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542 and *A. terreus* ATCC 74135, respectively (soybean meal as nitrogen source). Incubation temperature, moisture content, and particle size had shown significant effect on lovastatin production (P < 0.01) and inoculums size and pH had no significant effect on lovastatin production (P > 0.05). Results also have shown that pH 6, 25°C incubation temperature, 1.4 to 2 mm particle size, 50% initial moisture content, and 8 days fermentation time are the best conditions for lovastatin production in SSF. Maximum production of lovastatin using optimized condition was 175.85 and 260.85 mg/kg DM for *A. terreus* ATCC 74135, respectively, using RS as substrate.

#### 1. Introduction

Lovastatin is a potent drug for lowering the blood cholesterol and it was the first statin accepted by United States Food and Drug Administration (USFDA) in 1987 as a hypercholesterolemic drug [1]. It is a competitive inhibitor of HMG-CoA reductase, which is a key enzyme in the cholesterol production pathway [2]. Lovastatin is a secondary metabolite during the secondary phase (idiophase) of fungi growth [3]. This product can be produced by cultures of *Penicillium* species [4], *A. terreus* [5–7], *Monascus* species [8, 9], *Hypomyces*, *Doratomyces*, *Phoma*, *Eupenicillium*, *Gymnoascus*, and *Trichoderma* [10]. Although the ability of different groups of fungi for production of lovastatin was reported in many studies, only production of this compound by *A. terreus* was commercialized (for manufacture of high quantity of lovastatin for used as anticholesterol drag) [11]. Microorganisms are able to produce lovastatin in SSF or submerged culture [5, 7, 12–15]. Experiment showed that quantity of lovastatin production in SSF is significantly higher than submerged culture [5]. Different substrates were used for lovastatin production in SSF, including sorghum grain, wheat bran, rice, and corn [5, 7]. These substrate materials are normally expensive and are competing with food or feed ingredients for human and livestock. On the other hand, large quantity of agro-industrial biomass such as RS and OPF are produced globally particularly in the tropical countries. These agro-biomass are often burned away for disposal, causing huge environmental concerns, with only some remaining being used as roughage feed for ruminant livestock. These biomasses are, however, potential substrates for growth of microorganisms and production of biomaterials.

Over the last 250 years, the concentration of atmospheric methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) increased by approximately 150% [16], with agricultural activities contributing 40% of the total anthropogenic source, of which 15 to 20% is from enteric fermentation in ruminants [17]. On the other hand, ruminal CH<sub>4</sub> production accounts for between 2 to 15% of dietary energy loss for the host animals [18]. Because of the negative effects on environment and the host animal nutrition, mitigation of enteric CH4 emission in ruminant livestock had been extensively researched, including the use of various mitigating agents such as ionophores [19], organic acids [20], fatty acids [21], methyl coenzyme M reductase inhibitors [22], vaccine [23], and oil [24]. However, these technologies have limited application primarily because they, besides suppressing CH4 also, decrease nutrients digestibility (such as oil and fatty acids), have negative effect on human and animal health (antibiotics), or are not economically acceptable (methyl coenzyme M reductase inhibitors and vaccine).

Wolin and Miller [25] showed significantly reduction in growth and activity of methanogenic Archaea using lovastatin without any negative effect on cellulolytic bacteria that was due to the effect of this drug on inhibition the activity of HMG-CoA reductases in the archaeal microorganisms. It is uneconomical to use pure lovastatin as a feed additive for the mitigation of CH<sub>4</sub> production in ruminants. Production of this component using low-cost substrate and process for being used as animal feed additive were the main objective of present study.

Thus, the primary objective of this study was to investigate the efficacy of two strains of *A. terreus* (ATCC 20542 and ATCC 74135) for production of lovastatin using RS and OPF as substrates. In addition, the effects on nitrogen source, mineral solution, moisture, incubation time, pH, inoculum size, particle size, and incubation time on lovastatin production were investigated.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Substrate. RS and OPF were collected from the local fields in the state of Selangor, Malaysia. The materials were ground and sieved through mesh size 6 to obtain particles size of about 3.4 mm and dried in oven at 60°C for 48 h and used in SSF studies.

2.2. Microorganism and Preparation of Spore Suspension. A. terreus, ATCC 20542 and ATCC 74135, used in this study was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). They were maintained on potato dextrose agar (PDA) slants at 32°C for 7 days, stored at 4°C, and subcultured every two weeks. For the preparation of spore suspension, 10 mL of sterilized 0.1% Tween-80 solution was added to the 7-day old culture slants of the fungi at the end of incubation, surface of the culture was scratched with sterilized loop, and the Tween-80 solution containing spores was transferred into 100 mL Schott bottle containing the same solution and agitated thoroughly using a shaker to suspend the spores. The number of spores was measured using a hemocytometer and adjusted to approximately 10<sup>7</sup> spores/mL for use as inoculum throughout the study.

2.3. Solid State Fermentation. This study consisted of two subexperiments. In the first, the efficacy of lovastatin production by two strains of *A. terreus* (ATCC 20542 and ATCC 74135) using two types of agro-biomass (RS and OPF) as substrate was examined. In addition, soybean meal, urea and ammonium sulphate were used as nitrogen sources and the need to supplement mineral to enhance the fermentation process was studied. In the next subexperiment, fermentation conditions were optimized for maximum lovastatin production in SSF. The procedure of SSF for each subexperiments was described below. Both subexperiments were conducted in triplicate. Presented data are Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation.

Subexperiment 1: Effect of Substrate, Nitrogen, and Mineral Solution. Solid state fermentation was carried out in 500 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing 20 g of the respective substrate (RS or OPF). The moisture content of the substrate were adjusted with mineral solution (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>: 2.1 g/L, MgSO<sub>4</sub>: 0.3 g/L, CaCl<sub>2</sub>: 0.3 g/L, FeSO<sub>4</sub>: 0.11 g/L, ZnSO<sub>4</sub>: 0.3 g/L) or distilled water to produce a moisture content of approximately 75%. pH of all the solutions were adjusted to 6 before adding into the solid substrate. For the study on effect of nitrogen source on lovastatin production, 1% urea, 1% ammonium sulphate, or 10% of soybean meal was added in to the solid culture. The contents in the flasks were autoclaved for 15 min at 121°C and after cooling the flasks to room temperature, 10% inoculum were added and the contents of the flasks were thoroughly mixed. The flasks were incubated at 32°C for ten days.

Subexperiment 2: Optimization the Fermentation Condition. Since the production of lovastatin using RS as substrate was significantly higher than that for OPF, a follow-up experiment was conducted to optimize several factors (pH, temperature, particle size, inoculums size, and initial moisture content) known to affect SSF process for production of lovastatin by both strains of A. terreus using only RS as substrate. The second experiment consisted of five subexperiments, each evaluating the effect of one of the above five factors on the SSF process with the remaining factors being constant. For study on the effect of pH, because of the difficulty of adjusting the pH of solid sample in SSF, pH of solution was adjusted using 1 M Sodium hydroxide and 1 M hydrogen chloride to pH 5, 6, 7, and 8 (before adding in the substrate). Incubation temperatures between 25 to 42°C, five different particle sizes:  $<425 \,\mu\text{m}$  (mesh no. 40),  $425-600 \,\mu\text{m}$  (mesh no. 30), 600–1400 µm (mesh no. 14), 1.4–2 mm (mesh no. 10), and 2-3.35 mm (mesh no. 6), inoculums size of 5, 10, and 15% and initial moisture contents at 50, 66, and 75% were investigated.

2.4. Extraction and Determination of Lovastatin. At the end of fermentation, the solid culture was dried at 60°C for 48 h and 0.5 g of the dry culture was extracted with 15 mL methanol and shaking in a shaker for 60 min at 220 rpm [5].

TABLE 1: Effect of nitrogen source a	and mineral solution	on lovastatin proc	duction in solid state	e fermentation by A	A. <i>terreus</i> using rice straw
(RS) and oil palm frond (OPF) as su	ıbstrates.	ŕ			

Treatments	Lovastatin production (mg/kg DM)		
ireatilients	ATCC 20542	ATCC 74135	
RS	$154.48 \pm 22.88^{a}$	$157.07\pm1.92$	
RS plus mineral	$119.35 \pm 16.59^{ab}$	$146.09 \pm 7.49$	
RS plus mineral and urea	$96.3 \pm 3.02^{\rm bc}$	$118.26 \pm 6.38$	
RS plus mineral and soybean meal	$126.36 \pm 22.84^{ab}$	$139.63 \pm 25.45$	
RS plus mineral and ammonium sulphate	$66.19 \pm 3.39^{\circ}$	$129.39 \pm 21.90$	
Significant	**	NS	
OPF	$7.84\pm0.14^{\rm b}$	$13.09\pm2.22^{b}$	
OPF plus mineral	$9.66 \pm 0.03^{b}$	$7.2 \pm 1.55^{\mathrm{b}}$	
OPF plus mineral and urea	$21.25\pm4.66^{\rm b}$	$17.58\pm3.03^{b}$	
OPF plus mineral and soybean meal	$70.17\pm4.84^{\rm a}$	$63.76 \pm 14.00^{a}$	
OPF plus mineral and ammonium sulphate	$10.06\pm0.31^b$	$11.16 \pm 3.41^{b}$	
Significant	**	**	

NS: not significantly different.

\*\*Significantly different at 1% level.

<sup>a,b,c</sup> indicating that means for each substrate within column are significantly different.

After filtration with membrane filter  $(0.2 \,\mu\text{m})$ , the concentration of lovastatin in the filtrate was assayed using HPLC (Waters, USA, 2690) attached with an ODS column (Agilent, 250  $\times$  4.6 mm i.d., 5  $\mu$ m). The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile and water (70:30 by volume) contained 0.5% acetic acid. The flow rate was 1 mL/min. The photo diode array (PDA) detection range was set from 210 to 400 nm and lovastatin was detected at 237 nm. The sample injection volume was  $20 \,\mu$ L, and the run time was  $12 \,\text{min}$ . Since two forms of lovastatin (lactone and  $\beta$ -hydroxyl) are normally present in the fermented culture, they were separately determined in the HPLC. Commercial lovastatin (mevinolin K, 98%, HPLC grade, M2147, Sigma, USA) used as standard is in the lactone form. And  $\beta$ -hydroxyl lovastatin was produced from the lactone form using the method of Friedrich et al. [26]. Briefly, to prepare  $\beta$ -hydroxyl acid, lactone lovastatin was suspended in 0.1 M NaOH and heated at 50°C for 1 h in a shaking incubator. Subsequently, the mixture was adjusted to pH 7.7 with 1 M HCl, filtered through  $0.2 \,\mu m$  filters and used as standard for HPLC. The retention times of the hydroxyl and lactone forms of lovastatin were 6.668 and 10.898 min, respectively. Different concentrations ranged from 0.5 to 500 ppm of lovastatin were used as standard and standard curve of lovastatin.

2.5. Scanning Electron Microscope. Microscopy analysis was conducted using a Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) to determine the morphological growth of *A. terreus* on the surface of RS. The samples were dried (60°C for 48 h), cut into 1 mm size, and affixed to a metal SEM stub and sputter coated in gold using SEM coating unit (BAL-TEC SCD 005 Spotter coater). The coated specimens were viewed using Environmental Scanning Electron Microscope (Phillips XL30, Germany) at accelerating voltage of 15–25 KV.

2.6. *Chemical Analysis.* Neutral detergent fibre (NDF) and acid detergent fibre (ADF) were determined by the detergent

system [27]. Acid detergent lignin (ADL), crude protein (CP), and ash were determined using the method described by AOAC [28]. Hemicelluloses content was estimated as the difference between NDF and ADF, while cellulose content was the difference between ADF and ADL.

2.7. Statistical Analysis. All of the experiments were done with 3 replicate. Individual culture flasks were considered as experimental units. Data were analyzed as a completely randomized design (CRD) using the general linear model (GLM) procedure of SAS 9.2 [29] with a model that included treatment effects and experimental error. All multiple comparisons among means were performed using Duncan's new multiple range test ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

#### 3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Lovastatin Determination. Lovastatin was quantified as its  $\beta$ -hydroxyl and lactone forms (Figure 1). The  $\beta$ -hydroxyl of lovastatin is the more active form of this drug but is unstable [5], thus preparation for its standard solution was prepared freshly from the lactone form according to Friedrich et al. [26]. Because the hydroxyl form of lovastatin is not stable, lactone form is normally the primary lovastatin detected in the fermented products. The quantities of lovastatin reported in Table 1 were the combination of the two forms, but results of this study show that  $\beta$ -hydroxyl form is the dominant lovastatin in the solid cultures.

It was reported that the conditions needed for the conversion of lactone into the  $\beta$ -hydroxyl form are high pH (e.g., by addition of NaOH), heating to 50°C, and naturalization by acid. Since none of the above conditions was applied in this study, the  $\beta$ -hydroxyl form of lovastatin present in the extract in this study is believed to be a direct product of SSF and not due to conversion from the lactone form. Hydroxyl lovastatin has been reported to be the more active form of this drug [26], and its efficacy for inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase will be validated in subsequent experiment.



FIGURE 1: HPLC chromatogram of lovastatin in  $\beta$ -hydroxyl and lactone forms.

3.2. Effect of Substrate. In the first experiment, the efficacy of two strains of *A. terreus* on the production of lovastatin in SSF using RS and OPF as substrate was investigated. Lovastatin productions by both strains using RS and OPF as substrates are shown in Table 1. Quantity of lovastatin production by both strains of *A. terreus* in the RS samples was higher than OPF. The highest lovastatin production was 154.48 and 157.07 mg/kg DM, respectively, for *A. Terreus* ATCC 20542 and ATCC 74135 using RS as substrate without additional nitrogen and mineral supplementation.

Although the two strains of *A. terreus* tested were capable to produce lovastatin from RS and OPF, results of this study showed that RS is a more suitable substrate, producing significantly higher lovastatin than OPF.

Lovastatin can be produced from 9 molecules of acetyl-CoA during the fermentation (Figure 2) [30]. Since acetate production by microbial activity is correlated with carbohydrate fermentation, source of carbohydrate is important for production of this product. Lignocelluloses including cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin are the main components of agricultural biomass, therefore, for production of acetate, these macromolecules must first be hydrolyzed into their subunits such as glucose, xylose, in the presence of the appropriate enzymes, such as cellulase, hemicellulase, pectinase, and cellulobiase. The resulted monomers can then be used during the fermentation process of fungi and production of acetyl-CoA which can be used as substrate for lovastatin production (Figure 2). Therefore, the microorganisms selected for SSF must be able to degrade the lignocelluloses by producing sufficient amount of the appropriate enzymes to hydrolyze the respective lignocelluloses fractions. Production of cellulase (such as betaglucosidase, endoglucanase, and cellobiohydrolase) and hemicellulases (mainly xylanase) enzymes by A. terreus and their effects on lignocelluloses degradation have been well documented [31-33]. However, there is no known data on production of lignin degradation enzyme by A. terreus.

RS has two main advantages over OPF as substrate for *A. terreus* in SSF. Lignin content of RS is half that of OPF and its hemicelluloses content is higher than OPF (Figure 3). The lower production of lovastatin recorded for OPF using the two *A. terreus* could be partly due to the absence of enzyme to degrade the lignin component of the biomass. Reports also showed that *A. terreus* has high ability to produce hemicellulase enzymes such as xylanase [34], making RS

which contains high hemicelluloses more appropriate as substrate for lovastatin production.

3.3. Effect of Mineral Solution and Nitrogen Source. Effects of mineral solution and nitrogen on lovastatin production by *A. terreus* are shown in Table 1. Addition of mineral solution has no significant effect on quantity of lovastatin production by both strains of *A. terreus*. Although addition of nitrogen source has no significant effect on lovastatin production by *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 (P > 0.05), it negatively affected lovastatin production by *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 (P > 0.05), it negatively affected lovastatin production by *A. terreus* ATCC 20542 (P < 0.01) mainly in the ammonium sulphate treatment. Supplementation of minerals and nitrogen sources (especially soybean meal) increased the of total lovastatin to about 64 mg/kg DM in *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 using OPF, but it is still half of that compared to RS (Table 1).

Minerals and nitrogen are essential growth nutrients for microorganisms [15]. In submerged fermentation, these nutrients must be added into the medium to sustain the growth of the microorganisms [34]. Agricultural biomass such as RS contain mineral components [35, 36]. Ash content of RS and OPF which is indicator of mineral content of these by products was shown in Figure 3. This quantity can supply the request of *A. terreus* for growth and lovastatin production and additional mineral solution has no effect on enhancement of the lovastatin production by this fungus.

Although nitrogen source is important for fermentation, but carbon:nitrogen (C:N) ratio is more important for lovastatin production. Negative effect of additional nitrogen source on lovastatin production was reported in previous study [37]. In the study of growth of A. terreus, and lovastatin production, the above authors reported that type of carbon and nitrogen sources and C:N ratio in the medium has important effect on lovastatin production and by increased the C:N ratio (from 14.4 to 23.4 and 41.3) the ability of A. Terreus for lovastatin production was increased. Use of a slowly metabolized carbon source (lactose) in combination with either soybean meal or yeast extract under nitrogenlimited conditions gave the highest lovastatin production. Effect of C: N ratio on lovastatin production was also studied by Bizukojc and Ledakowicz [6] who reported that higher C:N ratio can provide better fermentation condition for lovastatin (mevinolinic acid) production (Figure 4). Results of the chemical analysis showed that the availability of N in RS (CP = 4.2%) is higher than OPF (CP = 3.2%) (Figure 3). On the other hand, stranger bands in the cell wall polymers of OPF in comparison to the RS due to the higher lignin (Figure 3) can suppress the availability of nitrogen for fungal activity in OPF. It can be concluded that RS without additional nitrogen has better C: N ratio in comparison to the samples that contain additional nitrogen sources. In contrast, to achieve the suitable C: N ratio in the OPF culture, additional nitrogen source is requested.

3.4. Effect on Lignocellulose Reduction. Although the main objective of this study was to investigate the ability of *A. terreus* to produce lovastatin using biomass as substrate, ability of this fungus to reduce the lignocelluloses content



FIGURE 2: Lovastatin production pathway [30].

of RS and OPF was also important, particularly when these materials would be considered as feed for ruminants. Effect of the two strains of *A. terreus* on reduction of lignocelluloses content of RS and OPF is shown in Table 2. Results show that (i) additional mineral solution has no effect (P > 0.05) to enhancing the ability of *A. terreus*  to reduce lignocelluloses content of RS and OPF but (ii) nitrogen supplement increases the ability of the fungi to degrade cellulosic materials. Both nitrogen solution, urea and ammonium sulphate significantly increased lignocellulosic components reduction. *A. terreus* has higher ability for reduction of lignocelluloses content of RS compared to OPF.



FIGURE 3: Lignocellulose, crude protein, and ash content of RS and OPF.



FIGURE 4: The evolution of mevinolinic acid (lovastatin) production in the batch culture at different initial yeast extract concentrations and C:N ratio content [6].

Although the effect of ammonium sulphate on lignocelluloses content reduction was higher than urea, this difference was not significant (Table 2). Because of its affordable price, urea is the most widely used nonprotein nitrogen in ruminant feed [38]. Thus, it is used as the nitrogen source in the following experiment for *A. terreus*.

Based on the higher yield of lovastatin using RS as substrate, the follow-up study for optimization of influencing factors (pH, temperature, particular size, inoculum size and initial moisture content and incubation time) was examined using the two strains of fungi on RS alone with addition of urea.

3.5. Effect of Initial pH. Study on initial pH (Figure 5) indicated that this factor has no significant effect on lovastatin production by both strains of *A. Terreus* (P > 0.05); however, pH 6 produced the highest lovastatin; 67.88 and 85.49 mg/kg DM by *A. terreus* ATCC 20542 and *A. terreus* ATCC 74135, respectively. There was no significant difference in lovastatin production for pH of 5 to 8; however, pH higher than 7 or lower than 6 had negative effect on lovastatin production. Kumar et al. [39] showed that pH 5.8–6.3 provided optimum conditions for lovastatin production by *A. terreus* in the batch process. Other researchers [40–42] also reported optimum pH of within the range of 5–7 using various fungi for statin production. The above information thus suggested that optimum initial pH for lovastatin production in SSF is near neutral pH with small variations which could be due to the types of substrate and microorganism used in the fermentation process. On the other hand, [43] reported that by controlling pH and slowly adding the carbon source lovastatin yield could increase five folds.

3.6. Effect of Temperature. One of the important factors effecting microbial activity and thus biomaterial production is incubation temperature. Results of this study suggest that 25°C is optimum temperature for lovastatin production in SSF by the two strains of *A. terreus* with maximum production of 171.61 and 202.93 mg/kg DM for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542 and *A. terreus* ATCC 74135, respectively (Figure 6). Increasing the incubation temperature to higher than 25°C has negative effect on lovastatin production and *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 being more sensitive to the temperature change. Similar incubation temperature (25°C) was also reported previously [43, 44] for lovastatin production. Optimum temperature of 29.5°C for lovastatin production had been reported by Panda et al. [40] using *Monascus purpureus* and *Monascus Ruber* while Kumar et al. [39] showed that 28°C is

Treatments	A. terreus A	A. terreus ATCC 20542		TCC 74135
freatments	Cellulose	H-cellulose	Cellulose	H-cellulose
Nonfermented RS	$44.97\pm0.22^{ab}$	$21.50\pm1.16^{a}$	$44.97\pm0.22^{\text{a}}$	$21.50 \pm 1.16^{a}$
Fermented RS (FRS)	$46.83 \pm 2.12^{a}$	$18.06\pm1.20^{bc}$	$45.12\pm0.23^{\text{a}}$	$13.13\pm0.79^{b}$
FRS plus mineral	$45.80\pm0.67^{ab}$	$19.63\pm0.80^{ab}$	$44.91\pm0.72^{a}$	$12.38\pm0.76^b$
FRS plus mineral and urea	$40.70 \pm 2.52^{\circ}$	$16.96 \pm 1.78^{dc}$	$41.97\pm0.61^{b}$	$9.21 \pm 1.05^{c}$
FRS plus mineral and ammonium sulphate	$42.72\pm3.69^{bc}$	$15.11\pm1.65^{d}$	$40.97\pm0.51^{\text{c}}$	$7.79\pm2.50^{\rm c}$
Significant	*	**	**	**
Nonfermented OPF	$46.76\pm0.34^a$	$18.13 \pm 1.83$	$46.76\pm0.34^{a}$	$18.13 \pm 1.83$
Fermented OPF (FOPF)	$43.22\pm2.59^b$	$19.36\pm0.31$	$46.23\pm1.17^a$	$15.66 \pm 1.05$
FOPF plus mineral	$43.04 \pm 1.28^b$	$15.82\pm2.92$	$45.34\pm0.95^{ab}$	$15.01\pm0.82$
FOPF plus mineral and urea	$42.37 \pm 1.92^{b}$	$16.90\pm0.15$	$43.40\pm0.89^{b}$	$15.40\pm0.62$
FOPF plus mineral and ammonium sulphate	$44.66\pm0.54^{ab}$	$18.30\pm1.80$	$43.59\pm1.69^{b}$	$15.00 \pm 1.51$
Significant	*	NS	*	NS

TABLE 2: Effect of SSF on cellulose and hemicellulose contents of RS and OPF (% of dry mater).

NS: not significantly different.

\*Significantly different at 5% level.

\*\*Significantly different at 1% level.

<sup>a,b,c</sup> indicating that means within column are significantly different.



FIGURE 5: Effect of pH on lovastatin production by two strains of A. terreus (P > 0.05).



FIGURE 6: Effect of incubation temperature on lovastatin production by *A. terreus* (P < 0.01). (a, b, and c) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542. (A, B, and C) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542.



FIGURE 7: Effect of particle size on lovastatin production by two strains of *A. terreus* (P < 0.01). (a, b, c, and d) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542. (A, B, C, and D) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542.



FIGURE 8: Scanning electron micrographs of *A. Terreus* ATCC 20542 (a) and *A. Terreus* ATCC 75135 (b) on the surface of RS. High concentration of mycelium and spore could have negative effects on air flow in the solid culture.

optimum incubation temperature for lovastatin production by *A. terreus*.

3.7. Effect of Particle Size. Five different particle sizes of RS were used to study the effect of this factor on lovastatin production. The results suggest optimum particle size of RS for lovastatin production was between 1.4 to 2 mm and *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 is more sensitive to changes in particle size (Figure 7). The above results are differed with that of Valera et al. [41], who found increasing particle size of wheat bran as substrate (from 0.4 to 1.1 mm) in SSF resulted in reduction of lovastatin production. They further reported an interaction effect between particle size and moisture content of solid material on lovastatin production.

There are two opposing effects of particle size on SSF process at any given moisture content. The first is small particle size that increases surface area of solid materials for the attachment and growth of the fungi. The second is smaller particle size that reduces interspace between particles and gas phase oxygen transfer and thus reduces the growth potential of the aerobic microorganisms. In addition, growth

and multiplication of microorganisms on the surface of solid materials further reduce the gas phase space and make it even more difficult for air transfer between solid particles. Effect of high micellium content on reduction of the gas phase space of RS culture are shown in Figure 8. High concentration of mycelium and spores present between the solid particles reduce the flow of air in the culture and could reduce the available oxygen for growth of *A. terreus*.

On the other hand, some reports that indicate reduction of particle size enhanced production of lovastatin in SSF [15]. Wei et al. [7] reported that grounding rice through 20 mesh size ( $840 \mu m$ ) has positive effect but further reduction using 40 mesh size ( $420 \mu m$ ) reduced lovastatin production compared with the natural size of rice grain. The formation of lovastatin is strictly dependent on the oxygen supplied; however, Bizukojc and Ledakowicz [6] reported that aeration rate up to 0.308 vvm is preferred for lovastatin biosynthesis as higher aeration has negative effect on lovastatin production.

3.8. *Effect of Moisture*. Moisture content had significant effect on lovastatin production (P < 0.01) (Figure 9). Results



FIGURE 9: effect of moisture content on lovastatin production by two strains of *A. terreus* (P < 0.01). (a, b, and c) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542. (A, B, and C) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542.



FIGURE 10: Effect of inoculums size on lovastatin production by A terreus (P > 0.05).

of this study suggest that 50% moisture content is optimum for lovastatin production by two strains of *A. Terreus*. Results also showed that *A. Terreus* ATCC 74135 is more sensitive to the moisture and at 50% moisture production of lovastatin by this strain can be up to 238.74 mg/kg DM. Other studies [41, 42] reported that slightly higher (58 to 60%) initial moisture produced maximum yield of statin using other fungi. High moisture content resulted in aggregation of substrate particles, reduction of aeration and leading to anaerobic conditions [45].

3.9. Effect of Inoculum Size. Figure 10 shows that different inoculum sizes did not affect (P > 0.05) lovastatin production by the two strains of *A. Terreus.* Previous study showed no significant different in lovastatin production using  $5 \times 10^7$  to  $10 \times 10^7$  spores/mL (wihin the ranged used in this study), but use of lower than  $5 \times 10^7$  spores/mL can depress the production of lovastatin [15].

3.10. Effect of Incubation Time. To study the effect of incubation time on lovastatin production, optimal conditions for all the other factors (pH = 6, temperature =  $25^{\circ}$ C, inoculums size = 10% and moisture = 50%) obtained

earlier were applied. Results of the study suggested that maximum production of lovastatin was achieved on day 12 with lovastatin production of 175.85 mg/kg DM for A. terreus ATCC 20542 but day 8 with lovastatin production of 260.85 mg/kg DM for A. terreus ATCC 74135 (Figure 11). In both fungi cultures, the concentration of lovastatin increased until day 8 with no significant effect on lovastatin production thereafter. Pansuriya and Singhal [15] reported that lovastatin production by A. terreus in SSF using wheat bran increased until day 3 of fermentation with no further enhancement thereafter. The shorter duration of the above study compared to the present study could be due to higher quality of substrate (rice bran versus RS). The yields of lovastatin obtained in this study were about 20% of those reported [5, 42] using wheat bran and groundnuts oil cake as substrates. The lower lovastatin yield recorded in this study, using agro-biomass as compared to those using high-energy grains and oil seeds, was acceptable.

#### 4. Conclusion

Results of this study suggest that RS is the better substrate than OPF for lovastatin production in SSF. Although



FIGURE 11: Lovastatin production by *A. terreus* in optimum condition at different time of incubation (P < 0.01). (a, b, c, and d) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542. (A, B, and C) indicate differences among means between samples for *A. terreus* ATCC 20542.

additional nitrogen source has no benefit for improvement the lovastatin production, it enhances lignocelluloses degradation by the fungi. Since one of the main objectives of this study was to evaluate the use of the fermented RS as ruminant feed, urea was supplemented as nitrogen source in the fermentation process. Results of optimization experiment indicate that pH 6, 25°C incubation temperature, 10% inoculums size, 50% moisture content, and 8 days fermentation are the best conditions for maximum lovastatin production in SSF using RS as substrate with *A. terreus* ATCC 74135 recorded higher lovastatin production of 260.85 mg/kg DM after 8 days fermentation.

The present study provides a new insight for production of lovastatin and/or other similar biomaterials of high value from agro-biomass, which otherwise may be sources of pollutant to the environment. Furthermore, the lovastatin enriched fermented RS has the potential to be used as antimethanogenesis feed supplement for reduction of enteric methane production in the ruminant animals. The above suggestion needs further investigations.

#### Acknowledgment

This study was supported by the Fundamental Research Grant Scheme (FRGS 1/2010 UPM) of the Department of Higher Education Malaysia.

#### References

- J. A. Tobert, "Lovastatin and beyond: the history of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 517–526, 2003.
- [2] A. W. Alberts, J. Chen, and G. Kuron, "Mevinolin: a highly potent competitive inhibitor of hydroxymethylglutarylcoenzyme A reductase and a cholesterol-lowering agent," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 77, no. 7, pp. 3957–3961, 1980.
- [3] K. Gupta, P. K. Mishra, and P. Srivastava, "A correlative evaluation of morphology and rheology of *Aspergillus terreus* during lovastatin fermentation," *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 140–146, 2007.

- [4] A. Endo, M. Kuroda, and Y. Tsujita, "ML 236A, ML 236B, and ML 236C, new inhibitors of cholesterogenesis produced by *Penicillium citrinum*," *Journal of Antibiotics*, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 1346–1348, 1976.
- [5] N. Jaivel and P. Marimuthu, "Optimization of lovastatin production in solid state fermentation by *Aspergillus terreus*," *Optimization*, vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 2730–2733, 2010.
- [6] M. Bizukojc and S. Ledakowicz, "Biosynthesis of lovastatin and (+)-geodin by Aspergillus terreus in batch and fed-batch culture in the stirred tank bioreactor," *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 198–207, 2008.
- [7] P. L. Wei, Z. N. Xu, and P. L. Cen, "Lovastatin production by Aspergillus terreus in solid-state fermentation," Journal of Zhejiang University, vol. 8, no. 9, pp. 1521–1526, 2007.
- [8] S. A. Sayyad, B. P. Panda, S. Javed, and M. Ali, "Optimization of nutrient parameters for lovastatin production by *Monascus purpureus* MTCC 369 under submerged fermentation using response surface methodology," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 1054–1058, 2007.
- [9] T. Miyake, K. Uchitomi, M. Y. Zhang et al., "Effects of the principal nutrients on lovastatin production by *Monascus pilosus*," *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 1154–1159, 2006.
- [10] A. Endo, K. Hasumi, and A. Yamada, "The synthesis of compactin (ML-236B) and monacolin K in fungi," *Journal of Antibiotics*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1609–1610, 1986.
- [11] A. L. Demain, Novel Microbial Products For Medicine and Agriculture, Vol. 1, Elsevier Science, 1989.
- [12] L. S. T. Lai, C. C. Pan, and B. K. Tzeng, "The influence of medium design on lovastatin production and pellet formation with a high-producing mutant of *Aspergillus terreus* in submerged cultures," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1317–1326, 2003.
- [13] W. F. Ruddiman and J. S. Thomson, "The case for human causes of increased atmospheric CH₄ over the last 5000 years," *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 20, no. 18, pp. 1769–1777, 2001.
- [14] S. Suryanarayan, "Current industrial practice in solid state fermentations for secondary metabolite production: the Biocon India experience," *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 13, no. 2-3, pp. 189–195, 2003.
- [15] R. C. Pansuriya and R. S. Singhal, "Response surface methodology for optimization of production of lovastatin by solid

state fermentation," *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 164–172, 2010.

- [16] R. K. Pachauri and A. Reisinger, Eds., Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, in Summary For Policymaker of Synthesis Report, IPCC, Cambridge, UK, 2007.
- [17] P. J. Crutzen, I. Aselmann, and W. Seiler, "Methane production by domestic animals, wild ruminants, other herbivorous fauna, and humans," *Tellus B*, vol. 38, no. 3-4, pp. 271–284, 1986.
- [18] A. R. Moss, "Measuring Methane Production from Ruminants," in *Methane: Global Warming and Production by Animals*, H. P. S. Makkar and P. E. Vercoe, Eds., p. 105, Chalcombe Publications, Canterbury, UK, 1993.
- [19] F. X. Wildenauer, K. H. Blotevogel, and J. Winter, "Effect of monensin and 2-bromoethanesulfonic acid on fatty acid metabolism and methane production from cattle manure," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 125– 130, 1984.
- [20] S. A. Martin, "Manipulation of ruminal fermentation with organic acids: a review," *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 76, no. 12, pp. 3123–3132, 1998.
- [21] F. Dohme, A. Machmüller, A. Wasserfallen, and M. Kreuzer, "Ruminal methanogenesis as influenced by individual fatty acids supplemented to complete ruminant diets," *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 47–51, 2001.
- [22] S. Y. Lee, S. H. Yang, W. S. Lee, H. S. Kim, D. E. Shin, and J. K. Ha, "Effect of 2-bromoethanesulfonic acid on in vitro fermentation characteristics and methanogen population," *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 42–48, 2009.
- [23] Y. J. Williams, S. Popovski, S. M. Rea et al., "A vaccine against rumen methanogens can alter the composition of archaeal populations," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 75, no. 7, pp. 1860–1866, 2009.
- [24] N. Mohammed, N. Ajisaka, Z. A. Lila et al., "Effect of Japanese horseradish oil on methane production and ruminal fermentation in vitro and in steers," *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 82, no. 6, pp. 1839–1846, 2004.
- [25] M. J. Wolin and T. L. Miller, "Control of rumen methanogenesis by inhibiting the growth and activity of methanogens with hydroxymethylglutaryl-SCoA inhibitors," *International Congress Series*, vol. 1293, pp. 131–137, 2006.
- [26] J. Friedrich, M. Zuzek, M. Bencina, A. Cimerman, A. Strancar, and I. Radez, "High-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of mevinolin as mevinolinic acid in fermentation broths," *Journal of Chromatography A*, vol. 704, no. 2, pp. 363– 367, 1995.
- [27] P. J. Van Soest, J. B. Robertson, and B. A. Lewis, "Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 74, no. 10, pp. 3583–3597, 1991.
- [28] AOAC, Official Methods of Analysis, AOAC: Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, DC, USA, 15th edition, 1990.
- [29] SAS, "SAS Institute Inc., 2008. SAS Online Doc 9. 2," SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA, 2008.
- [30] Z. Jia, X. Zhang, Y. Zhao, and X. Cao, "Enhancement of lovastatin production by supplementing polyketide antibiotics to the submerged culture of *Aspergillus terreus*," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 160, no. 7, pp. 2014–2025, 2010.
- [31] J. Gao, H. Weng, D. Zhu, M. Yuan, F. Guan, and Y. Xi, "Production and characterization of cellulolytic enzymes from the

thermoacidophilic fungal *Aspergillus terreus* M11 under solidstate cultivation of corn stover," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 99, no. 16, pp. 7623–7629, 2008.

- [32] J. Gao, H. Weng, Y. Xi, D. Zhu, and S. Han, "Purification and characterization of a novel endo-β-1,4-glucanase from the thermoacidophilic *Aspergillus terreus*," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 323–327, 2008.
- [33] G. Emtiazi, N. Naghavi, and A. Bordbar, "Biodegradation of lignocellulosic waste by *Aspergillus terreus*," *Biodegradation*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 259–263, 2001.
- [34] N. B. Ghanem, H. H. Yusef, and H. K. Mahrouse, "Production of *Aspergillus terreus* xylanase in solid-state cultures: application of the Plackett-Burman experimental design to evaluate nutritional requirements," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 73, no. 2, pp. 113–121, 2000.
- [35] S. Ikeda, Y. Yamashita, and I. Kreft, "Mineral composition of buckwheat by-products and its processing characteristics to konjak preparation," *Fagopyrum*, vol. 16, pp. 89–94, 1999.
- [36] M. Antongiovanni and C. Sargentini, "Variability in chemical composition of straws," *Options Mediterraneennes Serie Seminaires*, vol. 16, pp. 49–53, 1991.
- [37] J. L. Casas López, J. A. Sánchez Pérez, J. M. Fernández Sevilla, F. G. Acién Fernández, E. Molina Grima, and Y. Chisti, "Production of lovastatin by *Aspergillus terreus*: effects of the C:N ratio and the principal nutrients on growth and metabolite production," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 33, no. 2-3, pp. 270–277, 2003.
- [38] J. X. Liu, Y. M. Wu, X. M. Dai, J. Yao, Y. Y. Zhou, and Y. J. Chen, "The effects of urea-mineral lick blocks on the liveweight gain of local Yellow cattle and goats in grazing conditions," *Livestock Research For Rural Development*, vol. 7, no. 2, 1995.
- [39] M. S. Kumar, S. K. Jana, V. Senthil, V. Shashanka, S. V. Kumar, and A. K. Sadhukhan, "Repeated fed-batch process for improving lovastatin production," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 363–368, 2000.
- [40] B. P. Panda, S. Javed, and M. Ali, "Optimization of fermentation parameters for higher lovastatin production in red mold rice through co-culture of *Monascus purpureus* and *Monascus ruber*," *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 373– 378, 2010.
- [41] H. R. Valera, J. Gomes, S. Lakshmi, R. Gururaja, S. Suryanarayan, and D. Kumar, "Lovastatin production by solid state fermentation using *Aspergillus flavipes*," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 521–526, 2005.
- [42] N. S. Shaligram, S. K. Singh, R. S. Singhal, G. Szakacs, and A. Pandey, "Compactin production in solid-state fermentation using orthogonal array method by *P. brevicompactum*," *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 295–300, 2008.
- [43] M. Manzoni and M. Rollini, "Biosynthesis and biotechnological production of statins by filamentous fungi and application of these cholesterol-lowering drugs," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 555–564, 2002.
- [44] A. Endo, K. Hasumi, and S. Negishi, "Monacolins J and L, new inhibitors of cholesterol biosynthesis produced by *Monascus ruber*," *Journal of Antibiotics*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 420–422, 1985.
- [45] R. P. Tengerdy, "Solid substrate fermentation," *Trends in Bio-technology*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 96–99, 1985.

## Research Article

# A Novel Partially Biobased PAN-Lignin Blend as a Potential Carbon Fiber Precursor

#### M. Özgür Seydibeyoğlu

Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Izmir Katip Celebi University, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, 35620 Izmir, Turkey

Correspondence should be addressed to M. Özgür Seydibeyoğlu, seydibey@gmail.com

Received 8 June 2012; Revised 8 August 2012; Accepted 8 August 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 M. Özgür Seydibeyoğlu. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Blends of polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and lignin were prepared with three different lignin types by solution blending and solution casting. Among three types of lignin, one type was chosen and different blend concentrations were prepared and casted. The casted blend films were characterized chemically with fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), and thermally with thermogravimetric analysis (TGA). The mechanical properties of the blends were measured using dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA). FTIR analysis shows an excellent interaction of PAN and lignin. The interaction of the lignins and PAN was confirmed by TGA analysis. The DMA results reveal that the lignin enhance the mechanical properties of PAN at room temperature and elevated temperatures. The blend structure and morphology were observed using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). SEM images show that excellent polymer blends were prepared. The results show that it is possible to develop a new precursor material with a blend of lignin and PAN. These studies show that the side product of paper and cellulosic bioethanol industries, namely, lignin can be used for new application areas.

#### 1. Introduction

Carbon fibers attract attention throughout the world as a strong and light material in the composites industry for applications such as aerospace, automotive, and renewable energy resources [1]. For the fiber reinforced composites, carbon fibers are excellent reinforcing materials with mechanical strength of 5000 MPa, modulus value of 250 GPa, and density of 1.76 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. Carbon fiber was first invented in 1871 by using cellulose as the precursor but the industrial applicable carbon fiber was developed in the 1960's by Union Carbide. In the beginning of 1970's, the use of carbon fibers for aerospace and military applications started [1]. Besides superior specific strength (strength/density), carbon fibers exhibit excellent properties in electrical conductivity, shielding effects, and heat resistance [1].

For the production of carbon fibers, there are three main raw materials, precursors. The first one is the cellulose which was first used in 1871. Pitch and polyacrylonitrile (PAN) are two other materials to produce carbon fibers. Due to the final fiber properties obtained, carbon fiber produced from PAN is commonly used which contributes 90% of the total carbon fibers available in the market [2, 3].

The production capacity of carbon fiber is increasing with new composite manufacturing techniques in the world, thus the need for composites and carbon fibers is increasing. However the price of carbon fiber is not declining which limits the widespread use of carbon fibers [4]. One of the reasons for the high cost of the carbon fiber is the precursor material. The research for precursor material is limited in the academy and the research findings from PAN producers are not available in the public press. In the current carbon fiber industry, still the price of the precursor is one of the obstacles to get a widespread use of carbon fiber [5].

The precursor material, PAN is a terpolymer of acrylonitrile, vinyl acetate and itaconic acid. The precursor is prepared with different processing stages including polymerization, PAN-solvent (dimethylacetamide) mixture preparation, and fiber spinning. After obtaining PAN precursor, the fibers are transformed to carbon fiber via oxidation and carbonization processes followed by certain surface treatments [1].

To reduce the cost of precursor material, PAN polymer is blended with lignin in this study. Lignin is the third most abundant polymer on earth that is available from all the plants. The amount of lignin that is available is 300 billion tones [6]. Lignin constitutes 25–35% of the plants depending on the plant type [7]. With so many different plants there is much lignin resource.

On the other hand, lignin is generally removed during paper manufacturing and lignocellulosic bioethanol production. These industries are trying to find ways to obtain pure cellulose to achieve the highest quality by a process called delignification. Thus, lignin has been undervalued in these processes and it is not even considered as a coproduct [8]. Lignin is used as a fuel by burning at elevated temperatures [9]. However, the efficiency of lignin burning is limited. There are other studies conducted to prepare new materials with lignin. There are many studies reported on the polymer blend manufacturing with lignin and some other polymers [8]. There are studies to synthesize polyurethanes with lignin as the polyol [10]. The lignin finds applications as surfactant, ultraviolet stabilizers, dyes, and colorants [8].

Lignin was used to prepare carbon fibers as well. The research on carbon fibers with lignin is very limited due to the poor properties obtained with neat lignin material [11, 12]. The tensile strength values obtained are in the range of 600–700 MPa which is very low compared to a conventional carbon fiber, thus it cannot be used as the reinforcing fiber.

In this study a novel biobased precursor material was prepared via blending PAN and lignin in order to reduce the cost of precursor, to improve the mechanical properties of precursor and to find new applications of lignin which is undervalued product and moreover to create a sustainable, renewable biobased material. Due to price of carbon fiber, the demand for carbon fiber is not that high. This study demonstrates that it is feasible to reduce the cost of the carbon fiber precursor with the use of side product from cellulosic ethanol and paper industries. The lignin materials and blend morphology were investigated with scanning electron microscopy. Mechanical performance of the blends was measured to understand the effects of lignin for the PAN polymer. Furthermore, the interaction of PAN and lignin was analyzed using FTIR and TGA. SEM images were obtained to understand the blend morphology.

#### 2. Experimental

2.1. Materials. PAN (polyacrylonitrile) was purchased from Acordis Kelheim GmBH as Homo-PAN in the form powder. Three types of lignin (Protobind 1000, Protobind 5000, and Protobind 2400) were obtained from Greenvalue as a gift. Detailed chemical and thermal analyses of the lignin from Greenvalue were done in a previous publication [6]. Dimethyl acetamide (DMAc) solvent was analytical grade.

2.2. Sample Preparation. Blends of PAN and lignin were prepared with solution casting technique. The lignin and PAN

TABLE 1: Sample codes.

Sample code	PAN wt%	Lignin type, wt%
PAN	100	0
PL1020	80	Protobind 1000, 20
PL2420	80	Protobind 2400, 20
PL5020	80	Protobind 5000, 20
PL2410	90	Protobind 2400, 10
PL2430	70	Protobind 2400, 30

were dissolved in DMAc at certain weight percentages. The PAN-lignin solution was stirred overnight and the solution was cast onto glass. The solution was placed in an oven at 120°C for 6 hours to evaporate DMAc. After removing the solvent, films of the PAN-lignin blends were peeled from the glass surface. Table 1 shows the weight percentages of the blends and the sample codes.

2.3. Characterization. Optical microscopy image was obtained using Leica DM 1750 M with 500x magnification. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to observe the microstructure of the polymer blends. JEOL 640 was used as SEM. The samples were coated with gold and the images were taken at different magnifications.

Fourier transform infrared analysis (FTIR) was done with Perkin Elmer, model spectrum 2000 with ATR mode. The spectrometer was used with transmission mode and the resolution was  $4 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  with a range of  $400-4000 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) was carried with Perkin Elmer Diamond TG/DTA by heating from room temperature to  $600^{\circ}$ C under nitrogen atmosphere. Dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) was carried with Dynatest Metravib with tensile clamps heating from room temperature to  $200^{\circ}$ C with a frequency of 1 Hz.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Microscopy. Microscopy is the essential part of materials science research showing the particles, polymers and their interaction. The microscopy studies demonstrate the particle size, morphology and their change after polymer blending and composite preparation. Optical microscopy enables researchers to observe the preliminary images easily with no sample preparation needed [13]. Moreover, OM provides the actual images with colors. Scanning electron microscopy gives more detailed information by the electron emission and collecting the image via back scattering of the electrons [14]. In this study, lignin particles were investigated with optical microscopy (OM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Blends of PAN and lignin were investigated with SEM.

*Lignin Particles.* The OM was used to get the images of lignin particles (Protobind 2400) as shown in Figure 1. The OM images of lignin particles have not been published before. Lignin particles are brown in color and they are semitransparent by their nature. This is highly important for many composites which will be made with lignin especially



FIGURE 1: Optical microscopy image of Protobind 2400.



FIGURE 2: SEM image of Protobind 2400.

polymeric films made with lignin would be very interesting. The average particle size is around 10–15 micron meter. The SEM image of lignin (Figure 2) confirmed the OM image. The particle size is in the same range. The optical properties of lignin cannot be judged with scanning electron microscopy but the image is clearer with higher resolution.

PAN and PAN-Lignin Blends. Figure 3 shows the SEM image PAN polymer. The image was taken at 2500x magnification. The image is a typical polymer SEM figure. There is no void or failure point in the polymer. The neat polymer structure is well demonstrated in this SEM image. Rahman et al. [15] presents similar PAN structures in their SEM images. Rahman et al. [15] tried to make a new fiber without any pore using a new coagulation bath. In this study presented in this paper, it was also possible to obtain PAN materials without holes. Chen and Harrison [16] reports new carbon fibers using PAN and they made PAN fibers with holes as presented in their paper. This is another important aspect of this scientific paper to show that the author was successful in obtaining hole and void free PAN materials.



FIGURE 3: SEM image of PAN.



FIGURE 4: SEM image of PL2420.



FIGURE 5: SEM image of PL5020.

Figures 4–6 show PAN and lignin blends with 20 wt% lignin. Figure 4 shows PAN blend with lignin Protobind 2400. Figure 5 shows PAN and lignin Protobind 5000 blend and Figure 6 shows PAN and lignin Protobind 1000. All the images are very important in terms of the compatibility and blend morphology. It is clearly observed that PAN and lignin blends form miscible blends with smooth surface and one phase figure. The lignin particles were dissolved in DMAc solvent with PAN so well that the particles of lignin are not visible any more like the OM and SEM images of the lignin. The blend morphologies are also very critical in the performance and compatibility of polymers. The blend morphologies are very homogenous and finely prepared. The similar observations were done by Zhang



FIGURE 6: SEM image of PL1020.

TABLE 2: Modulus values.

Sample code	Storage modulus values, <i>E</i> ′	Loss modulus values, <i>E''</i>
PAN	$9.2 \times 10^8$	$5.1 \times 10^7$
PL1020	$8.3 \times 10^8$	$4.2 \times 10^7$
PL2420	$1.5 \times 10^9$	$1.1 \times 10^{8}$
PL5020	$7.8 \times 10^8$	$6.3 \times 10^7$
PL2410	$1.2 \times 10^9$	$8.2 \times 10^7$
PL2430	$1.7 * 10^9$	$3.1 \times 10^8$

et al. [17]. Though every blend looks very homogenous in shape, there are differences in the appearance of the lignin blends which arise from the lignin chemistry. Lignin blend with Protobind 2400 shows more brittle failure with sharper images. The lignin-PAN blend with Protobind 5000 looks smoother. The final blend morphology with Protobind 1000 looks more uniform which is very close to the image of the neat PAN. Protobind 2400 with higher purity leads to a sharp image whereas Protobind with certain functionalities creates a smooth PAN blend due to the chemical interaction of PAN and the nitrogen groups in lignin. Protobind 1000 series is less pure than Protobind 2400 and it does not have the functional groups. That is why the image is closer to neat PAN structure.

3.2. DMA Analysis. Dynamic mechanical analysis helps to understand the mechanical performance of the materials with regards to change in temperature [18–21]. The modulus values are plotted against increasing temperature with dynamic testing at 1 Hz frequency. The storage modulus value can be related to Young's Modulus measured during the static testing. The loss modulus value is related to modulus value of the material in the plastic deformation zone of tensile testing. Tan d is the ratio of loss modulus over storage modulus. A typical DMA curve is presented in Figure 7. This figure shows DMA graph of neat PAN material.

When the mechanical properties of neat PAN and PANlignin blends are investigated, it was observed that lignin does not deteriorate PAN properties (Table 2). When with Protobind 5000 and Protobind 1000, modulus values decrease slightly. The decrease for storage modulus values were 10% for Protobind 1000 and 15% for Protobind 5000. On the other hand, when Protobind 2400 is used for PAN blending, the modulus values increase due to purity difference of the lignins. 2400 lignin is sulfur free lignin with better properties. The increase is linearly proportional as the lignin content increases. The rule of mixture can be applied here as stated in the following:

 $E_b = E_m * V_m + E_f * V_f$  [22, 23]

 $E_b$  is the modulus of the blend

 $E_m$  is the modulus of matrix polymer (PAN)

 $V_m$  is the volume fraction of matrix polymer

 $E_f$  is the modulus of the fiber (lignin)

 $V_f$  is the volume fraction of the fiber (lignin).

When the data is calculated from each concentration of lignin, the modulus value of lignin is calculated as 3.25 GPa which is slightly higher than PAN and the value found in this study is confirming the previous studies done with lignin [24, 25]. The previous studies showed that lignin has a modulus value of 3–5 GPa. Thus, the lignin material does not only lower the cost of PAN, it also improves the mechanical properties of PAN which will enable to increase the carbon fiber properties as well.

The loss modulus values of the neat PAN and blends follow the same trend as storage modulus values. As Protobind 1000 and Protobind 5000 are blended with PAN, the properties do not alter much but as Protobind 2400 is blended, the loss modulus values also increase parallel with storage modulus values.

Another important finding of this study was to utilize any kind of lignin for PAN studies in terms of mechanical properties. The properties of PAN do not alter much. This study can be even extended for lignin produced as the coproduct of paper industries and other industries.

3.3. *FTIR*. FTIR is a very powerful tool to understand the interactions of polymers and organic materials. Figure 8 shows FTIR analysis of PAN and PAN-Lignin blends. One of the important peak to mention is the band at 2243 cm<sup>-1</sup> which corresponds to C=N bond [26]. There are three other important peaks for these analyses. The first peak is the 1430 cm<sup>-1</sup> peak which disappears as the lignin is introduced and blends are formed. This peak corresponds to CH<sub>2</sub> scissoring of PAN [27]. This shows the excellent interaction of PAN and lignin forming new bonds and altering the other bonds in the PAN structure.

The other two peaks that are noteworthy are the  $1512 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  and  $1115 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  peaks that are apparent as the PAN lignin blends are formed.  $1512 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  peak corresponds to N–H bending of the lignins whereas  $1115 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  peak corresponds to C–H stretching bond of the lignins [6]. As Protobind 2400 content increases, the intensity of peak at  $1512 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  increases. This shows that another important finding of this research was to find similar peaks even though the chemical content of these lignin differ. This shows that the major peaks of the lignin structure appeared in the PAN blends. Though, in literature, the exact structure of lignin



FIGURE 8: FTIR analysis of PAN and PAN-lignin blends.

could not be identified completely, there are studies showing important bonds of lignin [6, 8].

3.4. TGA. The thermal property of polymers is another important parameter. The thermal degradation occurs in polymeric materials at elevated temperatures. The polymer degrades at certain temperature. The degradation temperature is determined using the derivative of thermogravimetric analysis curve. At 300°C, PAN started to decompose which can be observed from the thermal transition curves. Figure 9 shows the TGA curve without calculation and Figure 10 shows the calculated values. The PAN starts to decompose at 300°C with the first and major decomposition. In this degradation part, C–N bonds degrade [28, 29]. Around 426°C, there is a second minor degradation temperature which would arise from C–C bond breakage.

The influence of lignin for these transitions was investigated during this research. The previous publication on lignin characterization well documents the thermal stability of lignins [6]. The lignin material is not stable for high temperatures. The thermal stability of PAN decreases as the lignin content increases. TGA curve and derivative for the PAN2410 is demonstrated as an example of the study (Figure 11). The figures of all the blends are not shown to avoid too many graphs in the paper. The major degradation temperature of each blend is summarized in Table 3. The onset temperature for lignin decomposition of each lignin differs so the thermal stability of the PAN changes according to the lignin stability. Protobind 5000 was the least thermal stable lignin among others due to some alcohol and acid groups present in the material. The onset temperature of PAN with 5000 (20 wt%) is lower than PL2430 which has 30 wt% of lignin 2400. The finding of the thermal stability is also consistent with the data published in the author's previous paper [6].

More studies can be conducted at higher temperatures using TGA to understand the carbon fiber formation but



FIGURE 9: TGA-PAN.



FIGURE 10: TGA-PAN, values determined.

Sample code	Degradation temperature
PAN	299.50
PL1020	289.60
PL2420	288.01
PL5020	283.91
PL2410	290.06
PL2430	285.41

TABLE 3: Degradation temperatures.

this is beyond the limits of this study. During the next study, carbonization studies will be performed using the similar blends and at higher temperatures. This study is the first attempt to make polymer lignin blends to be used for carbon

fiber precursor. These new findings will open new ways to understand the carbonization phenomena with lignin materials.

#### 4. Conclusion

In this study, a very novel polymer was developed with a blend of PAN and a renewable resource material lignin. To meet the increased need for carbon fiber, there was a very limited research conducted to replace the precursor. There were two studies that prepared carbon fibers from lignin but the mechanical properties of the carbon fibers that were published could not be satisfactory to meet the requirements of the composite industry. In this preliminary study, it is observed that PAN can be replaced with lignin forming



FIGURE 11: TGA-PL2410.

an excellent polymer blend without sacrificing the mechanical properties of PAN. The interaction of the PAN and lignin was observed with SEM, FTIR, and TGA analysis. This work with a homo-PAN demonstrated the initial steps for the PAN and carbon fiber industry. This study can be further carried with carbon fiber precursor, PAN and moreover that polymer blend can be spun to fiber and formed into carbon fiber via the carbonization processes. Most important part of the research was to utilize the lignin material which is an undervalued co-product of many different industries. This study demonstrated a new application area of lignin which is the second abundant matter on Earth after cellulose material. The most important finding of this research was to find a partial replacement of PAN with a renewable resource and making the PAN precursor greener technology to improve the world environment.

#### Acknowledgments

M. Seydibeyoğlu would like to express sincere thanks to Dr. Jairo Lora and Green value company for supplying the lignin materials as gift, Y. Seki for helping the FTIR and TGA analysis, G. Özkoç for DMA analysis, and Ö. Duygulu for helping to get SEM images. This paper has been prepared with their invaluable contributions.

#### References

- [1] P. Morgan, *Carbon Fibers and Their Composites*, CRC Press, 2005.
- [2] D. D. Edie, "Carbon fiber processing and structure/property relations," in *Design and Control of Structure of Advanced Carbon Materials for Enhanced Performance*, B. Rand, S. P. Appleyard, and M. F. Yardim, Eds., pp. 163–181, Kluwer Academic, Dodrecht, The Netherlands, 2001.
- [3] D. D. Edie, "The effect of processing on the structure and properties of carbon fibers," *Carbon*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 345– 362, 1998.

- [4] A. Wilson, Automotive Composites, from Steel to Carbon and from Glass to Grass, TMA Publishing, 2011.
- [5] A. Forrest, J. Pierce, W. Jones, and E. Hwu, http://virtual .clemson.edu/caah/synergy/issue-1.htm.
- [6] S. Sahoo, M. Ö. Seydibeyoğlu, A. K. Mohanty, and M. Misra, "Characterization of industrial lignins for their utilization in future value added applications," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 35, pp. 4230–4237, 2011.
- [7] A. Mohanty, M. Ö. Seydibeyoğlu, S. Sahoo, and M. Misra, "Plant systems "Matching crops for bioproducts"," in *Comprehensive Biotechnology*, M. Moo-Young, Ed., vol. 4, pp. 101– 109, Elsevier, 2nd edition, 2011.
- [8] M. N. S. Kumar, A. K. Mohanty, L. Erickson, and M. Misra, "Lignin and its applications with polymers," *Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1–24, 2009.
- [9] G. Xiao, M. Ni, R. Xiao, X. Gao, and K. Cen, "Catalytic carbonization of lignin for production of electrically conductive charcoal," *Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy*, vol. 6, pp. 69–74, 2012.
- [10] M. Ö. Seydibeyoğlu, M. Misra, and A. Mohanty, "New biobased polyurethane from soy plants and lignin," *Bioplastics Magazine*, vol. 5, p. 42, 2010.
- [11] J. F. Kadla, S. Kubo, R. A. Venditti, R. D. Gilbert, A. L. Compere, and W. Griffith, "Lignin-based carbon fibers for composite fiber applications," *Carbon*, vol. 40, no. 15, pp. 2913–2920, 2002.
- [12] K. Sudo and K. Shimizu, "New carbon fiber from lignin," *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 127–134, 1992.
- [13] S. Bradbury and B. Bracegirdle, *Introduction to Optical Microscopy*, BIOS Scientific Publishers, 1998.
- [14] L. Reimer and P. W. Hawkes, Scanning Electron Microscopy: Physics of Image Formation and Microanalysis, Springer Series in Optical Sciences, Springer, 2010.
- [15] M. A. Rahman, A. F. Ismail, and A. Mustafa, "The effect of residence time on the physical characteristics of PAN-based fibers produced using a solvent-free coagulation process," *Materials Science and Engineering A*, vol. 448, no. 1-2, pp. 275– 280, 2007.

- [16] J. C. Chen and I. R. Harrison, "Modification of polyacrylonitrile (PAN) carbon fiber precursor via post-spinning plasticization and stretching in dimethyl formamide (DMF)," *Carbon*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 25–45, 2002.
- [17] X. Zhang, S. Chen, J. Liu, Z. Hu, S. Chen, and L. Wang, "Preparation and properties of sulfonated poly(phenylene arylene)/sulfonated polyimide (SPA/SPI) blend membranes for polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cell applications," *Journal of Membrane Science*, vol. 371, no. 1-2, pp. 276–285, 2011.
- [18] M. Özgür Seydibeyoğlu and K. Oksman, "Novel nanocomposites based on polyurethane and micro fibrillated cellulose," *Composites Science and Technology*, vol. 68, no. 3-4, pp. 908– 914, 2008.
- [19] M. O. Seydibeyoğlu, M. Misra, and A. Mohanty, "Synergistic improvements in the impact strength and % elongation of polyhydroxybutyrate-co-valerate copolymers with functionalized soybean oils and POSS," *International Journal of Plastics Technology*, vol. 14, pp. 1–16, 2010.
- [20] M. Ö. Seydibeyoğlu, S. Işçi, N. Güngör, O. I. Ece, and F. S. Güner, "Preparation of polyurethane/hectorite, polyurethane/ montmorillonite, and polyurethane/laponite nanocomposites without organic modifiers," *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, vol. 116, no. 2, pp. 832–837, 2010.
- [21] M. O. Seydibeyoğlu, "Excellent adhesion of carbon fibers to polyurethane matrix and substantial improvement of the mechanical properties of polyurethane," *Gazi University Journal of Science*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 501–506, 2011.
- [22] W. Voigt, "Theoretische Studien über die Elasticitätsverhältnisse der Krystalle," Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen, vol. 34, pp. 3–51, 1887.
- [23] A. Reuss, "Berechnung der Fließgrenze von Mischkristallen auf Grund der Plastizitätsbedingung für Einkristalle," *Journal* of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics, vol. 9, pp. 49–58, 1929.
- [24] T. Elder, "Quantum chemical determination of young's modulus of lignin. Calculations on a β-0-4' model compound," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 3619–3627, 2007.
- [25] C. K. Hong and R. F. Wool, "Development of a bio-based composite material from soybean oil and keratin fibers," *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 1524– 1538, 2005.
- [26] Q. Ouyang, L. Cheng, H. Wang, and K. Li, "Mechanism and kinetics of the stabilization reactions of itaconic acid-modified polyacrylonitrile," *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, vol. 93, no. 8, pp. 1415–1421, 2008.
- [27] I. Spiridon, C. A. Teaca, and R. Bodirlau, "Structural changes evidenced by FTIR spectroscopy in cellulosic materials after pre-treatment with ionic liquid and enzymatic hydrolysis," *Bioresources*, vol. 6, pp. 400–413, 2010.
- [28] T. Yu, J. Lin, J. Xu, T. Chen, S. Lin, and X. Tian, "Novel polyacrylonitrile/Na-MMT/silica nanocomposite: Co-incorporation of two different form nano materials into polymer matrix," *Composites Science and Technology*, vol. 67, no. 15-16, pp. 3219–3225, 2007.
- [29] N. Şahiner, N. Pekel, and O. Güven, "Radiation synthesis, characterization and amidoximation of N-vinyl-2-pyrrolidone/acrylonitrile interpenetrating polymer networks," *Reactive and Functional Polymers*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 139–146, 1999.

### **Research** Article

# **Enzymatic Saccharification and Ethanol Fermentation of Reed Pretreated with Liquid Hot Water**

#### Jie Lu,<sup>1,2</sup> XueZhi Li,<sup>1</sup> Jian Zhao,<sup>1</sup> and Yinbo Qu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> State Key Laboratory of Microbial Technology, Shandong University, Jinan 250100, China
 <sup>2</sup> Dalian Polytechnic University, Dalian 116034, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Jian Zhao, zhaojian@sdu.edu.cn

Received 8 June 2012; Revised 22 August 2012; Accepted 5 September 2012

Academic Editor: Anuj K. Chandel

Copyright © 2012 Jie Lu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Reed is a widespread-growing, inexpensive, and readily available lignocellulosic material source in northeast China. The objective of this study is to evaluate the liquid hot water (LHW) pretreatment efficiency of reed based on the enzymatic digestibility and ethanol fermentability of water-insoluble solids (WISs) from reed after the LHW pretreatment. Several variables in the LHW pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis process were optimized. The conversion of glucan to glucose and glucose concentrations are considered as response variables in different conditions. The optimum conditions for the LHW pretreatment of reed area temperature of 180°C for 20min and a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:10. These optimum conditions for the LHW pretreatment of reed resulted in a cellulose conversion rate of 82.59% in the subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis at 50°C for 72 h with a cellulase loading of 30 filter paper unit per gram of oven-dried WIS. Increasing the pretreatment temperature resulted in a higher enzymatic digestibility of the WIS from reed. Separate hydrolysis and fermentation of WIS showed that the conversion of glucan to ethanol reached 99.5% of the theoretical yield. The LHW pretreatment of reed is a suitable method to acquire a high recovery of fermentable sugars and high ethanol conversion yield.

#### 1. Introduction

Lignocellulosic material (LCM) is an abundant, natural, and renewable carbon source for biofuel production. For a long time, studies have been performed to enhance the LCM enzymatic hydrolysis for the efficient conversion of cellulose to ethanol [1]. LCM has very strong resistance to enzymatic degradation such that LCM must be pretreated first to make cellulose degradation by cellulase easier and to improve the cellulose conversion in LCMs. In LCM bioconversion, pretreatment is one of the most expensive processing operations. Pretreatment can improve efficiency and reduce costs through research and development [2–7]. One of the most promising pretreatment processes for LCM is liquid hot water (LHW) pretreatment. LHW pretreatment enhances LCM digestibility, sugar extraction, and pentosan recovery. LHW pretreatment can remove up to 80% of the hemicellulose and enhances the enzymatic digestibility of pretreated material in herbaceous feedstocks [8], sugarcane bagasse [9], and wheat straw [10–16].

Reed is an abundant and inexpensive lignocellulosic raw material that can be found throughout northeastern China. According to statistics, the reed output all over the world was about >70 million tons, especially in Asia and Europe. In China, the planting areas for reed are over 10 million mu, and the reed output reaches 3 million tons. The region with the greatest reed output is Panjin, Liaoning province, China. The Panjin reed field, which covers an area of 1.2 million mu, is the largest reed-producing region in the world today. Five hundred thousand tons of reed are produced in the fields every year. Reed has been used in the papermaking industry for years as a good raw material because of its high cellulose content and good fiber properties. Nevertheless, studies on bioethanol production are few. Reed may be used as an alternative raw material for ethanol production. In this study, the LHW pretreatment of reed and the enzymatic hydrolysis of pretreated reed were investigated to determine its potential application for ethanol production by a bioconversion process. The pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis conditions were optimized to obtain a high conversion of cellulose to ethanol, and to enhance the enzymatic digestibility of reed, to obtain a high glucose yield. Ethanol fermentation was also conducted by separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) processes using the pretreated reed as a glucose source to determine the feasibility of using reed in bioethanol production.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. *Materials*. Reed, which has a moisture content of 11.67%, was provided by the Yingkou papermaking mill, Yingkou, Liaoning province, China. The reed was milled to a particle size of 40 mesh to 60 mesh by using a laboratory ball mill (Taijihuan Nanometer Limited Company, Qinhuang-dao, China) and was stored in a plastic bag until it was used in the experiments. Before the LHW pretreatment, the chemical compositions of reed were determined.

The commercial cellulase used in the enzymatic hydrolysis was purchased from the Imperial JADE Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Ningxia, China. The cellulase derived from *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* and the filter paper activity was assayed [17].

The yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was purchased from the Angel Yeast Co., Ltd., China. Before using it for fermentation, the yeast was activated. About 1 g of dry yeast was added to 20 mL of 5% sterilized glucose solution, activated at 38°C for 1 h, cooled from 28°C to 30°C, and then used in the experiment. The yeast concentration was approximately  $10^8$  cells/mL.

2.2. LHW Pretreatment. The LHW pretreatment was conducted in a 15 L digester with four small tanks (mechanical mill of the Shanxi University of Science and Technology, China). About 40 g of reed and a given volume deionized water were loaded in the small tanks. The pretreatment temperature was controlled at 170°C, 180°C, 190°C, 200°C, and 210°C. The pretreatment time was set at either 20 min or 40 min. After pretreatment, the water-insoluble solids (WISs) and the reed prehydrolyzates were separated by filtration with the Büchner funnel. The WISs were washed with deionized water to obtain a pH of approximately 7. The WISs were used for subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation.

2.3. Enzymatic Hydrolysis. Enzymatic hydrolysis of the washed WISs was performed at  $36^{\circ}$ C or  $50^{\circ}$ C for 72 h in 100 mL Erlenmeyer flasks. Each flask contained 20 mL to 50 mL of 0.05 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.8) and had a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:50 weight per volume (W/V) of WIS. The enzyme loading was 10 to 30 filter paper unit (FPU) per gram of oven-dried WIS. The samples were collected at 1, 5, 9, 12, 24, 36, 48, and 72 h for glucose concentration determination. All enzymatic hydrolysis experiments

were performed in duplicates, and the average results were determined.

2.4. Ethanol Fermentation. Separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) was performed to check the fermentability of pretreated reed. The WIS from the pretreatment experiments (at 180°C and 210°C for 20 min each) was used as the substrate. About 100 mL of the enzymatic hydrolysis liquor and some nutrients, namely, 3 g/L yeast extract, 5 g/L peptone, 25 g/L KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.3 g/L MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 0.25 g/L CaCl<sub>2</sub>, were added into 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks. The total liquid volume was 100 mL. The solid concentration was 6% (by WIS weight) during the hydrolysis. The resulting slurry was inoculated with 1 mL of activated yeast. The flasks were autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min. The experiments were performed in duplicates in a constant-temperature incubator at 36°C for 72 h. The flasks were sealed with rubber stoppers and equipped with cannulas to remove the generated carbon dioxide. The cannulas were inserted into a container filled with water. The simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) experiment was conducted based on the SSF protocol by the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) LAP-008 [18]. The initial WIS concentration was 8%.

All experiments were performed in duplicates in the same conditions, and the average values were reported.

2.5. Analysis Methods. The contents of xylan, Klason lignin, ash, and benzene-alcohol (2:1) extractives were determined using the Chinese National Standard methods, namely, the GB/T2677.9-1994, GB/T2677.8-1994, GB/T2677.3-1993, and GB/T2677.6-1994, respectively. The acid-soluble lignin content was determined using the method described in GB/T10337-1989. The glucan content was determined according to NREL methods [19]. The glucose content and ethanol were determined using the SBA-40E Biological Sensing Analyzer (Biology Institute of the Shandong Academy of Sciences, Jinan, China). The glucan content was calculated using formula (1):

Glucan content (%) = 
$$\frac{(\text{glucose} * 0.087 * 0.9)}{m} * 100\%,$$
 (1)

where glucose is glucose concentration (g/L); *m* is mass of oven-dried WIS (g); 0.087 iss volume of acid hydrolysis liquid (L); 0.9 is conversion factor for glucose to glucan.

The conversion of cellulose to glucose in the enzymatic hydrolysis was determined by the ratio of the glucose concentration that was released during enzymatic hydrolysis to the total glucose in the substrate and was calculated using formula:

Conversion of cellulose to glucose (%)

$$=\frac{\text{glucose} * V * 0.9}{\text{glucan content} * m} * 100\%,$$
(2)

where glucose is glucose concentration in the enzymatic hydrolysis liquor (g/L); *V* is volume of enzymatic hydrolysis liquor (L); *m* is mass of oven-dried WIS (g).

Compositions	Reed	Rice Straw	Corn stover	Wheat straw	
Glucan	40.5	34.6	36.1	37.8	
Xylan	25.9	21.3	21.4	22.8	
Klason lignin	16.2	9.6	17.2	16.3	
Acid-soluble lignin	2.0	3.4		1.8	
Ash	3.6	14.5	7.1	6.3	

200

210

TABLE 1: Chemical compositions of reed and other biomass sources (%, by dry weight).

For SHF and SSF of WIS, the conversion of cellulose to ethanol was calculated using formula (3):

Conversion of cellulose to ethanol (%)

$$= \frac{[\text{EtOH}]}{(f * \text{biomass} * 1.111 * 0.51)} * 100\%,$$
(3)

where [EtOH] is ethanol concentration at the end of the fermentation minus any ethanol produced from the enzyme and medium (g/L); f is cellulose fraction of dry biomass (g/g); Biomass is dry biomass concentration at the beginning of the fermentation (g/L); 0.51 is conversion factor for glucose to ethanol based on stoichiometric biochemistry of yeast; 1.111 is conversion factor of cellulose to equivalent glucose.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Chemical Composition of Reed. The chemical compositions of reed used in this study were determined and shown in Table 1. Table 1 also shows the chemical components of other agricultural residues, such as rice straw [20], corn stover [21], and wheat straw [10], which were used in the bioethanol investigation in the present study. Glucan and xylan are the main components of reed, both of which accounted for 66.4% of dry weight of the raw material. Compared with the other raw materials that were generally used in bioethanol investigations, the reed contained more glucan and xylan, which indicated that more fermentable sugars could be produced via enzymatic hydrolysis and that reed can be used in bioethanol production. The lignin component of the raw materials had a significant function in the enzymatic saccharification process [22]. This lignin component can inhibit the enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose by adsorbing cellulase in the system and/or limiting the enzyme accessibility to cellulose. Klason lignin accounts for 16.2% of the reed. Similar to that of corn stover and wheat straw, this value is higher than that of rice straw, which indicated that the lignin effect on enzymatic hydrolysis might be similar to reed, corn stover, and wheat straw (only for their lignin content). The reed contains less ash than other raw materials, which indicates that it has less effect on cellulase activity in the hydrolysis system and produces more pure products such as fermentable sugars. Thus, reed is a promising source for bioethanol production.

temperature and time (%, by weight of WIS).						
Temperature (°C)	Pretreatment time					
Temperature (°C)	20 min	40 min				
170	45.47	51.16				
180	53.98	55.55				
190	54.31	57.46				

54.29

56.42

TABLE 2: Glucan contents of WIS in different pretreatment

# 3.2. Effect of Pretreatment Conditions on Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Reed WIS

3.2.1. Effect of Pretreatment on Temperature and Time. The pretreatment conditions were selected based on whether they could modify the structural and chemical characteristics of the biomass that limited the enzyme availability to cellulose in cell-wall microfibrils [23]. Several reports have shown that sample pretreatment at higher temperatures resulted in a higher enzymatic digestibility than the untreated sample and could yield a higher glucose concentration upon enzymatic hydrolysis [24]. In the study, enzymatic hydrolysis was also conducted on unpretreated raw material for comparison purposes. The glucan contents of each WIS after LHW pretreatment at different temperatures and time points are summarized in Table 2. The glucan contents of all WISs were higher than that of the raw reed at 40.5% (Table 1). The glucan contents of all WISs ranged from 45% to 58% of WIS, and this value depends on the pretreatment temperature and time. The glucan content increased with increasing pretreatment time. Meanwhile, the glucan content also increased with increasing pretreatment temperature. The highest glucose content was obtained at 210°C for 40 min because the water-soluble components in the raw reed were solubilized. For example, lignin with low molecular weight and extractives resulted in a fraction of glucanenriched WIS production with increasing temperature and time. The reed hemicellulose component was also partly degraded and dissolved, which also led to the increase in WIS glucan content. The enzymatic hydrolysis profile of WIS-pretreated reed at different pretreatment temperature and time is shown in Figure 1. The enzymatic digestibility of each WIS was different. The conversion of cellulose to glucose rapidly increased at the beginning of the enzymatic hydrolysis process and then slowly declined, as previously reported [25, 26]. The untreated raw reed was difficult

56.81

57.82



FIGURE 1: Conversion of cellulose to glucose in the enzymatic hydrolysis of WIS from LHW-pretreated reed, with different pretreatment temperatures and times. \*Enzymatic hydrolysis conditions: 15 FPU/g oven-dried WIS, pH 4.8, solid-to-liquid ratio 1:50 (w/v), and 50°C for 72 h.



FIGURE 2: Effect of solid-to-liquid ratio on enzymatic hydrolysis of the WIS from the pretreated reed. \*LHW pretreatment: 180°C for 20 min. \*\*Enzymatic hydrolysis: 30 FPU/g oven-dried WIS, pH 4.8, at 50°C.

to hydrolyze enzymatically. The maximum conversion of cellulose to glucose was only 18.22% at 72 h of enzymatic hydrolysis. However, in WIS from the pretreated samples, the cellulose conversion in the enzymatic hydrolysis ranged from 47% to 64% based on the pretreatment severity. The increase in the WIS enzymatic digestibility may be due to the ability of LHW pretreatment to increase the surface area of

the raw material samples, which leads to sufficient contact between the cellulase and the substrate. Thus, the glucose release increases. The cellulose conversion decreased from 82.59% to 56.70% at 72 h when the pretreatment time was prolonged from 20 min to 40 min at 180°C. This decrease in cellulose conversion indicated that a prolonged pretreatment time does not improve WIS enzymatic hydrolysis. Figure 1



FIGURE 3: Enzymatic hydrolysis of WIS from LWH-pretreated reed at 180°C and 210°C by using two types of pH adjustment in the hydrolysis system. \*Enzymatic hydrolysis: 30 FPU/g oven-dried WIS at 36°C.



FIGURE 4: Temperature effects on the WIS conversion from reed in the LHW pretreatment at 180°C and 210°C for 20 min. \*Enzymatic hydrolysis: 30 FPU/g oven-dried WIS at pH 4.8.

also shows that temperature had no significant effects on WIS enzymatic hydrolysis at a temperature of >180°C. Hightemperature and prolonged LHW pretreatment also led to more polysaccharide degradation and loss, which decreased cellulose yield. Therefore, LHW pretreatment at 180°C for 20 min was suitable for the reed. Moreover, a cellulose conversion of 82.59% at 72 h of enzymatic hydrolysis was obtained in the LHW pretreatment in the same conditions. 3.2.2. Effect of Solid-to-Liquid Ratio in LHW Pretreatment. The solid-to-liquid ratio is the ratio between the ovendried WIS quality and the entire liquid volume in the LHW pretreatment. When the reed quantity was kept constant, a higher solid-to-liquid ratio led to a lower substrate concentration, which further decreased the end-product inhibition. Reducing the solid-to-liquid ratio would decrease process cost by lowering the reactor size and the amount

100 120 90 100 80 Conversion of cellulose (%) Conversion of cellulose (%) 70 80 60 50 60 40 40 30 20 20 10 0 0 12 24 36 48 60 72 12 24 36 48 60 72 0 0 Hydrolysis time (h) Hydrolysis time (h) - 10 FPU/g 30 FPU/g 10 FPU/g → 30 FPU/g 25 FPU/g 20 FPU/g 25 FPU/g 20 FPU/g 15 FPU/g 15 FPU/g (a) Conversion of WIS from reed pretreated at 180°C (b) Conversion of WIS from reed pretreated at 210°C

FIGURE 5: Enzymatic hydrolysis of WIS from reed in the LHW pretreatment at 180°C and 210°C with respect to different cellulase loadings.

of heat requirement during the pretreatment. When the solid-to-liquid ratio was increased from 1:10 to 1:25 (w/v) in the LHW pretreatment at  $180^{\circ}$ C, the glucose release slightly increases in the later enzymatic hydrolysis period. For example, the conversion of cellulose to glucose at 72 h of enzymatic hydrolysis increased from 75.97% to 83.39% with only a difference of 7.42% after 48 h (Figure 2). This increase in the conversion of cellulose to glucose showed that the solid-to-liquid ratio had little effect on the enzymatic digestibility of WIS from reed. However, keeping the reaction system homogeneous is difficult because the liquid present in the reaction system is less when the solid-to-liquid ratio is lower than 1:10. Therefore, a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:10 was used for the LHW pretreatment of reed.

#### 3.3. Optimization of Enzymatic Hydrolysis of the Reed WIS

3.3.1. Effect of Adjusting pH on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of WIS. A suitable pH in the enzymatic hydrolysis system is beneficial to the cellulase function on the substrate. The systemic pH has to be adjusted to improve cellulase effectiveness in hydrolysis. In this study, two different methods were used for adjusting and controlling the pH. One method involves the use of sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.8, 0.05 M), and the other method involves the use of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Figure 3 shows that the use of sodium citrate buffer to adjust the pH was better than using H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> for the cellulase function on the WIS in the LHW-pretreated reed at 180°C and 210°C. A higher cellulose conversion was obtained when the sodium citrate buffer was used to adjust the pH, which indicated that this buffer was effective in controlling the pH of the enzymatic hydrolysis process and in improving the cellulase effectiveness.

3.3.2. Effect of Enzymatic Temperature on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Reed WIS. The enzymatic temperature affects cellulase activity and effectiveness in enzymatic hydrolysis. The temperature in the enzymatic hydrolysis is generally kept at 50°C, which is a suitable temperature for the cellulase activity. However, the yeast fermentation temperature is 36°C. Two different enzymatic temperatures were used for the enzymatic hydrolysis of WIS to compare the effects of different enzymatic temperatures on WIS enzymatic digestibility. Figure 4 shows the comparisons of the cellulose conversion after enzymatic hydrolysis between two WISs from LWH-pretreated reed at 180°C and 210°C, respectively. The cellulose conversion after enzymatic hydrolysis at 36°C was slightly lower than that at 50°C. Therefore, a hydrolysis temperature of 50°C may be used in the bioethanol enzymatic hydrolysis via the SHF process. Nevertheless, a temperature of 36°C was considered suitable for yeast fermentation, which was beneficial to the succeeding SSF.

3.3.3. Effect of Cellulase Loadings on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Reed WIS. Aside from the enzymatic temperature and pH, cellulase loading is also an important factor for the enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulosic substrates. Increasing the cellulase loading generally resulted in an increase in glucose release and cellulose conversion. The enzymatic hydrolysis curves of the WIS in reed after the LHW pretreatment with respect to several cellulase loadings are shown in Figure 5. Cellulase loading had a significant effect on cellulose conversion in WIS by enzymatic hydrolysis. When the cellulase loading was increased from 10 FPU/g oven-dried WIS to 25 FPU/g oven-dried WIS on pretreated reed at 180°C or 210°C for 20 min, the enzymatic digestibility of reed WIS was



FIGURE 6: Enzymatic hydrolysis of WIS from reed pretreated at 180°C and 210°C with respect to different solid-to-liquid ratios in enzymatic hydrolysis.

greatly improved. However, the increase in cellulase loading from 25 FPU/g to 30 FPU/g slightly affected the cellulose conversion in the WIS in reed. Figure 5 also shows that cellulose conversion in WIS from reed pretreated at 210°C was higher than that in WIS from reed pretreated at 180°C in the same enzymatic hydrolysis conditions. A higher cellulose conversion in WIS from reed pretreated at 210°C indicated that a higher pretreatment temperature improves the enzymatic digestibility of reed and increases the glucose release during enzymatic hydrolysis.

3.3.4. Effect of Solid-to-Liquid Ratio on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis. A high glucose concentration is necessary to obtain high ethanol concentration by fermentation, which results in a decrease in the production cost, such as ethanol distillation cost. Decreasing the solid-to-liquid ratios during the enzymatic hydrolysis of a cellulosic substrate may increase glucose consistency. Nevertheless, very low solid-to-liquid ratio indicates a very high initial solid concentration, which causes difficulty in uniformly mixing the enzyme liquid and the WIS because the amount of liquid in the system is reduced. The trends of change in the cellulose conversion are illustrated in Figure 6.The glucose concentration in the hydrolyzates increased when the solid-to-liquid ratio decreased in the enzymatic hydrolysis of WIS from reed that was pretreated at both 180°C and 210°C (i.e., 1:50 < 1:40 < 1:30 < 1:20; Figures 6(a) and 6(c)). The highest glucose concentrations (2326 mg/100 mL at 180°C and 3213 mg/100 mL at 210°C)

	SHF			SSF		
Substrates	Ethanol concentrations (g/L)	Residual glucose (g/L)	Conversion of cellulose to ethanol (%)	Ethanol concentrations (g/L)	Residual glucose (g/L)	Conversion of cellulose to ethanol (%)
Reed	5.07	0.06	36.9	4.30	0.39	23.4
Reed at 180°C for 20 min	17.69	0.06	96.6	17.60	0.34	72.1
Reed at 210°C for 20 min	18.99	0.06	99.5	21.75	0.36	85.5

TABLE 3: Ethanol fermentation of WIS after LHW pretreatment.

were obtained at a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:20 after 72 h of enzymatic hydrolysis. The lowest glucose concentrations (924 mg/100 mL at 180°C and 1280 mg/100 mL at 210°C) were obtained at a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:50 after 72 h of enzymatic hydrolysis. The difference between the highest and lowest glucose concentrations showed an increase of 60.3% at 180°C and 60.2% at 210°C, respectively. However, the change in the solid-to-liquid ratio did not obviously affect the cellulose bioconversion (Figures 6(b) and 6(d)). Thus, the increase in the glucose concentration by decreasing the solid-to-liquid ratio in the enzymatic hydrolysis process was beneficial in the subsequent ethanol fermentation.

3.4. Ethanol Fermentation of Reed WIS after LHW Pretreatment. Ethanol production depends on the sugar yield and the mixture fermentability. The WIS obtained from different pretreatment conditions, namely, 180°C at 20 min and 210°C at 20 min, were fermented by SHF and SSF methods by using special ethanol yeast to investigate the fermentability of the WIS from LWH-pretreated reed. Table 3 shows the ethanol fermentation results of WIS by SHF and SSF and the cellulose conversion to ethanol expressed as theoretical vield percentages based on (3). In SHF, the obtained ethanol concentrations reached 17.69 g/L during pretreatment at 180°C and 18.99 g/L during pretreatment at 210°C after 72h of fermentation. The calculated ethanol conversion yield reached 96.6% at 180°C and 99.5% at 210°C of the theoretical yield. These calculated ethanol conversion yields indicated that the SHF process was a very efficient method for producing ethanol from LHW-pretreated reed. In SSF, the pretreated WIS fermentation was performed at an initial pH of 4.8 at 36°C. The yeast strain at this temperature produced a maximum ethanol concentration from glucose, which was consistent with the results of previous SSF studies [27]. With 10% (volume per volume) inoculum, the highest conversion of cellulose to ethanol reached 85.5% for WIS from pretreated reed at 210°C for 20 min. The experiments showed that WIS from LWH-pretreated reed has good fermentability, and LHW pretreatment can be used in bioethanol production.

#### 4. Conclusion

Reed can be used as a substrate for ethanol production in northeast China. The LHW pretreatment significantly enhanced the enzymatic digestibility of reed. The optimum conditions of LHW pretreatment for reed were a temperature of 180°C for 20 min and a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:10, which resulted in a cellulose conversion rate of 82.59% in the subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis at 50°C for 72 h with a cellulase loading of 30 FPU/g oven-dried WIS. After the LHW pretreatment, the conversion of glucan to ethanol in WIS from LWH-pretreated reed reached 99.5% of theoretical yield by the SHF process.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was financially supported by the National Key Basic Research Development Program (2011CB707401), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (nos. 31100440, 21276143), and the International Science & Technology Cooperation Program of China (2010DFA32560).

#### References

- A. T. W. M. Hendriks and G. Zeeman, "Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 10–18, 2009.
- [2] L. R. Lynd, R. T. Elander, and C. E. Wyman, "Likely features and costs of mature biomass ethanol technology," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology A*, vol. 57-58, pp. 741–761, 1996.
- [3] D. Lee, A. H. C. Yu, K. K. Y. Wong, and J. N. Saddler, "Evaluation of the enzymatic susceptibility of cellulosic substrates using specific hydrolysis rates and enzyme adsorption," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 45-46, no. 1, pp. 407–415, 1994.
- [4] K. L. Kohlmann, A. Sarikaya, P. J. Westgate et al., "Enhanced enzyme activities on hydroated lignocellulosic substrates," in *Enzymatic Degradation of Insoluble Carbohydrates*, J. N. Saddler and M. H. Penner, Eds., pp. 237–255, ACS Publishing, 1995.
- [5] M. R. Ladisch, N. Mosier, and R. Hendrickson, "Principles and economics of pretreating cellulose in water for ethanol production," *Abstracts of Papers American Chemical Society*, vol. 225, p. U85, 2003.
- [6] N. S. Mosier, R. Hendrickson, G. Welch, R. Dreschel, B. Dien, and M. R. Ladisch, "Corn fiber pretreatment scale-up and evaluation in an industrial corn to ethanol facility," in *Proceedings of the 25th Symposium on Biotechnology for Fuels and Chemicals*, Breckenridge, Colo, USA, 2003, Paper 6A-04.
- [7] N. Mosier, C. Wyman, B. Dale et al., "Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 6, pp. 673–686, 2005.
- [8] N. Mosier, R. Hendrickson, N. Ho, M. Sedlak, and M. R. Ladisch, "Optimization of pH controlled liquid hot water

pretreatment of corn stover," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 18, pp. 1986–1993, 2005.

- [9] M. Laser, D. Schulman, S. G. Allen, J. Lichwa, M. J. Antal, and L. R. Lynd, "A comparison of liquid hot water and steam pretreatments of sugar cane bagasse for bioconversion to ethanol," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 33–44, 2002.
- [10] J. A. Pérez, I. Ballesteros, M. Ballesteros, F. Sáez, M. J. Negro, and P. Manzanares, "Optimizing Liquid Hot Water pretreatment conditions to enhance sugar recovery from wheat straw for fuel-ethanol production," *Fuel*, vol. 87, no. 17-18, pp. 3640–3647, 2008.
- [11] C. Cristóbal, R. Inmaculada, O. Jose, S. Felicia, and C. Eulogio, "Liquid hot water pretreatment of olive tree pruning residues," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 137-140, no. 1– 12, pp. 379–394, 2007.
- [12] C. Wan and Y. Li, "Effect of hot water extraction and liquid hot water pretreatment on the fungal degradation of biomass feedstocks," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 20, pp. 9788– 9793, 2011.
- [13] H. K. Sreenath, R. G. Koegel, A. B. Moldes, T. W. Jeffries, and R. J. Straub, "Enzymic saccharification of alfalfa fibre after liquid hot water pretreatment," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 35, no. 1-2, pp. 33–41, 1999.
- [14] G. Peter Van Walsum, M. Garcia-Gil, S. F. Chen, and K. Chambliss, "Effect of dissolved carbon dioxide on accumulation of organic acids in liquid hot water pretreated biomass hydrolyzates," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 137-140, no. 1–2, pp. 301–311, 2007.
- [15] J. A. Pérez, A. González, J. M. Oliva, I. Ballesteros, and P. Manzanares, "Effect of process variables on liquid hot water pretreatment of wheat straw for bioconversion to fuelethanol in a batch reactor," *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 82, no. 10, pp. 929–938, 2007.
- [16] T. Ingram, T. Rogalinski, V. Bockemühl, G. Antranikian, and G. Brunner, "Semi-continuous liquid hot water pretreatment of rye straw," *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 238–246, 2009.
- [17] B. Adney and J. Baker, Measurement of Cellulase Activities. LAP-006 NREL Analytical Procedure, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colo, USA, 1996.
- [18] T. K. Hayward, N. S. Combs, S. L. Schmidt, and G. P. Philippidis, SSF Experimental Protocols: Lignocellulosic Biomass Hydrolysis and Fermentation, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colo, USA, 1995.
- [19] A. Sluiter, B. Hames, R. Ruiz et al., Determination of Structural Carbohydrates and Lignin in BiomassNational Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colo, USA, 2008.
- [20] G. L. Guo, D. C. Hsu, W. H. Chen, W. H. Chen, and W. S. Hwang, "Characterization of enzymatic saccharification for acid-pretreated lignocellulosic materials with different lignin composition," *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 80–87, 2009.
- [21] H. K. Tae and Y. Y. Lee, "Pretreatment and fractionation of corn stover by ammonia recycle percolation process," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 18, pp. 2007–2013, 2005.
- [22] K. Öhgren, R. Bura, J. Saddler, and G. Zacchi, "Effect of hemicellulose and lignin removal on enzymatic hydrolysis of steam pretreated corn stover," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 98, no. 13, pp. 2503–2510, 2007.
- [23] L. Liu, J. Sun, M. Li, S. Wang, H. Pei, and J. Zhang, "Enhanced enzymatic hydrolysis and structural features of corn stover by

FeCl<sub>3</sub> pretreatment," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 23, pp. 5853–5858, 2009.

- [24] B. S. Donohoe, S. R. Decker, M. P. Tucker, M. E. Himmel, and T. B. Vinzant, "Visualizing lignin coalescence and migration through maize cell walls following thermochemical pretreatment," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 913–925, 2008.
- [25] Z. Xiao, X. Zhang, D. J. Gregg, and J. N. Saddler, "Effects of sugar inhibition on cellulases and β-glucosidase during enzymatic hydrolysis of softwood substrates," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology A*, vol. 115, no. 1–3, pp. 1115–1126, 2004.
- [26] Y. Lu, B. Yang, D. Gregg, J. N. Saddler, and S. D. Mansfield, "Cellulase adsorption and an evaluation of enzyme recycle during hydrolysis of steam-exploded softwood residues," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology A*, vol. 98-100, pp. 641–654, 2002.
- [27] A. Mohagheghi, M. Tucker, K. Grohmann, and C. Wyman, "High solids simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of pretreated wheat straw to ethanol," *Applied Biochemistry* and Biotechnology, vol. 33, pp. 67–81, 1992.